JMIR Research Protocols

Impact Factor (2023): 1.4 Volume 6 (2017), Issue 2 ISSN 1929-0748 Editor in Chief: Xiaomeng (Simone) Ma, PhDc, MS, BS

Contents

Original Papers

Self-Management Support Program for Patients With Cardiovascular Diseases: User-Centered Development of the Tailored, Web-Based Program Vascular View (e18) Saskia Ruijk-Hekman, Batsia van Gaal, Sebastian Bredia, Maria Nijbuis van der Sanden, Sandra van Dulmen	3
	3
A Prospective, Multicenter, Single-Blind Study Assessing Indices of SNAP II Versus BIS VISTA on Surgical Patients Undergoing General Anesthesia (e15)	
Sergio Bergese, Alberto Uribe, Erika Puente, R-Jay Marcus, Randall Krohn, Steven Docsa, Roy Soto, Keith Candiotti.	79
Feasibility of Ecological Momentary Assessment of Daily Sexting and Substance Use Among Young Adult African American Gay and Bisexual Men: A Pilot Study (e9)	
Sabrina Smiley, Hoda Elmasry, Monica Webb Hooper, Raymond Niaura, Alison Hamilton, Norweeta Milburn.	125
Involving Children With Cancer in Health Promotive Research: A Case Study Describing Why, What, and How (e19)	
Jens Nygren, Susanne Lindberg, Pontus Wärnestål, Petra Svedberg.	160

Protocols

Protocol for a 24-Week Randomized Controlled Study of Once-Daily Oral Dose of Flax Lignan to Healthy Older Adults (e14)	
Jane Alcorn, Susan Whiting, Navita Viveky, Yunyun Di, Kerry Mansell, Sharyle Fowler, Lilian Thorpe, Ahmed Almousa, Pui Cheng, Jennifer Jones, Jennifer Billinsky, Thomas Hadjistavropoulos.	16
Local Anesthesia Versus Local Anesthesia and Conscious Sedation for Inguinal Hernioplasty: Protocol of a Randomized Controlled Trial (e20)	
Pierre-Anthony Leake, Patrick Toppin, Marvin Reid, Joseph Plummer, Patrick Roberts, Hyacinth Harding-Goldson, Michael McFarlane.	27
VESPRO: An Individual Patient Data Prospective Meta-Analysis of Selective Internal Radiation Therapy Versus Sorafenib for Advanced, Locally Advanced, or Recurrent Hepatocellular Carcinoma of the SARAH and SIRveNIB Trials (e17)	
Val Gebski, Emma Gibbs, Mihir Gandhi, Gilles Chatellier, Aurelia Dinut, Helena Pereira, Pierce Chow, Valérie Vilgrain.	36
Statins and Fibrates for Diabetic Retinopathy: Protocol for a Systematic Review (e30)	51
	51



Rationale and Design of a Genetic Study on Cardiometabolic Risk Factors: Protocol for the Tehran Cardiometabolic Genetic Study (TCGS) (e28)	
Maryam Daneshpour, Mohammad-Sadegh Fallah, Bahareh Sedaghati-Khayat, Kamran Guity, Davood Khalili, Mehdi Hedayati, Ahmad Ebrahimi, Farhad Hajsheikholeslami, Parvin Mirmiran, Fahimeh Ramezani Tehrani, Amir-Abbas Momenan, Arash Ghanbarian, Atieh Amouzegar, Parisa Amiri, Fereidoun Azizi	58
Feasibility of Implementing a Patient-Centered Postoperative Wound Monitoring Program Using Smartphone Images: A Pilot Protocol (e26)	
Sara Fernandes-Taylor, Rebecca Gunter, Kyla Bennett, Lola Awoyinka, Shahrose Rahman, Caprice Greenberg, K Kent.	67
Irreversible Electroporation for the Ablation of Renal Cell Carcinoma: A Prospective, Human, In Vivo Study Protocol (IDEAL Phase 2b) (e21)	
Mara Buijs, Krijn van Lienden, Peter Wagstaff, Matthijs Scheltema, Daniel de Bruin, Patricia Zondervan, Otto van Delden, Ton van Leeuwen, Jean de la Rosette, M Laguna.	86
Epigenetic Alterations and Exposure to Air Pollutants: Protocol for a Birth Cohort Study to Evaluate the Association Between Adverse Birth Outcomes and Global DNA Methylation (e29)	
Zhila Maghbooli, Arash Hossein-Nezhad, Majid Ramezani, Syamak Moattari.	108
Delirium After Mechanical Ventilation in Intensive Care Units: The Cognitive and Psychosocial Assessment (CAPA) Study Protocol (e31)	
Daniella Bulic, Michael Bennett, Helen Rodgers, Mary Nourse, Patrick Rubie, Jeffrey Looi, Frank Van Haren.	116
Co-creating and Evaluating a Web-app Mapping Real-World Health Care Services for Students: The servi-Share Protocol (e24)	
Ilaria Montagni, Emmanuel Langlois, Jérôme Wittwer, Christophe Tzourio.	136
Dance for Adults With Fibromyalgia—What Do We Know About It? Protocol for a Scoping Review (e25) Julia Bidonde, Catherine Boden, Angela Busch, Suelen Goes, Soo Kim, Emily Knight.	145

Viewpoint

For You and Your Baby (4YYB): Adapting the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention's Text4Baby	
Program for Saudi Arabia (e23)	
Soha Bahanshal, Steven Coughlin, Benyuan Liu.	98

Short Paper

Online Dissemination Strategies of a Canada Research Chair: Overview and Lessons Learned (e27)	
Jessica Hébert, Hubert Robitaille, Stéphane Turcotte, France Légaré	154



Self-Management Support Program for Patients With Cardiovascular Diseases: User-Centered Development of the Tailored, Web-Based Program Vascular View

Saskia Puijk-Hekman¹, MSc; Betsie GI van Gaal^{1,2}, PhD; Sebastian JH Bredie³, MD, PhD; Maria WG Nijhuis-van der Sanden¹, PhD; Sandra van Dulmen^{4,5,6}, PhD

¹Radboud university medical center, Radboud Institute for Health Sciences, IQ healthcare, Nijmegen, Netherlands

²Institute of Nursing, HAN University of Applied Sciences, Nijmegen, Netherlands

³Radboud university medical center, Department of General Internal Medicine, Nijmegen, Netherlands

⁴Radboud university medical center, Radboud Institute for Health Sciences, Department of Primary and Community Care, Nijmegen, Netherlands

⁵NIVEL (Netherlands institute for health services research), Utrecht, Netherlands

⁶Faculty of Health Sciences, University College of Southeast Norway, Drammen, Norway

Corresponding Author:

Saskia Puijk-Hekman, MSc Radboud university medical center Radboud Institute for Health Sciences IQ healthcare PO Box 9101 Nijmegen, 6500 HB Netherlands Phone: 31 24 36 55 673 Fax: 31 24 35 40 166 Email: <u>saskia.puijk-hekman@radboudumc.nl</u>

Abstract

Background: In addition to medical intervention and counseling, patients with cardiovascular disease (CVD) need to manage their disease and its consequences by themselves in daily life.

Objective: The aim of this paper is to describe the development of "Vascular View," a comprehensive, multi-component, tailored, Web-based, self-management support program for patients with CVD, and how this program will be tested in an early randomized controlled trial (RCT).

Methods: The Vascular View program was systematically developed in collaboration with an expert group of 6 patients, and separately with a group of 6 health professionals (medical, nursing, and allied health care professionals), according to the following steps of the intervention mapping (IM) framework: (1) conducting a needs assessment; (2) creating matrices of change objectives; (3) selecting theory-based intervention methods and practical applications; (4) organizing methods and applications into an intervention program; (5) planning the adaption, implementation, and sustainability of the program, and (6) generating an evaluation plan.

Results: The needs assessment (Step 1) identified 9 general health problems and 8 determinants (knowledge, awareness, attitude, self-efficacy, subjective norm, intention, risk perception, and habits) of self-managing CVD. By defining performance and change objectives (Step 2), 6 topics were distinguished and incorporated into the courses included in Vascular View (Steps 3 and 4): (1) Coping With CVD and its Consequences; (2) Setting Boundaries in Daily Life; (3) Lifestyle (general and tobacco and harmful alcohol use); (4) Healthy Nutrition; (5) Being Physically Active in a Healthy Way; and (6) Interaction With Health Professionals. These courses were based on behavioral change techniques (BCTs) (eg, self-monitoring of behavior, modeling, re-evaluation of outcomes), which were incorporated in the courses through general written information: quotes from and videos of patients with CVD as role models and personalized feedback, diaries, and exercises. The adoption and implementation plan (Step 5) was set up in collaboration with the members of the two expert groups and consisted of a written and digital instruction manual, a flyer, bimonthly newsletters, and reminders by email and telephone to (re-)visit the program. The potential effectiveness of Vascular View will be evaluated (Step 6) in an early RCT to gain insight into relevant outcome variables and related effect sizes, and a process evaluation to identify intervention fidelity, potential working mechanisms, user statistics, and/or satisfaction.

Conclusion: A comprehensive, multi-component, tailored, Web-based, self-management support program and an early RCT were developed in order to empower patients to self-manage their CVD.

Trial Registration: Nederlands Trial Register NTR5412; http://www.trialregister.nl/trialreg/admin/rctview.asp?TC=5412 (Archived by WebCite at http://www.webcitation.org/6jeUFVj40)

(JMIR Res Protoc 2017;6(2):e18) doi:10.2196/resprot.6352

KEYWORDS

intervention mapping; eHealth; self-management; cardiovascular diseases; tailoring; nursing care; chronic secondary care; outpatients; early RCT

Introduction

Cardio vascular disease (CVD) is the leading cause of death worldwide [1]. In 2012, 17.5 million people died of CVD, within which 7.4 million deaths were due to heart attacks and 6.7 million deaths resulted from strokes [1]. The incidence of CVD, and its consequences for chronic secondary care, continue to rise and place high demands on scarce health care resources [1].

CVD is predominantly caused by genetic and environmental factors, among which unhealthy lifestyle habits are the most important. Risk factors of CVD caused by atherosclerosis are divided into behavioral risk factors (physical inactivity, an unhealthy diet rich in salt, fat, and calories, tobacco use, and the harmful use of alcohol), metabolic risk factors (hypertension, diabetes, raised blood lipids, and overweight/obesity), and other risk factors (eg, advancing age, gender, stress, and depression). Since all risk factors interact with each other and play a key role in decreasing the process of atherosclerosis, they must be considered in the treatment of CVD and secondary prevention [1].

Health and social care services support patients with chronic diseases by providing specialized staff, medicines, and equipment to control symptoms. In addition to medical treatment and counseling, patients need to manage CVD and its consequences in daily life by themselves [2]. Self-management assumes that patients feel confident dealing with the symptoms, treatment, lifestyle changes, and physical and psychological consequences related to illness [3,4]; however, many patients do not feel confident enough to manage their CVD [5-7]. Self-management programs that encourage patients to identify problems, barriers and support, generate solutions, and develop and monitor long- and short-term goals may therefore help patients in actively controlling and improving their own condition [3,8].

Self-management programs have the potential to decrease the load on health and social services, to lower the high costs of chronic care, and to improve patient quality of life. Self-management in chronic care appears to be effective, especially when focusing on behavioral change, supporting self-efficacy, and implemented in wider initiatives (eg, information provision, online peer support, monitoring symptoms with technology, and psychological and behavior change interventions) [2]. Although the effectiveness of traditionally delivered, face-to-face, self-management programs is proven [9-11], the major part of their care depends on a patient's self-management skills, for which Web-based programs are expected to be helpful [12]. However, Web-based programs demonstrate varied and inconsistent effectiveness due to design limitations and lack of power [12]. Only a few studies suggest that these programs for CVD are effective in risk factor reduction, secondary prevention, clinical outcomes, reductions in hospital admissions, and mortality [12-15].

То our knowledge, there are no comprehensive, multi-component, Web-based, self-management support programs that focus on behavior change and support self-efficacy in secondary care patients with CVD. Within such programs, the tailoring of the content to a patient's profile is important in order to increase their level of understanding, information recall, and adherence to lifestyle interventions [16]. Therefore, we systematically developed a tailored, Web-based, self-management program that aims to change behavioral and metabolic risk factors and increase self-management behavior, based on the perceived problems and (support) needs of patients in managing secondary prevention after CVD.

The aim of this paper is to describe (1) the development of the "Vascular View" ("Vaat in Zicht" in Dutch) program for patients with CVD, according to six steps of the intervention mapping (IM) framework [17]; and (2) the plans we have made to systematically evaluate Vascular View in an early randomized controlled trial (RCT). The early RCT will test the viability of a larger clinical trial, including the ability to recruit a relatively small number of patients and to explore the potential efficacy and effectiveness of the intervention under study [18].

Methods

IM is an iterative, 6-step process for developing theoretically-based behavior change interventions [17]. The steps are (1) conducting a needs assessment among end-users according to the Predisposing, Reinforcing, and Enabling Constructs in Educational/Environmental Diagnosis and Evaluation (PRECEDE) model; (2) creating matrices of change objectives; (3) selecting theory-based intervention methods and practical applications; (4) organizing methods and applications into an intervention program; (5) planning the adaption, implementation, and sustainability of the program; and (6) generating an evaluation plan.

Throughout the entire development process for the Vascular View program, two expert groups (one of patients and one of professionals) explored and discussed, at each IM step, the specific issues (disease and treatment) that may influence self-management. The groups met up to three times to ensure

XSL•FO

that the program would be tailored to the perceived problems and needs that are important to patients with CVD and their health professionals. The patient expert group consisted of 1 female and 5 males with CVD (stroke and/or cardiac events and/or peripheral artery disease). The professional expert group included a medical specialist in general and vascular medicine, a neurology nurse, a cardiology nurse, a vascular surgery nurse, a psychologist, a dietician, and a physical therapist. Two researchers (SPH and BvG) participated in both expert groups and SPH chaired each meeting. Before the start of each expert group meeting, the members were asked to prepare by reading information and finishing assignments on the themes of the meeting. The meetings were supported by PowerPoint presentations and the researchers emphasized the importance of the opinions and contributions of each member. This resulted in valuable discussions and agreements at the end of each meeting, which were audio recorded. After the meetings, the recordings were transcribed verbatim by a student. Analysis of all meetings took place by thematically verifying researcher's (SPH) notes with the typed results of the audio recordings, in summary.

Step 1: Conducting a Needs Assessment

The needs assessment focused on identifying perceived problems and (support) needs in the self-management of CVD using the Predisposing, Reinforcing, and Enabling Constructs in Evaluation Educational/Environmental Diagnosis and (PRECEDE) model [19]. First, we sampled the literature for perceived problems related to the self-management of CVD [5-7,20-23]. Second, the problems identified were extracted by the researchers and discussed with and prioritized by the members of both expert groups during one meeting to generate a complete list. The researchers then clustered the prioritized perceived problems into general health problems. In addition, they selected the underlying behaviors and environmental conditions of the health problems and the corresponding determinants (factors which were linked to the underlying behaviors and environmental conditions) from the literature. Finally, in two meetings, the members of the two expert groups discussed the selection and determined the most important and modifiable underlying behaviors and determinants required to self-manage CVD.

Step 2: Creating Matrices of Change Objectives

The aim of creating matrices of performance and change objectives was to provide a translation from needs to content in Vascular View. Behavioral and environmental conditions selected were related to self-management of the problems identified in Step 1. These were subdivided into performance objectives and combined with the important and modifiable determinants of the behavioral and environmental conditions based on the Integrated Change Model 2.0 (I-Change model 2.0) [24], and described in matrices of change objectives. For example, the performance objective "CVD patients understand their disease and the accompanying symptoms and consequences" was combined with the determinant "knowledge," which resulted in the change objective "CVD patients know their disease and accompanying symptoms and consequences." In one meeting with both expert groups, the

identified performance and change objectives were then pointed out and validated by the members of the two expert groups to ensure the designed matrices did indeed address the problems of patients with CVD. Finally, in the same meeting, the two expert groups were asked to prioritize the topics that should be incorporated in the Vascular View program.

Step 3: Selecting Theory-Based Intervention Methods and Practical Applications

The purpose of Step 3 was to select theory-based intervention methods and practical applications based on the former steps. The Coding Manual for Behavior Change Techniques from de Bruin and colleagues [25] was used to select the methods used to change the sub-behaviors of self-management and the corresponding determinants from Step 2. This manual provides behavior change techniques (BCTs) in general (eg, tailoring) and on determinant level. The IM framework identifies the parameters under which a given technique is most likely to be effective [17,25]. Two researchers (SPH and BVG) determined relevant BCTs based on the selected determinants and translated these techniques into practical applications, such as text, personal stories, exercises, diaries, and videos. In one meeting, the selected BCTs and practical applications were then discussed with the members of the two expert groups to decide whether the techniques fit the target group.

Step 4: Organizing Methods and Applications Into an Intervention Program

The aim of Step 4 was to develop and pretest the program components and materials of Vascular View. The program outcomes, the selected BCTs, and the practical applications from Steps 2 and 3 were starting points for the development and pretest of the program. All members of the two expert groups were asked what the ideal Vascular View program should look like, in line with the message (eg, tailoring, text, video, and exercise), the channel (Internet), and the information sources (eg, websites, patient forum). All patients from the expert group were also asked for the most valuable perceived advices that they received during their treatment and rehabilitation, how these advices looked like, and from whom these messages came. All health professionals were asked how they adapted their advice given to a patient and how they validated this adaptation. The research group prepared blueprints for the production of the different program materials and discussed this within the two expert groups in one meeting. Based on the outcomes of this meeting, the final content (ie, text, personal stories, diaries, and videos) was determined and developed by the research group and incorporated into the Vascular View program by Mind District Development BV (The Netherlands), the information and communication technology (ICT) partner. Finally, the program was pretested by the members of both expert groups individually and their feedback was gathered by open-ended questionnaires in which the members could describe their comments on each page. All patients and health professionals were asked to use the program for one week and give feedback about the importance and comprehensibility of the information, quotes, pictures, videos, diaries, and exercises, and their views of the layout of Vascular View and whether it was user-friendly. All of the feedback was collected, structured

```
XSL•FO
```

per training session and specific page, and incorporated into the final program. See also the results of Step 4.

Step 5: Planning for Program Adoption, Implementation, and Sustainability

The focus of Step 5 was to make an implementation plan for Vascular View during the planned evaluation study. The adoption and implementation of Vascular View started in the development process with the involvement of patients and professionals by taking their expertise into account. In addition to their role in the development of the program, the two expert groups played an important role in the determination of facilitators for, and barriers to, the adoption and implementation of this intervention. For example, all members were asked, via questionnaires, what facilitates dissemination and exposure (eg, logging in for the first time and subsequent logging in), in order to complete the different courses of Vascular View. The researchers also determined performance objectives for a patient's first visit and re-visits to Vascular View and combined these with the relevant determinants into change objectives, and discussed these results in one meeting with the members of the two expert groups. The findings of dissemination and exposure were incorporated in the final Vascular View program. The performance and change objectives, and the corresponding determinants, were included in the adoption and implementation plan for Vascular View.

Step 6: Generating an Evaluation Plan

The objective of the final step of IM was to design an evaluation study for Vascular View by conducting an early RCT to gain insight into relevant outcome variables and related effect sizes, and to perform a process evaluation to identify intervention fidelity, potential working mechanisms, and user satisfaction [26,27].

In this phase, we selected relevant measurable outcome variables related to the objectives of the Vascular View program, the defined performance outcomes, and whether the specific tailoring to changes in self-management behavior conformed to the applied I-Change Model 2.0. The process evaluation also includes a check of intervention fidelity (adherence to the program as proposed), incorporating outcomes compliant with the performance objectives and determinants as expressed in the matrix of change objectives in IM Step 2, as well as interviews with participants (program users and non-users) of the study, audio recordings of nursing visits with participating patients, and focus group interview(s) with health professionals.

Results

The involvement of the members of both expert groups for each IM step during the development of Vascular View is described in Table 1.

Step	Intervention mapping		Meetings, n	Patients, n (gender)	Health professionals, n
1	Needs assessment		3	6 (1 female, 5 males)	7 ^a
2	Objectives		1	5 (males)	3 ^b
3	Theory		1	6 (1 female, 5 males)	6 ^c
4	Intervention program		1	4 (males)	5 ^d
		Pretest Vascular View	N/A	6 (1 female, 5 males)	7 ^a
5	Implementation		1	4 (males)	5 ^d
6	Evaluation		1	4 (1 female, 3 males)	4 ^e

^aNeurology nurse, cardiology nurse, vascular surgery nurse, psychologist, dietician, physical therapist, and medical specialist in general and vascular medicine

^bNeurology nurse, vascular surgery nurse, and medical specialist in general and vascular medicine.

^cNeurology nurse, cardiology nurse, vascular surgery nurse, psychologist, dietician, medical specialist in general and vascular medicine.

^dNeurology nurse, cardiology nurse, vascular surgery nurse, dietician, medical specialist in general and vascular medicine.

^eNeurology nurse, cardiology nurse, vascular surgery nurse, medical specialist in general and vascular medicine.

Step 1: Needs Assessment

A literature search and three meetings with the two expert groups (Table 1) elicited perceived and experienced problems related to self-managing CVD [5-7,20-23]. The comprehensive

results of the first meeting were clustered into 9 general health problems and the accompanying important symptoms (fatigue and pain), which were applied specifically to self-management in CVD (Figure 1).



Puijk-Hekman et al

Figure 1. Contextualized Predisposing, Reinforcing, and Enabling Constructs in Educational/Environmental Diagnosis and Evaluation (PRECEDE) model as a logic model for the needs assessment of self-managing cardiovascular disease.



The second and third meetings provided the selected underlying behaviors and environmental conditions of these health problems and symptoms, which varied from having insufficient insight into CVD to having an unhealthy lifestyle, and being unsuccessful in setting boundaries, or inadequate interaction with health professionals (Figure 1). The following corresponding determinants of these underlying behaviors and environmental conditions were extracted from the literature: (1) knowledge, (2) awareness, (3) attitude, (4) self-efficacy, (5) subjective norm, (6) intention, (7) risk perception, and (8) habits. Because the Vascular View program will focus on patients' behavior, we did not explicitly involve environmental factors and corresponding determinants. For example, the health problem "obesity" is related to the behavior "eating unhealthy" with the corresponding determinants knowledge (patients know what healthy nutrition is) and self-efficacy (patients believe they are able to eat healthy).

Step 2: Matrices of Change Objectives

We selected the three most important and modifiable determinants of self-managing CVD from the I-Change Model 2.0 [24]: awareness, motivation, and action. A patient should have accurate knowledge and risk perception to be aware that

motivation (intention) to increase self-management behavior depends on the patient's attitude (perceived pros and cons), beliefs about subjective norms (reactions and expectations of important others), and self-efficacy expectations (perceived ability to perform self-management behavior). Action is needed to increase self-management behavior, which is determined by self-efficacy, goal setting, action-planning, and the development of the skills needed for CVD self-management. Finally, we defined predisposing factors, such as lifestyle, gender, heredity, personality, policy about cigarettes, supply of healthy food, and potential to be physically active. The applied I-Change Model 2.0 for increasing self-management behavior in CVD patients is shown in Figure 2.

self-managing CVD is a possibility and a choice. A patient's

In one meeting, the members of the two expert groups (Table 1) validated the designed matrices of performance and change objectives and prioritized the following topics of the performance and change objectives: (1) lifestyle (nutrition, physical activity, smoking and use of alcohol); (2) setting boundaries; (3) medication adherence; (4) emotions (fear); and (5) interaction with the health professional.

XSL•FO

Multimedia Appendices 1 and 2 show matrices in which the selected most important and modifiable determinants were added

to the performance objectives of each topic according to the I-Change Model [24], and combined with change objectives.

Figure 2. Applied Integrated Change Model (I-Change) 2.0 for increasing the self-management behavior for cardiovascular disease.



Step 3: Theory-Based Intervention Methods and Practical Applications

For each selected determinant of self-management behavior (eg, knowledge, risk perception, awareness, attitude, self-efficacy, subjective norm, intention, and habits), the BCTs were selected [25] and discussed with both expert groups (Table 1) during one meeting. According to the Coding Manual for Behavior Change Techniques [25], a patient's knowledge will be influenced by providing general information and increasing the memory and/or understanding of transferred information. Awareness will be influenced by self-monitoring and delayed feedback of behavior (eg, by providing an overview of recorded, self-reported, behavior) (see Multimedia Appendix 3 for a screenshot of a diary of Vascular View) whereas risk communication will change a patient's risk perception. Intention will be modified by specific goal setting and review of general and/or specific goals (see Multimedia Appendix 4 for a screenshot of a step-by-step plan of Vascular View), and modeling, setting graded tasks, and goal setting will influence self-efficacy (see Multimedia Appendix 5 for a screenshot of role models in Vascular View). Attitude will be modified by a reevaluation of outcomes, self-evaluation, persuasive communication, and belief selection and providing information about peer behavior and mobilizing social norm will change

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2017/2/e18/

RenderX

subjective norm. The maintenance of a patient's behavior change will be influenced by formulating goals for maintenance of behavior and relapse prevention. Finally, it is suggested that a behavior change program in which the content and exercises can be adapted to a patient's profile is most likely to be effective [11,12]. Therefore, personalized tailoring is integrated in Vascular View in a number of ways (described below).

In translated these BCTs to practical applications, the parameters under which a given technique is most likely to be effective were taken into account. For example, self-reevaluation can use feedback and confrontation; however, raising awareness must be quickly followed by increase in problem-solving ability and self-efficacy. Multimedia Appendix 6 shows how we developed the practical applications from determinants (awareness, intention, and self-efficacy), BCTs, and parameters [17,24].

Step 4: Intervention Program

In one meeting, the two expert groups (Table 1) emphasized the use of brief sentences, dynamic content (different videos, quotes, exercises, diaries, pictures/cartoons), and to write on first-name terms in the Web-based program. It was also found that the program should enable patients to write down their questions (question prompt sheet), which can be taken to a consultation with their health professional. The program should enable a patient to make a printable, personal plan for

improvement. The meetings with the two expert groups and the results of IM Steps 1 to 3 resulted in the current Vascular View program. The program starts with a welcome for every patient, in which the courses (Coping with CVD, Setting Boundaries in Daily Life, Lifestyle, Healthy Nutrition, Being Physically Active in a Healthy Way, and Interaction with Health Professionals) are explained (Multimedia Appendix 7). A patient can randomly visit and complete every individual course. In the welcome section, patients fill in a short questionnaire, which guides their choice of preferred courses.

The course "Coping with CVD" addresses the determinants knowledge, awareness, risk perception, attitude, self-efficacy, subjective norm, intention, and action plans. The patient learns about dealing with CVD and its impact on daily life (eg, medication adherence, sexuality, emotions, fatigue, and pain), relatives, social environment, and resuming activities.

In the course "Setting Boundaries," patients learn to clearly communicate with their social environment (eg, relatives, colleagues) about perceived boundaries in daily life and in resuming activities with respect to their current ability. This course addresses the determinants knowledge, awareness, attitude, self-efficacy, and subjective norm.

The course "Lifestyle" addresses the determinants knowledge, awareness, attitude, self-efficacy, subjective norm, intention, habits, and skills, and consists of information about a healthy lifestyle (eg, risk information about tobacco and alcohol use in CVD, and their health), and information to support abstention from tobacco and alcohol use.

In the courses "Healthy Nutrition" and "Being Physically Active in a Healthy Way," patients gain insight into what they eat and drink, how physically active they are, and how to change their habits to healthier ones, step by step. These courses address the determinants knowledge, awareness, attitude, self-efficacy, subjective norm, intention, habits, and skills.

The course "Interaction With Your Health Professional" teaches patients to effectively communicate with the health professional (eg, preparing a consultation, asking questions, sharing worries). This course addresses the determinants knowledge, awareness, attitude, self-efficacy, and subjective norm.

The sessions in the courses are personalized and are supported by written information, quotes, pictures, videos, diaries, and exercises. In the courses "Healthy Nutrition" and "Being Physically Active in a Healthy Way," two case studies involving two imaginary patients (a man and a woman) support the information and exercises offered through the sessions and courses (Multimedia Appendix 7).

In all courses of Vascular View, tailoring was done using variables or factors related to behavior change (such as stage of change), or to relevance (such as culture or socioeconomic status) [17,25]. A patient is able to choose preferred courses in the welcome section. The "Lifestyle" course also contains a short questionnaire about nutrition, weight, height, physical activity, and tobacco and alcohol use, which is transformed into tailored, written feedback including red (unhealthy behavior) and green (healthy behavior) emoticons, followed by tailored guidance to undertake different courses of Vascular View

(Setting Boundaries, Healthy Nutrition, and Being Physically Active in a Healthy Way). The healthy nutrition advice is also tailored to age using an algorithm (ages 19 to 50 years, 51 to 70 years, and greater than 70 years), to fit the age-based Dutch guidelines for a healthy diet [28]. Tailoring takes place according to the detail of the information ("read more" options in all of the courses). To support the change processes in patients, we used the short form version of the Scale for Interpersonal Behavior (s-SIB) [29] and motivational interviews [30].

The feedback of the pretest by all patients and health professionals of both expert groups (Table 1) consisted of usability issues (eg, problems with logging in) and feedback on text issues (patronized texts, typological and layout errors, the amount of "passive" texts). This resulted in the adaption of Vascular View (eg, text of all courses were shortened, medical information was rewritten, the Healthy Nutrition and Being Physically Active courses were rewritten in a more interactive way, and typological and layout errors were removed) and different implementation strategies (see also Step 5). For example, we simplified the user manual by reducing text and including screenshots of Vascular View to guide the use of the program.

Step 5: Program Adoption, Implementation, and Sustainability

As a result of the first 4 Steps and one meeting with both expert groups (Table 1), we developed different implementation strategies for patients as well as health professionals. For patients, we determined that motivation and perceived personal relevance on the first visit were the most important factors in the dissemination of, and exposure to, Vascular View. Important facilitators of re-visiting Vascular View were tailored feedback, new, relevant, and reliable information, a user-friendly program, reminders to re-visit the program and repeating personal points of improvement, and the possibility of email contact [31,32]. Therefore, the following implementation strategies were developed for patients: patients receive a written instruction manual for Vascular View and the diaries (nutrition and physical activity) are made available before receiving the codes to log in. Upon the start of the program, a digital flyer is sent to patients, which promotes the benefits of using the program and contains information about contact persons. Patients receive a code to log in when they receive the flyer. The patients who do not visit the program within one month receive an email reminder. If patients do not log in after another week, they receive a phone call from a researcher. Patients also receive an email when they visit the program but do not finish a task or a course. Finally, every 2 months a newsletter is sent to all participants to informally remind them of Vascular View with news about the program, the ongoing research project, and contact details in case of questions or problems with logging in.

The members of the two expert groups also emphasized the importance of being motivated to use Vascular View by their health professionals, whether or not this was supported by a brochure. They added that health professionals should also be interested in the progress of a patient's self-management

XSL•FO RenderX

behavior, and be able to answer questions during the study in order to show their involvement.

The key persons in adoption and implementation are the medical specialists in Internal and Vascular Medicine, and the nurse specialists in Neurology, Cardiology, and Vascular Surgery, because of their crucial roles in the recruitment of patients. They also brought Vascular View to the attention of patients during regular consultations across the study period by asking about the program. Before the program started, the nurse specialists were instructed in how to support a patient's use of Vascular View.

Step 6: Evaluation Plan

Design

A mixed-methods study design will be conducted with an early RCT and a process evaluation to (1) evaluate the potential effectiveness and effect size of Vascular View; (2) identify the outcome measures most likely to capture potential patient benefit; and (3) evaluate continued participation or withdrawal from Vascular View. The early RCT and the process evaluation will be performed at four outpatient clinics in one university hospital in the Netherlands (Internal Medicine, Cardiology, Neurology, and Vascular Surgery).

Participants

We will recruit 400 to 600 potential participants diagnosed with CVD, to allow the participation of 200 patients. Inclusion criteria are that patients (1) manifest atherosclerotic vascular disease, including ischemic heart disease, cerebrovascular disease (eg, stroke or transient ischemic attack), and peripheral artery disease (eg, claudication intermittens), or a combination; (2) are aged 18 years or older; (3) can speak, read, and understand the Dutch language; and (4) have access to a computer, the Internet, and an email account. Exclusion criteria are patients with (1) comorbidities, which may hinder the use of Vascular View, as defined by the medical specialist; and (2) psychiatric disorders.

Procedure

The medical specialists will inform patients about the content and aim of the study via an information letter. After signing the informed consent and completing the baseline questionnaire (T0), patients will be included and randomized to an intervention group (access to Vascular View for 1 year on top of usual care) and a control group (usual care). Randomization will take place at the individual level, will be stratified for diagnoses, and will be executed by a statistician who will use a computer program. Patient characteristics will be assessed at baseline via an online questionnaire (T0) and medical file research. Repeated measures will be conducted 6 months (T1) and 12 months (T2) after baseline. Semi-structured interviews will be performed with patients and focus group interview(s) will be conducted with health professionals at 12 months.

Ethical Approval

This study has been improved by the Medical Ethical Research Committee of Arnhem - Nijmegen, Nijmegen, the Netherlands (registration number: 2015/1908), and is registered in the Netherlands Trial Registry (registration number: NTR5412).

```
http://www.researchprotocols.org/2017/2/e18/
```

Measurements

The quantitative data will be collected via an online questionnaire and medical file research. The online questionnaires consist of patient demographics and the following, described 11 measurements. Illness attribution will be assessed by one question in the Illness Perception Questionnaire (IPQ) [33]. The health-related quality of life survey (RAND-36) measures a patient's general health status in 8 dimensions including physical and social functioning, role limitations (physical and emotional problems), mental health, vitality, and pain [34]. Self-management will be evaluated using Patient Activation Measurement (PAM-13) [35]. Self-efficacy will be assessed through self developed questions in which patients will be asked how confident they feel about self-managing CVD based on the program outcomes and corresponding determinants. Patient trust in their communication skills will be measured by the Perceived Efficacy in Patient-Physician Interactions (PEPPI-5) [36]. Patient attitudes to prescription medicine will be evaluated using the Beliefs about Medicines Questionnaire (BMQ) [37]. The Morisky Medication Adherence Scale (MMAS-8) will assess medication adherence [38]. Finally, lifestyle will be evaluated using the Fägerstrom Test for Nicotine Dependence [39] for tobacco use, the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT) [40] for testing harmful alcohol use, the International Physical Activity Questionnaire (IPAQ) [41] to identify a patient's physical activity, and eating habits will be evaluated by the Dutch Healthy Diet Index [42]. We will sample biometrics from patient medical files, including blood pressure, BMI, etc.

Process Evaluation

To investigate the factors that influence user statistics, intervention fidelity, and user satisfaction in the Vascular View program, a process evaluation will be performed based on the framework of Saunders et al [27]. This is a comprehensive and systematic framework for developing a process-evaluation plan to evaluate the implementation of a targeted health promotion intervention, which comprises components including fidelity, dose (delivered and received), reach, recruitment, and context [27]. Data for the process evaluation builds on different sources. An extra questionnaire will be completed at T1 and T2, in which experiences and opinions of the written manual, use and non-use of the program, layout, content, exercises, and diaries of the program will be asked of patients in the intervention group. Data obtained from the Web-based program will be used, including login data (exposure and continued participation or dropping out), data about using different courses, sessions, and the use of the diaries. Qualitative interviews with users and non-users will be conducted to explore their experiences and satisfaction with Vascular View. Patients will be asked how Vascular View supported the self-management of their CVD, including coping with CVD and its consequences, setting boundaries, changing lifestyles (being physical active, eating healthily, cessation of smoking, and the harmful use of alcohol), and communicating with health professionals. Patients who do not log in, or log in only once, will be asked about their reasons for not visiting the Vascular View program and the barriers they perceived. Nursing visits with participating patients will be audio recorded and analyzed to explore the role of nurses and

XSL•FO RenderX

activities related to the introduction of Vascular View. Finally, focus group interview(s) with health professionals in chronic diseases will be conducted to determine their opinions of the adaptation and implementation of a Web-based program and their own role in this process and in patient treatment.

Analyses

Quantitative and qualitative analyses will be performed. Patient outcome measures will be treated as dependent and continuous variables and will be analyzed on the basis of intention-to-treat. All variables will be presented in percentages or in means and standard deviations of the sum-scores. Repeated measures analyses will be performed to explore effect sizes and the responsiveness of outcome measures. Multilevel analyses will be applied to compensate for the clustered nature of the data using mixed linear modeling techniques. The qualitative data gathered in semi-structured interviews and the focus group interviews will be analyzed using content analyses.

Discussion

Principal Findings

The aims of this paper are (1) to describe the development of the tailored, Web-based, self-management support program Vascular View for patients with CVD according to the 6 steps of the IM framework; and (2) to describe how the program will be evaluated. The 6 steps of IM provide a well-balanced processual guide for tailoring to the preferences and support needs of patients with CVD, by combining evidence and the perceived experiences of patients and their health professionals. A unique feature of the program is that it is based on the perceived problems of patients with CVD and that the corresponding determinants were combined with theory-based intervention methods into practical applications. This resulted in a Web-based program which may influence the relevant determinants-knowledge, awareness, attitude, self-efficacy, subjective norm, risk perception motivation (intention), habits, and maintenance-of self-management in patients with CVD by applying different methods through the courses. The Vascular View program was tailored to patient preferences, the level of elaborateness of the information, the content, factors related to behavior change, and relevance. To our knowledge, such a comprehensive, tailored, Web-based, self-management program for secondary care patients with CVD has not been previously developed; other programs have mainly focused on one or two risk factors or risk factor determinants only [12-15].

Strengths and Limitations

A strength of the Vascular View program is the intensive cooperation of the two expert groups in every step of IM. The two expert groups ensured that the general information from the literature fitted the target group. Their knowledge, experiences, and visions led to the comprehensive, Web-based program developed.

Vascular View was developed for a heterogeneous population of patients with manifest CVD, including, among others, ischemic heart disease, cerebrovascular disease, and peripheral artery disease. This diversity in patients and diagnoses required a well-balanced approach from the Web-based program. To overcome this possible limitation, we tailored the content of the courses to patient diagnoses and interests by using short questionnaires before or during a course and "read more" options within the courses.

Despite the comprehensiveness of this Web-based program, Vascular View is limited in its influence over the different environmental factors of patients with CVDs. Different interpersonal (eg, partner, relatives, colleagues), organizational (eg, unavailability of accompanied exercise facilities by a health professional), community (eg, availability of work and income), and societal (eg, no smoking allowed in public buildings) factors were incorporated in Vascular View because the program aimed to increase self-management behavior and the way patients living in this (interpersonal, organization, community, and society) environment are able to cope, via the patients themselves. However, we do not know how these different environmental factors interact in order to change behavior [17]. In designing Vascular View, we made use of two highly relevant theoretical models [17,25]. For future studies, to prevent confusion, attention should be paid to the similarities and dissimilarities between the terminology and terms used in these different models. The composition of the patient expert group might be considered a limitation, because only 1 female patient as opposed to 5 males participated, which is not a representative reflection of the population. It might be considered as a limitation that we left out interventions on smoking and drinking behavior. Because of their availability, we give general information and provide links to already existing, highly effective programs. Finally, the pilot testing of Vascular View will take place in one university hospital in the Netherlands only. For an early RCT that aims to obtain insight into the relevant outcome variables and related effect sizes, such a mono-centered study is considered to be the most convenient [18,26].

Conclusions

This paper describes the systematic development of the comprehensive, tailored, Web-based self-management support program Vascular View for patients with CVD, according to the IM framework. Vascular View aims to increase self-management behavior in patients with CVD by influencing the risk factors of CVD and through an improvement in quality of life, via a unique combination of tailoring, personalizing, and behavior change, by influencing determinants (knowledge, awareness, attitude, self-efficacy, subjective norm, risk perception, intention, and habits) of self-management behavior. The proposed early RCT will indicate whether these aims can be achieved. Furthermore, this feasibility study will give insight into relevant outcome variables and related effect sizes and allow us to identify any flaws or technical difficulties. This information will be used to set up a larger RCT. A process evaluation will identify, amongst other things, patient experiences in using the program and at which level the Vascular View program is helpful in supporting self-managed CVD. This information will be used in the future development of the Vascular View program.

Acknowledgments

This study is funded by ZonMw, the Netherlands Organization for Health Research and Development (520001001).

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Matrix of performance and change objectives for patients with cardiovascular disease (according to the boxes in the applied Integrated Change Model 2.0).

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 229KB - resprot_v6i2e18_app1.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 2

Matrix of performance and change objectives for patients with cardiovascular disease (according to the boxes in the applied Integrated Change model 2.0).

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 234KB - resprot_v6i2e18_app2.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 3

Screenshot of Vascular View ("Awareness").

[JPG File, 136KB - resprot_v6i2e18_app3.jpg]

Multimedia Appendix 4

Screenshot of Vascular View ("Intention").

[JPG File, 116KB - resprot_v6i2e18_app4.jpg]

Multimedia Appendix 5

Screenshot of Vascular View ("Self-efficacy").

[JPG File, 197KB - resprot_v6i2e18_app5.jpg]

Multimedia Appendix 6

Development of Vascular View from determinants to practical applications.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 165KB - resprot_v6i2e18_app6.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 7

An overview of the 6 courses of Vascular View.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 293KB - resprot_v6i2e18_app7.pdf]

References

- 1. Puska P, Norrving B, World Health Organization. In: Mendis S, Puska P, Norrving B, editors. Global Atlas on Cardiovascular Disease Prevention and Control. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2011:155.
- 2. de Silva D. A review of the evidence considering whether it is worthwhile to support self-management. In: Evidence: Helping People Help Themselves. London: Health Foundation; 2011:-17.
- McGowan P. Self-management: a background paper. 2005 Presented at: New Perspectives: International Conference on Patient Self-Management; 2005 Sept 12-14; Victoria, Canada URL: <u>http://bcsm.bluelemonmedia.com/uploads/</u> <u>Support% 20for% 20Health% 20Professionals/Self-Management% 20support% 20a% 20background% 20paper% 202005.pdf</u>
- 4. Barlow J, Wright C, Sheasby J, Turner A, Hainsworth J. Self-management approaches for people with chronic conditions: a review. Patient Educ Couns 2002;48(2):177-187. [Medline: <u>12401421</u>]

- Barnason S, Zimmerman L, Nieveen J, Schulz P, Young L. Patient recovery and transitions after hospitalization for acute cardiac events: an integrative review. J Cardiovasc Nurs 2012;27(2):175-191. [doi: <u>10.1097/JCN.0b013e318239f5f5</u>] [Medline: <u>22210146</u>]
- 6. Egberg L, Andreassen S, Mattiasson A. Experiences of living with intermittent claudication. J Vasc Nurs 2012 Mar;30(1):5-10. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jvn.2011.11.001</u>] [Medline: <u>22321401</u>]
- Satink T, Cup EH, Ilott I, Prins J, de Swart BJ, Nijhuis-van der Sanden MW. Patients' views on the impact of stroke on their roles and self: a thematic synthesis of qualitative studies. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2013 Jun;94(6):1171-1183. [doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2013.01.011] [Medline: 23337428]
- 8. Lorig KR, Ritter PL, Laurent DD, Plant K. Internet-based chronic disease self-management: a randomized trial. Med Care 2006 Nov;44(11):964-971. [doi: 10.1097/01.mlr.0000233678.80203.c1] [Medline: 17063127]
- 9. Sol BG, van der Bijl JJ, Banga J, Visseren FL. Vascular risk management through nurse-led self-management programs. J Vasc Nurs 2005 Mar;23(1):20-24. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jvn.2004.12.003</u>] [Medline: <u>15741961</u>]
- 10. Sol Berna G BG, van der Graaf Y, van Petersen R, Visseren FL. The effect of self-efficacy on cardiovascular lifestyle. Eur J Cardiovasc Nurs 2011 Sep;10(3):180-186. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ejcnurse.2010.06.005</u>] [Medline: <u>20674503</u>]
- Janssen V, De Gucht GV, Dusseldorp E, Maes S. Lifestyle modification programmes for patients with coronary heart disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Eur J Prev Cardiol 2013 Aug;20(4):620-640. [doi: 10.1177/2047487312462824] [Medline: 23022703]
- 12. Ekeland AG, Bowes A, Flottorp S. Effectiveness of telemedicine: a systematic review of reviews. Int J Med Inform 2010 Nov;79(11):736-771. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2010.08.006] [Medline: 20884286]
- 13. Clark RA, Inglis SC, McAlister FA, Cleland JG, Stewart S. Telemonitoring or structured telephone support programmes for patients with chronic heart failure: systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ 2007 May 05;334(7600):942 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.39156.536968.55] [Medline: 17426062]
- 14. Neubeck L, Redfern J, Fernandez R, Briffa T, Bauman A, Freedman SB. Telehealth interventions for the secondary prevention of coronary heart disease: a systematic review. Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil 2009 Jun;16(3):281-289. [doi: 10.1097/HJR.0b013e32832a4e7a] [Medline: 19407659]
- 15. Holland R, Battersby J, Harvey I, Lenaghan E, Smith J, Hay L. Systematic review of multidisciplinary interventions in heart failure. Heart 2005 Jul;91(7):899-906 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/hrt.2004.048389] [Medline: 15958358]
- 16. Petty R, Cacioppo J. Central and peripheral routes to attitude change. In: Communication and Persuasion. New York: Springer-Verlag New York; 1986.
- 17. Bartholomew LK, Parcel GS, Kok G, Gottlieb NH, Fernández ME. Planning Health Promotion Programs: An Intervention Mapping Approach Third Edition. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass; 2011.
- 18. Pocock SJ. A practical approach. In: Clinical Trials. New York: Wiley; 1984.
- 19. Green LW, Kreuter MW. Health Program Planning: An Educational and Ecological Approach Fourth Edition. New York: McGraw-Hill; 2004.
- 20. Brink E, Karlson BW, Hallberg LR. Readjustment 5 months after a first-time myocardial infarction: reorienting the active self. J Adv Nurs 2006 Feb;53(4):403-411. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2648.2006.03737.x] [Medline: 16448483]
- Brink E. Adaptation positions and behavior among post--myocardial infarction patients. Clin Nurs Res 2009 May;18(2):119-135. [doi: 10.1177/1054773809332326] [Medline: 19276404]
- 22. Wann-Hansson C, Hallberg IR, Klevsgård R, Andersson E. Patients' experiences of living with peripheral arterial disease awaiting intervention: a qualitative study. Int J Nurs Stud 2005 Nov;42(8):851-862. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2004.11.009</u>] [Medline: <u>16210023</u>]
- 23. Kvigne K, Kirkevold M, Gjengedal E. Fighting back--struggling to continue life and preserve the self following a stroke. Health Care Women Int 2004 Apr;25(4):370-387. [doi: <u>10.1080/07399330490278376</u>] [Medline: <u>15199975</u>]
- de Vries H, Kremers SP, Smeets T, Brug J, Eijmael K. The effectiveness of tailored feedback and action plans in an intervention addressing multiple health behaviors. Am J Health Promot 2008;22(6):417-425. [doi: <u>10.4278/ajhp.22.6.417</u>] [Medline: <u>18677882</u>]
- 25. de Bruin M, Kok G, Schaalma H, Hospers HJ. Coding manual for behavioral change techniques. Maastricht: Maastricht University; 2007. URL: <u>http://www.biomedcentral.com/content/supplementary/1748-5908-7-92-S2.pdf</u> [WebCite Cache ID 6npmSDo2Z]
- 26. Craig P, Dieppe P, Macintyre S, Michie S, Nazareth I, Petticrew M, Medical Research Council Guidance. Developing and evaluating complex interventions: the new Medical Research Council guidance. BMJ 2008 Sep 29;337:a1655 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>18824488</u>]
- 27. Saunders RP, Evans MH, Joshi P. Developing a process-evaluation plan for assessing health promotion program implementation: a how-to guide. Health Promot Pract 2005 Apr;6(2):134-147. [doi: 10.1177/1524839904273387] [Medline: 15855283]
- 28. Health Council of the Netherlands. Guidelines for a Healthy Diet. The Hague: Health Council of the Netherlands; 2006.
- 29. Arrindell WA, Sanavio E, Sica C. Introducing a short form version of the Scale of Interpersonal Behaviour (s-SIB) for use in Italy. Psicoterapia Cognitiva e Comportamentale 2002;1(8):3-18.

- 30. Rollnick S, Miller WR, Butler C. Motivational Interviewing in Health Care: Helping Patients Change Behavior. New York: Guilford Press; 2008.
- 31. Brouwer W, Oenema A, Crutzen R, de Nooijer J, de Vries NK, Brug J. An exploration of factors related to dissemination of and exposure to internet-delivered behavior change interventions aimed at adults: a Delphi study approach. J Med Internet Res 2008 Apr 16;10(2):e10 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.956] [Medline: 18417443]
- 32. Brouwer W, Oenema A, Crutzen R, de Nooijer J, de Vries NK, Brug J. What makes people decide to visit and use an internet delivered behavior change intervention? Health Educ 2009 Oct 16;109(6):460-473. [doi: 10.1108/09654280911001149]
- 33. Weinman J, Petrie KJ, Moss-morris R, Horne R. The illness perception questionnaire: a new method for assessing the cognitive representation of illness. Psychol Health 1996 Mar;11(3):431-445. [doi: 10.1080/08870449608400270]
- 34. VanderZee KI, Sanderman R, Heyink JW, de Haes H. Psychometric qualities of the RAND 36-Item Health Survey 1.0: a multidimensional measure of general health status. Int J Behav Med 1996;3(2):104-122. [doi: <u>10.1207/s15327558ijbm0302_2</u>] [Medline: <u>16250758</u>]
- 35. Hibbard JH, Mahoney ER, Stockard J, Tusler M. Development and testing of a short form of the patient activation measure. Health Serv Res 2005 Dec;40(6 Pt 1):1918-1930 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1475-6773.2005.00438.x] [Medline: 16336556]
- 36. ten Klooster PM, Oostveen JC, Zandbelt LC, Taal E, Drossaert CH, Harmsen EJ, et al. Further validation of the 5-item Perceived Efficacy in Patient-Physician Interactions (PEPPI-5) scale in patients with osteoarthritis. Patient Educ Couns 2012 Apr;87(1):125-130. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2011.07.017] [Medline: 21889864]
- 37. Horne R, Weinman J, Hankins M. The beliefs about medicines questionnaire: the development and evaluation of a new method for assessing the cognitive representation of medication. Psychol Health 1999 Jan;14(1):1-24. [doi: 10.1080/08870449908407311]
- 38. Morisky DE, Ang A, Krousel-Wood M, Ward HJ. Predictive validity of a medication adherence measure in an outpatient setting. J Clin Hypertens (Greenwich) 2008 May;10(5):348-354 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>18453793</u>]
- 39. Pomerleau CS, Carton SM, Lutzke ML, Flessland KA, Pomerleau OF. Reliability of the Fagerstrom Tolerance Questionnaire and the Fagerstrom Test for Nicotine Dependence. Addict Behav 1994;19(1):33-39. [Medline: <u>8197891</u>]
- 40. Gual A, Segura L, Contel M, Heather N, Colom J. Audit-3 and audit-4: effectiveness of two short forms of the alcohol use disorders identification test. Alcohol Alcohol 2002;37(6):591-596 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 12414553]
- Craig CL, Marshall AL, Sjöström M, Bauman AE, Booth ML, Ainsworth BE, et al. International physical activity questionnaire: 12-country reliability and validity. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2003 Aug;35(8):1381-1395. [doi: 10.1249/01.MSS.0000078924.61453.FB] [Medline: 12900694]
- 42. van Lee L, Geelen A, van Huysduynen EJ, de Vries JH, van't Veer Veer P, Feskens EJ. The Dutch Healthy Diet index (DHD-index): an instrument to measure adherence to the Dutch Guidelines for a Healthy Diet. Nutr J 2012 Jul 20;11:49 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1475-2891-11-49] [Medline: 22818824]

Abbreviations

BCTs: behavior change techniques
BMI: body mass index
CVD: cardiovascular disease
I-Change model 2.0: Integrated Change Model 2.0
IM: intervention mapping
PRECEDE: Predisposing, Reinforcing, and Enabling Constructs in Educational/Environmental Diagnosis and Evaluation
RCT: randomized controlled trial

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 10.08.16; peer-reviewed by J Mirkovic, G Kok; comments to author 22.09.16; revised version received 15.11.16; accepted 19.12.16; published 08.02.17.

Please cite as:

Puijk-Hekman S, van Gaal BGI, Bredie SJH, Nijhuis-van der Sanden MWG, van Dulmen S Self-Management Support Program for Patients With Cardiovascular Diseases: User-Centered Development of the Tailored, Web-Based Program Vascular View JMIR Res Protoc 2017;6(2):e18 URL: http://www.researchprotocols.org/2017/2/e18/ doi:10.2196/resprot.6352

```
http://www.researchprotocols.org/2017/2/e18/
```

PMID:28179214



©Saskia Puijk-Hekman, Betsie GI van Gaal, Sebastian JH Bredie, Maria WG Nijhuis-van der Sanden, Sandra van Dulmen. Originally published in JMIR Research Protocols (http://www.researchprotocols.org), 08.02.2017. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Research Protocols, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.researchprotocols.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Protocol

Protocol for a 24-Week Randomized Controlled Study of Once-Daily Oral Dose of Flax Lignan to Healthy Older Adults

Jane Alcorn¹, PhD, DVM; Susan Whiting¹, PhD; Navita Viveky¹, PhD, RD; Yunyun Di¹, MSc; Kerry Mansell¹, PharmD; Sharyle Fowler², MD; Lilian Thorpe³, MD, PhD; Ahmed Almousa¹, MSc; Pui Chi Cheng¹, MSc, RD; Jennifer Jones², MD; Jennifer Billinsky¹, PhD; Thomas Hadjistavropoulos⁴, PhD

¹College of Pharmacy and Nutrition, University of Saskatchewan, Saskatoon, SK, Canada

²Division of Gastroenterology, College of Medicine, University of Saskatchewan, Saskatoon, SK, Canada

³Community Health and Epidemiology, College of Medicine, University of Saskatchewan, Saskatoon, SK, Canada

⁴Department of Psychology, Faculty of Arts, University of Regina, Regina, SK, Canada

Corresponding Author:

Susan Whiting, PhD College of Pharmacy and Nutrition University of Saskatchewan 104 Clinic Place Saskatoon, SK, S7N 2Z4 Canada Phone: 1 306 966 6365 Fax: 1 306 966 6173 Email: <u>susan.whiting@usask.ca</u>

Abstract

Background: Increased oxidative stress and inflammation are associated with aging, and contribute to an increased risk of chronic disease in older adults. Flaxseed lignans demonstrate antioxidant and anti-inflammatory activity, but their ability to reduce oxidative stress and inflammation markers in older adult populations has received limited investigation.

Objective: This is a chronic intervention trial of community-dwelling healthy older adults to examine the effects of a flaxseed lignan (secoisolariciresinol diglucoside; SDG) enriched supplement (BeneFlax) compared to a placebo. The primary aim was to demonstrate the safety of BeneFlax and confirm its anti-inflammatory efficacy on markers of oxidative stress and inflammation, and subsequent functional outcomes, including those associated with its anti-inflammatory efficacy. A secondary aim was to determine flaxseed lignan metabolite concentrations in blood.

Methods: A double-blind randomized clinical trial was conducted. Subjects were healthy community-dwelling adults aged 60-80 years. Testing was performed at baseline, 8, 16, and 24 weeks. The 24-week intervention consisted of 600 milligrams (mg) of SDG daily or an equivalent amount (volume) of placebo. All participants received 1000 international units of vitamin D to ensure adequate vitamin D status. Measurements consisted of blood pressure, hematology, and tolerability for safety assessments; blood oxidative stress and inflammatory biomarkers for efficacy; and cognition, muscle strength, and pain as functional outcomes. Secondary endpoints of plasma levels of lignan metabolites were analyzed by mass spectrometry. Other tests, such as bone turnover markers and fecal levels of flax cyclolinopeptides, will be performed at a later date.

Results: Thirty-two participants were recruited (19 intervention and 13 control) and all completed the trial. Numerous Health Canada-imposed exclusion criteria limited recruitment success. Analyses are ongoing, but the baseline data available for a number of parameters indicate no differences between treatment groups. Safety measures (vital signs) did not change from baseline and were not significantly different between treatment and placebo groups at 24 weeks.

Conclusions: Preliminary results indicate that no safety concerns are associated with administering 600 mg SDG for 24 weeks to adults between the ages of 60 and 80 years.

Trial Registration: Clinicaltrials.gov NCT01846117; https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT01846117 (Archived by WebCite at http://www.webcitation.org/6nlDZNjmA)

(JMIR Res Protoc 2017;6(2):e14) doi:10.2196/resprot.6817

KEYWORDS

flax; lignan; inflammation; oxidative stress; clinical trial; older adults

Introduction

Oxidative stress and inflammation are associated with a number of chronic diseases that are common among older adults [1,2]. Decreasing these processes may ameliorate problems associated with aging, such as hypertension and inflammation, which promote the development of vascular dementia and Alzheimer's disease (resulting in cognitive impairment) [3], and muscle wasting promoted by proinflammatory cytokines such as interleukin-6 (IL-6) and tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α) [4]. Increased oxidative stress also appears to be an early instigator of metabolic syndrome [5]. Evidence from animal and human studies demonstrates that flax lignans, such as secoisolariciresinol diglucoside (SDG), may delay the development of diseases associated with inflammation (ie, type 2 diabetes [6]), decrease hypertension [7,8], and lower serum cholesterol levels [9], among other actions. SDG supplementation in adults is associated with decreased levels of cholesterol and glucose in hypercholesterolemic individuals [9], reduced concentrations of C-reactive protein [10], and decreased metabolic syndrome composite score [7].

While older individuals would be expected to benefit more from anti-inflammatory compounds, most studies have focused on adults <60 years of age [9]. Consequently, limited information is available in seniors, and studies are necessary to confirm the safety and efficacy of anti-inflammatory compounds in this subpopulation of older adults. When SDG was tested in younger adults in a human clinical trial, there were no safety concerns associated with intake of 600 milligrams (mg) SDG, ingested for 8 weeks in participants between 53 and 58 years of age [9]. We also previously conducted two trials of SDG. One trial used a dose of 500 mg SDG in older (60-70 years of age) community-dwelling adults [7] but that trial had exercise in both the treatment and control groups, so assessment of SDG-only treatment was not possible. We then conducted a trial in older residential care (nursing home) adults aged 60-80 years, but that trial used a dose of only 300 mg SDG, as per Health Canada permission, and suffered from low recruitment (due to multiple exclusion criteria) and low retention (due to subject frailty) [11].

The present study was designed to examine whether consumption of a pharmacological dose (ie, 600 mg/day) of the flax lignan SDG for approximately 6 months (which was predicted to reduce oxidative stress and inflammation [12]), evidence of efficacy would show and safety in community-dwelling healthy older adults. A battery of biochemical and functional tests was applied. A 1000 international unit (IU) vitamin D supplement was given to all participants to ensure similar vitamin D status, in order to avoid confounding effects of differing status. The hypothesis being tested was that consumption of SDG, in persons with adequate vitamin D status, will decrease oxidative stress and associated inflammation, and improve secondary measures of function at the 6-month time point. In addition, data regarding blood lignan metabolites was gathered.

Methods

Intervention and Participant Recruitment

A 24-week double-blind randomized clinical trial was conducted, in which the intervention consisted of 600 mg flax lignan SDG daily or an equivalent amount of placebo. Participants were healthy community-dwelling men and women between the ages of 60 and 80 years, living in Saskatoon, Canada. The study was conducted in 2013-2014. Exclusion criteria included: age below 60 or above 80 years at initiation of the study; living in long term care (nursing) homes; individuals at risk of hypotension or with symptomatic hypotension; fasting hypoglycemia; unstable diabetes, or diabetics taking insulin; current cancer or diagnosed with cancer in the past 2 years; women with an immediate family history or personal history of breast cancer or ovarian cancer; significant liver (or other gastrointestinal) disorder, including inflammatory bowel disease; significant kidney disorder; unstable or severe cardiac disease, recent myocardial infarction, or stroke (either in past 6 months or significantly affecting physical mobility); unstable other medical disease including, but not limited to, pulmonary disorder, epilepsy, and genitourinary disorder; migraine with aura within the last year (as this is a risk factor for stroke); current diagnosis of a bleeding condition, or at risk of bleeding; significantly immunocompromised; current use of hormone replacement therapy (except thyroid medication); current use of warfarin, clopidogrel, ticlopidine, dipyridamole, or their analogues; intolerances or allergies to flax or vitamin D; allergy to whey (placebo); surgery within the last six months; and participation in any other clinical trial with an investigational agent within one month prior to randomization.

Recruitment of participants was undertaken using posters and newspaper advertisements. Study posters were displayed in local hospitals, on the University of Saskatchewan campus, and in several senior residences. The contact information of the study coordinator was provided. Interested volunteers called the study coordinator, who reviewed inclusion and exclusion criteria over the phone. Volunteers who met the inclusion criteria were asked to visit the study coordinator's office at the College of Pharmacy and Nutrition, University of Saskatchewan, Saskatoon (one time only) where inclusion and exclusion criteria were again reviewed and information in the consent form (10-page document) was explained, including purpose (Figure 1) and procedures (Figure 2), along with the possible risks and benefits of the study. Volunteers were given sufficient time to think about their participation. All volunteers were given the opportunity to ask questions and were made aware that they could withdraw from this study at any time for any reason. At the end of the consent process, volunteers gave permission to use and disclose their deidentified information that was collected for research purposes. A signed copy of the consent form was provided to each study participant. After participants signed up for the study, a study number was assigned and participants were given a map of the Saskatchewan Centre for Patient-Oriented Research (SCPOR) facility. Participants were

XSL•FO RenderX

also given a toilet hat and instructions regarding the collection of fecal samples for baseline. All study visits took place at the SCPOR facility located at City Hospital in Saskatoon, Canada.

Figure 1. Schematic of trial design, procedures, and stages.

	 Screening Age: 60-80 years Without hypotension, or any unstable cond Ability to follow simple instructions 	ition (see full list of exclusion criteria)
Dosing	Intervention (19 participants)	Placebo (13 participants)
Week 1-24	 secoisolariciresinol diglucoside (SDG) 600 mg/day in 1.6 grams BeneFlax (SDG-enhanced flax lignan) 1000 international units vitamin D 	 0.6 grams whey protein (an amount equal in volume to BeneFlax) 1000 international units vitamin D

Figure 2. Flow chart of events for study.



XSL•FO RenderX

Study Procedures

The details of tests and timing are described in Figure 2. After obtaining informed consent from the participants, research staff collected demographic information, including age, date of birth, race, sex, and personal health number (required for blood collection). Screening for inclusion and exclusion criteria was done before each visit (ie, baseline, week 8, week 16, and week 24). The list of medications (including vitamins, supplements, natural health products, over the counter medications, and prescription medications; total daily dose if regular or individual dose if used as needed) was obtained from all study participants at baseline, and changes to medications were enquired at every consecutive visit with the review of inclusion/exclusion criteria.

A flowchart of the study procedures corresponding to visits 1 through 4 is shown in Figure 2. Clinical facilities and lounge areas at SCPOR were available for the study. Some measures were assessed at all visits while others were completed only at visit 1 (eg, the two-hour postdosing measurements), and fecal samples were collected only at visits 1 and 4. Figure 3 shows instructions given to the participant upon his or her arrival at the study center. Nine stations were set up in four different areas (to allow for privacy) and participants went from station 1 to station 4 in order, and then stations 5 through 9 in any order. At the end of each visit, a checklist was signed off by research staff to ensure that all study tests and procedures were completed. Upon completion of the checklist, participants were given a light lunch.

Figure 3. The flowchart of procedures that was handed to participants at each visit. Visit 1 had an additional reminder regarding the 2-hour post dosing measures.



Randomization and Blinding

We aimed to recruit a total of 60 participants (30 per treatment group) per protocol analysis. We calculated that a blood pressure change of 10 mmHg (inducing hypotension as a safety concern) would require 30 participants per group. However, recruitment proceeded slowly; thus, we started the study with 32 participants, with 19 in the intervention group and 13 in the control group. This distribution was generated randomly to allow for an equitable sex distribution.

BeneFlax or placebo were administered in a double-blind fashion. Only the pharmacist, who used a computer-aided randomization system, knew group assignments; all personnel performing the data collection and analyses were blind to group assignment. The pharmacist kept a secure copy of the randomization codes during the study. The code was broken only after results were analyzed. Some tests have yet to be been run (ie, some of the cytokine markers of inflammation, bone turnover markers, and fecal cyclolinopeptides).

Accountability Procedures

The placebo (whey powder, Natural Factors) was purchased from a health food store in Saskatoon, Canada. The flax lignan supplement BeneFlax was shipped to the College of Pharmacy and Nutrition Saskatoon, Canada (a secured facility) from Archer Daniels Midland (Natural Health Products File # OF2-31-3-13412-2-4), and stored at -20°C. The analyzed content of SDG in BeneFlax was measured prior to the study (samples were shipped to Archer Daniels Midland for quantitative analysis). The packets of BeneFlax and whey were prepared by the research staff following safe food preparation procedures. Study compounds were sent to a designated pharmacy where the pharmacist oversaw the dispensing of products into packets, which were labelled and packaged into 12-week supplies in child-proof amber containers, with instructions to store the containers in the fridge. The pharmacist kept accurate records of the study compounds dispensed, with identification of the participant to whom they were dispensed and the date of the dispensing. During the course of the study all unused study compounds were returned to the researchers. The 1000 IU vitamin D supplements were purchased from the pharmacist and were dispensed in their original packaging.

Intervention

This study used a two-group randomized design with an intervention group and a control group. The intervention group received 1.6 grams of SDG-enriched food-grade flaxseed lignan complex BeneFlax containing 600 mg SDG, plus 1000 IU vitamin D, while the placebo control group received 0.6 grams of whey protein (similar in volume to the intervention compound) plus 1000 IU vitamin D. Vitamin D tablets were provided separately. The daily dose could not be delivered in one packet, so instructions indicated that two packets were to be consumed per day. Each packet contained 0.8 grams of BeneFlax or 0.3 grams of placebo (a volume equivalent to the volume of BeneFlax given). The product was taken at the same time each day (eg, always with breakfast or always with dinner). Either compound (lignan or whey powder) could be added to a tablespoon of applesauce or equivalent food.

Usual medications were allowed except for warfarin, clopidogrel, ticlopidine, dipyridamole (or their analogues), and female hormone replacement therapy. Participants took at minimum 1000 IU vitamin D and were allowed other multivitamin/mineral formulations containing vitamin D as part of their supplemental routine. Participants were also asked to refrain from consuming flax-containing foods throughout the 24-week period of the study. All participants were provided with a diary at baseline to assess compliance, medication use, and bowel health monitoring. The initial pages included a checklist, and participants were instructed to place a checkmark in a square to indicate if they took the study product and vitamin D for each day in the 24 weeks of the study period. The medication list included all prescriptions, natural health products, vitamins, and supplements that they were using at baseline, along with any that were added during the duration of this study. Bowel health monitoring was assessed by study participants making note of any changes that differed from usual bowel health. These changes included alterations in bowel

movement frequency, consistency, or any discomfort felt in the gastrointestinal tract. The last section of the diary was used to keep record of any illnesses along with the date, duration of symptoms (eg, once; number of days), and symptoms (date symptoms started and date symptoms ended).

Samples and Testing

Primary outcome measures were those of safety, related to 6-month administration of 600 mg SDG per day in healthy older adults. We included the reporting of clinical adverse signs and symptoms, vital signs, serum clinical chemistry, and hematology parameters for safety. SDG is known to be anti-inflammatory [10], so we also sought to confirm this property in older adults by examining the effects of flaxseed lignan supplementation on biomarkers of inflammation, risk factors of cardiovascular disease, and functional (ie, quality of life) indicators. Secondary outcomes included measuring plasma concentrations of lignans, fecal levels of flax cyclolinopeptides, and plasma levels of cyclolinopeptides.

Blood was collected on four visits: at baseline before taking the first dose of test product; and at weeks 8, 16, and 24. Phlebotomy staff at Saskatoon City Hospital collected a total of 35 milliliters (mL) of blood at each visit. Blood was collected in three 4.5 mL plasma separation tubes, two 10 mL tubes containing the anti-coagulant dipotassium ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (K2 EDTA), and two 4 mL K2 EDTA tubes (or three 4 mL K2 EDTA tubes in the case of diabetic participants), and all tubes were placed on ice packs. After centrifugation for 10 minutes at 1500 revolutions per minute (rpm), plasma was aliquoted into clearly labelled microcentrifuge vials to a volume of 500 microliters (µL) and placed at -20°C immediately, and research staff recorded the number of vials aliquoted each time. Subsequently, samples were stored at -80°C until analysis.

Two fecal samples were collected: once at the beginning of the trial, and again at the 24-week visit at the end of the trial. All required supplies and instructions to collect fecal samples were provided to participants. Participants were informed that fecal collection was to be made on the first bowel movement of the day of visit (baseline and 24-week) or samples collected at an earlier date (if they could not produce a fecal sample on the morning) were placed in freezer at home and brought to SCPOR by participants. Fecal samples were labeled by research staff and stored at -20° C immediately. Subsequently, fecal samples were also stored at -80° C until analysis.

Blood analysis was primarily carried out by the Saskatoon Health Region through the company Gamma Dynacare. Gamma Dynacare analyzed the following at all four time points (unless stated otherwise): urea, creatinine, glucose, liver enzymes (alanine transaminase [ALT], aspartate transaminase [AST], alkaline phosphatase [ALP]), total bilirubin, total protein, albumin, total cholesterol, triglycerides, high density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol, low density lipoprotein cholesterol, total cholesterol to HDL ratio, total calcium, electrolytes (sodium, chloride, potassium), magnesium, prealbumin, complete blood count (platelets, hematocrit, hemoglobin, mean corpuscular hemoglobin, mean corpuscular volume, white blood cell count),

XSL•FC

plasma C-reactive protein, and 25-hydroxyvitamin D. Research staff measured markers of oxidative stress, inflammation, and flaxseed lignan metabolites. Fecal samples will be analyzed for cyclolinopeptides by research staff.

A battery of functional tests was carried out. Cognitive function was assessed by research staff using the Mini-Mental State Examination, a clinical practice and research tool that takes 5-10 minutes to systematically assess mental status. The tool measures five areas of cognitive functionality: orientation, registration, attention and calculation, recall, and language, with 11 predefined questions. The maximum score is 30 and a score of 23 or lower is indicative of cognitive impairment [13]. Pain was assessed by research staff using the Brief Pain Inventory (BPI) Short Form [14]. Using BPI, participants rated the severity of their pain along with the degree to which it interfered with feeling and function.

Physical function was assessed by research staff via grip strength, using a Baseline Hydraulic Hand Dynamometer (Fabrication Enterprises Incorporated, White Plains, NY). Participants were seated comfortably with their upper arm in a normal neutral position alongside the body, and the elbow joint bent at 90°. The Hand Dynamometer was set to position 3 (or position 2 for females). The handgrip device was positioned vertically in the hand during the contractions (no rotating or twisting). Participants were instructed to squeeze the handle as hard as possible for a count of 3 (3-second long isometric contraction). Each participant's dominant side was tested first and 3 maximal repetitions with 30 seconds of rest between attempts were collected. Grip strength testing was completed on one hand before switching to the nondominant hand. Participants were not informed of the scores on each repetition until all repetitions were completed. If the participant was not able to complete the test, it was recorded as unable. If the participant could not complete the test due to a medical reason (ie, having had a past stroke), details were recorded in comments. Measurements were recorded to the nearest kilogram (kg). Height, weight, and circumference of the waist, mid-upper right arm, and right calf were measured by research staff using standard procedures [15].

The University of Saskatchewan version of the Block Food Frequency Questionnaire, modified to reflect Canadian fortification and to collect data on flax use, was administered to participants at each visit [7]. Activity was assessed by brief four-item queries of usual leisure-time exercise habits using the Godin Leisure-Time Exercise Questionnaire. Participants were asked during a typical 7-day period (one week), how many times (ie, each time = 1 unit) on average they did strenuous (eg, one's heart beating rapidly), moderate (not exhausting), and mild (minimal effort) exercise for more than 15 minutes. Scoring in Godin Leisure-Time Exercise Questionnaire was based on a cut point at 24 units, which represented the cumulative score of two intensities: strenuous and moderate. A score of >24 units is categorized as active with substantial benefits, 14-23 units are moderately active with some benefits, and <14 units indicate insufficiently active with less substantial/low benefits [16].

Other Efficacy Measures

C-reactive protein was measured by Pathology and Laboratory Medicine, Saskatoon Health Region. Other oxidative stress measurements (plasma malondialdehyde) and proinflammatory measurements (IL-6, TNF- α) were measured by the research staff using kits purchased from Cayman (Ann Arbor, Michigan, US). All other solvents were specified as mass spectrometry grade and all other chemicals were reagent grade. Plasma 25-hydroxyvitamin D was measured in-hospital for vitamin D assessment.

To further understand the pharmacology of SDG, plasma levels of SDG metabolites (secoisolariciresinol, enterodiol, enterlactone) were analyzed using various methods. Plasma trough concentrations of flaxseed lignan metabolites were measured to provide important information regarding lignan levels with chronic oral administration of a pharmacological dose of SDG contained in BeneFlax (approximately 38% SDG). Participant plasma samples were collected and stored as stated above. Stock solutions (1 mg/mL) of lignan metabolites and their respective stable isotope-labelled internal standards (Toronto Research Chemicals) were prepared in methanol and stored at -20°C. Working solutions were prepared by serial dilution of the stock solution to produce a standard calibration curve of 0.2-50 nanograms (ng)/mL for enterolactone and enterodiol, and 1-50 ng/mL for secoisolariciresinol. Previous studies have indicated that SDG is not absorbed and therefore was not analyzed. Quality control (QC) standards were prepared for acceptance criteria of the analytical assay. Calibration and QC samples were prepared on ice for each day of sample analysis. A linear least-squares regression analysis using $1/X^2$ as weighting factor was conducted to determine slope, intercept, and coefficient of determination (r^2) to demonstrate linearity of the method.

The sample extraction procedure involved the addition of 30 μ L of internal standard and 4 mL diethyl ether to 300 μ L of thawed plasma samples, and the mixture was shaken vigorously for 10 minutes. Samples were centrifuged at 2500 rpm for 5 minutes to separate the organic layers and transferred to -80° C to freeze the aqueous layer. The organic phase was then transferred to a glass tube and dried by rotary vacuum. Samples were reconstituted in 150 μ L of mobile phase (85:15 solvent ratio [A:B] containing 0.1% formic acid) and filtered through Whatman Mini-UniPrep Syringeless Filter vials. For measuring the total lignans in plasma (free and conjugated lignans), 300 μ L plasma and 60 μ L beta-glucuronidase were added to 300 μ L sodium acetate buffer (0.1 molar, pH 5.0) and incubated at 37°C for 4 hours before proceeding to the extraction procedure.

For high-performance liquid chromatography, 5 μ L of sample was injected onto a Porshell 120 EC-C18 2.1 x 50 millimeter (mm), 2.7 micrometer (μ m) column and 2.1 x 5 mm, 2.7 μ m guard column (Agilent Technologies) with the column temperature set at 20°C. Samples were separated using an Agilent series 1200 binary pump (Agilent Technologies, Mississauga, Ontario, Canada) with an online degasser and auto sampler set at 4°C. Analytes were detected with an AB Sciex API 4000 Q-TRAP mass spectrometer (AB Sciex, Concord, Ontario, Canada). The mobile phase was 0.1% formic acid in

https://www.researchprotocols.org/2017/2/e14/

XSL•F() RenderX

liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry (LC-MS) grade water (Solvent A) and LC-MS grade acetonitrile (Solvent B). The flow rate was set to $250 \,\mu$ L/min. Samples were separated using the 10-minute gradient method. The mobile phase was started with 85:15 A:B at 0 minutes and dropped to 50:50 A:B from 0 to 1.5 minutes. The gradient continuously changed to 5:95 A:B from 1.5 minutes to 2.5 minutes and remained the same to 4.5 minutes. The mobile phase was quickly returned to 85:15 A:B from 4.5 minutes to 5 minutes and held for another 5 minutes to equilibrate the column.

LC-MS was performed in the negative ion mode. The AB Sciex 4000 Q-TRAP mass spectrometer utilized a curtain gas pressure of 10 pounds per square inch and GS1 and GS2 parameters were set at 50 pounds per square inch. The ionspray voltage was set at 4500 V and the temperature of the electrospray ionization source interface was maintained at 700°C. The mass spectrometer utilized multiple reaction monitoring to quantify the analytes, by using the transition of mass (M) and charge number (z) such that [M]+ (m/z 361.019>164.800; declustering potential of 90, collision energy of 36, collision cell exit potential of 11) for secoisolariciresinol, transition of [M]+ (m/z 301.000>253.000; declustering potential of 95, collision energy of 32, collision cell exit potential of 5) for enterodiol, and transition of [M]+ (m/z 297.000>189.000; declustering potential of 90, collision energy of 30, collision cell exit potential of 7) for enterolactone. The peak areas were summed through use of Analyst Software. The ratio of peak areas of lignan metabolites to their respective internal standards were plotted against the nominal concentrations to construct the calibration curve. Analytical method validation was performed in accordance with the United States Food and Drug Administration (FDA) guidelines [17]. The assay was specific and linear, extraction efficiency ranged from 50% to 72%, and intraday and interday precision and accuracy of the method was within 15%.

Safety Parameters

Urea, creatinine, total bilirubin, platelets, hematocrit, hemoglobin, mean corpuscular hemoglobin, mean corpuscular volume, white blood cell count, total calcium, glucose, liver enzymes (AST, ALT, ALP), total protein, albumin, lipids, glycated hemoglobin for diabetic participants, and electrolytes were measured for safety assessment. Vital signs, including blood pressure, heart rate, and respiration rate were also assessed, with a copy of these results sent to the participant's physician. Blood pressure using a standard hospital sphygmomanometer was measured as resting blood pressure for all participants, in addition to standing blood pressure using the blood pressure monitor. All vital signs (except respiratory rate) were taken when study participants were either lying down or standing. Study participants would lie quietly for 3-5 minutes prior to blood pressure and pulse readings being taken; they then stood for 1 minute prior to blood pressure and pulse being taken again. If blood pressure measurements exceeded the inclusion criteria of mild hypertension (140-159 mmHg/90-100 mmHg) or fell below cutoffs for systolic hypotension (systolic blood pressure <80 mmHg) or orthostatic hypotension (reduction of systolic blood pressure of at least 20 mmHg or diastolic blood pressure of at least 10 mmHg within 3 minutes of standing after restful sitting for at least five minutes) at visit 1, participants

XSI-FC

would have been excluded; however, no participants met these extreme cut-offs. During the study, hypoglycemia, systolic hypotension, and orthostatic hypotension episodes were used as indicators of adverse effects. Respiration rate was measured by the number of breaths in one minute by counting how many times the chest rose.

A research assistant reviewed the results and flagged any values that were outside of the normal range; values were signed off by a designated physician, and those of concern were discussed with the principal investigator or study physician. Diabetic participants had fasting glucose monitored for hypoglycemia using Rapid Response test strips on Rapid Response blood glucose meter (BTNX Inc, Markham, Ontario, Canada).

Ethics

Ethical approval was obtained from the University of Saskatchewan/University of Regina Ethics Review Board for Biomedical Research in Human Subjects. Approval from Health Canada was obtained for use of BeneFlax, a natural health product approved by both the FDA and Health Canada. This study is one of a series of studies that were supported by a Team Grant from the Saskatchewan Health Research Foundation to the University of Regina. This particular substudy was undertaken at the University of Saskatchewan and fell under the insurance of that institution.

Adverse Events Monitoring

Adverse events were recorded throughout the study. An adverse event was defined as any untoward medical occurrence in a patient or clinical investigation participant that was administered a pharmaceutical product. All research team members in contact with participants were responsible for noting adverse events, which were reported by the participants. Participants were advised to communicate the adverse event at the time of occurrence to the Physician Responsible for Trial Site Medical Decisions during office hours, or to the on-call study physician if outside of office hours. The 24-hour contact numbers for study physicians were made available to all participants. Adverse events were documented with clinical details, as well as the date, start and stop time of the event, and severity. All actions taken and outcomes were documented. All potentially adverse experiences, including illnesses, unpleasant symptoms, and falls and injuries were charted. Upon the occurrence of a serious adverse event, Internal Serious Adverse Event Reporting Form from University of Saskatchewan (page 39) and Adverse Reaction Report Form for Clinical Trials from Health Canada (page 41) forms were to be filled; however, none occurred during this clinical trial.

Statistics

The data will be descriptively analyzed using frequencies, means, and standard deviations. The data will be assessed for potential outliers or extreme observations, and for adherence to the assumptions underlying the analytic model. The data will be analyzed using a random-effects regression model for repeated measures data. A random-effects model is an appropriate and valid choice for these data given the potential for a high proportion of missing observations due to loss to follow-up, as a random-effects model does not require complete

data and does not rest on the stringent assumptions regarding the covariance structure of the data that underlies the repeated measures analysis of variance (ANOVA). Any deviations from the original statistical plan will be described and justified in the final report. Model effects will include group (intervention, control) and time (baseline, 8, 16, and 24 weeks). Analyses will be conducted using body weight, blood pressure, age, and body mass index (kg/m²) as potential confounding covariates in the model. Likelihood ratio tests will be used to test for differences between treatment and control groups at each measurement occasion and/or between baseline and 24 weeks. A Cronbach alpha level of 0.05 will be used as the level of significance.

Data will be analyzed on an intent-to-treat basis; an attempt will be made to remeasure participants that did not adhere to supplementation. Analyses will also be performed by received dose (ie, analysis by the actual amount of supplement consumed by subtracting missed doses) using the diary information. A consort checklist for this study was completed according to established protocol and is presented as Multimedia Appendix 1 [18].

Results

This trial was started on May 8, 2013. We screened 173 potential participants (92 females, 81 males) who responded to advertisements that listed inclusion criteria of 60-80 years of age, and "healthy." There were 34 potential participants (16 females, 18 males) who consented to be in the study; however, after consenting two participants (one male and one female) withdrew. The 32 participants remaining in the study came to all four visits except one participant who missed the 16-week time point. Of the data from 128 total possible visits from 32 participants, we obtained data from 127 visits. Information on study participants is provided in Table 1, showing no differences between those randomized to intervention with those randomized to control treatment, using one-way ANOVA.

Here we report on some of the safety parameters. Systolic blood pressure, diastolic blood pressure, and heart rate measurements were completed in duplicate for all participants at each visit. Table 2 shows blood pressure (systolic and diastolic), heart rate, and respiration rate two hours after the BeneFlax or placebo was administered for the first time, and after 24 weeks of chronic ingestion (in fasting subjects). There was no significant change in any of these parameters with treatment, using one-way ANOVA.

Table 1. Study participants at baseline.

Parameter	BeneFlax	Placebo
Total (males, females)	19 (10, 9)	13 (7, 6)
Age in years, mean (SD)	67.9 (5.2)	68.1 (4.7)
Body mass index, mean (SD)	26.0 (3.3)	28.8 (5.0)
Systolic blood pressure, mean (SD)	129.5 (23.6)	138.3 (19.9)

Table 2. Vital signs after acute (2-hour) and chronic (24-week) ingestion of BeneFlax or placebo.

Outcome	Treatment	n	Baseline	2-hour	24-week	Range
Systolic blood pressure, mean (SD)	BeneFlax	19	130 (24)	136 (20)	132 (14)	100-178
	Placebo	13	138 (10)	134 (21)	138 (21)	99-167
Diastolic blood pressure, mean (SD)	BeneFlax	19	79 (10)	80 (9)	79 (9)	64-109
	Placebo	13	77 (6)	74 (5)	76 (7)	64-89
Respiratory rate, mean (SD)	BeneFlax	19	16 (5)	13 (3)	13 (3)	7.0-24
	Placebo	13	15 (4)	15 (4)	14 (3)	9.0-24
Heart rate, mean (SD)	BeneFlax	19	63 (9)	66 (7)	69 (11)	47-88
	Placebo	13	64 (9)	67 (7)	63 (11)	49-86

Discussion

RenderX

Data analyses for this intervention trial are ongoing and flaxseed lignan metabolite measurements are underway. Results and findings will be reported in several publications. In terms of further analyses, the determination of the differences in the inflammatory and oxidative stress markers between the SDGand placebo-supplemented group are in progress. This research will contribute to the literature on the efficacy and safety of SDG supplementation in healthy older adults. Data from other tests such as grip strength, pain measures, activity, anthropometrics, and cognitive testing will help in better understanding the effects of flaxseed lignan supplementation on functionality. Associations with oxidative stress and inflammation will be made.

In terms of safety, our data (Table 2) are compatible with our other studies in which we reported that SDG supplementation (300 mg/day of BeneFlax) in a very frail, complex patient population 60-80 years of age caused no significant adverse

outcomes [11], and that 543 mg daily for 6 months produced no incidents of hypoglycemia or hypotension among participants 49-87 years of age [19].

Compliance with the Flax Product Study compound was monitored with the participant diary. Although participants did not consistently return all used and unused product packets of Beneflax and vitamin D supplements, most returned diaries outlining the compliance to study test products, vitamin D, medication change, illnesses, and bowel health monitoring.

Strengths of the study included the commitment of participants who presented themselves at 127 of 128 visits (32 participants and 4 visits), which represents 99.2% compliance to the study. Conducting this trial at SCPOR was another strength, as this facility had adequate space and rooms for all tests and procedures, which were simultaneously performed by the research staff during the visits. The centrifuge for obtaining plasma was in place at SCPOR and Pathology and Laboratory Medicine, Saskatoon Health Region was situated in the hospital as well, for immediate transfer of blood samples. The equipment used at SCPOR, such as blood pressure monitors and weighing scales, were calibrated by the technicians there, providing accuracy and precision to the tests. Also, SCPOR is located in the downtown area, making it easily accessible to the study participants. All tests and procedures performed by research staff were conducted using standard operating procedures; training was provided to staff.

The foremost study limitation and challenge was the recruitment of healthy older adults due to our extensive exclusion criteria. Of the 173 potential participants initially screened by research staff, only 34 participants met the inclusion/exclusion criteria, representing approximately 20% of the potential participants. After the withdrawal of two participants, we had only 32 final participants. Our previous work [11,19] demonstrated the safety of BeneFlax in older healthy and frail populations, therefore the inclusion and exclusion criteria could be revised/reviewed in further clinical trials of BeneFlax in older healthy and to allow for larger scale clinical trials.

Conclusion

We are comparing flax lignan to a placebo (whey powder) to examine whether a dietary intervention (ie, flaxseed lignan-enriched product) might decrease oxidative stress and inflammation in older adults. This intervention consisted of 600 mg of the flaxseed lignan SDG, taken daily for 24 weeks in healthy older adults. SDG is broken down in the gastrointestinal tract to produce the health benefits of flax. Results from this study will demonstrate whether SDG supplementation decreases oxidative stress and inflammation in community-dwelling healthy older adults. These findings might help in maintaining/improving functionality markers such as cognition, muscle strength, and other inflammation-associated problems of aging.

To the best of our knowledge this is the first study testing the efficacy and safety of flaxseed lignan in community-dwelling healthy older adults. Our findings will contribute significantly to the knowledge base on flaxseed lignan safety and efficacy.

Acknowledgments

This work has been supported in part through a Health Research Team Grant from the Saskatchewan Health Research Foundation.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

CONSORT-EHEALTH checklist V1.6.1 [18].

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 7MB - resprot_v6i2e14_app1.pdf]

References

- 1. Solak Y, Afsar B, Vaziri ND, Aslan G, Yalcin CE, Covic A, et al. Hypertension as an autoimmune and inflammatory disease. Hypertens Res 2016 Aug;39(8):567-573. [doi: 10.1038/hr.2016.35] [Medline: 27053010]
- 2. Shrivastava AK, Singh HV, Raizada A, Singh SK. C-reactive protein, inflammation and coronary heart disease. Egypt Heart J 2015 Jun;67(2):89-97. [doi: 10.1016/j.ehj.2014.11.005]
- 3. Heppner FL, Ransohoff RM, Becher B. Immune attack: the role of inflammation in Alzheimer disease. Nat Rev Neurosci 2015 Jun;16(6):358-372. [doi: 10.1038/nrn3880] [Medline: 25991443]
- 4. Costamagna D, Costelli P, Sampaolesi M, Penna F. Role of inflammation in muscle homeostasis and myogenesis. Mediators Inflamm 2015;2015:805172 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2015/805172] [Medline: 26508819]
- 5. Le Lay S, Simard G, Martinez M, Andriantsitohaina R. Oxidative stress and metabolic pathologies: from an adipocentric point of view. Oxid Med Cell Longev 2014:8539. [doi: 10.1155/2014/908539] [Medline: 25143800]
- Pan A, Demark-Wahnefried W, Ye X, Yu Z, Li H, Qi Q, et al. Effects of a flaxseed-derived lignan supplement on C-reactive protein, IL-6 and retinol-binding protein 4 in type 2 diabetic patients. Br J Nutr 2009 Apr;101(8):1145-1149. [doi: 10.1017/S0007114508061527]

- Cornish SM, Chilibeck PD, Paus-Jennsen L, Biem HJ, Khozani T, Senanayake V, et al. A randomized controlled trial of the effects of flaxseed lignan complex on metabolic syndrome composite score and bone mineral in older adults. Appl Physiol Nutr Metab 2009 Apr;34(2):89-98. [doi: 10.1139/H08-142] [Medline: 19370038]
- 8. Prasad K. Secoisolariciresinol diglucoside (SDG) isolated from flaxseed, an alternative to ACE inhibitors in the treatment of hypertension. Int J Angiol 2013 Dec;22(4):235-238 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1055/s-0033-1351687] [Medline: 24436618]
- Zhang W, Wang X, Liu Y, Tian H, Flickinger B, Empie MW, et al. Dietary flaxseed lignan extract lowers plasma cholesterol and glucose concentrations in hypercholesterolaemic subjects. Br J Nutr 2008 Jun;99(6):1301-1309. [doi: 10.1017/S0007114507871649] [Medline: 18053310]
- Hallund J, Tetens I, Bügel S, Tholstrup T, Bruun JM. The effect of a lignan complex isolated from flaxseed on inflammation markers in healthy postmenopausal women. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis 2008 Sep;18(7):497-502. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.numecd.2007.05.007</u>] [Medline: <u>18502107</u>]
- Viveky N, Thorpe L, Alcorn J, Hadjistavropoulos T, Whiting S. J Nurs Home Res. Safety evaluation of flaxseed lignan supplementation in older adults residing in long-term care homes URL: <u>http://www.jnursinghomeresearch.com/</u> <u>546-safety-evaluation-of-flaxseed-lignan-supplementation-in-older-adults-residing-in-long-term-care-homes.html</u> [accessed 2017-01-03] [WebCite Cache ID 6nFTgMVna]
- Adolphe JL, Whiting SJ, Juurlink BH, Thorpe LU, Alcorn J. Health effects with consumption of the flax lignan secoisolariciresinol diglucoside. Br J Nutr 2010 Apr;103(7):929-938. [doi: <u>10.1017/S0007114509992753</u>] [Medline: <u>20003621</u>]
- 13. Folstein MF, Folstein SE, McHugh PR. "Mini-mental state". A practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. J Psychiatr Res 1975 Nov;12(3):189-198. [Medline: <u>1202204</u>]
- 14. Cleeland CS. The Brief Pain Inventory User Guide. 1991. URL: <u>https://www.cancercare.on.ca/common/pages/UserFile.</u> aspx?fileId=350835 [accessed 2016-11-22] [WebCite Cache ID 6mDW9ZzIM]
- 15. World Health Organization. Physical status: the use interpretation of anthropometry: report of a WHO Expert Committee. Geneva: World health organization; 1995. URL: <u>http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/37003/1/WHO_TRS_854.pdf</u> [accessed 2017-01-10] [WebCite Cache ID 6nQO9NuR0]
- 16. Godin G, Shephard R. Godin Leisure-Time Exercise Questionnaire. 1997. URL: <u>http://www.godin.fsi.ulaval.ca/Fichiers/</u> <u>Quest/Godin%20leisure-time.pdf</u> [accessed 2017-01-10] [WebCite Cache ID 6nQOF06qZ]
- Food and Drug Administration. Analytical Procedures and Methods Validation for Drugs and Biologics.: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services; 2015 Jul. URL: <u>http://www.fda.gov/downloads/drugs/</u> <u>guidancecomplianceregulatoryinformation/guidances/ucm386366.pdf</u> [accessed 2016-11-22] [WebCite Cache ID <u>6mDWYM6Gs</u>]
- Eysenbach G, CONSORT-EHEALTH Group. CONSORT-EHEALTH: improving and standardizing evaluation reports of Web-based and mobile health interventions. J Med Internet Res 2011 Dec 31;13(4):e126 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1923] [Medline: 22209829]
- 19. Billinsky J, Glew RA, Cornish SM, Whiting SJ, Thorpe LU, Alcorn J, et al. No evidence of hypoglycemia or hypotension in older adults during 6 months of flax lignan supplementation in a randomized controlled trial: a safety evaluation. Pharm Biol 2013 Jun;51(6):778-782. [doi: 10.3109/13880209.2013.766220] [Medline: 23577799]

Abbreviations

ALP: alkaline phosphatase **ALT:** alanine transaminase **ANOVA:** analysis of variance **AST:** aspartate transaminase BPI: Brief Pain Inventory FDA: Food and Drug Administration HDL: high density lipoprotein **IL-6:** Interleukin-6 **IU:** international unit K , EDTA: dipotassium ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid kg: kilogram LC-MS: liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry M: mass mg: milligram mL: milliliter **mm:** millimeter ng: nanogram QC: quality control

RPM: revolutions per minute

https://www.researchprotocols.org/2017/2/e14/



SCPOR: Saskatchewan Centre for Patient-Oriented Research SDG: secoisolariciresinol diglucoside TNF-α: tumor necrosis factor-alpha μL: microliter μm: micrometer

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 16.10.16; peer-reviewed by D Vollmer Dahlke, J des Bordes; comments to author 16.11.16; revised version received 28.11.16; accepted 30.11.16; published 03.02.17.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Alcorn J, Whiting S, Viveky N, Di Y, Mansell K, Fowler S, Thorpe L, Almousa A, Cheng PC, Jones J, Billinsky J, Hadjistavropoulos T Protocol for a 24-Week Randomized Controlled Study of Once-Daily Oral Dose of Flax Lignan to Healthy Older Adults JMIR Res Protoc 2017;6(2):e14 URL: https://www.researchprotocols.org/2017/2/e14/ doi:10.2196/resprot.6817 PMID:28159728

©Jane Alcorn, Susan Whiting, Navita Viveky, Yunyun Di, Kerry Mansell, Sharyle Fowler, Lilian Thorpe, Ahmed Almousa, Pui Chi Cheng, Jennifer Jones, Jennifer Billinsky, Thomas Hadjistavropoulos. Originally published in JMIR Research Protocols (http://www.researchprotocols.org), 03.02.2017. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Research Protocols, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.researchprotocols.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Protocol

Local Anesthesia Versus Local Anesthesia and Conscious Sedation for Inguinal Hernioplasty: Protocol of a Randomized Controlled Trial

Pierre-Anthony Leake¹, MBBS, DM; Patrick J Toppin¹, MBBS, DM; Marvin Reid², MBBS, PhD; Joseph M Plummer¹, MBBS, DM; Patrick O Roberts¹, MBBS, DM; Hyacinth Harding-Goldson¹, MBBS, DM; Michael E McFarlane¹, MBBS, FRCS

¹Department of Surgery, Radiology, Anaesthesia and Intensive Care, Faculty of Medical Sciences, University of the West Indies, Kingston, Jamaica ²Tropical Medical Research Institute, University of the West Indies, Kingston, Jamaica

Corresponding Author:

Pierre-Anthony Leake, MBBS, DM Department of Surgery, Radiology, Anaesthesia and Intensive Care Faculty of Medical Sciences University of the West Indies Mona Campus Kingston, Jamaica Phone: 1 876 927 1270 Fax: 1 876 970 4302 Email: paeleake@yahoo.com

Abstract

Background: Conscious sedation is regularly used in ambulatory surgery to improve patient outcomes, in particular patient satisfaction. Reports suggest that the addition of conscious sedation to local anesthesia for inguinal hernioplasty is safe and effective in improving patient satisfaction. No previous randomized controlled trial has assessed the benefit of conscious sedation in this regard.

Objective: To determine whether the addition of conscious sedation to local anesthesia improves patient satisfaction with inguinal hernioplasty.

Methods: This trial is designed as a single-center, randomized, placebo-controlled, blinded trial of 148 patients. Adult patients diagnosed with a reducible, unilateral inguinal hernia eligible for hernioplasty using local anesthesia will be recruited. The intervention will be the use of intravenous midazolam for conscious sedation. Normal saline will be used as placebo in the control group. The primary outcome will be patient satisfaction, measured using the validated Iowa Satisfaction with Anesthesia Scale. Secondary outcomes will include intra- and postoperative pain, operative time, volumes of sedative agent and local anesthetic used, time to discharge, early and late complications, and postoperative functional status.

Results: To date, 171 patients have been recruited. Surgery has been performed on 149 patients, meeting the sample size requirements. Follow-up assessments are still ongoing. Trial completion is expected in August 2017.

Conclusions: This randomized controlled trial is the first to assess the effectiveness of conscious sedation in improving patient satisfaction with inguinal hernioplasty using local anesthesia. If the results demonstrate improved patient satisfaction with conscious sedation, this would support routine incorporation of conscious sedation in local inguinal hernioplasty and potentially influence national and international hernia surgery guidelines.

Trial registration: Clinicaltrials.gov NCT02444260; https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02444260 (Archived by WebCite at http://www.webcitation.org/6no8Dprp4)

(JMIR Res Protoc 2017;6(2):e20) doi:10.2196/resprot.6754

KEYWORDS

RenderX

inguinal hernioplasty; local anesthesia; conscious sedation; patient satisfaction; randomized controlled trial

Leake et al

Introduction

Inguinal hernia repair is one of the most commonly performed surgical procedures in the world. It is estimated that 20 million inguinal hernia repairs are performed globally every year [1]. Inguinal hernia repair prevents the development of complications of inguinal hernias such as incarceration, obstruction, and strangulation with their ensuing morbidity and mortality. Mesh repair (ie, hernioplasty) is superior to suture repair and is now standard for inguinal hernia repair [2].

There are a variety of anesthetic options available for this procedure. These include infiltration of the inguinal region using local anesthesia (LA), the use of regional anesthesia such as a subarachnoid block, or general anesthesia. For suitable inguinal hernias, the use of LA has been a simple and very popular option [3]. Several high-quality studies have suggested numerous advantages of LA over both regional and general anesthesia techniques. These include shorter operative time [4], reduced nausea [4,5], less urinary retention [4,6,7], increased day-case rates [6,7], less postoperative analgesia [6,7], faster return to normal activity [5], reduced costs [8], and greater patient satisfaction [4,9]. Patient tolerance and satisfaction for hernioplasty performed using LA may be as high as 82%-98% [4].

One adjunct that is utilized to improve patient experience with ambulatory surgical procedures is the addition of conscious sedation. Conscious sedation refers to the use of sedative or dissociative agents and analgesics to induce a state that enhances patient tolerance of unpleasant procedures while maintaining cardiorespiratory function. Use of sedation in addition to LA for surgical procedures allays patient anxiety, reduces autonomic arousal, and often provides amnesia for the procedure. However, evidence linking conscious sedation to improved patient satisfaction and its effect on other patient outcomes has been lacking.

Potential issues with the use of conscious sedation include delayed awakening and impairment of psychomotor function that may prolong postoperative recovery and reduce the rate of same-day discharge [10,11]. These issues initially limited the use of sedation for inguinal hernioplasty using LA. The use of midazolam, with its high therapeutic index and relatively short duration of action, has allayed these concerns [12]. This high therapeutic index has facilitated the use of midazolam for sedation by nonanesthetists with the presence of appropriate monitoring. Inguinal hernioplasty using LA with conscious sedation (LACS) has demonstrated acceptable patient outcomes with no mortality and acceptable morbidity [13-16]. A study from the University of the West Indies prospectively evaluated 90 patients undergoing inguinal hernioplasty using LA combined with midazolam. Operative morbidity was low, with all patients discharged ambulant and same day. No adverse reactions to sedation were demonstrated [17].

Inguinal hernioplasty using either LA or LACS has demonstrated good patient outcomes, patient satisfaction, and low morbidity. No study has directly compared LA to LACS in patients undergoing inguinal hernioplasty in order to establish superiority of either method.

It was hypothesized that the addition of conscious sedation to local anesthesia would result in improved patient satisfaction with no change in the rate of same-day discharge or perioperative complications when compared to the use of LA alone.

Methods

Trial Design

The trial will be a single-center, randomized, blinded, placebo-controlled trial of 148 participants with an allocation ratio of 1:1. Patients, surgeons, outcome assessors, and data analysts will be unaware of the treatment assignments.

Primary and Secondary Endpoints

The primary endpoint of this trial is patient satisfaction with the method used: anesthesia alone or anesthesia plus sedation. Patient satisfaction will be assessed using the Iowa Satisfaction with Anesthesia Scale (ISAS) [18]. ISAS is a validated scale consisting of 11 parameters measured on a 6-point Likert scale. ISAS has been used to assess patient satisfaction with anesthesia across various surgical specialties, including ophthalmology and orthopedic surgery, and for various types of anesthesia. It will be administered at the time of discharge from hospital following the surgical procedure and at the 2-week follow-up visit.

The secondary endpoints include measurement of pain during and following the procedure, the quantity of anesthetic and/or sedation required, the frequency of complications, the frequency of functional incapacity [19], and the time to discharge [20] from hospital. A complete list of these secondary endpoints is provided in Table 1.



Table 1. Complete list of secondary endpoints.

Study endpoint	Definition
Intraoperative pain	Patient's perception of pain felt during the procedure as measured by a visual analog scale
Postoperative pain	Patient's perception of pain being experienced at the time of discharge as measured by a visual analog scale
Operative time	Time from incision to wound closure
Volume of local anesthetic	Total volume of local anesthetic administered during the procedure
Volume of conscious sedation	Total volume of conscious sedative agent administered during the procedure
Time to discharge	Time from transfer to the recovery room to scoring at least 9 out of 10 on the Modified Post- Anesthetic Discharge Scoring System [20]
Frequency of early postoperative complications	Any postoperative complication occurring within 30 days of the surgical procedure, including wound hematoma, scrotal hematoma, surgical site infection, seroma, and wound dehiscence
Frequency of late postoperative complications	Any postoperative complication occurring between 30 days and 1 year following the surgical procedure, including chronic pain, hydrocele, and recurrence
Frequency of functional incapacity	Impairment in functional abilities following the surgical procedure as measured by a 13-parameter, 6-point Likert scale by McCarthy et al [19]

Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

The trial (ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT02444260; protocol number: ECP 342, 12/13) was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Faculty of Medical Sciences, University of the West Indies at Mona. All patients will be informed about the purpose of the trial, the two study arms, and the potential

benefits and risks. Eligible patients will be 18-75 years of age and diagnosed with a reducible inguinal hernia. Patients will be selected solely based on suitability for inguinal hernioplasty with local anesthesia and not because of easy availability, diminished autonomy, or social bias. Exclusion criteria are listed in Textbox 1.

Textbox 1. Exclusion criteria for the study.

Exclusion criteria:

- Age less than 18 years or greater than 75 years
- Known renal, hepatic, respiratory, cardiovascular, neurologic, or psychiatric disease
- Body mass index >30 kg/m²
- Bilateral, recurrent, inguinoscrotal, or incarcerated/irreducible hernia
- Allergy to local anesthetic or sedative agents
- Pregnancy, lactating, or breastfeeding patients
- Chronic pain syndromes, such as sickle cell disease
- Anxiety disorder
- Regular opioid analgesia or sedative use
- Serious medical condition likely to impede successful completion of the study
- Current participation in other therapeutic clinical trials

Determination of Sample Size

Assuming a variance of 1.3, as established by Dexter et al [18], a sample size of 74 participants per subject group (ie, a total of 148 participants) would provide 80% power to detect a difference in ISAS score of 0.6 at 5% significance between the two subject groups—LA versus LACS. These values were derived from data by Candiotti [21] in a randomized controlled

trial showing a 0.6 ISAS score difference between two intervention arms. To mitigate the effects of dropouts, we proposed to recruit 90 subjects per group for a total of 180.

Study Procedures

The study procedures and participant flow through each stage are summarized in the flowchart in Figure 1.

Figure 1. Flowchart summarizing study procedures and participant flow through each stage. BMI: body mass index; LA: local anesthesia.



Screening and Recruitment

Subjects will be recruited as they are evaluated in the surgical outpatient department (SOPD) at the University Hospital of the West Indies (UHWI). Clinical staff will review new patients

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2017/2/e20/

RenderX

referred to the SOPD for management of inguinal hernias and those previously seen but awaiting surgical management. Following initial clinical assessment for study suitability by the clinical staff, the research nurse coordinating the study will approach potential study patients and assess them for

participation. These potential subjects will complete an eligibility-screening questionnaire to document fulfillment of the entry criteria. Eligible patients will have the study explained to them and provided with full study information prior to consent being obtained. Patients will be given ample opportunity to review the information provided and have any questions answered prior to making the decision to consent. Once the informed consent document is signed, the subject will be considered *registered* in the study. Patients that are not eligible for the study and eligible patients that decline to participate in the study will continue the usual assessment and therapy as dictated by the practice guidelines of UHWI.

Table 2. Schedule of visits during the course of the trial.

General Scheduling

Once consent is given, a study number will be assigned and this will be used to identify the subject throughout the study. Once registered, scheduling of study evaluations will proceed. Patients will be sent to the minor operating theater of the UHWI where a date for surgery will be issued and surgical preparation instructions given. A total of six visits are scheduled for the trial (see Table 2). Follow-up visits will be carried out at 2 weeks, 6 weeks, 6 months, and 1 year where patients will be examined and issued questionnaires evaluating patient satisfaction, pain evaluation, and functional status [19].

Study step	Visit					
	1 (SOPD ^a)	2 (Operation)	3 (2 weeks postop ^b)	4 (6 weeks postop)	5 (6 months postop)	6 (1 year postop)
Demographics and baseline clinical data col- lected	X	X				
Eligibility criteria determined	Х					
Randomization performed		Х				
History and clinical examination performed			Х	Х	Х	Х
Visual analog scale administered		Х	Х			
Iowa Satisfaction with Anesthesia Scale ad- ministered		Х	Х			
Functional status determined			Х	Х	Х	Х

^aSOPD: surgical outpatient department.

^bpostop: postoperation.

Randomization

The study will be blinded. Randomization will be done using the *ralloc* command in Stata (StataCorp LLC) version 14. In order to reduce the risk of breaking the blind because of small block sizes or alternately to prevent unequal sample sizes if the trial is stopped prematurely, treatment allocation will be done according to a 1:1 ratio and block sizes will be allocated in proportion to elements of Pascal's triangle. The ensuing allocation table will be kept in a secure file on the study statistician's computer and will be made available to the anesthetist on a per-enrolled-patient basis when required in a sealed envelope immediately prior to the procedure.

Preoperative Assessment and Preparation

On the day of their procedure, all patients will be seen in the holding area. A presurgery checklist will be completed to ensure that the patient has no immediate contraindications to surgery. All parameters must be within specified ranges in order to proceed. If there are abnormalities that preclude safe conduct of the procedure, the procedure will be postponed and the patient returned to the SOPD. Reevaluation for participation in the study will be possible once the identified abnormality is corrected. The patient will have to reenter the study at the eligibility-screening phase, though the study identifier will remain the same.

Standardized Treatment

Perioperative and intraoperative care will be standardized, except for the administration of conscious sedation, which will be randomized by the attending anesthetist according to the allocated study group. Prophylactic antibiotics will not be administered.

Local anesthesia will be administered by the surgeon and will be used in all cases. A mixture of 1% lignocaine and 0.25% bupivacaine to a maximum of 4.5 mg/kg and 2 mg/kg, respectively, will be infiltrated. An initial dose will be administered prior to skin incision with subsequent doses administered during the procedure. Protocols for rescue intraoperative analgesia have been established in the event that the maximum amount of local anesthetic has been infiltrated without effective pain control.

The operative technique will be a standardized Lichtenstein repair using polypropylene mesh. A single consultant surgeon will be supervising surgical residents. During the procedure, the ilioinguinal nerve will be spared.

Trial Interventions

Following placement on the operating table and the attachment of monitoring devices, the anesthetist will open the randomization envelope. Only she or he will know the allocated study intervention.

In the LACS group, the sedative agent being used will be midazolam. This will be administered at an initial dose of 2 mg, with incremental doses of 0.5-1 mg to a maximum of 10 mg. Additional doses of midazolam will be administered based on assessment of the patient's level of sedation at 15-minute

intervals using the Ramsay Sedation Scale [22] (see Table 3). A score of 2-3 on the Ramsay Sedation Scale will be maintained. In the LA group, the anesthetist will administer placebo (ie, intravenous normal saline) to the patient in a similar manner to the midazolam in order to maintain blinding.

Table 3. The Ramsay Sedation Scale scores and their definitions.

Score	Definition
1	Anxious and agitated, restless, or both
2	Cooperative, oriented, and calm
3	Responsive to commands only
4	Exhibiting brisk response to light glabellar tap or loud auditory stimulus
5	Exhibiting a sluggish response to light glabellar tap or loud auditory stimulus
6	Unresponsive

Blinding

The patient and surgeon will be blinded to the randomization. We recognize that both the patient and surgeon may have an opinion as to the randomization based on known effects of sedative agents (ie, sleep). However, neither will be made aware directly of the allocation. The patient will be draped in such a manner that the surgeon will not be able to see the patient during the procedure. Conversation between patient and surgeon during the procedure will be discouraged. The allocation of the participant to the study group will be unmasked prior to the end of the trial only if a serious adverse event occurs.

Outcome Assessment and Follow-Up

At Discharge

Patient demographic data and medical history, operative time, volume of local anesthetic, and volume of conscious sedation used (if applicable) will be recorded. Following inguinal hernioplasty, the subject will be transferred to the recovery room where she or he will be monitored by nursing staff. The nursing staff will be trained to determine the subject's readiness for discharge based on specified discharge criteria [20]. The discharge criteria questionnaire will be administered 1 hour after admission to the recovery room and thereafter at 30-minute intervals until the patient has achieved the appropriate score for discharge. Once the subject has fulfilled the criteria for discharge, the time of discharge will be recorded on the subject's research operative chart. A questionnaire assessing surgical experience and satisfaction will be administered at the time of discharge. It will include a previously validated visual analog pain scale [23] and the Iowa Satisfaction with Anesthesia Scale [18].

Prior to discharge, all patients will be given a supply of oral analgesics, which will include acetaminophen and diclofenac. Instructions on the dosages and administration schedule for these drugs will be included with the medications. Patients will be given a telephone number to contact if they have any questions about postoperative analgesia administration or instructions.

Follow-Up Visits

Subjects will return for routine interval follow-up visits 2 weeks, 6 weeks, 6 months, and 1 year following the surgical procedure. The 1-year visit will be considered the study exit visit. At the time of discharge following surgery, the study coordinator will calculate the follow-up dates. These will be indicated in the subject's research chart as well as the hospital chart. A special sticker will be placed on the hospital chart to indicate that the subject is involved in this study and should be seen by the study coordinator.

Table 2 shows the mode of assessment and the outcomemeasures evaluated at each follow-up visit.

Assessment of Safety

From the time of consent until completion of the study at 1-year follow-up or premature withdrawal, all serious adverse events will be reported to the Ethics Committee and the Data Safety Monitoring Board within 24 hours of the principal investigator learning of its occurrence. All adverse events occurring from the time of consent until 30 days following completion of the last follow-up visit will be recorded; those at grade 2 or higher using the Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events version 4.0 [24] will be reported to the Ethics Committee and the Data Safety Monitoring Board. Information to be submitted will include the study identifier, the nature and grade of the adverse event, and the outcome or nature of the event.

The Data Safety Monitoring Board will be responsible for assessing adverse outcome data collected during the course of the trial at 6-month intervals and communicate findings to the Ethics Committee. Unacceptable findings will be an indication for early termination of the study.

Data Management and Monitoring

Subjects enrolled in this study will be assigned and tracked according to a unique study identifier assigned at the time of the subject's registration. A log report will be kept to track each subject that is registered. This log will be kept as a hard copy in the regulatory binder and stored securely in a locked cabinet in the office of the principal investigator. All data collected in the trial, including on the day of the procedure and during follow-up visits, will be collected on case report forms. The

```
http://www.researchprotocols.org/2017/2/e20/
```

completed case report forms will be reviewed by the principal investigator and data from the forms will be transferred to a database on a secure computer. The case report forms will be stored as hard copies in a locked cabinet. All data are managed and analyzed at the Tropical Metabolic Research Institute, University of the West Indies.

Monitoring is carried out in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki, International Conference on Harmonization Guidelines for Good Clinical Practice (codification E6) and standard operating procedures of the Faculty of Medical Sciences, University of the West Indies.

Statistical Analysis Plan

Demographic variables and quantitative data will be displayed in tables. Summary measures of continuous variables will be expressed as means with standard deviation, minimum, and maximum. Categorical variables will be expressed as counts. Differences in mean values by group will be tested with an independent t test while differences in proportions for categorical variables by group will be assessed with chi-square statistics. A P value of <.05 will be considered significant.

Dissemination of Results

Data will be collated, analyzed, and submitted for publication as soon as possible following completion of the study. The results of this study will be submitted for publication whether or not a significant difference is found in the outcomes for the two groups.

Results

This trial has been designed as a single-center, randomized controlled trial and was initiated at the Department of Surgery, University of the West Indies at Mona, in February 2014. To date, a total of 171 patients have been recruited. Surgery has been performed on 149 patients, meeting the sample size requirements. Follow-up assessments are still ongoing. Trial completion, with completed follow-up, is expected in August 2017.

Discussion

We present a study protocol for a randomized controlled trial to assess the effect of adding conscious sedation (ie, midazolam) to local anesthesia (ie, lignocaine and bupivacaine) on patient satisfaction with inguinal hernioplasty. Patient satisfaction is an indirect indicator of the quality of health care. Its impact extends beyond the patient to also include the hospital staff, the institution, and potentially national policy making. It influences patient loyalty and retention, patient and staff morale, staff productivity, and overall profitability [25].

Inguinal hernioplasty using local anesthesia alone has long been a standard for ambulatory hernia surgery, with reports of reasonable patient satisfaction [4]. With increasing use of conscious sedation in ambulatory surgery [26-28], it is prudent to establish its utility for ambulatory hernia surgery.

Acknowledgments

We would like to acknowledge the hard work and dedication of the nurses in the surgical outpatient clinic and the minor operating theater as well as the surgical residents who are involved.

This work was supported by the New Initiative Grant from the University of the West Indies at Mona. The University of the West Indies had no involvement in study design, data collection and analysis, or writing of the report.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- Kulacoglu H. Current options in inguinal hernia repair in adult patients. Hippokratia 2011 Jul;15(3):223-231 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>22435019</u>]
- Amato B, Moja L, Panico S, Persico G, Rispoli C, Rocco N, et al. Shouldice technique versus other open techniques for inguinal hernia repair. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2012 Apr 18(4):CD001543. [doi: <u>10.1002/14651858.CD001543.pub4</u>] [Medline: <u>22513902</u>]
- 3. Cushing H. I. The employment of local anaesthesia in the radical cure of certain cases of hernia, with a note upon the nervous anatomy of the inguinal region. Ann Surg 1900 Jan;31(1):1-34. [Medline: <u>17860789</u>]
- 4. Kulacoglu H, Alptekin A. Current options in local anesthesia for groin hernia repairs. Acta Chir Iugosl 2011;58(3):25-35. [Medline: 22369015]
- Reece-Smith A, Maggio A, Tang T, Walsh S. Local anaesthetic vs general anaesthetic for inguinal hernia repair: Systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Clin Pract 2009 Dec;63(12):1739-1742. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1742-1241.2009.02131.x</u>] [Medline: <u>19817912</u>]
- 6. Nordin P, Zetterström H, Gunnarsson U, Nilsson E. Local, regional, or general anaesthesia in groin hernia repair: Multicentre randomised trial. Lancet 2003 Sep 13;362(9387):853-858. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(03)14339-5] [Medline: 13678971]
- Sanjay P, Woodward A. Inguinal hernia repair: Local or general anaesthesia? Ann R Coll Surg Engl 2007 Jul;89(5):497-503 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1308/003588407X202056] [Medline: 17688723]

- Nordin P, Zetterström H, Carlsson P, Nilsson E. Cost-effectiveness analysis of local, regional and general anaesthesia for inguinal hernia repair using data from a randomized clinical trial. Br J Surg 2007 Apr;94(4):500-505. [doi: <u>10.1002/bjs.5543</u>] [Medline: <u>17330241</u>]
- 9. Nordin P, Haapaniemi S, van der Linden W, Nilsson E. Choice of anesthesia and risk of reoperation for recurrence in groin hernia repair. Ann Surg 2004 Jul;240(1):187-192. [Medline: <u>15213635</u>]
- 10. Shafer A, White P, Urquhart M, Doze V. Outpatient premedication: Use of midazolam and opioid analgesics. Anesthesiology 1989 Oct;71(4):495-501. [Medline: 2478048]
- 11. Davies A, Horrocks M. Patient evaluation and complications of day-case herniorrhaphy under local anaesthetic. J R Coll Surg Edinb 1989 Jun;34(3):137-139. [Medline: <u>2810161</u>]
- 12. Nordt S, Clark R. Midazolam: A review of therapeutic uses and toxicity. J Emerg Med 1997;15(3):357-365. [Medline: 9258787]
- 13. Zollinger RM, Konstantakos AK, Stellato TA, Hirschfeld SS. Local anesthesia plus deep sedation for adult inguinal hernia repair in an ambulatory surgery center. Hernia 1998 Jun;2(2):77-80. [doi: 10.1007/BF01207489]
- 14. Ullah S. Repair of inguinal hernia under local anaesthesia. J Postgrad Med Inst 1999;13(2):89-95 [FREE Full text]
- Olsha O, Feldman A, Odenheimer D, Frankel D. Local anesthesia for inguinal hernia repair in adolescents. Hernia 2007 Dec;11(6):497-500. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10029-007-0256-x</u>] [Medline: <u>17610023</u>]
- 16. Pélissier EP, Ngo P, Gayet B. Transinguinal preperitoneal patch (TIPP) under local anesthesia with sedation. Am Surg 2011 Dec;77(12):1681-1684. [Medline: 22273230]
- 17. McFarlane ME. Analgesia-sedation for day-case inguinal hernia repair. A review of patient acceptance and morbidity. West Indian Med J 2000 Jun;49(2):158-160. [Medline: <u>10948857</u>]
- Dexter F, Aker J, Wright WA. Development of a measure of patient satisfaction with monitored anesthesia care: The Iowa Satisfaction with Anesthesia Scale. Anesthesiology 1997 Oct;87(4):865-873. [Medline: <u>9357889</u>]
- McCarthy MJ, Jonasson O, Chang C, Pickard A, Giobbie-Hurder A, Gibbs J, et al. Assessment of patient functional status after surgery. J Am Coll Surg 2005 Aug;201(2):171-178. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2005.03.035</u>] [Medline: <u>16038812</u>]
 Chung E, Ang discharge gritering changing? J Clin Anosth 1002:5(6 Suppl 1):648. 685. [Medline: <u>2002272</u>]
- Chung F. Are discharge criteria changing? J Clin Anesth 1993;5(6 Suppl 1):64S-68S. [Medline: <u>8292372</u>]
 Candiotti K. Bergese S. Bokesch P. Feldman M. Wisemandle W. Bekker A. Monitored anesthesia care with dexmedetomidine
- Candiotti K, Bergese S, Bokesch P, Feldman M, Wisemandle W, Bekker A. Monitored anesthesia care with dexmedetomidine: A prospective, randomized, double-blind, multicenter trial. Anesth Analg 2010 Jan 01;110(1):47-56. [doi: <u>10.1213/ane.0b013e3181ae0856</u>] [Medline: <u>19713256</u>]
- 22. Ramsay MA, Savege TM, Simpson BR, Goodwin R. Controlled sedation with alphaxalone-alphadolone. Br Med J 1974 Jun 22;2(5920):656-659 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>4835444</u>]
- 23. DeLoach LJ, Higgins MS, Caplan AB, Stiff JL. The visual analog scale in the immediate postoperative period: Intrasubject variability and correlation with a numeric scale. Anesth Analg 1998 Jan;86(1):102-106. [Medline: <u>9428860</u>]
- 24. Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events (CTCAE) version 4.0. Washington, DC: US Department of Health and Human Services; 2009 May 28. URL: <u>https://www.eortc.be/services/doc/ctc/CTCAE 4.03 2010-06-14 QuickReference 5x7.</u> pdf [accessed 2017-02-03] [WebCite Cache ID 600OubxQW]
- 25. Prakash B. Patient satisfaction. J Cutan Aesthet Surg 2010 Sep;3(3):151-155 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4103/0974-2077.74491] [Medline: 21430827]
- Chen M, Hill GM, Patrianakos TD, Ku ES, Chen ML. Oral diazepam versus intravenous midazolam for conscious sedation during cataract surgery performed using topical anesthesia. J Cataract Refract Surg 2015 Feb;41(2):415-421. [doi: 10.1016/j.jcrs.2014.06.027] [Medline: 25661136]
- 27. Hina M, Hourigan J, Moore R, Stanley J. Surgeon-administered conscious sedation and local anesthesia for ambulatory anorectal surgery. Am Surg 2014 Jan;80(1):21-25. [Medline: 24401505]
- Gart M, Ko J, Heyer K, Mustoe T. Breast implant procedures under conscious sedation: A 6-year experience in 461 consecutive patients. Plast Reconstr Surg 2013 May;131(5):1169-1178. [doi: <u>10.1097/PRS.0b013e31828e2196</u>] [Medline: <u>23629098</u>]

Abbreviations

BMI: body mass index ISAS: Iowa Satisfaction with Anesthesia Scale LA: local anesthesia LACS: local anesthesia with conscious sedation postop: postoperation SOPD: surgical outpatient department UHWI: University Hospital of the West Indies



Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 06.10.16; peer-reviewed by H Kulacoglu, X Yu; comments to author 14.01.17; revised version received 19.01.17; accepted 21.01.17; published 07.02.17. <u>Please cite as:</u> Leake PA, Toppin PJ, Reid M, Plummer JM, Roberts PO, Harding-Goldson H, McFarlane ME Local Anesthesia Versus Local Anesthesia and Conscious Sedation for Inguinal Hernioplasty: Protocol of a Randomized Controlled Trial JMIR Res Protoc 2017;6(2):e20 URL: http://www.researchprotocols.org/2017/2/e20/ doi:10.2196/resprot.6754 PMID:28174148

©Pierre-Anthony Leake, Patrick J Toppin, Marvin Reid, Joseph M Plummer, Patrick O Roberts, Hyacinth Harding-Goldson, Michael E McFarlane. Originally published in JMIR Research Protocols (http://www.researchprotocols.org), 07.02.2017. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Research Protocols, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.researchprotocols.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Protocol

VESPRO: An Individual Patient Data Prospective Meta-Analysis of Selective Internal Radiation Therapy Versus Sorafenib for Advanced, Locally Advanced, or Recurrent Hepatocellular Carcinoma of the SARAH and SIRveNIB Trials

Val Gebski¹, MStat; Emma Gibbs², MSc; Mihir Gandhi³, MSc; Gilles Chatellier⁴, PhD; Aurelia Dinut⁴, PhD; Helena Pereira⁴, MSc; Pierce KH Chow⁵, PhD; Valérie Vilgrain⁶, PhD

¹NHMRC Clinical Trials Centre, University Sydney, Camperdown, Australia

²NHMRC Clinical Trials Centre, University of Sydney, Camperdown, Australia

³Biostatistics, Singapore Clinical Research Institute, Singapore, Singapore

⁴Clinical Research Unit, Assistance Publique, Hôpitaux de Paris, Paris, France

⁵Division of Surgical Oncology, National Cancer Centre Singapore, Singapore

⁶Department of Radiology, Assistance Publique, Hôpitaux de Paris, Paris, France

Corresponding Author: Val Gebski, MStat NHMRC Clinical Trials Centre University Sydney Level 5 MFB Building 92-94 Parramatta Road Camperdown, 2050 Australia Phone: 61 2 9562 5328 Fax: 61 2 9565 1863 Email: val@ctc.usyd.edu.au

Abstract

Background: Untreated advanced hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) has an overall poor prognosis. Currently there are 2 ongoing prospective randomized controlled trials that are evaluating the efficacy and safety of sorafenib and selective internal radiation therapy (SIRT) with yttrium-90 resin microspheres in patients with advanced HCC. The SorAfenib versus Radioembolisation in Advanced Hepatocellular carcinoma (SARAH; 459 patients) trial is being performed in Europe and the SIRt VErsus SorafeNIB (SIRveNIB; 360 patients) trial in the Asia Pacific region. Prospectively combining the results, these trials will not only allow for increased precision to estimate efficacy (in terms of survival), but will also provide increased statistical power for subgroup analyses.

Objective: To ensure the prospectivity and transparency of the meta-analysis.

Methods: The sirVEnib and SARAH merge PROject (VESPRO) is an individual, patient-data prospective meta-analysis of the SIRveNIB and SARAH randomized trials. The VESPRO protocol includes prespecified hypotheses, inclusion criteria, and outcome measures. The primary outcome measure is overall survival and secondary outcomes include tumor response rate, progression-free survival, progression in the liver as first event, and disease control in the liver. Pooling of toxicity results will allow for robust safety profiles to be established for both therapies, and provides increased statistical power to investigate treatment effects in key subgroups. Analyses will be performed in the intent-to-treat population stratified by trial.

Results: Both studies are expected to demonstrate a survival benefit for SIRT together with a better toxicity profile compared with sorafenib. It is also anticipated that liver progression as the first event would be longer in the intervention compared with the control.

Conclusions: As the results of the 2 trials are not yet known, the methodological strength is enhanced, as biases inherent in conventional meta-analyses are avoided. This has the effect of providing this meta-analysis with the advantages of a single, large, randomized study of 819 patients. It is anticipated that the SARAH and SIRveNIB trial results will be published separately
and together with the combined meta-analysis results from VESPRO. The combined dataset will allow the effect of the interventions to be explored with improved reliability/precision with respect to prespecified patient and intervention-level characteristics.

Trial Registration: Australian New Zealand Trials Registry: ACTRN12617000030370.

(JMIR Res Protoc 2017;6(2):e17) doi:10.2196/resprot.7016

KEYWORDS

advanced hepatocellular carcinoma; individual patient data prospective meta-analysis; sorafenib; selective internal radiation therapy; noninferiority; percentage of active control retained

Introduction

Hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) is the most common type of malignant primary liver tumor, accounting for 80% to 90% of all liver cancers, and most frequently develops in patients with chronic liver disease [1]. HCC is the second leading cause of cancer-related death worldwide and incidence and mortality rates are expected to increase in the coming decades [2,3]. At the time of presentation, the clinical presentation and tumor characteristics of HCC vary considerably; while approximately 40% of HCC patients present with advanced tumors with a high tumor burden or with decompensated liver disease, some patients present with small tumors and compensated chronic liver disease. Thus, the management of HCC is complex, and must take into consideration both patient and tumor characteristics as well as the severity of underlying chronic liver disease.

Curative treatment (by surgical resection, liver transplantation, or radiofrequency ablation) is feasible in very early or early stage HCC, but most patients with intermediate or advanced HCC receive palliative treatment. Advanced HCC is defined as stage C of the Barcelona Clinic Liver Cancer (BCLC) staging system, Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group (ECOG) performance status 1 to 2, portal invasion or extrahepatic spread, and Child-Pugh A-B. The prognosis is poor for patients with untreated advanced HCC, but survival varies depending on the Child - Pugh score [4-6]. Sorafenib is the only systemic therapy shown to confer survival advantages compared with placebo in patients with advanced unresectable HCC. Two phase III randomized controlled trials (RCTs; the Sorafenib Hepatocellular Carcinoma Assessment Randomized Protocol [SHARP] study and the Asia-Pacific trial) showed significant increases in median overall survival (OS) in patients treated with sorafenib, compared with placebo [7,8]. However, median OS was different in the sorafenib-treated patients from Western countries (SHARP study) and patients from the Asia Pacific region (10.7 months and 6.5 months, respectively). As a result of these data, sorafenib is currently recommended as first-line treatment for advanced HCC [9]. Sorafenib was associated with an overall adverse event incidence of 80%, the most frequent being diarrhea, asthenia, hand-foot reaction, and erythema or desquamation leading, on average, to dose reduction or treatment interruptions in 26% to 44% of patients [7].

Radioembolization (also called selective internal radiation therapy, or SIRT) with yttrium-90 (Y-90) resin microspheres delivered into the hepatic arteries via transfemoral catheterization, is an alternative treatment for advanced unresectable HCC. Several retrospective cohort trials have suggested that SIRT with Y-90 resin microspheres offers similar

```
http://www.researchprotocols.org/2017/2/e17/
```

OS in patients with BCLC stage B or C diseases compared with sorafenib, but with fewer adverse events and better quality of life [10-12]. A recent Cochrane review concluded that there is insufficient evidence to assess the beneficial and harmful effects of Y-90 SIRT for people with unresectable HCC [13]. The authors state that "Further randomised clinical trials are mandatory to better assess the potential beneficial and harmful outcomes of Y-90 microsphere transarterial radioembolisation ... for people with unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma" [1].

Several RCTs comparing SIRT with Y-90 resin microspheres with sorafenib for the treatment of HCC are currently underway. The SorAfenib versus Radioembolisation in Advanced Hepatocellular carcinoma (SARAH; [ClinicalTrials.gov identifier NCT01482442]) [14] and SIRt VErsus SorafeNIB (SIRveNIB; [ClinicalTrials.gov identifier NCT01135056]) trials [15] are randomized, open-label phase III studies making head to head comparisons of SIRT and standard of care (ie, sorafenib) in patients with locally advanced HCC. SARAH was performed in France and follow-up is completed, and SIRveNIB is ongoing countries in the Asia Pacific region. These 2 in investigator-based RCTs enrolled patients with advanced or intermediate HCC that did not respond to transarterial chemoembolization with OS as the primary endpoint. Recruitment in these studies is now completed; the survival results by a randomized treatment group and other measures have not yet been reported.

A prospective meta-analysis on individual patient-level data from the SARAH and SIRveNIB studies would increase the power of the studies to assess the treatment effects in this population with advanced HCC and also in key subgroups. This will be useful as treatment effects may differ between patients with HCC in Western and Asian populations. Individual patient data overviews provide more information than conventional meta-analyses. They allow more a detailed investigation and a common statistical analysis plan with an agreement on a standardized methodological approach to the examination.

This study, sirVEnib and Sarah merge PROject (VESPRO), is an individual patient data prospective meta-analysis (IPD-PMA) of the OS survival data of the SARAH and SIRveNIB studies. The primary aim of this meta-analysis is to improve the strength of the evidence on the benefit or potential noninferiority of SIRT compared with sorafenib with respect to OS.

XSL•FO RenderX

Methods

Included Studies

The core trials that make up VESPRO are conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and current Good Clinical Practice guidelines, and all participating centers will have obtained the relevant ethics committee approval before patient enrollment.

The primary endpoint of VESPRO is to compare the efficacy of a single SIRT procedure with daily sorafenib, assessed by

Textbox 1. Inclusion criteria for respective trials.

SARAH trial and SIRveNIB trial

- Written informed consent provided
- Aged ≥18 years of age
- Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group (ECOG) performance status 0-1
- Liver cirrhosis Child-Pugh A-B (up to 7 points)
- Adequate hematological function
- Adequate renal function
- Adequate hepatic function

SARAH trial

Histologically or cytologically confirmed diagnosis, or American Association for the Study of Liver Disease criteria for the diagnosis of hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) and at least one measurable lesion on a computed tomography (CT) scan according to response evaluation criteria in solid tumors (RECIST) criteria

- Patients not eligible for surgical resection, liver transplantation, or radiofrequency ablation who have advanced HCC according to the Barcelona criteria (stage C), with or without portal invasion, or patients with recurrent HCC (new lesion in a different place) after surgical or locoregional treatment who are not eligible for any other treatment or patients in whom chemoembolization has failed after 2 rounds. Treatment failure is defined as the absence of objective response in the treated nodule after 2 rounds (objective response according to the modified RECIST criteria and/or European Association for the Study of the Liver [EASL] criteria)
- Affiliated to a social security scheme or beneficiary

SIRveNIB trial

Unequivocal diagnosis of locally advanced HCC without extrahepatic metastases

- Patients with HCC that is not amenable to surgical resection, immediate liver transplantation, or that could be treated with local ablative techniques (eg, radiofrequency ablation)
- Locally advanced HCC as defined by Barcelona Clinic Liver Cancer (BCLC; B) intermediate stage or BCLC (C) advanced stage.
- At least one lesion that can be accurately measured in at least one dimension (longest diameter to be recorded) as ≥10 mm with spiral CT scan or magnetic resonance imaging (MRI)
- Life expectancy of at least 3 months without active treatment



OS in patients with advanced HCC. Secondary endpoints are to compare the following: cumulative incidence of progression in the liver; progression-free survival (PFS); tumor response rate; disease control rate; and safety and tolerability measured by the incidence of serious adverse events (SAEs).

Eligible Patients

All patients from the SARAH and SIRveNIB trials will be included in this IPD-PMA. Patients had to satisfy the inclusion and exclusion criteria for the respective trials. These are summarized in Textbox 1 and [14,15].

Textbox 2. Exclusion criteria for respective trials.

SARAH and SIRveNIB trials

- Advanced liver disease with a Child-Pugh score >B7 or active digestive hemorrhage or encephalopathy or refractory ascites
- Extrahepatic metastases except nonspecific pulmonary tumors <1 cm and abdominal lymph node tumors <2 cm
- Patient unable or unwilling to provide informed consent or comply with the treatment and follow-up required by the trial
- Previously treated advanced hepatocellular carcinoma (excluding chemoembolization)
- Contraindication to hepatic artery catheterisation
- Allergy to trial medications or contrast agents
- Pregnant or breastfeeding women

SARAH trial

- Other primary tumor except for basal-cell carcinomas or superficial bladder cancers
- Unable to take oral medication

SIRveNIB trial

- Intractable ascites, or other clinical signs of liver failure
- Complete thrombosis of the main portal vein
- Other concurrent malignancy, except for adequately treated basal cell or squamous cell skin cancer, in situ cervical cancer, or other cancer for which the patient has been disease free for ≥5 years
- Uncontrolled intercurrent illness
- Currently enrolled in another investigational therapeutic drug or device study
- Men unwilling to use effective contraception during the course of the trial

Adequate hematological function was defined in SARAH as hemoglobin ≥ 9 g/100 mL, neutrophils ≥ 1500 /mm³, platelets $\geq 50,000$ /mm³, and international normalized ratio () ≤ 1.5 ; and defined in SIRveNIB as hemoglobin >9.5 g/dL, leukocytes ≥ 2500 /mm³, platelets $\geq 80,000$ /mm³, and INR ≤ 2.0 . Adequate renal function was defined in SARAH as creatinine <150 µmol/L, and defined in SIRveNIB as albumin ≥ 2.5 g/dL and creatinine ≤ 2.0 mg/dL. Adequate hepatic function was defined in SARAH as bilirubin ≤ 50 µmol/L, aspartate transaminase (AST) or alanine aminotransferase (ALT) $\leq 5 \times$ upper limit of normal (ULN), and defined in SIRveNIB as bilirubin <2 mg/dL; alkaline phosphatase (ALP), AST, or ALT $\leq 5 \times$ ULN.

Study Design

VESPRO is an IPD-PMA of the results of the SARAH and SIRveNIB trials (Figure 1). As these trial results are not yet published, this protocol and the corresponding statistical analysis plan were prepared blinded to any trial results, with the aim of documenting methodology and outcomes prior to knowledge of any outcome results from the individual trials.



Figure 1. Overview of the VESPO trial design.



Trials Included in the Meta-Analysis

The SARAH and SIRveNIB trials are randomized open-label trials comparing OS in advanced HCC patients who received

SIRT using Y-90 resin microspheres or standard of care (sorafenib). The designs, objectives, and patient recruitment into these trials are summarized in Table 1 [14,15].

XSL•FO RenderX

Table 1. Characteristics of studies included in VESPRO.

Gebski et al

Characteristics		SARAH	SIRveNIB
Trial design		Multicenter, open-label, randomized controlled phase III trial comparing SIRT using Y-90 resin microspheres with sorafenib 800 mg/day	Multicenter, open-label, randomized controlled phase III trial comparing SIRT using Y-90 resin microspheres with sorafenib 800 mg/day
Primary objective		To compare the efficacy of Y-90 SIRT with that of sorafenib in the treatment of advanced HCC	To compare the efficacy of Y-90 SIRT with that of sorafenib in the treatment of advanced HCC
Secondary objectives		To compare:	To compare:
		Progression free survival (PFS) according to re-	PFS in the liver;
		sponse evaluation criteria in solid tumors (RE-	PFS at any site;
		the Liver (EASL) at 6 months:	tumor response rate;
		tolerability and safety of Y-90 SIRT with those	disease control rate;
		of oral sorafenib;	toxicity and safety;
		quality of life in the 2 treatment groups;	health-related quality of life;
		costs in the 2 treatment groups and calculate a	liver resection rate;
		cost-effectiveness ratio	liver transplantation rate;
			time to disease progression
Primary endpoint		Overall survival (OS)	OS
Secondary endpoints		Adverse events reported according to the National Cancer Institute criteria version 3.0;	PFS in the liver; PFS at any site:
		PFS at 6 months according to RECIST and EASL	tumor response rate;
		response rate (complete partial or stability) mag	disease control rate;
		sured according to RECIST and EASL criteria;	toxicity and safety;
		general and liver disease-specific quality of life	health-related quality of life;
		scores;	liver resection rate;
		cost of each strategy comprising 2 parts:	liver transplantation rate;
		(1) the cost of Y-90 SIRT from the hospital's perspective;	time to disease progression
		(2) the total cost of each strategy	
Sample size			
	Planned	400	360
	Accrued	467	360
	Sample size assump- tions	4.3-month increase in median survival from 10.7 to 15 months (hazard ratio [HR] 0.71) 80% power, 95% confidence	4.65-month increase in median survival from 9.35 to 14 months (HR 0.67) 90% power, 95% confidence
Required number of events		Time driven and not event driven	266
Accrual time		24 months	36 months
Follow-up time		12 months	24 months
Randomization		1:1 randomization (stratified blocks).	1:1 randomization (stratified blocks)
Stratification factors		Center;	Center;
		Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group (ECOG) score (0 vs 1);	presence of branch portal vein thrombosis
		presence of macroscopic vascular invasion (ob- struction of the portal vein or its branches);	
		previous chemoembolization failure	
Recruiting countries/ regions		France	Asia Pacific

XSL•FO RenderX

Treatments

Patients were randomized to either receive sorafenib or SIRT with Y-90 resin microsphere on a 1:1 basis.

In the sorafenib arms, patients received oral treatment with sorafenib (400 mg, twice daily), commencing as soon as possible after randomization in SIRveNIB, but at most within 35 days, and in SARAH within 1 week (7 days) of randomization. Treatment was continued until disease progression, with an anticipated duration of at least 3 months. Treatment suspensions or dose reductions were permitted.

Patients randomized to SIRT were required to have a hepatic angiogram and a liver-to-lung shunt preassessment with technetium-99 m (99m Tc)-marked human serum albumin to determine their suitability for the SIRT procedure. The activity of SIRT was calculated using the body surface area or partition

model method. SIRT was administrated within 35 days after randomization in SIRveNIB and between 2 and 5 weeks after randomization in SARAH, to allow time for the pretreatment assessments.

Trial Schedules

Patients in SIRveNIB were assessed monthly for the first 3 months during protocol treatment and then at 3-month intervals until 24 months following randomization or death. In SARAH, patients were followed up with monthly with an assessment of response every 3 months from randomization until disease progression, death, or the end of the trial. The last enrolled patient was followed up with for up to 12 months after the start of treatment, and all other patients followed up until the final visit of the last enrolled patient; expected duration of patient follow-up was between 12 and 51 months. The full treatment trial schedules are shown in Tables 2 and 3.

Table 2. SARAH trial assessment schedule.

Visits	Enroll- ment	D0 ^a	D15	M1 ^b	M2	M3	M4	M5	M6	M7	M8	M9	End of partici- pation
Identification	X												
Verification of selection criteria	Х												
Consent signature	Х												
Initial assessment/history	Х												
CT ^c scan	Х			Х		Х			Х			Х	Х
CT perfusion	Х			Х		Х			Х				
Lab tests	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Classification	Х			Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Clinical examination				Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Quality of life question- naires	Х			Х		Х			Х			Х	Х
Preparatory angiography		Х											
Scintigraphy		Х											
SIRT		Х											
Start of sorafenib treat- ment		Х											
Retreatment ^d				Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	
Cancer progression mon- itoring				Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Sorafenib monitoring				Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Concomitant medication				Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Adverse events				Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х

^aD, day.

RenderX

^bM, month.

^cCT, computed tomography.

^dTiming of retreatment depends upon type of retreatment (see text).

Gebski et al

 Table 3. SIRveNIB trial assessment schedule.

Schedule		Screening/ baseline (eligibility)	During proto	ocol therapy	Trial con- clusion	Post trial conclusion follow-up			
		tion ^a							
			Week 2 ^b	Week 4	Week 8	Week 12	12-weekly thereafter	As appro- priate ^c	12 weekly
	Informed consent	X							
	Demographics	Х							
	Medical and surgical history	Х							
	Concurrent illness	Х							
Concomitant medications ^g		X ^d	X ^{d,e}	X ^d	X ^d	X ^d	X ^d	X ^d	
Clinical assessment and physical examination									
	Height (baseline on- ly)	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	
	Weight	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	
	Blood pressure	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	
	Body temperature	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	
Performance status	Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	
Hematology									
	Leukocytes	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	
	Platelets	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	
	Hemoglobin	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	
	International normal- ized ratio (INR)	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	
Hepatitis serol	ogy								
	Hepatitis Bsag	X ^e							
	Anti-hepatitis C virus immunoglobu- lin (IgG)	X ^e							
	Hepatitis B core anti- body IgG (optional)	X ^e							
Renal function	Creatine	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	
Liver function									
	Aspartate transami- nase (AST)/ alanine aminotransferase (ALT)	х		х	Х	Х	Х	Х	
	Alkaline phos- phatase (ALP)	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	
	Total bilirubin	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	
	Albumin	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	
	Pregnancy test (as appropriate)	\mathbf{X}^{f}							
Tumor marker	Serum alpha-fetopro- tein (AFP)	\mathbf{X}^{f}				Х	\mathbf{X}^{f}	\mathbf{X}^{f}	

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2017/2/e17/

XSL•FO RenderX

Schedule Screening/ During protocol therapy Trial con-Post trial baseline clusion conclusion follow-up (eligibility) randomization^a Week 4 Week 8 Week 12 12-weekly As appro-12 weekly Week 2^b thereafter priatec EuroQol five dimensions question-Х Х Х Xg хg Xg Xg naire (EQ-5D) health-related quality of life Х Х Computer tomography or magnetic Х resonance imaging scan: chest/abdomen/pelvish,i SIRT-arm only Hepatic angiogram xe 99mTc-microaggre-X^e gated albumin (MAA) lung shunt study Х X Х Response assessment¹ Sorafenib arm only Х Х Toxicity assessment X^b Х X Х Dose delay/modifica-Х Х Х Х Х X^b tion Adverse events (AE)/serious adeverse AE/SAE for the Sorafenib arm will be recorded from the time of signing the informed consent form (ICF) until 30 days after the final dose of Sorafenib, or until commencement of the next alternative therapy, events (SAE) whichever is earlier. AE/SAE for the SIRT arm will be recorded from the time of signing the ICF until 30 days post-SIRT regardless of causality and for a further 5 months thereafter if judged by the investigator to be causally related to SIRT or Sir-Spheres, or until commencement of the next alternative therapy, whichever is earlier.

If the AE/SAE is a Sorafenib- or SIRT-related toxicity follow-up will continue until resolution.

Survival

^aScreening assessments performed within 28 days before signing of informed consent can be used to confirm eligibility

^bSorafenib arm only. Sorafenib patients contacted at week 2 to assess treatment related toxicity and interrupt/modify the dose as necessary

^cDisease progression, death, complete regression, unacceptable toxicity, patient responds to treatment and becomes eligible for surgical resection, liver transplantation or ablative therapy, lost to follow-up, patient's request for withdrawal

^dConcomitant medication to be recorded from screening/baseline up to 30 days post study conclusion (or until commencement of the next alternative therapy, whichever is earlier).

^eHepatic angiogram and Tc-99m MAA lung shunt study to be performed after randomization and prior to treatment commencement ONLY for SIRT Arm group

^fSerum AFP to be performed during screening/baseline and every 12 weeks from date of randomization thereafter. Serum AFP does not need to be repeated for study conclusion visit if it has been performed within the last 28 days.

 g EQ-5D quality of life questionnaires to be filled out at baseline, while on study (ie, week 4, 8, 12, and every 12 weeks thereafter), at study conclusion, and 12 weekly during post study conclusion follow-up. EQ-5D quality of life questionnaire does not need to be repeated for study conclusion if it has been performed within the last 28 days.

^hThe same radiological assessment method must be used throughout the study.

ⁱAssessment for tumor response rate to be done every 12 weeks plus at first disease progression. Radiological assessment for tumor response rate to be done every 12 weeks from date of randomization until first evidence of disease progression.

Outcome Measures

RenderX

The primary endpoint of VESPRO is all-cause mortality measured by OS time. Secondary endpoints include: cumulative

incidence of progression in the liver; PFS time; tumor response rate; disease control rate; and incidence of grade 3-4 SAEs. The outcomes are defined in Textbox 3.

Х

Gebski et al

Textbox 3. Outcome definitions.

- Overall survival is defined as the time from randomization to death from any cause, with living patients censored on the date of last follow-up.
- Progression-free survival is defined as the time from randomization until disease progression at any site (response evaluation criteria in solid tumors criteria 1.1) [16] or death. Living patients will be censored on the date of last evaluable tumor assessment.
- Progression in the liver as first event is defined from randomization until the first progression in the liver. Patients alive and progression free will be censored on the date of last evaluable tumor assessment.
- Tumor response rate is defined as the number of patients whose best overall response is complete response (CR) or partial response (PR), divided by the total number of patients in the analysis population.
- Disease control rate is defined as the number of patients whose best overall response is PR, CR, or stable disease, divided by the total number of patients in the analysis population.

Toxicity Profile

The toxicity profiles of the 2 groups will be described as the frequency of the worst toxicity grade of adverse event (AE) experienced (according to National Cancer Institute Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events). AE rates for the pooled data from the studies will be compared between treatment groups, stratified by trial, using the Mantel-Haenszel technique. The principal comparison will be the proportion of grade 3-4 AEs in each group. In an observational series of 325 patients, SIRT for HCC showed grade 3-4 toxicity profile of: 2.5% fatigue; 1.5% abdominal pain; and 1.5% gastrointestinal (GI) ulceration [17]. In the placebo-controlled SHARP study, patients with advanced HCC who received sorafenib demonstrated serious adverse event/grade 3-4 toxicity profile comprising: 8% diarrhea; 8% hand-foot reaction; 7% liver dysfunction; 5% ascites; 4% other hepatobiliary; 3% fatigue, dehydration, hemoglobin, and cardiac ischemia/infarction; and 2% abdominal pain, hyperbilirubinemia, and weight loss [7]. Other toxicity profiles to be considered include: infection; fever; GI and non-GI bleeding; renal dysfunction; radiation hepatitis; GI ulceration; pulmonary embolism; rash or desquamation; hyponatremia; hypertension; abdominal pain; alopecia; anorexia; ascites; and nausea/vomiting.

Sample Size Calculation and Statistical Considerations

Sample Size Calculation for Individual Trials

In the SARAH trial, hypothetical median survival times, estimated from OS data reported in previous studies [7,18-22], were 10.7 months and 15.0 months in the sorafenib and SIRT arms, respectively, corresponding to a hazard ratio (HR) of 0.71. Enrollment of 400 patients (200 in each treatment arm) would provide 80% power with 95% confidence to detect this risk reduction, based on an accrual period of 24 months and a minimum follow-up of 12 months. The final sample size was 467 patients (459 actually randomized), which allows for an approximately 8.1% rate of patient noncompliance and dropout. The expected number of events was 153 in the SIRT arm and 179 in the sorafenib arm.

In the SIRveNIB trial, the hypothetical median survival times based on OS data reported in previous clinical trials [23,24] were 9.35 and 14.0 months in the sorafenib and SIRT arms, respectively, corresponding to a HR of 0.67. Enrollment of 360 patients (180 per group) would provide 90% power with 95% confidence to detect this risk reduction with an accrual of 36

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2017/2/e17/

months and minimum follow-up of 24 months. This sample size also allows for an up to 20% dropout rate. Factoring in this high dropout rate was a pragmatic decision due to the patient recruitment being in developing countries. The expected number of events was 127 in the SIRT group and 139 for the sorafenib group.

Prospective Meta-Analysis and Noninferiority

Regardless of the results of the individual trials (statistical significance, or extent of therapeutic benefit), a prospectively designed pooled analysis may help clarify several findings useful for medical decision-making. Thus, the total number of events for the 2 trials combined will provide increased power or precision for assessing the overall treatment effect, and for performing additional analyses among prespecified subgroups. However, pooled analyses resulting in estimates of benefit, which may be small and/or statistically not significant, will raise challenges as to how the results should be clinically interpreted. In this context, a complementary approach is to define a noninferiority (NI) margin to not be appreciably worse clinically

As it is anticipated that both trials will show a benefit, no specific hypotheses will be tested, and issues of statistical power do not arise. The question of interest is whether the 95% confidence interval (CI; one-sided) crosses the NI margin if the pooled result does not reach statistical significance. By exploiting the prospective nature of determining the NI margin, a scientific underpinning can be provided for subsequent clinical interpretation of the results. This approach is based on the assumption that, beside the specific therapeutic actions of SIRT, other aspects of the SIRT intervention could be advantageous, compared with the standard of care (sorafenib). For example, SIRT with Y-90 resin microspheres is administered in a single procedure, while sorafenib is taken daily until disease progression; consequently a better toxicity profile and lower cost could be anticipated with SIRT. In the absence of superiority over sorafenib, SIRT may still be considered a desirable option if the NI boundary is satisfied.

Determining the Noninferiority Margin: Fraction of Active Control Retained

To establish a NI margin, the minimum fraction of retained benefit from the active control (sorafenib) is determined. The International Committee on Harmonization E10 guidance from the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) recommends that NI margins should not exceed the smallest effect size that would

XSL•FO

be expected if the intervention were compared with placebo [25]. The SHARP study showed a 31% risk reduction for mortality with soranifeb versus placebo (HR: 0.69; 95% CI 0.55-0.87) [2]. Likewise, the Asia-Pacific trial showed a 32% risk reduction for mortality with soranifeb versus placebo (HR: 0.68; 95% CI: 0.50-0.93) [8,26]. The pooled overall HR for mortality for sorafenib over placebo is 0.69 (95% CI: 0.57-0.83);

or if placebo is compared with sorafenib, there is a 1.46 (95% CI: 1.21-1.75) increase in mortality risk, which equates to an increase of at least 21% (the lower limit of the CI) with placebo over sorafenib. The FDA recommends that the minimum fraction of active control retained should not be lower than 50% [25]. NI margins, based on a one-sided 95% CI, for different fractions of active control retained are shown in Table 4.

Table 4. Fractions of active control retained noninferiority (NI) margins.

Active control retained	NI boundary					
(from a hazard ratio of 1.21)						
50%	1.10					
70%	1.06					
75%	1.05					
80%	1.04					

A boundary of 10% is considered to be clinically acceptable for potential relative detriment of SIRT compared with sorafenib. Assuming a pooled median survival for sorafenib of 9.5 months, such a margin would translate to an absolute detriment between the 2 groups of less than 5% at 9.5 months. With a 10% NI margin and a fixed sample size of the pooled cohort of 819 with greater than 495 expected events, a survival benefit with SIRT compared with sorafenib of at least 7% (HR: 0.93) would be needed to satisfy this margin at a median survival with sorafenib of 9.5 months.

Statistical Analyses

Primary Endpoint

Statistical analysis of the primary endpoint will be performed in the intent-to-treat population, keeping patients in their randomization groups. The primary outcome (OS) will be compared between treatment arms using the inverse-variance weighted HR of the individual trials. A sensitivity analysis using a stratified log-rank test and an unadjusted stratified proportional hazards model test (stratified by trial) will also be performed. The comparison will be based on superiority. In the event that the 95% CI for the HR crosses the null, if the one-sided upper 95% CI for this HR does not breach the NI boundary of 1.10, this will be interpreted as supporting evidence that SIRT is not appreciably worse than sorafenib.

Planned Subgroup Analyses

Subgroup analyses will be performed according to the following baseline characteristics: age (<65 years, \geq 65 years); sex; ECOG performance status (0, 1); tumor size (\leq 50% of liver, >50% of liver); presence or absence of portal vein thrombosis; BCLC stage (B1 and B2, B3 and B4 and C; using Bolondi Criteria); previous treatment for HCC (yes, no); hepatitis status (B, C, both); unilobal versus bilobal disease; single focal versus multifocal disease; and serum alpha-feto protein level (\leq 100 vs >100 ng/mL).

Additional Analysis

RenderX

As advanced HCC has a poor prognosis, a landmark analysis [27] will be performed at 2 months post-randomization. This conditional analysis will exclude patients that die within 2

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2017/2/e17/

months of randomization as such patients are deemed to have disease so severe that neither treatment would be expected to provide any therapeutic benefit.

As SIRT is a locoregional treatment, treatment effect based on progression in the liver as the first event, will be investigated using a competing risk analysis. In this analysis, death or progression outside the liver as the first event will be considered as a competing risk for liver progression. The Gray method [27] will be used to compare groups with HRs and 95% CI estimated from the proportional hazards approach detailed by Fine and Gray [28].

Results

Patient follow-up in the SARAH trial was completed in March 2016 and patient follow-up in the SIRveNIB trial is currently ongoing (expected completion September 2017).

It is anticipated that the results of SARAH, SIRveNIB, and VESPRO will be published soon after the results are released. As per the individual study protocols, it is anticipated that each study will demonstrate a survival benefit favoring treatment with SIRT. However, practically the intervention could not be given to some patients who were allocated SIRT due to clinical suitability and the results may not be as strongly in favor of SIRT as anticipated. SIRT is a local therapy directed at the liver and the expectation is an increased time to liver progression as the first event in the SIRT cohort compared with sorafenib. It is expected that SIRT will have a lower toxicity profile than sorafenib, which may help guide clinical choice in the event of either or both studies failing to show a significant survival benefit.

Discussion

Advantages of Prospective Pooling

The meaningful and relevant data that can be obtained from any clinical trial is restricted by several factors, including the ability to obtain complete outcome data on all (or most) participants, the accuracy and quality of outcomes measurement, and patients' adherence to the allocated treatment. The SARAH and

SIRveNIB trials are evaluating therapies with different modes of delivery; sorafenib is taken orally, twice daily until disease progression or death, whereas SIRT is administered in a single application. The problems of nonadherence that may be encountered with sorafenib include unplanned interruption or cessation of treatment or dose reduction; whereas with SIRT, some patients initially randomized to receive SIRT will be deemed unsuitable after clinical workup and will subsequently receive other treatment. The ability to prospectively pool results from clinical trials in an IPD-PMA will increase the amount of meaningful data available to address important clinical questions.

In a single trial, the ability to draw relevant conclusions from subgroup analyses is also restricted by the low statistical power of the multiple tests in small patient populations. Therefore, there is a disparity between the aim of identifying heterogeneity in the responses of trial participants to treatments and the ability to achieve this goal. Pooling data will provide larger sample sizes that will attenuate the impact of multiple comparisons and enable the detection of small but potentially clinically important differences. The prospective design of such comparisons will add to the credibility of the interpretation of these differences. Additionally, a prospective pooled analysis will facilitate the recognition of signals of clinical interest that in each of the individual trials could potentially be regarded as spurious, and thus disregarded.

If the individual trials and the pooled analysis do not demonstrate statistical significance on the primary endpoint, the question of how the totality of evidence should be interpreted then becomes an issue. These so-called 'negative results' may arise due to: a small true benefit; the patients enrolled having a different risk profile to that anticipated; issues with study conduct (nonadherence, lost to follow-up, etc); or changes in clinical practice during the trials. Faced with a 'negative result' clinicians may choose to continue with standard care (sorafenib) or introduce the new intervention (SIRT) without strong clinical evidence.

Defining Margin of Noninferiority Prospectively to Improve Clinical Interpretation

The originality of the VESPRO study is to go beyond classical meta-analysis goals. It is why we propose to consider all the results of the primary and secondary outcomes, and prospective subgroup analyses of the pooled analysis. On a superiority analysis basis, if equality between the 2 treatments is rejected, then due to the greater power the meta-analysis compared with the individual trials a more precise estimate of treatment effects can be provided. If the null hypothesis cannot be rejected, it will be very interesting to determine the reasonable limit within which treatments will be deemed comparable. This margin, while not formally a component of a NI design, will guide interpretation of the results when there is uncertainty. The casual observation suggests that SIRT has a better safety profile than sorafenib, which may be important if efficacy is similar between treatments

Using this information, pooled toxicity profiles and cost estimates will allow clinicians to make informed decisions as to the most appropriate treatment choice for patients with advanced HCC.

Acknowledgments

An ethics committee approved both the SARAH and SIRveNIB trials. Patients consenting to participate in either trial were required to sign an ethically approved patient informed consent form.

SARAH and SIRveNIB studies are investigator-initiated randomized trials. The investigators of VESPRO study are drawn from investigators in the individual studies as well as from the National Health and Medical Research Council Clinical Trials Centre University of Sydney. This study is funded by an unrestricted educational grant from SIRTEX Technology Ltd, Australia. The funders had no role in the study design, the writing of the manuscript, or in the decisions regarding the manuscript or publication.

We thank all the investigators involved in the SARAH trial: René Adam, Isabelle Archambeaud, Eric Assenat, Christophe Aubé, Philippe Bachellier, Gabriele Barabino, Hélène Barraud, Christophe Bazin, Nadia Bouarioua, Hatem Boulahdour, Isabelle Brenot-Rossi, Christophe Cassinotto, Maria-Angéla Castilla-Lievre, Julien Cazejust, Jean-Pierre Cercueil, Dominique Charneau, Patrick Chevallier, Charlotte Costentin, Sylvie Costo, Olivier Couturier, Muriel Cuilleron, Thông Dao, Thierry de Baere, Eric Delabrousse, Elisabeth Delhom-Christol, Jean Yves Devaux, Vincent di Martino, Bernard Duclos, Michel Ducreux, Jérôme Dumortier, Benoît Dupas, Julien Edeline, Thomas Eugene, Benoît Gallix, Etienne Garin, René Gerolami, Francesco Giammarile, Michel Greget, Gilles Grimon, Martine Guyot, Francois Habersetzer, Alexandria Heurgue-Berlot, Patrick Hillon, Alina Diana Ilonca, Alessio Imperiale, Emmanuel Itti, Vincent Leroy, Maïté Lewin, Alain Luciani, Jean Lumbroso, Abakar Mahamat, Sophie Maitre, Claude Marcus, Lysiane Marthey, Elodie Mathias, Philippe Merle, Julie Morvan, Olivier Mundler, Eric Nguyen-Khac, Frédéric Oberti, Georges-Philippe Pageaux, Jean Pierre Pelage, Olivier Pellerin, Rémi Perdrisot, Nathalie Prevot-Bitot, Jean Luc Raoul, Micheline Razzouk, Agnès Rode, Yan Rolland, Olivier Rosmorduc, Julie Roux, Didier Samuel, Marc Sapoval, Anthony Sarran, Jean-Francois Seitz, Christian Sengel, Olivier Seror, Christine Silvain, Daniele Sommacale, Julien Taieb, Jean Pierre Tasu, Michel Toubeau, Jean-Claude Trinchet, Pierre Jean Valette, Julien Vergniol, Vincent Vidal, Julie Vincent, Pierre Weinmann, and Thierry Yzet. The authors would like to thank Dr Juliette Djadi-Prat and Pascaline Aucouturier for their help in managing the SARAH trial.

We thank all the investigators involved in the SIRveNIB trial: Su Pin Choo, Choon Hua Thng, Say Beng Tan, Albert Su Chong Low, Peng Chung Cheow, Anthony Soon Whatt Goh, Kiang Hiong Tay, Richard Hoau Gong Lo, Brian Kim Poh Goh, Jen San

Wong, David Chee Eng Ng, Khee Chee Soo, Wei Ming Liew, Tjakra Wibawa Manuaba, LA Lesmana, Jong Yun Won, Hyun Ki Yoon, Kim Yun Hwan, Ho Seong Han, Si Hyun Bae, Aloysius Raj, Yoong Boon Koon, Law Chiong Soon, Ariunaa Khasbazar, Khin Maung Win, Adam Bartlett, Rolley Lobo, Catherine Teh, Ian Cua, Janus Ong, Stephen Chang, Tan Tzu Jen, Chanisa Chotipanich, Hung Chien Fu, Liang Po Chin, Lee Rheun Chuan, Peng Cheng Yuan, Kenneth Kok Yuh Yen. The authors would like to thank Singapore Clinical Research Institute for help in managing the trial operations and data management

The authors acknowledge the editorial assistance provided by Martin Gilmour and Tim Latham of ESP Bioscience (Crowthorne, UK) funded by SIRTEX, during the preparation of this manuscript.

Authors' Contributions

VG drafted the manuscript and managed the incorporation of comments from all authors. All authors have made substantial contribution to design this study. All authors have reviewed the manuscript and given final approval to be published. The authors had full access to the appropriate study data, which are included in the VESPRO project.

Conflicts of Interest

PKHC has received honorariums and research grants from Oncosil, pSivida, SIRTEX, Bayer, Ipsen, and Merck Sharp & Dohme. VG has received honorariums and VV has received speaker fees from SIRTEX. All other authors declare that they have no competing interests.

References

- Perz JF, Armstrong GL, Farrington LA, Hutin YJ, Bell BP. The contributions of hepatitis B virus and hepatitis C virus infections to cirrhosis and primary liver cancer worldwide. J Hepatol 2006;45:529-538. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jhep.2006.05.013</u>] [Medline: <u>16879891</u>]
- Torre LA, Bray F, Siegel RL, Ferlay J, Lortet-Tieulent J, Jemal S. Global cancer statistics, 2012. CA Cancer J Clin 2015;65:87-108 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3322/caac.21262] [Medline: 25651787]
- Sartorius K, Sartorius B, Aldous C, Govender PS, Madiba TE. Global and country underestimation of hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) in 2012 and its implications. Cancer Epidemiol 2015;39:284-290. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.canep.2015.04.006</u>] [Medline: <u>25922178</u>]
- 4. Cabbibo G, Enea M, Latteri F, Genco C, Craxì A. Cammá Curvival of unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma: a meta-anlyasis of the control arms of 28 randomized trials. J Hepatol 2009;50(Supplement 1):S285.
- Hsu C, Shen Y, Cheng C, Hu F, Cheng A. Geographic difference in survival outcome for advanced hepatocellular carcinoma: implications on future clinical trial design. Contemp Clin Trials 2010;31:55-61. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.cct.2009.08.002</u>] [Medline: <u>19737631</u>]
- Llovet JM, Di Bisceglie AM, Bruix J, Kramer BS, Lencioni R, Zhu AX, Panel of Experts in HCC-Design Clinical Trials. Design and endpoints of clinical trials in hepatocellular carcinoma. J Natl Cancer Inst 2008;100:698-711 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jnci/djn134] [Medline: 18477802]
- 7. Llovet JM, Ricci S, Mazzaferro V, Hilgard P, Gane E, Blanc J, SHARP Investigators Study Group. Sorafenib in advanced hepatocellular carcinoma. N Engl J Med 2008;359:378-390. [doi: <u>10.1056/NEJMoa0708857</u>] [Medline: <u>18650514</u>]
- Cheng A, Kang Y, Chen Z, Tsao C, Qin S, Kim J, et al. Efficacy and safety of sorafenib in patients in the Asia-Pacific region with advanced hepatocellular carcinoma: a phase III randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Lancet Oncol 2009;10:25-34. [doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(08)70285-7] [Medline: 19095497]
- European Association For The Study Of The Liver, European Organisation For Research And Treatment Of Cancer. EASL-EORTC clinical practice guidelines: management of hepatocellular carcinoma. J Hepatol 2012 Apr;56:908-943 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2011.12.001] [Medline: 22424438]
- 10. Gramenzi A, Golfieri R, Mosconi C, Cappelli A, Granito A, Cucchetti A, BLOG (Bologna Liver Oncology Group). Yttrium-90 radioembolization vs sorafenib for intermediate-locally advanced hepatocellular carcinoma: a cohort study with propensity score analysis. Liver Int 2015;35:1036-1047. [doi: 10.1111/liv.12574] [Medline: 24750853]
- 11. Cho Y, Lee M, Kim H, Chung J, Kim Y, Gwak G, et al. Radioembolization is a safe and effective treatment for hepatocellular carcinoma with portal vein thrombosis: a propensity score analysis. PLoS One 2016;11:e0154986 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0154986] [Medline: 27149067]
- 12. de la Torre MA, Buades-Mateu J, de la Rosa PA, Lué A, Bustamante F, Serrano M, et al. A comparison of survival in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma and portal vein invasion treated by radioembolization or sorafenib. Liver Int 2016;36:1206-1212. [doi: 10.1111/liv.13098] [Medline: 26910784]
- 13. Abdel-Rahman O, Elsayed Z. Yttrium-90 microsphere radioembolisation for unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2016;2:CD011313. [doi: <u>10.1002/14651858.CD011313.pub2</u>] [Medline: <u>26905230</u>]
- Vilgrain V, Abdel-Rehim M, Sibert A, Ronot M, Lebtahi R, Castera L, Group ST. Radioembolisation with yttrium90 microspheres versus sorafenib for treatment of advanced hepatocellular carcinoma (SARAH)tudy protocol for a randomised controlled trial. Trials 2014;15:474. [Medline: <u>25472660</u>]

RenderX

- Gandhi M, Choo S, Thng C, Tan S, Low A, Cheow P, Asia-Pacific Hepatocellular Carcinoma Trials Group. Single administration of Selective Internal Radiation Therapy versus continuous treatment with sorafeNIB in locally advanced hepatocellular carcinoma (SIRveNIB): study protocol for a phase iii randomized controlled trial. BMC Cancer 2016;16:856 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12885-016-2868-y] [Medline: 27821083]
- Ronot M, Bouattour M, Wassermann J, Bruno O, Dreyer C, Larroque B, et al. Alternative Response Criteria (Choi, European association for the study of the liver, and modified Response Evaluation Criteria in Solid Tumors [RECIST]) Versus RECIST 1.1 in patients with advanced hepatocellular carcinoma treated with sorafenib. Oncologist 2014;19:394-402 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1634/theoncologist.2013-0114] [Medline: 24652387]
- Sangro B, Carpanese L, Cianni R, Golfieri R, Gasparini D, Ezziddin S, European Network on Radioembolization with Yttrium-90 Resin Microspheres (ENRY). Survival after yttrium-90 resin microsphere radioembolization of hepatocellular carcinoma across Barcelona clinic liver cancer stages: a European evaluation. Hepatology 2011;54:868-878. [doi: 10.1002/hep.24451] [Medline: 21618574]
- 18. Lau W, Leung W, Ho S, Leung N, Chan M, Lin J, et al. Treatment of inoperable hepatocellular carcinoma with intrahepatic arterial yttrium-90 microspheres: a phase I and II study. Br J Cancer 1994;70:994-999 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 7947110]
- Lau WY, Ho S, Leung TW, Chan M, Ho R, Johnson PJ, et al. Selective internal radiation therapy for nonresectable hepatocellular carcinoma with intraarterial infusion of 90yttrium microspheres. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1998;40:583-592. [Medline: <u>9486608</u>]
- Kulik LM, Carr BI, Mulcahy MF, Lewandowski RJ, Atassi B, Ryu RK, et al. Safety and efficacy of 90Y radiotherapy for hepatocellular carcinoma with and without portal vein thrombosis. Hepatology 2008;47:71-81. [doi: <u>10.1002/hep.21980</u>] [Medline: <u>18027884</u>]
- Sangro B, Bilbao JI, Boan J, Martinez-Cuesta A, Benito A, Rodriguez J, et al. Radioembolization using 90Y-resin microspheres for patients with advanced hepatocellular carcinoma. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2006;66:792-800. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2006.05.065] [Medline: 16904840]
- Young JY, Rhee TK, Atassi B, Gates VL, Kulik L, Mulcahy MF, et al. Radiation dose limits and liver toxicities resulting from multiple yttrium-90 radioembolization treatments for hepatocellular carcinoma. J Vasc Interv Radiol 2007;18:1375-1382. [doi: 10.1016/j.jvir.2007.07.016] [Medline: 18003987]
- 23. Kang Y, Guan Z, Chen Z, Tsao C, Qin S, Kim JS, et al. Sorafenib is effective in patients from the Asia Pacific region with hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC)ubgroup analysis of macroscopic vascular invasion (MVI), extrahepatic spread (EHS), and ECOG performance status. Annals of Oncology 2008;19(Supplement 8):177.
- 24. Sangro B, Carpanese L, Cianni R, Golfieri R, Gasparini D, Ezzidin S, et al. European multicenter evaluation of survival for patients with HCC treated by radioembolization [RE] with 90Y-labelled resin microspheres. 2010 Presented at: The Association of Clinical Oncology Gastrointestinal Cancer; January 22nd-25th 2010; Orlando, FL.
- 25. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Food and Drug Administration Non-Inferiority Clinical Trials to Establish Effectiveness Guidance for Industry. 2016. URL: <u>http://www.fda.gov/Drugs/GuidanceComplianceRegulatoryInformation/</u> Guidances/default.htm [accessed 2016-12-18] [WebCite Cache ID 6ndErGAJR]
- 26. Cheng A, Guan Z, Chen Z, Tsao C, Qin S, Kim J, et al. Efficacy and safety of sorafenib in patients with advanced hepatocellular carcinoma according to baseline status: subset analyses of the phase III Sorafenib Asia-Pacific trial. Eur J Cancer 2012;48:1452-1465. [doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2011.12.006] [Medline: 22240282]
- 27. Gray RJ. A class of K-sample tests for comparing the cumulative incidence of a competing risk. Ann Statist 1988;16:1141-1154. [doi: 10.1214/aos/1176350951]
- 28. Fine J, Gray RJ. A proportional hazards model for the subdistribution of a competing risk. J Am Stat Assoc 1999;94:496-509. [doi: 10.1080/01621459.1999.10474144]

Abbreviations

AE: adverse event AFP: serum alpha-fetoprotein ALP: alkaline phosphatase ALT: alanine aminotransferase AST: aspartate transaminase BCLC: Barcelona Clinic Liver Cancer CI: confidence interval CR: complete response CT: computed tomography ECOG: Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group EQ05D: EuroQol five dimensions questionnaire FDA: Food and Drug Administration GI: gastrointestinal HCC: hepatocellular carcinoma

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2017/2/e17/

RenderX

Gebski et al

HR: hazard ratio **ICF:** informed consent form IgG: immunoglobulin **INR:** international normalized ratio **NI:** noninferiority MMA: microaggregated albumin MRI: magnetic resonance imaging **OS:** overall survival PR: partial response **PFS:** progression-free survival **RCT:** randomized control trial **RECIST:** response evaluation criteria in solid tumors SAE: serious adverse event SARAH: sorafenib versus radioembolization in advanced hepatocellular carcinoma SIRveNIB: selective internal radiation therapy versus sorafenib in locally advanced SHARP: sorafenib hepatocellular carcinoma assessment randomized protocol SIRT: selective internal radiation therapy ULN: upper limit of normal yttrium-90: Y-90

Edited by A Keepanasseril; submitted 17.11.16; peer-reviewed by P Johnson, R Sharma; comments to author 02.01.17; accepted 08.01.17; published 15.02.17.

Please cite as:

Gebski V, Gibbs E, Gandhi M, Chatellier G, Dinut A, Pereira H, Chow PKH, Vilgrain V VESPRO: An Individual Patient Data Prospective Meta-Analysis of Selective Internal Radiation Therapy Versus Sorafenib for Advanced, Locally Advanced, or Recurrent Hepatocellular Carcinoma of the SARAH and SIRveNIB Trials JMIR Res Protoc 2017;6(2):e17 URL: <u>http://www.researchprotocols.org/2017/2/e17/</u> doi:<u>10.2196/resprot.7016</u> PMID:<u>28202430</u>

©Val Gebski, Emma Gibbs, Mihir Gandhi, Gilles Chatellier, Aurelia Dinut, Helena Pereira, Pierce KH Chow, Valérie Vilgrain. Originally published in JMIR Research Protocols (http://www.researchprotocols.org), 15.02.2017. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Research Protocols, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.researchprotocols.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Protocol

Statins and Fibrates for Diabetic Retinopathy: Protocol for a Systematic Review

Vania Mozetic^{1*}, MD; Carolina Gomes Freitas^{1*}, BPharm; Rachel Riera^{1*}, PhD

Universidade Federal de Sao Paulo, Sao Paulo, Brazil *all authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author: Carolina Gomes Freitas, BPharm Universidade Federal de Sao Paulo Rua Botucatu, 740 -3º andar- Vila Clementino Sao Paulo, 04023-900 Brazil Phone: 55 (11)55763420 Fax: 55 (11)55763420 Email: <u>crlngomesfreitas@gmail.com</u>

Abstract

Background: Diabetic retinopathy (DR) is a common microvascular complication of diabetes mellitus, and more than 75% of patients who have had diabetes for more than 20 years will have some degree of DR. This disease is highly destructive to self-esteem and puts a high burden on public health and pension systems due to the effects that it has on people of working age. The current mainstay of treatment is laser photocoagulation, which causes impairment of vision and discomfort to patients. Thus, finding a systemic drug that could act on all microcirculation and prevent direct manipulation of the eyes would be highly desirable.

Objective: To assess the efficacy and safety of the drugs in the statin and/or fibrate groups for the prevention and treatment of DR.

Methods: In this systematic review, we will select randomized controlled trials of fibrates or statins used for the treatment or prevention of DR. Our search strategy will include free text terms and controlled vocabulary (eg, MeSH, Emtree) for, "diabetic retinopathy", "statins", "fibrates", "hypolipidemic agents", and for drugs from both groups. Databases that will be used include Medical Literature Analysis and Retrieval System/PubMed, Embase, Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials, Latin American and Caribbean Center on Health Sciences Information, Clinicaltrials.gov, World Health Organization International Clinical Trials Registry Platform, and OpenGrey, and we will not have language or date limits. Two review authors will independently select eligible studies and assess the risk of bias using the Cochrane Collaboration's tool. We will report structured summaries of the included studies and, if possible, conduct meta-analyses.

Results: This is a protocol for a systematic review, therefore results are not available. We registered a short version of this protocol before progressing in the review and we are currently in the process of selecting the studies for inclusion.

Conclusions: Intensive glucose control and lowering blood pressure and lipids are mechanisms that protect macrocirculation in diabetic patients. Both macrovascular and microvascular events in diabetic patients appear to have a common pathway, starting with endothelial injury. Thus, prevention and treatment of microvascular events may benefit from the same interventions. In the review for which we have written this protocol, we will assess whether the use of lipid-lowering oral drugs of the statin and/or fibrate groups may prevent and/or retard progression of DR, with the added benefit of preserving visual acuity.

Trial Registration: PROSPERO CRD42016029746

(JMIR Res Protoc 2017;6(2):e30) doi:10.2196/resprot.6650

KEYWORDS

RenderX

diabetic retinopathy, hypolipidemic agents, hydroxymethylglutaryl-CoA reductase inhibitors, fibric acids, ETDRS, HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors

Introduction

Diabetic retinopathy (DR) is a common microvascular complication of diabetes mellitus, and more than 75% of patients who have had diabetes for more than 20 years will have some degree of DR [1]. This disease is the leading cause of blindness among working-age Americans [2]. It is estimated that 33,000 new cases of diabetic macular edema, 86,000 new cases of proliferative DR, and 12,000-14,000 new cases of blindness are caused by DR each year in the United States alone [1]. Projections compute that by 2050 the number of Americans aged 40 years and older with DR and vision-threatening DR will triple compared to 2005 numbers (from 5.5 million to 16.0 million for the former and 1.2 million to 3.4 million for the latter) [3].

A putative pathophysiological mechanism of the disease is through products of nonenzymatic glycosylation, named advanced glycosylation end products (AGEs) [4,5]. AGEs are proteins or fats that become glycated after exposure to sugar, and the oxidative stress that occurs in diabetes is one of the probable causes that triggers this reaction [6]. AGEs bind to receptors in the retinal vessel endothelium and trigger the extrinsic pathway of coagulation, along with the inhibition of protein C (a physiological anticoagulant), and increase production of endothelin-1 (a potent vasoconstrictor) [7]. Together, these cascades lead to narrower vessels, increased permeability of the vascular wall, and consequently tissue ischemia. Ischemia, in turn, attracts angiogenic factors that promote neovascularization [8]. Lipids also presumably play an important role in the exudative stage of DR. The increased permeability of retinal capillaries causes extravasation of plasma lipoproteins that (along with degenerating cells) are engulfed by macrophages and form hard exudates, which is a defining characteristic of this stage of the disease [9].

Numerous studies on the newer antivascular endothelial growth factor drugs for the treatment of DR have been conducted, but laser photocoagulation persists as the treatment with the highest level of efficacy and safety [10]. However, even being the first option of treatment, laser photocoagulation is frequently associated with irreversible side effects caused by the ablation of retinal tissue. Visual field loss and impairment of night vision are frequent, and the procedure itself is very painful [11]. In this capacity, systemic drugs are highly desirable since they might prevent the onset and progression of DR, thereby avoiding the harms of manipulating the eye. Drugs might also allow for the chance to act in a preventive manner across the entire vascular endothelium.

It is known that all vascular diabetic alterations, whether in macrocirculation or microcirculation, have a common endothelial start. It is also well known that inadequate glycemic control, hypertension, and dyslipidemia are risk factors for the development of macrovascular disease in diabetics. Although the importance of the first two factors in microcirculation have already been addressed by previous systematic reviews [12,13], the relationship between lipids and the development and severity of DR is complex and remains unclear [14].

A recent update of The Wisconsin Epidemiologic Study of Diabetic Retinopathy, a 30-year follow-up of approximately 903 patients, found no association between total cholesterol or high density lipoprotein (HDL) and incidence of DR or macular edema, while there was a modest association between higher levels of HDL and decreased prevalence of proliferative DR [15]. The investigators then concluded that total cholesterol and HDL (as well as statin use) had a modest impact on DR [15]. Studies examining dietary lipid interventions showed favorable variable results in DR progression [16-18]. Other studies with clofibrate found reductions in hard exudates, but did not find differences in visual acuity [19-21].

Conversely, some randomized controlled trials (RCTs) showed beneficial effects of hypolipidemic drugs, suggesting that they may slow the progression of DR. The Action to Control Cardiovascular Risk in Diabetes (ACCORD) Eye Study, for example, evaluated the effects of specific strategies for managing blood glucose levels, serum lipid levels, and blood pressure on cardiovascular events in participants with type 2 diabetes [22]. This study also assessed the effects of these medical strategies on the progression of DR in a subgroup of trial participants: results showed that patients with type 2 diabetes who received fenofibrate and simvastatin had less progression of DR at 4 years when compared to placebo (6.5% vs 10.2% respectively; P=.006) [22]. Similarly, the Fenofibrate Intervention and Event Lowering in Diabetes study concluded that monotherapy with fenofibrate resulted in a significant reduction in the need for laser therapy at 5 years for either macular edema or proliferative retinopathy when compared to the placebo group (3.4% vs 4.9%; P<.001) [23]. Nevertheless, in the study that followed ACCORD patients (known as the Action to Control Cardiovascular Risk in Diabetes Follow-On Eye Study), this difference disappeared 8 years after randomization in the original ACCORD study (11.8% vs 10.2% respectively; P=.60) [22].

In light of these conflicting results, and considering the absence of the highest level of evidence for this question, it is critical to summarize the efficacy and safety of statins and fibrates for the prevention and treatment of DR through a systematic review of RCTs.

Objectives

To assess the efficacy and safety of the drugs of the statins and/or fibrates groups for the prevention and treatment of DR.

Methods

This protocol is registered in PROSPERO (CRD42016029746). We developed the protocol according to the Cochrane Handbook of Interventions Reviews [24] and report it according to the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis (PRISMA) Protocols [25].

Types of Studies

For the purposes of this systematic review, only RCTs will be included. Given the progressive nature of the clinical situation, cross-over designs will not be considered.

RenderX

Types of Patients

Patients with type 1 or 2 diabetes, with or without nonproliferative retinopathy (for treatment and prevention, respectively) will be considered. Patients with proliferative retinopathy will be excluded.

Types of Interventions

The interventions considered will be any drug from the statin or fibric acid groups, either in isolation or compared to placebo, no intervention, or a different type of statin or fibrate. We will also consider any statin or fibric acid as adjunctive therapy if we find RCTs of main therapy with statin or fibrate versus main therapy with placebo, no intervention, or a different type of statin or fibrate. Photocoagulation may be considered as a main therapy in this schema. In each situation (isolation or adjunctive) we will consider studies with any dose or any duration course of the intervention.

Types of Outcome Measures

Primary Outcomes

Our primary outcomes will include: (1) aiming prevention, the proportion of patients that develop DR; (2) aiming treatment, the proportion of patients with progression of DR; and (3) aiming safety, the proportion of patients with at least one serious adverse event (ie, those that are immediately life-threatening, or resulted in hospitalization, incapacity, malignant disease, or death).

DR will be defined as 35 or more points in the Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study (ETDRS) scale [26], based on evaluation of stereoscopic color fundus photographs of the eyes of participants who did not have retinopathy at baseline. This score is equivalent to the categories of mild nonproliferative DR, or more severe DR [27].

Progression will be defined as a change from baseline of 2 or more steps on the same scale. We will accept trials that describe outcomes in terms of steps in the ETDRS scale and trials that described outcomes that can be converted to the ETDRS scale (eg, for older trials). For the adverse events outcome, we will not conduct additional searches in nonrandomized studies, which are not included in this review.

We plan to assess these outcomes at 2, 6, 12, 18, and 24 months, and annually thereafter, grouping the trials that fall within these time points (eg, group trials that assess the outcomes up to 2 months).

Secondary Outcomes

We will assess the proportion of patients with: (1) decrease of visual acuity (any decrease) measured by Snellen or LogMAR

charts, and (2) proliferative DR (measured by the ETDRS scale) with at least one minor adverse event (ie, adverse events not included in the serious adverse event outcome). We will also evaluate quality of life measured by the National Eye Institute Visual Functioning Questionnaire 25 or another validated vision-related scale. These outcomes will be assessed at the same time points as the primary outcomes.

Methods for Search

Electronic Search

We will systematically search the following databases: Medical Literature Analysis and Retrieval System (via PubMed), Embase (via Elsevier), Latin American and Caribbean Center on Health Sciences Information (via Virtual Health Library), and Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (via Wiley). The search strategy will include controlled vocabulary (eg, MeSH, Emtree) and free-text terms related to, "diabetic retinopathy", "hypolipidemic agents", "statins", "fibrates", and drugs from both groups. No limits for data, language, or status of the publication (eg, conference abstracts, full-text, ongoing studies) will be used. Additional searches will be conducted in the clinical trial registries of Clinical Trials Registry Platform, and in the grey literature source OpenGrey.

Hand Search

We will assess reference lists of all included studies and review articles for additional references. We will contact authors of identified trials and ask them about other published and unpublished studies. We will also contact manufacturers and specialists in the field of ophthalmology.

Selection of Studies

Two authors (VM and CGF) will independently read the references and select the studies according to the inclusion and exclusion criteria. We will exclude duplicates and collate multiple reports of the same study so that each study, rather than each report, will be the unit of interest in the review. After the initial step of screening titles and abstracts of the records, we will read the full text articles for the potentially includible studies, finally deciding on the included ones and giving reasons for the exclusions in this step. A third reviewer (RR) will resolve any disagreements. We will record the selection process in sufficient detail to fulfill a PRISMA flow diagram and a *characteristics of excluded studies* table [28].

Data Extraction and Management

We will use a standard data collection form for extracting study characteristics and outcome data. Two reviewers (VM and CGF) will extract the study characteristics outlined in Textbox 1.

Textbox 1. Characteristics that will be extracted from the included studies.

- Methods: study design, total duration of study and run-in, number of study centers and location, study setting, withdrawals, and date of study.
- Participants: N, mean age, age range, gender, severity of condition, diagnostic criteria, inclusion criteria, and exclusion criteria.
- Interventions: intervention, comparison, concomitant medications, and excluded medications.
- Outcomes: primary and secondary outcomes (the final outcomes reported and those planned), and time points reported.
- Notes: funding for trial and notable conflicts of interest of trial authors.

RenderX

One reviewer (VM) will copy the data from the data collection form into the Review Manager (RevMan 5.3) file [28]. We will double check that the data is entered correctly by comparing the study reports with how the data is presented in the systematic review.

Assessment of Risk of Bias in Included Studies

Two reviewers (VM and CGF) will independently judge the risk of bias of each study using the Cochrane Collaboration's tool for assessing risk of bias [29]. The tool comprises the following domains: (1) random sequence generation, (2) allocation concealment, (3) blinding of participants and personnel, (4) blinding of outcome assessment, (5) incomplete outcome data, (6) selective outcome reporting, and (7) other bias. Each domain will be judged as high risk, low risk, or unclear risk of bias according to the criteria described in the risk of bias table in the Cochrane Handbook [29]. We will consider blinding separately for different key outcomes when necessary (eg, regarding unblinded outcome assessment, risk of bias for all-cause mortality may be very different than that of a patient-reported quality of life scale [28]). When considering treatment effects, we will take into account the risk of bias of the studies that contributed to that outcome.

Data Synthesis

We will use a software Review Manager (RevMan 5.3) to perform meta-analyses whenever possible. We plan to use random-effects meta-analyses except when involving up to 3 studies in the pooled estimate; a situation in which we will use fixed-effects. This approach is a change from our previous protocol, in which we would use fixed-effects models for homogeneous studies and random-effects otherwise; however, random-effects models result in pooled estimates similar to fixed-effects models when there is little or no heterogeneity within studies. Additionally, random-effects analyses provide poor estimates for the confidence interval when examining few studies or when the studies are small [30]. If we are not able to analyze studies due to a lack of data for any comparison, or high heterogeneity as specified in the assessment of heterogeneity section, we will report the result of each individual trial narratively.

Measures of Treatment Effect

We will analyze dichotomous data as risk ratios and continuous data as mean differences or standardized mean differences. We will undertake meta-analyses only when meaningful (ie, if the treatment participants and the underlying clinical question are similar enough for pooling to make sense). If multiple trial arms are reported in a single trial, we will include only the relevant arms, and if two comparisons from the same trial (eg, *drug X vs placebo* and *drug Y vs placebo*) must be included in the same meta-analysis, we will halve the control group to avoid double counting [28].

Dealing with Missing Data

We will contact authors or study sponsors to verify key study characteristics or to obtain missing numerical outcome data when possible (eg, when a study is identified as *abstract only*). If outcome data are missing in both intervention groups, but reasons for these are both reported and balanced across groups,

```
http://www.researchprotocols.org/2017/2/e30/
```

important bias would not be expected unless the reasons have different implications in the compared groups. In dichotomous studies, the potential impact of missing data depends on the frequency or risk of outcomes. In continuous outcomes, the potential impact increases with the proportion of participants with missing data [29].

Assessment of Heterogeneity

We will assess studies regarding clinical and methodological heterogeneity. If studies are deemed homogeneous in these criteria, we will conduct meta-analyses and analyze statistical heterogeneity by visual inspection of the forest plots, and use Chi-squared and I²tests. Results of Chi-squared <0.10 and I²>50% will be considered heterogeneous; in these cases, we will try to explain heterogeneity by the prespecified groups for the subgroup analysis and also by the possible findings of the assessment of publication bias [30].

Assessment of Reporting Bias

If 10 or more studies are included in the meta-analysis, we will assess reporting biases using funnel plots and visually inspect the plots for asymmetry [29].

Subgroup Analyses and Investigation of Heterogeneity

Subgroup analyses for the primary outcomes will be conducted and consider the following groups: the different types of diabetes, the different kinds of hypolipemic drugs (statins, fibrates), the different doses of these drugs (eg, high-dose fibrates), and the dyslipidemia and/or diabetic macular edema status of the patients [30].

Sensitivity Analyses

Sensitivity analyses will be conducted to determine the impact of exclusion of studies with overall high risk of bias. Such studies will include those judged to harbor *high risk* of bias in at least one of the main domains in the Risk of Bias Table (generation of randomization sequence, allocation concealment, and blinding) [30].

Summary of Findings

Using GRADEpro software we will generate two summary of findings (SoF) tables, one for each key question of this review: development and progression of DR. We will use the five Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development, and Evaluation criteria (study limitations, consistency of effect, imprecision, indirectness, and publication bias) to assess the quality of the body of evidence that contributes data to the meta-analyses for the prespecified outcomes. We will use the methods and recommendations described in Section 8.5 [29] and Chapter 12 [31] of the Cochrane Handbook for the judgment of these criteria. We will justify all decisions to downgrade or upgrade the quality of studies using footnotes, and make comments to aid readers' understanding of the review when necessary. We will consider whether there is any additional outcome information that was not incorporated into meta-analyses, note this in the comments, and state if it supports or contradicts the information from the meta-analyses. The SoF table regarding the prevention of DR will comprise the following outcomes: (1) the proportion of patients with DR, (2) the

proportion of patients with at least one serious adverse event, (3) the proportion of patients with proliferative DR, and (4) the proportion of patients with any decrease in visual acuity. The comparison for this table will be hypolipidemic drugs versus placebo or no intervention.

The SoF table regarding the treatment of DR will comprise the following outcomes: (1) the proportion of patients with progression of DR, (2) the proportion of patients with at least one serious adverse event, (3) the proportion of patients with any decrease in visual acuity. The comparison for this table will be laser photocoagulation with hypolipidemic drugs versus laser photocoagulation with placebo or no intervention. The outcomes for both SoF tables will be reported at 6 months and 5 years (short- and long-term, respectively).

Results

This is a protocol for a systematic review, therefore results are not available. We registered a short version of this protocol before progressing in the review and we are currently in the process of selecting the studies for inclusion.

Discussion

Dyslipidemia is one well-known risk factor for the development of vascular disease in diabetics. However, to date the effects of statin and/or fibrate use have not been addressed by a systematic review. The findings of this review will provide an assessment of the existing evidence for patients and health care providers that deal with this severe and prevalent complication of diabetes.

Authors' Contributions

RR, VM, and CGF developed the review protocol (VM as content specialist, RR and CGF as method specialists). VM, CGF, and RR drafted the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- World Health Organization. Prevention of blindness from diabetes mellitus: a report of a WHO consultation in Geneva, Switzerland. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2005. URL: <u>http://www.who.int/blindness/</u> <u>Prevention%200f%20Blindness%20from%20Diabetes%20Mellitus-with-cover-small.pdf?ua=1</u> [accessed 2017-01-15] [WebCite Cache ID 6nXghF8B5]
- 2. National Eye Institute. Facts about diabetic eye disease.: National Eye Institute; 2015. URL: <u>https://nei.nih.gov/health/</u> <u>diabetic/retinopathy</u> [accessed 2017-01-15] [WebCite Cache ID 6nXhJNAQ4]
- 3. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Vision Health Initiative (VHI) Report. 2015. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/visionhealth/publications/diabetic_retinopathy.htm</u> [accessed 2017-01-15] [WebCite Cache ID 6nXhvNxGI]
- 4. Kennedy L, Mehl TD, Elder E, Varghese M, Merimee TJ. Nonenzymatic glycosylation of serum and plasma proteins. Diabetes 1982 Jun 01;31(Supplement_3):52-56. [doi: <u>10.2337/diab.31.3.852</u>]
- 5. Bunn HF. Nonenzymatic glycosylation of protein: relevance to diabetes. Am J Med 1981 Feb;70(2):325-330. [Medline: 7468617]
- Baynes JW. Role of oxidative stress in development of complications in diabetes. Diabetes 1991 Apr;40(4):405-412. [Medline: <u>2010041</u>]
- 7. Barbosa JH, Oliveira SL, Seara LT. The role of advanced glycation end-products (AGEs) in the development of vascular diabetic complications. Arq Bras Endocrinol Metabol 2008 Aug;52(6):940-950. [Medline: <u>18820805</u>]
- 8. Takenaka K, Yamagishi S, Matsui T, Nakamura K, Imaizumi T. Role of advanced glycation end products (AGEs) in thrombogenic abnormalities in diabetes. Curr Neurovasc Res 2006 Feb;3(1):73-77. [Medline: <u>16472128</u>]
- 9. Cohen RA, Hennekens CH, Christen WG, Krolewski A, Nathan DM, Peterson MJ, et al. Determinants of retinopathy progression in type 1 diabetes mellitus. Am J Med 1999 Jul;107(1):45-51. [Medline: <u>10403352</u>]
- Evans JR, Michelessi M, Virgili G. Laser photocoagulation for proliferative diabetic retinopathy. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2014 Nov 24;11:CD006127. [doi: <u>10.1002/14651858.CD011234.pub2</u>] [Medline: <u>25420029</u>]
- 11. Fong DS, Girach A, Boney A. Visual side effects of successful scatter laser photocoagulation surgery for proliferative diabetic retinopathy: a literature review. Retina 2007 Sep;27(7):816-824. [Medline: <u>17891003</u>]
- 12. Do DV, Wang X, Vedula SS, Marrone M, Sleilati G, Hawkins BS, et al. Blood pressure control for diabetic retinopathy. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2015 Jan 31;1:CD006127 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD006127.pub2] [Medline: 25637717]
- Fullerton B, Jeitler K, Seitz M, Horvath K, Berghold A, Siebenhofer A. Intensive glucose control versus conventional glucose control for type 1 diabetes mellitus. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2014 Feb 14;2:CD009122. [doi: <u>10.1002/14651858.CD009122.pub2</u>] [Medline: <u>24526393</u>]
- 14. Modjtahedi BS, Bose N, Papakostas TD, Morse L, Vavvas DG, Kishan AU. Lipids and diabetic retinopathy. Semin Ophthalmol 2016;31(1-2):10-18. [doi: 10.3109/08820538.2015.1114869] [Medline: 26959124]

- Klein BE, Myers CE, Howard KP, Klein R. Serum lipids and proliferative diabetic retinopathy and macular edema in persons with long-term type 1 diabetes mellitus: the Wisconsin epidemiologic study of diabetic retinopathy. JAMA Ophthalmol 2015 May;133(5):503-510 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamaophthalmol.2014.5108] [Medline: 25502808]
- 16. King RC, Dobree JH, Kok D, Foulds WS, Dangerfield WG. Exudative diabetic retinopathy. Spontaneous changes and effects of a corn oil diet. Br J Ophthalmol 1963 Nov;47:666-672. [Medline: <u>14211666</u>]
- 17. Houtsmuller AJ, Zahn KJ, Henkes HE. Unsaturated fats and progression of diabetic retinopathy. Doc Ophthalmol 1980 Apr 15;48(2):363-371. [Medline: <u>6995054</u>]
- 18. Howard-Williams J, Patel P, Jelfs R, Carter RD, Awdry P, Bron A, et al. Polyunsaturated fatty acids and diabetic retinopathy. Br J Ophthalmol 1985 Jan;69(1):15-18 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>3965024</u>]
- 19. Duncan LJ, Cullen JF, Ireland JT, Nolan J, Clarke BF, Oliver MF. A three-year trial of atromid therapy in exudative diabetic retinopathy. Diabetes 1968 Jul;17(7):458-467. [Medline: <u>4875170</u>]
- 20. Harrold BP, Marmion VJ, Gough KR. A double-blind controlled trial of clofibrate in the treatment of diabetic retinopathy. Diabetes 1969 May;18(5):285-291. [Medline: <u>4894161</u>]
- 21. Cullen JF, Town SM, Campbell CJ. Double-blind trial of Atromid-S in exudative diabetic retinopathy. Trans Ophthalmol Soc UK 1974 Jul;94(2):554-562. [Medline: <u>4619857</u>]
- 22. Action to Control Cardiovascular Risk in Diabetes Follow-On (ACCORDION) Eye Study Groupthe Action to Control Cardiovascular Risk in Diabetes Follow-On (ACCORDION) Study Group. Persistent effects of intensive glycemic control on retinopathy in type 2 diabetes in the Action to Control Cardiovascular Risk in Diabetes (ACCORD) follow-on study. Diabetes Care 2016 Jul;39(7):1089-1100. [doi: 10.2337/dc16-0024] [Medline: 27289122]
- Keech AC, Mitchell P, Summanen PA, O'Day J, Davis TM, Moffitt MS, et al. Effect of fenofibrate on the need for laser treatment for diabetic retinopathy (FIELD study): a randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2007 Nov 17;370(9600):1687-1697. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(07)61607-9] [Medline: 17988728]
- 24. Higgins JP, Green S. Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 5.1.0.: The Cochrane Collaboration; 2011. URL: <u>http://handbook.cochrane.org/</u> [accessed 2017-01-15] [WebCite Cache ID 6nXifMAM6]
- 25. Moher D, Shamseer L, Clarke M, Ghersi D, Liberati A, Petticrew M, PRISMA-P group. Preferred reporting items for systematic review and meta-analysis protocols (PRISMA-P) 2015 statement. Syst Rev 2015 Jan;4:1 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/2046-4053-4-1] [Medline: 25554246]
- 26. [No authors listed]. Early treatment diabetic retinopathy study design and baseline patient characteristics. ETDRS report number 7. Ophthalmology 1991 May;98(5 Suppl):741-756. [Medline: 2062510]
- 27. Wilkinson CP, Ferris FL, Klein RE, Lee PP, Agardh CD, Davis M, Global Diabetic Retinopathy Project Group. Proposed international clinical diabetic retinopathy and diabetic macular edema disease severity scales. Ophthalmology 2003 Sep;110(9):1677-1682. [doi: 10.1016/S0161-6420(03)00475-5] [Medline: 13129861]
- 28. Chandler J, Churchill R, Higgins J, Lasserson T, Tovey D. Methodological standards for the conduct of new Cochrane Intervention Reviews. 2013. URL: <u>http://editorial-unit.cochrane.org/sites/editorial-unit.cochrane.org/files/public/uploads/</u> <u>MECIR_conduct_standards%202.3%2002122013_0.pdf</u> [accessed 2017-01-15] [WebCite Cache ID 6nXiw1wtO]
- 29. Higgins JP, Altman DG, Sterne JA. Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 5.1.0.: The Cochrane Collaboration; 2011. Assessing risk of bias in included studies URL: <u>http://handbook.cochrane.org/</u> [accessed 2017-01-15] [WebCite Cache ID 6nXifMAM6]
- Deeks JJ, Higgins JP, Altman DG. Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 5.1.0.: The Cochrane Collaboration; 2011. Analysing data and undertaking meta-analyses URL: <u>http://handbook.cochrane.org/</u>[accessed 2017-01-15] [WebCite Cache ID 6nXifMAM6]
- 31. Schünemann HJ, Oxman AD, Vist GE, Higgins JP, Deeks JJ, Glasziou P, et al. Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 5.1.0.: The Cochrane Collaboration; 2011. Interpreting results and drawing conclusions URL: http://handbook.cochrane.org/ [accessed 2017-01-15] [WebCite Cache ID 6nXifMAM6]

Abbreviations

ACCORD: Action to Control Cardiovascular Risk in Diabetes AGE: advanced glycosylation end products DR: diabetic retinopathy ETDRS: Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study HDL: high density lipoprotein PRISMA: Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis Protocols RCT: randomized controlled trial SoF: summary of findings



PMID:28228373

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 14.09.16; peer-reviewed by J Evans, S Ramachandran; comments to author 03.12.16; revised version received 15.01.17; accepted 21.01.17; published 22.02.17.

<u>Please cite as:</u>
Mozetic V, Freitas CG, Riera R
Statins and Fibrates for Diabetic Retinopathy: Protocol for a Systematic Review
JMIR Res Protoc 2017;6(2):e30
URL: http://www.researchprotocols.org/2017/2/e30/
doi:10.2196/resprot.6650

©Vania Mozetic, Carolina Gomes Freitas, Rachel Riera. Originally published in JMIR Research Protocols (http://www.researchprotocols.org), 22.02.2017. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Research Protocols, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.researchprotocols.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Protocol

Rationale and Design of a Genetic Study on Cardiometabolic Risk Factors: Protocol for the Tehran Cardiometabolic Genetic Study (TCGS)

Maryam S Daneshpour^{1*}, PhD; Mohammad-Sadegh Fallah^{1*}, MD, PhD; Bahareh Sedaghati-Khayat^{1*}, MSc; Kamran Guity^{1*}, MSc; Davood Khalili², MD, PhD; Mehdi Hedayati¹, PhD; Ahmad Ebrahimi¹, PhD; Farhad Hajsheikholeslami², MD; Parvin Mirmiran³, PhD; Fahimeh Ramezani Tehrani⁴, MD; Amir-Abbas Momenan², MD; Arash Ghanbarian², MD; Atieh Amouzegar⁵, MD; Parisa Amiri⁶, PhD; Fereidoun Azizi^{5*}, MD

⁶Research Center For Social Determinants Of Endocrine Health, Research Institute For Endocrine Sciences, Shahid Beheshti University Of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Islamic Republic Of Iran

*these authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Fereidoun Azizi, MD Endocrine Research Center Research Institute for Endocrine Sciences Shahid Beheshti University of Medical Sciences No.24 Arabi street- Yemen street (Velenjak) Tehran, Islamic Republic Of Iran Phone: 98 2122432500 Fax: 98 2122416264 Email: azizi@endocrine.ac.ir

Abstract

Background: Cardiometabolic risk factors comprise cardiovascular diseases and/or diabetes, and need to be evaluated in different fields.

Objective: The primary aim of the Tehran Cardiometabolic Genetic Study (TCGS) is to create a comprehensive genome-wide database of at least 16,000 Tehranians, who are participants of the ongoing Tehran Lipid and Glucose Study (TLGS) cohort.

Methods: TCGS was designed in collaboration with the Research Institute for Endocrine Sciences and the genetic company deCODE. Participants had already been followed for over a 20-year period for major cardiometabolic-related health events including myocardial infarction, stroke, diabetes mellitus, hypertension, obesity, hyperlipidemia, and familial hypercholesterolemia.

Results: The TCGS cohort described here comprises 17,186 (86.3%) of the 19,905 TLGS participants who provided a baseline blood sample that was adequate for plasma and deoxyribonucleic acid analysis. This study is comprised of 849 individuals and 3109 families with at least one member having genotype information. Finally, 5977 males and 7422 females with the total genotyping rate of 0.9854 were genotyped with HumanOmniExpress-24-v1-0 bead chips (containing 649,932 single-nucleotide polymorphism loci with an average mean distance of 4 kilobases).

Conclusions: Investigations conducted within the TCGS will seek to identify relevant patterns of genetic polymorphisms that could be related to cardiometabolic risk factors in participants from Tehran. By linking genome-wide data to the existing databank

¹Cellular and Molecular Endocrine Research Center, Research Institute for Endocrine Sciences, Shahid Beheshti University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Islamic Republic Of Iran

²Prevention Of Metabolic Disorders Research Center, Research Institute For Endocrine Sciences, Shahid Beheshti University Of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Islamic Republic Of Iran

³Nutrition And Endocrine Research Center, Research Institute For Endocrine Sciences, Shahid Beheshti University Of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Islamic Republic Of Iran

⁴Reproductive Endocrinology Research Center, Research Institute For Endocrine Sciences, Shahid Beheshti University Of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Islamic Republic Of Iran

⁵Endocrine Research Center, Research Institute for Endocrine Sciences, Shahid Beheshti University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Islamic Republic Of Iran

of TLGS participants, which includes comprehensive behavioral, biochemical, and clinical data on each participant since cohort inception in 1999, the TCGS will also allow exploration of gene-gene and gene-environment interactions as they relate to disease status.

(JMIR Res Protoc 2017;6(2):e28) doi:10.2196/resprot.6050

KEYWORDS

cardiometabolic disorders; cardiovascular; genetic; genome-wide association study

Introduction

Noncommunicable Diseases and Their Health Burden

A noncommunicable disease (NCD) is a medical condition or disease that can be defined as nontransmissible among people. NCDs refer to chronic diseases or conditions in which progression is slow and may last for a long period, or may be lifelong. NCDs, being life threatening conditions, drain economic resources, increase mortality and morbidity in society, and have negative effects on development and economic growth [1]. Claiming 63% of all deaths worldwide, these diseases are currently the world's most common killer [2], and 80% of these deaths now occur in low- and middle-income countries [3]. This finding also shows that half of those who die of chronic NCDs are in the prime of their productive years, and thus the disability imposed and the lives lost are also endangering industrial competitiveness across borders [3]. Therefore, managing and preventing NCDs are national priorities for several countries, as well as the World Health Organization [4].

The term cardiometabolic is intended to cover cardiovascular and metabolic diseases including diabetes, obesity-related traits, and biomarkers known to be associated with the risk of cardiovascular disease [5,6]. Genetically predisposed individuals have inherent risks independent of environmental factors. Nevertheless, at-risk individuals can adopt healthy lifestyles so that other factors do not augment their risk for the disease. Genetic susceptibility implies an increased likelihood for an individual developing a particular disease, based on his/her genetic makeup. Such predisposition results from specific genetic variations that are often inherited from an individual's parents [7]. Accumulating evidence supports the role of genetic changes in major NCDs including cancer, diabetes, cardiovascular diseases, mental health, and asthma [8].

With advances in our understanding of the genetic basis of human disease, it has become apparent that the underlying causes of many chronic disorders are multifactorial and involve the complex interplay between acquired and inherited risk factors [9,10]. In most cases copresence or interactions between several molecular changes across the genomic landscape will work together to make one prone or resistant to a given condition. With the advent of genome-wide scanning technologies, it is now possible to obtain information on most of the common genetic variations in individual patients. Obtaining this genome-wide information in well-characterized patient groups (with or without risks for disease) is a critical step in moving toward a genome-based practice of medicine that not only provides insights into the root causes of disease, but also forms the basis for discovery of new and specific targets for drug therapies. Genome-based medicine may also fulfill the

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2017/2/e28/

promise of personalized medicine and provide the means to implement patient-specific preventive programs years in advance of clinical symptoms [11,12].

A favored analytic approach for such discovery is the genome-wide association study (GWAS), in which genetic variation across the human genome is compared between patients with different disease states or different risk-factor profiles. Success in GWAS requires a comprehensive knowledge of genome-wide variation and linkage disequilibrium patterns, the availability of dense genotyping chip sets containing several hundred thousand single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs), and the availability of large, well-phenotyped patient populations [13].

A potentially more powerful approach than GWAS is the large-scale prospective cohort study, in which initially healthy individuals are followed over long periods of time and assessed for disease development, and all members of the cohort undergo comprehensive genotyping. Such prospective cohort studies have the advantage of avoiding bias in the selection of case and control subjects, and enable simultaneous evaluation of many environmental exposures and potential disease states in an epidemiologically efficient manner. In the present study, we aimed to analyze the genomic chip type of all Tehran Cardiometabolic Genetic Study (TCGS) participants to estimate the genetic pattern of this population. After deep sequencing to generate the Iranian reference panel, the imputation will be performed for each trait, and associations will be analyzed.

Knowledge Gap

We aimed to undertake a GWAS to evaluate genetic patterns for cardiometabolic risk factors in a Tehranian population, and compare these patterns to other reference genetic databases. This is one of the first studies of its kind in the Middle East, and addresses the knowledge gap on allele frequencies, genetic associations, and the role of consanguineous marriage among Iranian families.

Methods

Objectives and Study Variables

The primary objectives of this study are: (1) to measure and analyze deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) sequence variations from across the Tehranian human genome, in an effort to identify genetic patterns for cardiometabolic risk factors in the population; and (2) to conduct a GWAS to identify genetic variants that are associated with cardiometabolic disorders, use genetic risk factors to predict those at risk, and identify the biological underpinnings of cardiometabolic disease susceptibility to develop new prevention and treatment

XSL•FO RenderX

strategies. The secondary objectives of this study are: (1) to determine inheritable genetic risk factors among families of the TCGS with heritability analyses; and (2) to compare the different genetic patterns that contribute to cardiometabolic outcomes among this population, in different case and control groups.

Overall Study Design

The TCGS is a prospective family-based GWAS cohort that has been followed since 1999 within the Tehran Lipid and Glucose Study (TLGS), which includes over 15,000 initially healthy subjects >3 years old, who have already been followed for more than 20 years. Participants have been followed for the development of common disorders such as myocardial infarction, stroke, diabetes mellitus, hypertension, obesity, familial hypercholesterolemia, hyperlipidemia, habitation (eg, smoking and physical activity), and biochemical factors (ie, high cholesterol, low high-density lipoproteins, high triglycerides).

The concept of designing a genomic bank from TLGS samples was first presented to the Endocrine Research Center (ERC) and the Iranian molecular medicine network, and was funded by FA and MSD (grant number 147, 2004; grant number 265, 2008). In 2008, a project determining pedigrees according to genetic relationships was funded by ERC (grant number 321), with MSD and AAM as principal investigators. Funding of the main study began in June 2012 with an agreement between the Research Institute for Endocrine Sciences (RIES) and the deCODE genetic company (Reykjavik, Iceland), with FA and MSD as primary investigators. The final protocol for the genetic study was written by FA, MSD, MSF, and DK, and was submitted to the Ministry of Health and Medical Education in

Figure 1. Cohort participation and gender distribution of the study phases.

August 2012. The protocol was approved by the National Committee for Ethics in Biomedical Research in December 2012.

In this paper, we describe the TCGS (and its parent TLGS) from the perspectives of cohort assembly, follow-up, endpoint validation, baseline plasma phenotyping, DNA extraction, genotyping, participant confidentiality, power, and sample size, and discuss the TCGS in the context of other ongoing GWASs being performed in related areas. The study is organized into 5 phases: (1) cohort assembly and prospective follow-up, (2) genomic sample extraction, (3) phenotype and outcome gathering, (4) chip typing and genotype analysis, and (5) drawing family trees.

Cohort Assembly and Prospective Follow-Up

All members of the TCGS cohort were participants in the TLGS who had provided an adequate baseline blood sample for plasma and DNA analysis, and had given written consent for blood-based analyses and long-term follow-up. The TLGS is a long-term integrated community-based program for the prevention of NCDs by developing of a healthy lifestyle and reducing NCD risk factors. The study began in 1999, and will be continued for at least 20 years. A primary survey was performed to collect baseline data for 15,005 Iranian individuals born between 1912 and 2008, and was selected from cohorts at three medical heath centers [14]. The study designs for TLGS and TCGS were approved by the Institutional Review Board of the RIES, Shahid Beheshti University of Medical Sciences, and all participants provided written informed consent for genetic analyses. The presence of participants in each phase of study shown in Figure 1.



■ Total ■ Male ■ Female ■ New Participants

RenderX

Genomic Sample Extraction

At the TLGS sample collection center, a blood sample was drawn into vacationer tubes from all study participants, between 7:00 and 9:00 a.m. after 12-14 hours of overnight fasting. Two blood samples were taken in a sitting position per standard protocol. The blood collected in ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid-containing test tubes was used to obtain DNA samples, which were immediately sent to the genomic laboratory. All TLGS samples were recoded as a genomic sample that connected to the TLGS code in a database. DNA samples were extracted from buffy-coat samples from each participant using a proteinase K/salting out standard method [15]. The quality and quantity of extracted DNA were evaluated. A Thermo Scientific NanoDrop 1000 Spectrophotometer was used to qualify samples, which were aliquoted into 1.5 milliliter tubes and stored in -80°C ultra-freezers for future studies.

Phenotype and Outcome Gathering

A broad range of epidemiologic data related to behavioral, dietary, and environmental risk exposures were received from TLGS as a parent study to TCGS. Each TCGS participant also provided a baseline blood sample that had already been evaluated for multiple disease biomarkers, including total cholesterol, high-density lipoprotein-C, low-density lipoprotein-C, triglycerides, fasting plasma glucose, fasting insulin, and creatinine. Individuals with genomic samples that had full familial information will be included in the TCGS, and cardiometabolic risk factors will be measured and defined in this dataset. The specified families with multiple signs of these risk factors will be followed-up.

Chip Typing and Genotype Analysis

Portions of DNA samples were genotyped with HumanOmniExpress-24-v1-0 bead chips (containing 649,932 SNP loci with an average mean distance of 4 kilobases) at the deCODE genetics company (Reykjavik, Iceland) according the manufacturer's specifications (Illumina Inc., San Diego, CA).

Drawing Family Trees

At this step, TCGS focuses on drawing all genetic relationships. On the initial day of examination, the TLGS participants were interviewed to obtain demographic data and relationship information, or update existing data. Genealogy data was drawn in Genepro (V 2.0.1.6) and checked by Family-Based Association Tests (FBAT-Toolkid V 1.7.3) [16]. Family data, pedigree information, phenotype, and genotype data were stored, manipulated, and error-checked using the genetic data management system (Progeny Clinical Version 7) from Progeny Software (Progeny Software LLC, Delray Beach, FL). The name of the father was checked for all individuals, and if duplicate names were identified their genetic relationship was checked with their genotype information. If the genetic relationship was confirmed with genotype information, the family tree joint was merged to generate a mega family.

Genetic Association

The present study aims to genotype TLGS participants. Genotyping will be based on a standard SNP array platform suitable for performing a GWAS comprising tag SNPs from all

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2017/2/e28/

three HapMap phases, and has been strategically selected to capture the greatest amount of common variation and drive the discovery of novel associations with traits and diseases. Incidence rates of cardiometabolic risk factors (ie, diabetes mellitus, angina pectoris, myocardial infarction, hypertension) will be estimated, and adjusted for age and sex. Other variables, such as education level, physical activity, smoking habits, nutritional habits, and drug use will be use as covariables. Relative risks for different factors and their 95% CIs will be reported. Longitudinal linkage analyses will be performed for families, and selected genetic regions will be examining via association analyses. By using common genetic polymorphisms with well-understood effects on exposure patterns, a causal effect from observational data in the presence of confounding factors will be estimated by Mendelian randomization. The most important phenotypes in this project are cardiometabolic risk factors, including diabetes, cardiovascular disease, obesity, and metabolic syndrome. All phenotypes will be analyzed using a case-control and familial based design, and the related genetic regions will be analyzed and replicated in other populations. An Iranian reference panel will be designed and imputed based on a reference panel that will be performed to obtain information about a higher number of variants.

Multifactoriality is expected to play a pivotal role, and this study is currently focused on collecting information on the genetic environmental factors that potentially influence and cardiometabolic diseases. For the gene-gene and gene-environment interaction analyses, it will be assumed that genetics may influence disease risk either directly or via environment effects. The genetic loci can have either independent or epistatic effects, so the model will be a multilogistic model. However, if nonparametric gene-gene interaction is desired, semiparametric regression and least square kernel machines will be used occasionally.

According to the outcome and phenotype information, different ethnicities, and homozygosity fraction, samples will be selected for whole genome analysis to make an Iranian reference panel in deCODE (Reykjavik, Iceland). After making the reference panel, the genotype data set will be imputed to larger data set.

Epigenetic Analyses

To explore the association between the methylation pattern of cytosine phosphate guanine (CpG) islands in the regulatory regions of determined genes and main outcomes (ie, obesity, cardiovascular diseases), we will examine the methylation alterations in the CpG regions of determined genes among TCGS participants using methylation-specific polymerase chain reaction, bisulfite-sequencing polymerase chain reaction, and epigenome-wide analysis techniques. Identifying epigenetic modifications associated with cardiometabolic risk factors, including DNA methylation variation, may point to genomic pathways that are dysregulated in numerous conditions. The Illumina Bead Chip array will be use to assay DNA methylation in leukocyte DNA obtained from TCGS participants. Mixed-effects regression models will be used to test the association of methylation beta value with cardiometabolic risk factor changes, adjusting for batch effects and potential

confounders. Association analyses of the DNA methylation patterns and TCGS phenotypes will subsequently be performed.

Sample Size and Power

Sample size and power calculation were estimated according to the TLGS [14] criteria, with the total TCGS duration of 20 years. Due to the wide scope of the project and variety of measured variables, different types of analyses will be performed, depending on the type of report, or the variables and outcomes. Continuous data will be expressed as their measures of location and spread in total, and in subgroups. For qualitative and categorized continuous variables, percentages and frequency distributions will be reported.

Normality of distribution of the continuous variables will be examined using histograms, measures of skewness and kurtosis, Kolmogrove-Smirnove tests, and Chi-square tests. When log-transformed values are used, geometric means will be computed. Percentiles will be used to describe the high or low values of the skewed variables. When assumptions of the parametric statistical methods are not met, nonparametric methods of their counterparts will be used. These methods will also be used for analyses of variables that are not originally continuous, such as attitudes or quality of life.

Results

Participant Confidentiality

Participant confidentiality in the TCGS is maintained throughout all aspects of the study, as is the case in the TLGS. Investigators within the TCGS have no access to any direct patient identification information; these data are held confidentially by staff members of the TLGS, who are involved in patient contact and follow-up, but not in any data analysis or interpretation. Separate data files are kept for participants' clinical covariate and endpoint data, plasma phenotyping data, and genomic data. Blood samples sent to the plasma phenotyping laboratory and the genetic laboratories are labeled only with a sample identification number that cannot be tracked by laboratory personnel to any patient identification variables, or to any clinical covariate data. All TCGS data included in the TLGS are maintained on a separate and fully protected computer system that is isolated and distinct from computing systems used for the parent study. A unique and fully distinct participant identification number is used in the TCGS, making direct linkage to the TLGS impossible for scientific investigators.

Participants' DNA Information

Since the establishment of the genomic bank in 2004, some subjects only participated in Phase 1 of the study (1999-2002), and their data has been excluded from this study. The TCGS has a genomic bank with over 16,000 samples. The TCGS cohort described here comprises 17,186 (86.34%) of the 19,905 TLGS participants, who provided baseline blood samples that were adequate for plasma and DNA analyses (Multimedia Appendix 1). This study is comprised of 849 individuals and 3109 families with at least one member who had genotype information.

Familial Information

The pedigrees were drawn (based on questionnaire information) for all biologically related TCGS participants. Total family data of Tehranian residents (consisting of 3109 families) were collected; 849 unrelated persons, adopted persons, childless bride and groom couples, and individuals who lacked information were marked as *independent persons*. The mean pedigree size in the study population was 6.76 (range 3-52). Placeholding individuals were imputed when necessary to reflect kinship relations among participants, and a total of 6158 individuals were added as virtual persons that were recorded by special codes for further tracking. For example, parents who had not participated in the TLGS were added during the drawing of pedigrees to identify sibships in the TCGS.

Demographic, Clinical, and Biochemical Information

Demographic, clinical, and biochemical information of participants (categorized by year) in each period of study are presented in Multimedia Appendix 2 and Multimedia Appendix 3. Most the study population was in the range of 31-50 years old. Phenotype frequencies of hypertension, dyslipidemia, diabetes, obesity, and metabolic syndrome were described in adults, and being overweight was the most frequent among them (Multimedia Appendix 4).

Genotype Quality Control Analysis

PLINK program (V 1.07) and R statistic (V 3.2) were used for quality control procedures. 13,894 samples were arrayed, consisting of 6274 males and 7614 females, with the total genotyping rate of 0.9774.

To increase the power of the analyses, some markers (and some samples) were removed from TCGS database after quality control [17]. In the first step of sample quality control, individuals with discordant sex information were identified. In total, 15,031 X chromosome variants were detected in 397 samples, which were removed from analyses. To evaluate heterozygosity among genotyped samples, plots were drawn and the observed heterozygosity rate per individual was examined to decide reasonable thresholds for excluding individuals based on elevated missing heterozygosity or extreme heterozygosity (Multimedia Appendix 5). In this step, 243 individuals were excluded with a genotype failure rate (>0.03)and/or heterozygosity rate >3 standard deviations from the mean. To eliminate the genetic influence of sample contamination, duplications and cryptic first-degree relative sibling pairs, genome-wide average identity by state (IBS)/identity by descent (IBD) values were calculated for each pair of individuals in the present GWAS data set using pruned SNPs (649,932). To check kinship relationships, IBDs were calculated and all relationships were confirmed.

To find individuals with large-scale differences in ancestry, a principal component analysis was conducted and 47 subjects were removed (Multimedia Appendix 6). For marker quality control, those with a minor allele frequency less than 0.01 (n=24,860) and genotype failure rate less than 0.95 (n=2620) were removed. After excluding markers that did not satisfy the Hardy Weinberg Equilibrium (n=14,032, P<.001), 608,420 remained for analyses. Multimedia Appendix 7 shows the

```
http://www.researchprotocols.org/2017/2/e28/
```

distribution of SNP call rate after the cleaning process. In summary, the clean data set included 13,399 individuals consisting of 5977 males and 7422 females, with 608,420 markers and a total genotyping rate of 0.9854.

Discussion

The genetic findings of this study could help us to understand the genetic pattern of our population and design association studies. The results of the TLGS indicated that the prevalence of cardiometabolic risk factors is speedily increasing in our population, necessitating further investigations for genetic background information to study the interactions between environmental and genetic factors. The incidence of NCDs, especially cardiometabolic diseases, is increasing worldwide due to changes in lifestyle [18], and various countries have investigated their populations using genetic dissection to understand the genetic pattern of these complex disorders. Unfortunately, established health education and lifestyle interventions in American and European populations cannot be implemented in other regions of the world (such as Iran) due to differences in susceptibility, nutrition, social circumstances, and culture.

The TCGS was designed in Iran as a population-based genetic study, and is one of the very first studies of its kind in the Middle East, addressing the knowledge gap on the genetic patterns of the Iranian population. This study will clarify the role of environmental factors in Iran, along with environmental-genetic interactions. Combining the epidemiological findings in TLGS with genetic data has led to the design of Mendelian randomization studies to change some concepts about the interaction of lipid variation and cardiovascular diseases. In addition, this study may clarify missing heritability data and aid in the understanding of NCD-related problems [19].

However, the delineation of shared phenotypes facilitated by GWAS is of great interest, such as the recent insight into the relationship between height and cardiovascular disease [20]. Results of this study will provide a comprehensive understanding of personalized genomic data and could be used to help to governmental organizations use genetic knowledge to promote personalized health care that facilitates the prevention and management of NCDs.

Strengths and Weaknesses

This study was based on a national project that selected a representative sample of residents in district-13 of Tehran, the capital of Iran. The project included detailed information on individuals, households, and family relationships (along with environmental, biomedical, and biochemical factors that could be linked to the rate of NCDs) to create a cohort of the entire population residing in Tehran. We recently reviewed the literature in this field, and to our knowledge the present study is the first population-based cohort study for cardiometabolic genetic risk factors in Iran.

In the TCGS, data have been thoroughly and robustly collected on a wide range of clinical parameters, focusing on quantitative traits that are well established as risk factors for cardiometabolic disease. This cohort includes substantial numbers that represent the full adult spectrum of ages, lifestyles, and demography, and includes important phenotypes and quantitative traits to allow population-based genetic and epidemiological research on many important diseases/risks related to NCDs. The family-based approach of the TCGS enables the study to take a flexible approach to gene discovery, encompassing association and linkage approaches, and gives the potential to study aspects such as heritability of disease-related traits and parent-of-origin effects. The combination of linkage and association approaches has proven very effective in studies of various diseases/disease traits [21].

Data in this study can be linked anonymously to routinely collected samples from different cohorts in Iran. This linkage effectively converts this longitudinal study into a national study, with pluripotential outcomes. The TCGS can contribute as a major partner to GWAS meta-analysis consortia, enabling the study of SNPs of low minor allele frequency (1-10%). The TCGS is one of the largest family-based genetic epidemiology studies in Iran and the Middle East.

Although the family-based nature of the cohort is an important strength of this study, providing an efficient strategy for DNA sequence-based studies, relatedness of cohort members will be a confounding factor in some analyses, and may require statistical adjustment. The other weakness of the study is related to the Tehranian nature of the population, rather than a comprehensive Iranian cohort.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to express their gratitude to the patients participating in the TLGS. Special thanks to the deCODE genetic company for performing the genetic screening. This study was funded by the RIES, Shahid Beheshti University of Medical Sciences (Tehran, Iran) and recognizes the scientific support of deCODE (Reykjavik, Iceland). The Iranian Molecular Medicine Network supported the genomic bank.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.



Multimedia Appendix 1

Phases of the Tehran Lipid and Glucose Study (duration and number of participants) from 1999 to 2014. Horizontal arrows show the number of people entering and exiting in each phase. Vertical lines show the number of the individuals moving between phases.

[JPG File, 90KB - resprot_v6i2e28_app1.jpg]

Multimedia Appendix 2

Demographic and laboratory information for children and young Tehran Cardiometabolic Genetic Study participants.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 37KB - resprot_v6i2e28_app2.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 3

Demographic and laboratory information for adults and the elderly among Tehran Cardiometabolic Genetic Study participants.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 41KB - resprot_v6i2e28_app3.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 4

Phenotype frequency among adult Tehran Cardiometabolic Genetic Study participants.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 26KB - resprot_v6i2e28_app4.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 5

Genotype failure rate versus heterozygosity across all individuals in the study. The vertical dashed line shows all individuals with a genotype failure rate >0.03 who were excluded, and the horizontal dashed lines represent a heterozygosity rate 3 standard deviations from the mean.

[PNG File, 92KB - resprot_v6i2e28_app5.png]

Multimedia Appendix 6

PCAAncestry clustering based on genome-wide association data.

[PNG File, 30KB - resprot_v6i2e28_app6.png]

Multimedia Appendix 7

Histogram of missing data rate across all individuals passing per-individual quality control. SNP: single-nucleotide polymorphism; K: thousand.

[PNG File, 39KB - resprot_v6i2e28_app7.png]

Multimedia Appendix 8

Peer review report of the grant reviewers.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 35KB - resprot_v6i2e28_app8.pdf]

References

RenderX

- Beishuizen CR, Stephan BC, van Gool WA, Brayne C, Peters RJ, Andrieu S, et al. Web-based interventions targeting cardiovascular risk factors in middle-aged and older people: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Med Internet Res 2016 Mar 11;18(3):e55 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5218] [Medline: 26968879]
- Mishra SR, Neupane D, Preen D, Kallestrup P, Perry HB. Mitigation of non-communicable diseases in developing countries with community health workers. Global Health 2015 Nov 10;11:43 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12992-015-0129-5] [Medline: 26555199]
- Islam SM, Purnat TD, Phuong NT, Mwingira U, Schacht K, Fröschl G. Non-communicable diseases (NCDs) in developing countries: a symposium report. Global Health 2014 Dec 11;10:81 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12992-014-0081-9] [Medline: 25498459]
- World Health Organization. Global action plan for the prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases 2013-2020. Geneva; 2013. URL: <u>http://www.who.int/nmh/events/ncd_action_plan/en/</u> [accessed 2017-01-26] [WebCite Cache ID <u>6nna5QJoi</u>]

- 5. Fox CS, Golden SH, Anderson C, Bray GA, Burke LE, de Boer IH, American Heart Association Diabetes Committee of the Council on LifestyleCardiometabolic Health, Council on Clinical Cardiology, Council on CardiovascularStroke Nursing, Council on Cardiovascular SurgeryAnesthesia, Council on Quality of CareOutcomes Research, the American Diabetes Association. Update on prevention of cardiovascular disease in adults with type 2 diabetes mellitus in light of recent evidence: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association and the American Diabetes Association. Circulation 2015 Aug 25;132(8):691-718 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1161/CIR.000000000000230] [Medline: 26246173]
- Sperling LS, Mechanick JI, Neeland IJ, Herrick CJ, Després J, Ndumele CE, et al. The CardioMetabolic Health Alliance: working toward a new care model for the metabolic syndrome. J Am Coll Cardiol 2015 Sep 1;66(9):1050-1067. [doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2015.06.1328] [Medline: 26314534]
- Ali O, Cerjak D, Kent JW, James R, Blangero J, Zhang Y. Obesity, central adiposity and cardiometabolic risk factors in children and adolescents: a family-based study. Pediatr Obes 2014 Jun;9(3):e58-e62 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.2047-6310.2014.218.x] [Medline: 24677702]
- 8. Whitfield JB. Genetic insights into cardiometabolic risk factors. Clin Biochem Rev 2014 Feb;35(1):15-36 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 24659834]
- 9. International HapMap Consortium. A haplotype map of the human genome. Nature 2005 Oct 27;437(7063):1299-1320 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/nature04226] [Medline: 16255080]
- LeBlanc M, Zuber V, Andreassen B, Witoelar A, Zeng L, Bettella F, CARDIoGRAM Consortium, et al. Identifying novel gene variants in coronary artery disease and shared genes with several cardiovascular risk factors. Circ Res 2016 Jan 08;118(1):83-94 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.115.306629] [Medline: 26487741]
- Tang JD, Perkins A, Williams WP, Warburton ML. Using genome-wide associations to identify metabolic pathways involved in maize aflatoxin accumulation resistance. BMC Genomics 2015 Sep 03;16:673 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12864-015-1874-9] [Medline: 26334534]
- 12. American Diabetes Association. Standards of medical care in diabetes--2013. Diabetes Care 2013 Jan;36 Suppl 1:S11-S66 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2337/dc13-S011] [Medline: 23264422]
- 13. Baumgartel K, Zelazny J, Timcheck T, Snyder C, Bell M, Conley YP. Molecular genomic research designs. Annu Rev Nurs Res 2011;29:1-26 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 22891496]
- Azizi F, Ghanbarian A, Momenan AA, Hadaegh F, Mirmiran P, Hedayati M, Tehran Lipid and Glucose Study Group. Prevention of non-communicable disease in a population in nutrition transition: Tehran Lipid and Glucose Study phase II. Trials 2009;10:5 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1745-6215-10-5] [Medline: 19166627]
- 15. Truett GE, Heeger P, Mynatt RL, Truett AA, Walker JA, Warman ML. Preparation of PCR-quality mouse genomic DNA with hot sodium hydroxide and tris (HotSHOT). Biotechniques 2000 Jul;29(1):52, 54. [Medline: <u>10907076</u>]
- 16. Horvath S, Xu X, Lake SL, Silverman EK, Weiss ST, Laird NM. Family-based tests for associating haplotypes with general phenotype data: application to asthma genetics. Genet Epidemiol 2004 Jan;26(1):61-69. [doi: 10.1002/gepi.10295] [Medline: 14691957]
- Anderson CA, Pettersson FH, Clarke GM, Cardon LR, Morris AP, Zondervan KT. Data quality control in genetic case-control association studies. Nat Protoc 2010 Sep;5(9):1564-1573 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/nprot.2010.116] [Medline: 21085122]
- Watson S, Woodside JV, Ware LJ, Hunter SJ, McGrath A, Cardwell CR, et al. Effect of a web-based behavior change program on weight loss and cardiovascular risk factors in overweight and obese adults at high risk of developing cardiovascular disease: randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2015;17(7):e177 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3828] [Medline: 26183659]
- 19. Atanasovska B, Kumar V, Fu J, Wijmenga C, Hofker MH. GWAS as a driver of gene discovery in cardiometabolic diseases. Trends Endocrinol Metab 2015 Dec;26(12):722-732. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.tem.2015.10.004</u>] [Medline: <u>26596674</u>]
- Nelson CP, Hamby SE, Saleheen D, Hopewell JC, Zeng L, Assimes TL, CARDIoGRAM+C4D Consortium. Genetically determined height and coronary artery disease. N Engl J Med 2015 Apr 23;372(17):1608-1618 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1404881] [Medline: 25853659]
- Assimes TL, Roberts R. Genetics: implications for prevention and management of coronary artery disease. J Am Coll Cardiol 2016 Dec 27;68(25):2797-2818. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jacc.2016.10.039</u>] [Medline: <u>28007143</u>]

Abbreviations

RenderX

CpG: cytosine phosphate guanine DNA: deoxyribonucleic acid ERC: Endocrine Research Center GWAS: genome-wide association study IBD: identity by descent NCD: noncommunicable disease RIES: Research Institute for Endocrine Sciences SNP: single-nucleotide polymorphism

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2017/2/e28/

TCGS: Tehran Cardiometabolic Genetic Study **TLGS:** Tehran Lipid and Glucose Study

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 04.06.16; peer-reviewed by MH Black, S Theriault; comments to author 23.08.16; revised version received 20.09.16; accepted 09.01.17; published 23.02.17.

Please cite as:

Daneshpour MS, Fallah MS, Sedaghati-Khayat B, Guity K, Khalili D, Hedayati M, Ebrahimi A, Hajsheikholeslami F, Mirmiran P, Ramezani Tehrani F, Momenan AA, Ghanbarian A, Amouzegar A, Amiri P, Azizi F Rationale and Design of a Genetic Study on Cardiometabolic Risk Factors: Protocol for the Tehran Cardiometabolic Genetic Study (TCGS) JMIR Res Protoc 2017;6(2):e28 URL: http://www.researchprotocols.org/2017/2/e28/ doi:10.2196/resprot.6050 PMID:28232301

©Maryam S Daneshpour, Mohammad-Sadegh Fallah, Bahareh Sedaghati-Khayat, Kamran Guity, Davood Khalili, Mehdi Hedayati, Ahmad Ebrahimi, Farhad Hajsheikholeslami, Parvin Mirmiran, Fahimeh Ramezani Tehrani, Amir-Abbas Momenan, Arash Ghanbarian, Atieh Amouzegar, Parisa Amiri, Fereidoun Azizi. Originally published in JMIR Research Protocols (http://www.researchprotocols.org), 23.02.2017. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Research Protocols, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.researchprotocols.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Protocol

Feasibility of Implementing a Patient-Centered Postoperative Wound Monitoring Program Using Smartphone Images: A Pilot Protocol

Sara Fernandes-Taylor^{1*}, PhD; Rebecca L Gunter^{1*}, MD; Kyla M Bennett^{1*}, MD; Lola Awoyinka^{1*}, MPH; Shahrose Rahman^{1*}, BS; Caprice C Greenberg^{1*}, MPH, MD; K Craig Kent^{1*}, MD

Wisconsin Surgical Outcomes Research Program, University of Wisconsin, Madison, WI, United States ^{*}all authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Rebecca L Gunter, MD Wisconsin Surgical Outcomes Research Program University of Wisconsin 600 Highland Ave Madison, WI, United States Phone: 1 608 265 3268 Fax: 1 608 263 2354 Email: rgunter@uwhealth.org

Abstract

Background: Surgical site infections (SSI) represent a significant public health problem as the most common nosocomial infection and a leading cause of unplanned hospital readmissions among surgical patients. Many develop following hospital discharge and often go unrecognized by patients. Telemedicine offers the opportunity to leverage the mobile technology to remotely monitor wound recovery in the transitional period between hospital discharge and routine clinic follow-up. However, many existing telemedicine platforms are episodic, replacing routine follow-up, rather than equipped for continued monitoring; they include only low-risk patient populations and those who already have access to and comfort with the necessary technology; and transmit no visual information.

Objective: Drawing upon the Coleman model for care transitions and the Proctor model for implementation, we propose a protocol of postoperative wound monitoring using smartphone digital images. In this study, we will establish the feasibility of such a program, both for patients and for the clinical care team.

Methods: We will recruit 40 patients or patient/caregiver pairs from our inpatient vascular surgery service. Eligible patients will be English-speaking, 18 years of age or older, and have an incision at least 3 cm in length. Participants will receive a training session, during which they will learn to use the device and the wound monitoring smartphone app. Following hospital discharge, they will submit digital images of their wound and responses to a survey about their recovery for 14 days. Experienced health care providers on the vascular surgery inpatient service will review transmitted data daily and contact patients for any concerning findings.

Results: Primary outcomes will include participant adherence to the protocol, time required for providers to review submissions, time from submission to provider review, and participant satisfaction. Secondary outcomes will include SSI detection and hospital readmission.

Conclusions: Health systems are increasingly dedicating efforts to transitional care improvement programs. This feasibility trial will confirm whether patients and their caregivers can learn to use a postdischarge wound monitoring smartphone app and will assess patient and provider satisfaction. This protocol will provide preliminary evidence for a shift in the delivery of postdischarge care in a patient-centered and cost-effective manner.

Trial Registration: Clinicaltrials.gov NCT02735525; https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02735525 (Archived by WebCite at http://www.webcitation.org/60IvN4Mab)

(JMIR Res Protoc 2017;6(2):e26) doi:10.2196/resprot.6819

RenderX

KEYWORDS

telemedicine; smartphone; surgical site infection; transitional care; feasibility study; clinical research protocol

Introduction

Background

Surgical site infection (SSI) represents a significant public health problem as the most common nosocomial infection and the leading cause of unplanned hospital readmissions among surgical patients [1-4]. SSI can be intractable because up to 84% develop in the critical interval between hospital discharge and routine follow-up [1,5]. Moreover, since the majority of patients have little experience caring for a surgical wound, they rarely recognize early stage wound infections and often present with an advanced infection that requires rehospitalization [6,7]. Conversely, SSI diagnosed at an early stage can be treated in the outpatient setting with oral antibiotics and wound care, precluding the need for readmission, intravenous antibiotics, and reintervention. The fact that SSI develops or progresses in the outpatient setting makes transitional care coordination a promising area of focus in the management of SSI.

Hospitals are incentivized to improve transitional care for surgical patients as the Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) increasingly imposes financial penalties for unplanned readmissions after surgery through the Readmissions Reduction Program as part of the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act [8]. However, transitional care coordination following surgical procedures has received less attention from researchers and hospital systems relative to medically managed conditions [9,10]. Although the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention have long monitored SSI rates through the National Healthcare Safety Network, the majority of prevention efforts occur during the operative procedure and any associated inpatient stay; few early detection and prevention efforts crosscut care settings. We leverage the alignment of national policy and gaps in existing SSI surveillance to implement a patient-centered mobile health (mHealth) intervention focused on stemming the burden of SSI and readmissions through image capture of wound healing.

Telemedicine, and mHealth specifically, offers an opportunity to leverage technology for the remote monitoring and early detection of SSI during the transitional care period, including wound monitoring using smartphone digital images [11]. However, significant barriers have restricted adoption of telemedicine, particularly in the United States where regulatory and reimbursement policies present unique challenges. The few studies examining continued monitoring of recovery following hospital discharge have been performed outside of the United States [12-14] and have not adhered to privacy standards set forth by the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) [15]. Moreover, sustainable implementation of mHealth protocols for wound monitoring requires that they support existing patient-provider-caregiver relationships, fit into patients' daily routines following hospital discharge, and provide visibility of the wounds' healing for both patients and providers [16]. Therefore, the design of a wound monitoring protocol using telemedicine must support both patients and

providers in their existing roles without creating a significant burden.

Another essential feature of such a protocol is scalability to a full patient panel, particularly with respect to novice-user patient populations. The cost effectiveness and widespread accessibility of a telemedicine protocol for wound monitoring can help to ensure scalability. Specifically, the cost per enrolled patient must be sufficiently low to justify targeted enrollment among patient populations who are at high risk of developing a complication requiring readmission following discharge in the context of quality-based payment and financial penalties for readmission. In addition, health systems must allocate resources to ensure that patients who have no experience using smartphones are empowered and equipped to participate. A majority of published studies rely on self-selection into telemedicine, conferring "digital access" to technologically savvy patients who tend to be younger, more educated, and wealthier [11]. Telemedicine thus has demonstrated potential to exacerbate existing access and utilization care disparities, and dedicated resources are required to mitigate this gap.

Objectives

Overview

We propose to address identified shortcomings in published mHealth studies with a patient-centered, mHealth outpatient wound surveillance program designed to promote early recognition of SSI following discharge. The current trial is part of a larger project funded by Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality R21 HS023395. The goals of this larger project are (1) to empower patients, particularly novice smartphone users, to be mindful of their wounds and to partner with their surgeons in monitoring their postoperative recovery; (2) to diagnose SSI, when it occurs, at an early stage, enabling outpatient management; and (3) to prevent hospital readmission and the serious morbidity and mortality associated with wound complications. The project entails teaching vascular surgery patients to use a simple, linear smartphone app to take and transmit images of their postoperative wounds and symptom information (as yes/no questions) daily for the first 2 weeks following hospital discharge; surgical staff then review the submissions to discern the presence of a complication.

Prior work from our group and others has demonstrated enthusiasm from patients and their families regarding participation in transitional care programs [17]. In addition, we have shown that digital images are sufficient for diagnostic and therapeutic decision making, resulting in decisions comparable to those based on in-person evaluation [18]. Using an internally developed smartphone app with an accompanying training program grounded in tenets of adult learning and memory retention, we have also demonstrated that patients and their caregivers can learn to use the app with a high level of independence and satisfaction [19].

The next step in the project is to pilot test the full patient-centered outpatient wound surveillance program to

XSL•F() RenderX

establish its feasibility for both patients and the service line of a large academic tertiary care institution. With a targeted enrollment of 40 patients, outcomes will include evaluation of the module's technological capability, including (1) barriers to participation, (2) patient attrition/adherence, (3) picture and information quality, (4) successful information transmission and assimilation into clinical workflows, (5) ease of integration into the clinical service line, and (6) the ability of health care professionals to identify early wound infection from photographs.

Theoretical Foundation

We use Proctor's model of implementation research to structure the evaluation of our feasibility trial (Figure 1) [20]. This framework integrates 3 bodies of theory, including multilevel organizational models of change, stage pipeline models of implementation that accelerate interventions from development to real world practice settings, and structure-process-outcome models of health services use. This model is particularly suited to our project because our intervention cross cuts care settings (inpatient, outpatient, and home), requires integration at multiple organizational levels (clinical, patient/caregiver, information technology infrastructure, and leadership), and necessitates real-world feasibility testing at bedside prior to widespread implementation. Accordingly, this framework facilitates defining outcomes on different organizational levels: implementation, service, and client. Although this model is largely a heuristic model, it is useful here because our trial is a small, research-focused feasibility trial rather than a large-scale implementation study involving widespread uptake of an established intervention. Moreover, Proctor's emphasis on diffusion of innovation theories lends itself to studying a new mHealth technology in a clinical setting.

Interdisciplinary collaboration and stakeholder engagement are fundamental to this model. During intervention and app development, we engaged patient advocates, physicians, surgical nursing staff, and community members to provide structured feedback via focus groups and interviews on app content and ancillary training materials to ensure that all functionalities and language used are clear and consistent with discharge instructions. Additionally, formal usability tests involving 9 postoperative vascular surgery patients at our institution established acceptance by the target population and patients' and their caregivers' capacity for completion after a short training session, with a median training time of 8.5 minutes and an average System Usability Scale score of 83.3 [19]. We also involved surgical leadership, surgeons, nurse practitioners, physician assistants, information technology personnel, and nurses in the vascular surgery inpatient unit to develop clinical implementation strategies that can be easily integrated into their daily workflow. Defined outcomes, described in detail in the Methods section, are mapped onto 3 organizational levels: implementation, service, and client outcomes.

Figure 1. Conceptual model of implementation research. Reprinted with permission from Procter et al [20].



Objectives and Hypotheses

Our overall objective is to evaluate the feasibility and effectiveness of a protocol for postdischarge wound monitoring using a smartphone app and its ability to detect postoperative wound complications and reduce hospital readmissions in a vascular surgery patient population. In this phase of the larger project, we focus on feasibility of the protocol from both the patient and the provider perspectives. We hypothesize the following:

1. Patients can be engaged in their postoperative care by participating in a smartphone protocol to monitor wound healing, completing the protocol daily for 2 weeks.

RenderX

2. Reviewing received submissions and acting on any detected abnormalities can be integrated into existing service lines without overburdening clinical staff.

Methods

Participants

We will recruit 40 patients or patient/caregiver pairs for participation in our pilot study, aiming for 20 independent participants and 20 patient/caregiver pairs, in an effort to capture all eligible patients over the study duration based on our institution's annual volume. Recruitment will occur primarily in the University of Wisconsin Hospital and Clinics (UWHC) vascular clinic at the time of consent for surgery and the

postoperative inpatient vascular surgery service; UWHC performs more than 600 inpatient vascular procedures annually, a majority of which are open rather than endovascular [21]. As a major referral center for the state of Wisconsin, our institution performs a relatively high number of nonelective procedures necessitating additional recruitment in the postoperative period before hospital discharge. English-speaking patients over the age of 18 with an incision at least 3 cm in length will be eligible. All eligible patients will be approached for participation in a consecutive fashion. Patients and their caregivers will receive training to learn to use the smartphone itself as well as the wound monitoring app during their stay with a refresher session on the day of discharge including a test image transmission prior to discharge. This will allow for reinforcement of the initial training session as well as the acquisition of a baseline image for later comparison. Smartphones will be provided for use during the study, which participants will be able to keep as remuneration after study completion.

Participants will be enrolled in waves of approximately 5, with time between waves for protocol evaluation and to identify areas for intervention improvement. Patients who are approached but decline to participate will be asked to provide their reason for declining.

Ethics Approval and Consent to Participate

The University of Wisconsin Institutional Review Board (IRB) approved this study (UW IRB #2015-1581). All future modifications to the protocol or to the consent process will go through this IRB for review and approval.

Participants (and their caregivers, where applicable) will be approached for informed consent in person during the postoperative, predischarge period. Eligibility will be determined by medical record review and consultation with service providers. Proxy consent will be obtained for participants who are unable to participate if a competent family member or caregiver can be identified. Participants will receive copies of all signed consent forms.

Intervention

WoundCheck is an internally developed and user-tested iOS app that enables patients to transmit daily wound images and symptom information from their home or postacute care facility to the surgical care team in the hospital (Figure 2) [19]. There are 2 phases of the app: an image-taking phase where patients take up to 4 digital images of their surgical wound and a brief survey of 6 yes/no questions regarding recovery (Textbox 1). Survey questions were developed based on prior work from our group validating smartphone digital images for postoperative wound monitoring and were designed to capture information not as easily appreciated from the submitted images [18]. Information generated from the app is automatically transmitted to our research server as the final step of the app. The app, which features large font, large buttons, and simple language and design, is accompanied by a training program that is delivered in person prior to discharge along with a written instructional packet.

Textbox 1. WoundCheck survey module yes/no questions.

- Have you had fevers or chills in the past 24 hours?
- Have you changed how you take your medication in the last 24 hours?
 - If yes, is this change related to your pain medication?
 - If yes, did you increase your pain medication?
- Has the area around your wound become red in the past 24 hours?
- Has the area around your wound become swollen in the past 24 hours?
- Is there a bad smell coming from your wound?
- Is fluid leaking from your wound?
 - If yes, is the fluid white, yellow, or green?
 - If yes, do you change your dressing more than once per day because fluid soaks through?

We developed the app using the Coleman model transitional care framework to guide content [22-24]. The Coleman model is specifically designed to reduce discontinuity in care transitions and addresses the needs of elderly patients and patients with complex, chronic conditions [25]. Moreover, it focuses on patients and caregivers as the "common thread linking differing providers and settings," emphasizing patient education and empowerment as essential for facilitating (1) medication self-management, (2) use of a dynamic patient-centered record, (3) completion of follow-up care, and (4) knowledge of red flags that could indicate a worsening of their condition. Our smartphone-based intervention is designed to promote

mindfulness of the wound, identify red flag symptoms and medication misuse, and direct and document communication between the patient/caregiver and the surgical service.

At the time of recruitment, we will introduce patients and any caregivers to the smartphone and teach them to complete the app independently, a process that takes between 3.9 and 23.0 minutes, based on our preliminary results from usability testing [19]. We developed the training drawing on the following tenets from the adult learning and memory literature: the need for repetition and multiple formats of educational materials [26], the decline in motivation when not experiencing success [27]

or when the purpose of the task is not clear or relevant [28], the need for active engagement with teach-back [29], and the importance of letting the learner set the pace of learning [30].

The patient will take a baseline digital image on the day of discharge to serve as a reference for future comparison. Participants will be asked to transmit a digital image and complete the survey regarding their recovery within the app once per day for 14 days. For those patients discharged to a postacute care facility, the participant or their specified caregiver will still be responsible for submission. We will not rely on the staff of the facility to complete the protocol. Transmissions will be sent through an encrypted connection to a secure research server, a process which has been designed to be HIPAA compliant (Figure 3). Once transmitted, the images are no longer stored on the device.

Participants are provided an iPhone 5S that is theirs to keep at the end of the study. At the time of training, they are counseled that the cost of the phone and the data plan are paid for through the research study, but they are asked not to use the phone for other purposes for the duration of the study protocol. They are also counseled that this protocol of wound monitoring is a supplement to usual care rather than a replacement. As such, they are given the number to our vascular surgery clinic and encouraged to communicate with them as they would outside the study protocol. During training, participants are told that the nurse practitioners (NPs) will review the submissions daily, usually at the end of their workday in the later afternoon. Phone calls from the NPs to participants for concerning findings will likely be made at that time. If a participant has a concern and either does not receive a phone call or does not wish to wait to receive one, they are encouraged to call the clinic or the research contact. Contact information for the vascular surgery clinic and study personnel is provided at 2 points in the app itself and in the provided instructional packet so that patients and their caregivers can easily call with questions or concerns.

Each afternoon, at a time designated by clinical personnel as most accommodating of existing clinical workflows, a vascular surgery service NP or researcher with MD surgical training will review the transmitted images as well as the responses to the survey questions within the app. A short form checklist documenting the appearance of the surgical wound will be completed for each image received [18]. This checklist was previously developed and validated by our research group, drawing upon definitions of surgical site infection and other wound complications from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and measures compiled by Cutting and colleagues [31,32]. The checklist also includes a question regarding whether the image is adequate for evaluation, and if an image is found inadequate, space is available to explain why (eg, insufficient light, out of focus, parts of the wound excluded from view). The time required to review the images will be recorded as will the time between submission and review. Any concerning findings prompt a phone call from the surgical service NP to the patient to gather more information and recommend additional intervention/treatment as indicated, which may include antibiotics or a clinic visit. If there is uncertainty about evaluating or interpreting submitted information, the NP will contact the operating surgeon or the vascular surgeon on call to discuss concerning findings.

If a participant has not submitted information for 24 hours, research staff will phone him or her to troubleshoot barriers to completion; these unscheduled calls will be recorded for analysis. Similarly, if the digital images are inadequate for diagnostic purposes, research staff will contact the participant to remind them the goals for the image and help them strategize how to take an effective image on their subsequent submissions. Calls will not be punitive but aimed at minimizing study attrition, identifying reasons why patients are unable to complete the protocol, and identifying possible measures to improve the protocol. Additionally, all participants will receive a phone call on postdischarge day 6 to assess use of the app and continued willingness to participate. A final phone call will be made at the end of 2 weeks, when the participant has completed submissions, to evaluate satisfaction with the protocol. The details of these phone calls will be recorded on a secure data collection spreadsheet. The feasibility trial for the intervention is registered at ClinicalTrials.gov [NCT02735525].

Figure 2. WoundCheck iOS app: image taking and survey sample screenshots. Picture from Shutterstock.



JMIR Res Protoc 2017 | vol. 6 | iss. 2 |e26 | p.72 (page number not for citation purposes)
Figure 3. WoundCheck workflow.



Implementation

Organization

Multilevel organizational implementation strategies include information systems implementation, legal compliance, clinical integration, and administrative engagement. To that end, we engaged stakeholders within hospital and surgical leadership to ensure that our mHealth intervention is consistent with existing quality improvement initiatives within the hospital and can be used to augment existing transitional care programs; during this process, we were able to garner enthusiasm for the intervention among clinical and administrative leadership. We also engaged hospital information systems personnel to verify that the hospital had not already licensed a software platform that we could modify for our intervention and to explore the possibility of future medical record integration. Our human subjects review process mandated legal review of app security, cloud-based workflow, and electronic data storage in conjunction with our cybersecurity department to ensure HIPAA compliance. Finally, we solicited input from surgeon-scientists in the Wisconsin Surgical Outcomes Research Program and the Institute for Clinical and Translational Research to leverage existing infrastructure to support clinical evaluation and clinical trials in the department of surgery.

Group/Team

We opted to assess intervention feasibility on the vascular surgery service line within the department of surgery to assess clinical implementation and workflow for a defined patient population with (1) a high base rate of postoperative SSI and readmission, (2) a high number of novice smartphone users, and (3) a high number of regional referrals (making travel for postoperative care potentially burdensome to the patient). Vascular surgery is comprised of a patient population with the highest readmission rate among surgical specialties, most commonly for SSI [3,21,33]. Vascular surgery also has the highest projected demand growth among medical specialties (31% by 2025) after adjusting for expanded coverage under the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act due to the aging US population and the prevalence of underlying disease burden, such as diabetes [34].

Our vascular surgery service line is comprised of 10 board certified vascular surgeons, 3 inpatient NPs, and a team of nurses and outpatient physician assistants. We engaged the vascular

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2017/2/e26/

surgery division chief and the service NPs early in the intervention design process to make sure the protocol addressed priority areas of transitional care and to ensure clinical buy-in. Interviews with these clinical stakeholders and ongoing feedback ensured that the intervention is consistent with service line quality improvement efforts and is integrated into existing workflows, particularly that of the NPs undertaking daily wound image review, as smoothly as possible. We presented the proposed protocol at clinical and quality improvement standing meetings and made additional adjustments to the protocol based on feedback. We also notified our 12 regional clinics about the protocol to make sure participants with questions who called the clinic could be directed to the research and app support contact. Whereas participant recruitment, image review, and any follow-up resulting from anomalous findings in the images will take place in the clinical setting, protocol support, materials sourcing and design, teaching patients to use the app, and phone calls associated with the protocol will be performed by 3 research staff.

Individual Providers/Consumers

Given the high prevalence of novice users in the vascular surgery patient population, vetting app and training content in focus groups as well as subsequent formal usability testing provided essential foundations for implementation. The use of published user interface standards (International Organization for Standardization 9241-12) similarly facilitated ease of use [35]. Leveraging state-negotiated rates for mobile phones, we purchased generation-old iPhone 5Ss at a cost of \$0.99 per unit and provided the phone as remuneration for study participation to remove the burden associated with having to return the phones. Study service plans cost \$34.50 per month per patient, bringing estimated materials costs to \$53.50, including a protective phone case and written training materials. Essential features of patient-level implementation include conducting training during the postoperative inpatient stay; this allows us the attention of the patients and assessment of their capacity, caregiver interaction, and engagement during both the inpatient and outpatient settings.

Outcomes

We have defined our outcomes in 3 domains: implementation outcomes, service outcomes, and client outcomes. The primary, multidimensional outcomes of interest are protocol completion by participants and the burden of the protocol on clinician

workflow. Our implementation outcomes include patient adherence to the protocol, cost, clinician/service investment, and technological system compatibility. Service outcomes include the incidence of advanced stage SSI diagnosis, readmissions, and service integration (patient/caregiver participation and follow-up by clinical staff). Client outcomes include satisfaction measured using both previously validated questionnaires and internally developed project-specific measures. We describe our specific measures below.

Implementation outcomes include patient adherence, cost, clinician/service investment, and technological system compatibility. We will calculate the number of eligible patients approached to participate in the protocol relative to the number who consent to participate. Reasons for declining to participate will be recorded. We will also report the percentage of patients who completed the app for the full length of the protocol (daily from the day of discharge until the day of scheduled clinic follow-up) without requiring a reminder phone call. Likewise, the percentage of participants who required a reminder phone call when they did not submit an image or their survey responses within a 24-hour period will be recorded, as well as their reasons for not completing the protocol. The number of phone calls required to reach the participant will be logged, as will the day the phone calls were made. Participant sociodemographic information and relevant comorbidities will be collected from the medical record to ensure that the protocol was accessible to a diverse patient population. We will also identify participant characteristics that would preclude full participation in the absence of a caregiver.

We will calculate the per-patient cost of the protocol including device and plan cost, ancillary materials costs (phone use, written training materials, iPhone cases), and researcher/clinical person-hours spent on the protocol. To determine the burden of the protocol on the clinical workflow, we will determine the time required to complete the review of submitted images and survey responses by the service NPs or study personnel. The time required to make follow-up phone calls will also be recorded. Finally, we will evaluate the data assimilation and review process. To ensure that the service NPs or research personnel review transmitted information within a clinically appropriate timeframe, we will measure time from receipt of transmission to diagnostic review and the time from diagnostic review to follow-up call to the patient, when indicated. Upon trial completion, we will ask all participating clinical staff to anonymously complete the Patient-Centered Care Improvement Guide's Self-Assessment Tool and to provide open-ended feedback on the protocol, their perceptions of its utility, and areas for improvement for long-term sustainability [36]. Finally, we will ask NPs whether they would prefer medical record integration of the app images and content or whether they find our custom provider review interface better suited to their practice.

Service outcomes include late stage SSI diagnosis, readmissions (using a modified CMS definition of any unplanned recurrent admission to an acute care facility before routine follow-up in the 30 days following discharge, subject to certain exclusions including same-day readmission and discharge against medical advice), and service integration (patient/caregiver participation

```
http://www.researchprotocols.org/2017/2/e26/
```

and follow-up by clinical staff) [37]. Although the design and sample size are insufficient to evaluate a significant change, we will track the percent of SSI diagnosed at an early stage (ie, managed on an outpatient basis) and the percent of readmissions; specifically, any late stage SSI diagnosis or unplanned readmission among participants will be thoroughly evaluated for process/diagnosis failures. We will also record the percentage of patients who require intravenous antibiotics or surgical reintervention and whether these patients missed 1 or more of their daily submissions.

To assess client outcomes associated with patient and caregiver perceptions, we will ask participants to complete 2 established, validated scales: the Care Transitions Measure from the Coleman Care Transitions Program and the "After surgery" questions from the Consumer Assessment of Healthcare Providers and Systems (CAHPS) Surgical Care Survey during the phone call made at the end of the protocol [22,38]. The Coleman Care Transitions Program was conceived through the use of focus groups and validated in a large randomized controlled trial among older adults; the CAHPS Surgical Care Survey is a National Quality Forum-endorsed measure of the patient experience following surgery. During the phone call at the end of the protocol, open-ended qualitative interviews will be performed to evaluate participant satisfaction and to elicit feedback regarding barriers to protocol completion and suggestions for possible areas of improvement. Our preliminary goal for patient adherence for the study period is 90% over the first week and 70% over the full 2 weeks; all participants will be queried for barriers to adherence during a routine day 6 follow-up phone call. Our goal for diagnostic quality of all photos submitted, as judged by reviewing clinicians, is 95%. Any instances of photos not being reviewed within 24 hours of transmission will be investigated for process failures.

We will also evaluate the success of the training protocol and participant satisfaction and confidence following training. We will record the time required to successfully complete the training module and patient/caregiver ability to independently complete the app following the training session. We will collect sociodemographic information and smartphone experience from participants, in part to evaluate subgroups of patients whose training needs are unmet by the protocol. Any redesign of the training module will be based on the questions asked and evaluation of the module. At the end of training, we will elicit free response written feedback on the training module from all participants. Responses will be cataloged and content analysis will evaluate themes, pitfalls, and potential barriers to implementation. The training module will be redesigned iteratively based on these results.

Data Confidentiality and Access

All medical record information and study devices will be stored in a secure, locked research office or on a secure server in the department of surgery. When possible, identifiable information will be kept separately from information that is not readily identifiable, and the 2 will be linked with a randomly generated identifying number. Digital images and symptom information collected through the smartphone app will be stored in the department of surgery server behind a firewall; none of this

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

information will be stored on the smartphone on which it was generated.

All smartphones will be password protected, allowing only patients and their caregivers access to the phone. Transmitted data will include only the study identifier, digital images of the wound, and symptom information; there will be no personal health information recorded in the transmission itself. Upon protocol completion, the service plan will be discontinued, and participants will be given instructions to return the phone to its original factory settings. Participants can keep the erased phone for personal use.

All of our data security measures will be fully outlined in all recruitment and consent materials.

Dissemination

Results of this feasibility trial will be disseminated through peer-reviewed publications as well as at scientific conferences. Lay summaries and presentations at standing meetings will provide feedback to clinical and administrative stakeholders in the hospital. Our results will inform a larger multi-institutional trial using this app as part of a larger transitional care intervention aimed at readmission reduction among complex vascular and colorectal surgery patients.

Results

This feasibility trial began enrolling patients in June 2016. Enrollment and data collection continued until 40 patients completed the protocol, with study completion in December 2016.

Discussion

Summary

As the medical community has increasingly dedicated its efforts to improving transitions of care, particularly transitions from an inpatient stay back to the community, the majority of solutions involve assigning patients a discharge advocate, transition coach, or nurse case manager to provide close follow-up during the transition [22,39]. However, while these methods are effective in reducing hospital readmissions in medical patients, they have frequently not included the crucial visual component needed to fully monitor surgical patients in the postoperative period. The rise of smartphones capable of transmitting visual information and their increasing market penetration have generated enormous opportunities for the incorporation of mobile devices as extensions of care traditionally provided in person.

Through prior work, we have demonstrated that patients and their caregivers are accepting of a protocol of postdischarge monitoring using smartphone technology, that digital images can be used to make diagnostic and therapeutic decisions comparable to those made in person, and that patients and their caregivers can learn to use the postdischarge monitoring app after a short training session tailored to their needs. This feasibility trial will confirm whether patients can complete a smartphone protocol and assess patient and provider satisfaction. In an era of shortened hospital lengths of stay and increasing penalties for higher than expected readmission rates, this protocol provides preliminary evidence for changing the way postdischarge care is delivered with the goal of providing it in a cost-effective manner.

Limitations

This is a feasibility study without a control arm and thus cannot draw conclusions in reference to usual care. Although we will be enrolling only vascular surgery patients, we feel confident that if a patient population that is largely elderly with limited technology exposure can complete the protocol, it can be generalized to a wider surgical population with some caveats. Specifically, our surgical population is racially and culturally homogeneous (over 95% white) and largely comprised of native English speakers. In addition, we are pursuing implementation on a single specialty service and cannot discern whether our intervention scales to a larger service or surgical care teams with different organization of services. Moreover, our hospital has substantial information technology and nursing resources to support our intervention, and significant changes to the protocol might be required for implementation at a hospital with limited resources.

Acknowledgments

This work is supported by Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality grant R21 R21HS023395. Dr Gunter is supported by National Institutes of Health grant T32 HL110853. The authors acknowledge the excellent work of Chad Schroeder, from the University of Wisconsin Department of Surgery Information Technology Division, who programmed the WoundCheck app and developed our provider review screen to receive submitted participant data.

Authors' Contributions

KCK and SFT are the primary investigators on this trial. LA, RLG, KMB, and CCG provided guidance on methodology and optimization of study design. All authors were involved in drafting the manuscript and take responsibility for the contents therein. RLG and SR will be primarily responsible for data collection. SFT, KMB, CCG, and KCK will provide oversight to ensure the protocol is adhered to during participant recruitment and data collection.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.



References

- Mangram A, Horan T, Pearson M, Silver L, Jarvis W. Guideline for prevention of surgical site infection, 1999. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 1999 Apr;20(4):250-278. [doi: <u>10.1086/501620</u>] [Medline: <u>10219875</u>]
- Kirkland K, Briggs J, Trivette S, Wilkinson W, Sexton D. The impact of surgical-site infections in the 1990s: attributable mortality, excess length of hospitalization, and extra costs. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 1999 Nov;20(11):725-730. [doi: 10.1086/501572] [Medline: 10580621]
- Wiseman J, Guzman A, Fernandes-Taylor S, Engelbert T, Saunders R, Kent K. General and vascular surgery readmissions: a systematic review. J Am Coll Surg 2014 Sep;219(3):552-569 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2014.05.007] [Medline: 25067801]
- 4. Perencevich E, Sands K, Cosgrove S, Guadagnoli E, Meara E, Platt R. Health and economic impact of surgical site infections diagnosed after hospital discharge. Emerg Infect Dis 2003 Feb;9(2):196-203 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3201/eid0902.020232] [Medline: 12603990]
- 5. Morris M, Deierhoi R, Richman J, Altom L, Hawn M. The relationship between timing of surgical complications and hospital readmission. JAMA Surg 2014 Apr;149(4):348-354. [doi: <u>10.1001/jamasurg.2013.4064</u>] [Medline: <u>24522747</u>]
- 6. Whitby M, McLaws M, Collopy B, Looke DFL, Doidge N, Henderson B, et al. Post-discharge surveillance: can patients reliably diagnose surgical wound infections? J Hosp Infect 2002 Nov;52(3):155-160. [Medline: <u>12419265</u>]
- 7. Whitby M, McLaws ML, Doldge S, Collopy B. Post-discharge surgical site surveillance: does patient education improve reliability of diagnosis? J Hosp Infect 2007;66(3):237-242. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jhin.2007.04.014</u>]
- 8. Medicare Hospital Readmissions Reduction Program.: Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services; 2016 Apr 18. URL: https://www.cms.gov/medicare/medicare-fee-for-service-payment/acuteinpatientpps/readmissions-reduction-program.html [accessed 2017-02-14] [WebCite Cache ID 60IxARJcE]
- Kassin M, Owen R, Perez S, Leeds I, Cox J, Schnier K, et al. Risk factors for 30-day hospital readmission among general surgery patients. J Am Coll Surg 2012 Sep;215(3):322-330 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2012.05.024] [Medline: 22726893]
- Brooke B, De Martino RR, Girotti M, Dimick J, Goodney P. Developing strategies for predicting and preventing readmissions in vascular surgery. J Vasc Surg 2012 Aug;56(2):556-562 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jvs.2012.03.260</u>] [Medline: <u>22743022</u>]
- Gunter R, Chouinard S, Fernandes-Taylor S, Wiseman J, Clarkson S, Bennett K, et al. Current use of telemedicine for post-discharge surgical care: a systematic review. J Am Coll Surg 2016 May;222(5):915-927. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2016.01.062</u>] [Medline: <u>27016900</u>]
- Matousek A, Paik K, Winkler E, Denike J, Addington SR, Exe C, et al. Community health workers and smartphones for the detection of surgical site infections in rural Haiti: a pilot study. Lancet 2015 Apr 27;385 Suppl 2:S47. [doi: <u>10.1016/S0140-6736(15)60842-X]</u> [Medline: <u>26313096</u>]
- Pathak A, Sharma S, Sharma M, Mahadik V, Lundborg CS. Feasibility of a mobile phone-based surveillance for surgical site infections in rural India. Telemed J E Health 2015 Nov;21(11):946-949 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2014.0199] [Medline: 25748641]
- 14. Semple J, Sharpe S, Murnaghan M, Theodoropoulos J, Metcalfe K. Using a mobile app for monitoring post-operative quality of recovery of patients at home: a feasibility study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2015 Feb 12;3(1):e18 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.3929] [Medline: 25679749]
- Rao R, Shukla B, Saint-Cyr M, Rao M, Teotia S. Take two and text me in the morning: optimizing clinical time with a short messaging system. Plast Reconstr Surg 2012 Jul;130(1):44-49. [doi: <u>10.1097/PRS.0b013e3182547d63</u>] [Medline: <u>22743872</u>]
- 16. Vassilev I, Rowsell A, Pope C, Kennedy A, O'Cathain A, Salisbury C. Assessing the implementability of telehealth interventions for self-management support: a realist review. Implement Sci 2015;10. [doi: 10.1186/s13012-015-0238-9]
- Wiseman J, Fernandes-Taylor S, Barnes M, Tomsejova A, Saunders R, Kent K. Conceptualizing smartphone use in outpatient wound assessment: patients' and caregivers' willingness to use technology. J Surg Res 2015 Sep;198(1):245-251 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jss.2015.05.011] [Medline: 26025626]
- Wiseman J, Fernandes-Taylor S, Gunter R, Barnes M, Saunders R, Rathouz P, et al. Inter-rater agreement and checklist validation for postoperative wound assessment using smartphone images in vascular surgery. J Vasc Surg Venous Lymphat Disord 2016 Jul;4(3):320-328. [doi: 10.1016/j.jvsv.2016.02.001] [Medline: 27318052]
- Gunter R, Fernandes-Taylor S, Mahnke A, Awoyinka L, Schroeder C, Wiseman J, et al. Evaluating patient usability of an image-based mobile health platform for postoperative wound monitoring. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2016 Sep 28;4(3):e113
 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.6023] [Medline: 27683059]
- Proctor E, Landsverk J, Aarons G, Chambers D, Glisson C, Mittman B. Implementation research in mental health services: an emerging science with conceptual, methodological, and training challenges. Adm Policy Ment Health 2009 Jan;36(1):24-34 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10488-008-0197-4] [Medline: 19104929]
- Engelbert T, Fernandes-Taylor S, Gupta P, Kent K, Matsumura J. Clinical characteristics associated with readmission among patients undergoing vascular surgery. J Vasc Surg 2014 May;59(5):1349-1355 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jvs.2013.10.103] [Medline: 24368042]

- 22. Coleman E, Parry C, Chalmers S, Min S. The care transitions intervention: results of a randomized controlled trial. Arch Intern Med 2006 Sep 25;166(17):1822-1828. [doi: 10.1001/archinte.166.17.1822] [Medline: 17000937]
- 23. Parry C, Kramer HM, Coleman EA. A qualitative exploration of a patient-centered coaching intervention to improve care transitions in chronically ill older adults. Home Health Care Serv Q 2006;25(3-4):39-53. [doi: 10.1300/J027v25n03_03] [Medline: 17062510]
- 24. Parry C, Coleman E, Smith J, Frank J, Kramer A. The care transitions intervention: a patient-centered approach to ensuring effective transfers between sites of geriatric care. Home Health Care Serv Q 2003;22(3):1-17. [doi: 10.1300/J027v22n03_01] [Medline: 14629081]
- 25. Rutherford P, Nielsen G, Taylor J, Bradke P, Coleman E. How-to guide: improving transitions from the hospital to community settings to reduce avoidable rehospitalizations. Cambridge: Institute for Healthcare Improvement; 2013. URL: <u>http://www.ihi.org/resources/pages/tools/howtoguideimprovingtransitionstoreduceavoidablerehospitalizations.aspx</u> [accessed 2017-02-15] [WebCite Cache ID 60IyXr8NX]
- 26. Pesce C, Guidetti L, Baldari C, Tessitore A, Capranica L. Effects of aging on visual attentional focusing. Gerontology 2005;51(4):266-276. [doi: 10.1159/000085123] [Medline: 15980655]
- 27. Wlodkowski R. Enhancing Adult Motivation to Learn: A Comprehensive Guide for Teaching All Adults. Hoboken: Wiley; 2008.
- 28. Balota D, Dolan P, Duchek J. Memory changes in healthy older adults. In: Tulving E, Craik FIM, editors. Oxford Handbook of Memory. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2000.
- 29. Bird M, Kinsella G. Long-term cued recall of tasks in senile dementia. Psychol Aging 1996 Mar;11(1):45-56. [Medline: 8726369]
- 30. Vaportzis E, Georgiou-Karistianis N, Stout J. Dual task performance in normal aging: a comparison of choice reaction time tasks. PLoS One 2013;8. [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0060265]
- National Nosocomial Infections Surveillance System. National Nosocomial Infections Surveillance (NNIS) System Report, data summary from January 1992 through June 2004, issued October 2004. Am J Infect Control 2004 Dec;32(8):470-485. [doi: 10.1016/S0196655304005425] [Medline: 15573054]
- 32. Cutting K, White R. Defined and refined: criteria for identifying wound infection revisited. Br J Community Nurs 2004 Mar;9(3):S6-S15. [doi: 10.12968/bjcn.2004.9.Sup1.12495] [Medline: 15029002]
- Jencks S, Williams MV, Coleman E. Rehospitalizations among patients in the Medicare fee-for-service program. N Engl J Med 2009 Apr 02;360(14):1418-1428. [doi: <u>10.1056/NEJMsa0803563</u>] [Medline: <u>19339721</u>]
- 34. Dall T, Gallo P, Chakrabarti R, West T, Semilla A, Storm MV. An aging population and growing disease burden will require a large and specialized health care workforce by 2025. Health Affairs 2013 Nov 04;32(11):2013-2020. [doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.2013.0714]
- 35. International Standards Organization (ISO). ISO 9421-12 Ergonomic requirements for office work with visual display terminals (VDTs)—Part 12: Presentation of information. 2016. URL: <u>http://www.iso.org/iso/catalogue_detail.</u> <u>htm?csnumber=16884</u> [accessed 2017-02-15] [WebCite Cache ID 6oIzR6Z2V]
- 36. Frampton S, Guastello S, Brady C, Hale M, Horowitz S, Bennett Smith S. Patient-centered care improvement guide. 2008. URL: <u>http://www.ihi.org/resources/pages/tools/patientcenteredcareimprovementguide.aspx</u> [accessed 2017-02-15] [WebCite Cache ID 60IzfS79M]
- 37. James J. Health Policy Brief: Medicare Hospital Readmissions Reduction Program.: Health Affairs; 2013 Nov 12. URL: http://www.healthaffairs.org/healthpolicybriefs/brief.php?brief_id=102 [accessed 2017-02-15] [WebCite Cache ID 60IzkoGwr]
- 38. American College of Surgeons. S-CAHPS (Consumer Assessment of Healthcare Providers and Systems Surgical Care Survey). 2016. URL: <u>https://www.facs.org/advocacy/quality/cahps</u> [accessed 2017-02-15] [WebCite Cache ID 6oIzoNjq0]
- Jack B, Chetty V, Anthony D, Greenwald J, Sanchez G, Johnson A, et al. A reengineered hospital discharge program to decrease rehospitalization: a randomized trial. Ann Intern Med 2009 Feb 03;150(3):178-187 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>19189907</u>]

Abbreviations

CAHPS: Consumer Assessment of Healthcare Providers and Systems CMS: Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services HIPAA: Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act mHealth: mobile health NP: nurse practitioner SSI: surgical site infection UWHC: University of Wisconsin Hospital and Clinics



Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 14.10.16; peer-reviewed by L Santacroce, D Peña, K Kummerow Broman; comments to author 03.11.16; revised version received 01.12.16; accepted 08.02.17; published 22.02.17. Please cite as:

Frease cite as: Fernandes-Taylor S, Gunter RL, Bennett KM, Awoyinka L, Rahman S, Greenberg CC, Kent KC Feasibility of Implementing a Patient-Centered Postoperative Wound Monitoring Program Using Smartphone Images: A Pilot Protocol JMIR Res Protoc 2017;6(2):e26 URL: http://www.researchprotocols.org/2017/2/e26/ doi:10.2196/resprot.6819 PMID:28228369

©Sara Fernandes-Taylor, Rebecca L Gunter, Kyla M Bennett, Lola Awoyinka, Shahrose Rahman, Caprice C Greenberg, K Craig Kent. Originally published in JMIR Research Protocols (http://www.researchprotocols.org), 22.02.2017. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Research Protocols, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.researchprotocols.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



A Prospective, Multicenter, Single-Blind Study Assessing Indices of SNAP II Versus BIS VISTA on Surgical Patients Undergoing General Anesthesia

Sergio D Bergese^{1,2}, MD; Alberto A Uribe¹, MD; Erika G Puente¹, MD; R-Jay L Marcus³, MD; Randall J Krohn⁴, MS; Steven Docsa⁴, BS; Roy G Soto⁵, MD; Keith A Candiotti⁶, MD

¹Department of Anesthesiology, The Ohio State University Wexner Medical Center, Columbus, OH, United States

²Department of Neurological Surgery, The Ohio State University Wexner Medical Center, Columbus, OH, United States

³Department of Anesthesiology, Northwestern University Prentice Women's Hospital, Chicago, IL, United States

⁴Stryker Corporation, Kalamazoo, MI, United States

⁵Department of Anesthesiology, William Beaumont Hospital, Royal Oak, MI, United States

⁶Department of Anesthesiology, University of Miami/Jackson Memorial Hospital, Miami, FL, United States

Corresponding Author:

Alberto A Uribe, MD Department of Anesthesiology The Ohio State University Wexner Medical Center N411 Doan Hall 410 W. 10th Avenue Columbus, OH, 43210 United States Phone: 1 614 366 8397 Fax: 1 614 366 1943 Email: alberto.uribe@osumc.edu

Abstract

Background: Traditionally, anesthesiologists have relied on nonspecific subjective and objective physical signs to assess patients' comfort level and depth of anesthesia. Commercial development of electrical monitors, which use low- and high-frequency electroencephalogram (EEG) signals, have been developed to enhance the assessment of patients' level of consciousness. Multiple studies have shown that monitoring patients' consciousness levels can help in reducing drug consumption, anesthesia-related adverse events, and recovery time. This clinical study will provide information by simultaneously comparing the performance of the SNAP II (a single-channel EEG device) and the bispectral index (BIS) VISTA (a dual-channel EEG device) by assessing their efficacy in monitoring different anesthetic states in patients undergoing general anesthesia.

Objective: The primary objective of this study is to establish the range of index values for the SNAP II corresponding to each anesthetic state (preinduction, loss of response, maintenance, first purposeful response, and extubation). The secondary objectives will assess the range of index values for BIS VISTA corresponding to each anesthetic state compared to published BIS VISTA range information, and estimate the area under the curve, sensitivity, and specificity for both devices.

Methods: This is a multicenter, prospective, double-arm, parallel assignment, single-blind study involving patients undergoing elective surgery that requires general anesthesia. The study will include 40 patients and will be conducted at the following sites: The Ohio State University Medical Center (Columbus, OH); Northwestern University Prentice Women's Hospital (Chicago, IL); and University of Miami Jackson Memorial Hospital (Miami, FL). The study will assess the predictive value of SNAP II versus BIS VISTA indices at various anesthetic states in patients undergoing general anesthesia (preinduction, loss of response, maintenance, first purposeful response, and extubation). The SNAP II and BIS VISTA electrode arrays will be placed on the patient's forehead on opposite sides. The hemisphere location for both devices' electrodes will be equally alternated among the patient population. The index values for both devices will be recorded and correlated with the scorings received by performing the Modified Observer's Assessment of Alertness and Sedation and the American Society of Anesthesiologists Continuum of Depth of Sedation, at different stages of anesthesia.

Results: Enrollment for this study has been completed and statistical data analyses are currently underway.

Conclusions: The results of this trial will provide information that will simultaneously compare the performance of SNAP II and BIS VISTA devices, with regards to monitoring different anesthesia states among patients.

ClinicalTrial: Clinicaltrials.gov NCT00829803; https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT00829803 (Archived by WebCite at http://www.webcitation.org/6nmyi8YKO)

(JMIR Res Protoc 2017;6(2):e15) doi:10.2196/resprot.6741

KEYWORDS

Bispectral index; SNAP II; BIS VISTA; EEG monitoring

Introduction

Anesthesiologists have relied on patients' somatic signs (motor response, alteration in respiratory patterns) and autonomic signs (hypertension, tachycardia, lacrimation, sweating), and eliciting responses using tactile and verbal stimulation when assessing patients' depth of anesthesia and comfort level [1,2]. Based on this data, anesthetic agents are used to achieve hypnotic effects, blocking somatic motor response and suppressing autonomic response to noxious stimulation [1,2]. Although objective physiological signs are easy to observe in nonresponsive patients, these signs may be nonspecific [1].

Intraoperative awareness has been a concern among surgical patients undergoing anesthesia and it may be responsible for postoperative major depression and/or suicide secondary to posttraumatic stress disorder [3,4]. The incidence of intraoperative awareness is approximately 0.1-0.2% among the general surgical population, and approximately 1% among patients with reduced cardiac reserve, or those undergoing cardiac surgery or caesarean section [3-5].

Commercially available electrical monitors have been developed to enhance the assessment of patients' levels of consciousness, using both low- and high-frequency electroencephalogram (EEG) signals [6,7]. SNAP II is a single-channel EEG device that monitors brain activity [8], and is intended to monitor the state of the brain by acquiring EEG signals [9]. A derived measure provided by the SNAP II index indicates the patient's brain activity level [9]. The SNAP II index is based on a unique combination of low-frequency (0.1-40 hertz) and high-frequency (80-420 hertz) EEG analysis that is processed for display in a time-based trend [8].

Conversely, the bispectral index (BIS) VISTA is a dual-channel EEG device that monitors brain activity [8]. The BIS VISTA index is based on bispectral analysis of the EEG [8]. BIS VISTA is a dimensionless number between 0 and 100 [8,10] (Table 1). The 40-60 range is suitable for surgical anesthesia, 0 indicates flat line EEG, and 100 indicates that the patient is fully awake [3,10-15]. SNAP II records a value every second, whereas BIS VISTA is usually set up to provide indices every 5 seconds [10,16]. Studies have shown that monitoring a patient's consciousness level during a procedure leads to a reduction in drug consumption, which helps in earlier recovery and reduces anesthesia-related adverse events [3,15,17].

This clinical study will provide information by simultaneously comparing the performance of SNAP II and BIS VISTA, by assessing their efficacy in monitoring different anesthetic states in patients undergoing general anesthesia.

 Table 1. BIS VISTA index ranges [10].

Index	BIS VISTA
100	Awake: responds to normal voice
80	Light/moderate sedation: may respond to loud command or mild prodding/shaking
60	General anesthesia: low probability of explicit recall and unresponsive to verbal stimulus
40	Deep hypnotic state
20	Burst suppression
0	Flat line electroencephalogram

Methods

This is a multicenter, prospective, double-arm, parallel assignment, single-blind study involving patients undergoing elective surgery that requires general anesthesia. The study will examine the predictive value of Stryker Instruments' SNAP II versus the BIS VISTA indices at various anesthetic states during a surgical procedure under general anesthesia.

Information obtained during the study will be used to identify and evaluate the benefit of using SNAP II in different types of surgical procedures. This data will include electronic records from the devices undergoing study, electronic records from physiological monitor(s), the anesthesia provider's notes, case notes from a clinical observer, patient demographic information (gender, age, weight, height, medical history, and handedness), and record of Post-Anesthesia Care Unit (PACU) follow-up.

The primary objective of this study is to establish the range of index values for the SNAP II corresponding to each anesthetic state (preinduction, loss of response, maintenance, first purposeful response, and extubation). The secondary objectives will assess the range of index values for BIS VISTA corresponding to each anesthetic state compared to published

BIS VISTA range information, and estimate the area under the curve (AUC), sensitivity, and specificity for both devices.

After Institutional Review Board (IRB) approval, all clinical investigation sites will enroll a total of 40 patients. All surgeries will be performed at the following sites: The Ohio State University Medical Center (Columbus, OH); Northwestern University Prentice Women's Hospital (Chicago, IL); and University of Miami Jackson Memorial Hospital (Miami, FL).

Eligibility requirements include: patients 18 to 65 years of age, American Society of Anesthesiologists (ASA) physical status classification system I-III, body mass index <40, weight >41 kilograms, undergoing elective surgery (expected length <4 hours) under general anesthesia, and signing informed consent. Exclusion criteria include: prisoners, pregnant women, taking psychoactive medication within the past 7 days, known alcohol or narcotic abusers within the last 6 months or reporting narcotic use 24 hours prior to surgery, history of any adverse incident with anesthesia, head or neck surgery, recent trauma, active seizure disorder, dementia, Alzheimer's disease, or active infection.

Data collection for all devices in the study (SNAP II, BIS VISTA, and the physiological monitor) will be performed electronically, enabling the monitors to record case events. Case event recording will be done using a master clock (operating room wall clock) synchronized with the SNAP II device, the BIS VISTA device, the physiological monitor, or a laptop computer used to collect data from the physiological monitor.

Clinical consciousness assessments will be standardized using the Modified Observer's Assessment of Alertness and Sedation (MOAAS; Table 2 [18]) and the ASA Continuum of Depth of Sedation (Table 3 [19]) criteria.

 Table 2. Modified Observer's Assessment of Alertness and Sedation Scale.

Score	Responsiveness
5	Responds readily to name spoken in normal tone
4	Lethargic response to name spoken in normal tone
3	Responds only after name is called loudly and/or repeatedly
2	Responds only after mild prodding or shaking
1	Responds only after painful trapezius squeeze
0	No response after painful trapezius squeeze

 Table 3. American Society of Anesthesiologists Continuum of Depth of Sedation.

	Minimal Sedation (Anxiolysis)	Moderate Sedation/ Analgesia (Conscious Sedation)	Deep Sedation/ Analgesia	General Anesthesia
Responsiveness	Normal response to verbal stimulation	Purposeful response to verbal or tactile stimulation	Purposeful response following repeated or painful stimulation	Unarousable even with painful stimulus
Airway	Unaffected	No intervention required	Intervention may be required	Intervention often required
Spontaneous ventilation	Unaffected	Adequate	May be inadequate	Frequently inadequate
Cardiovascular function	Unaffected	Usually maintained	Usually maintained	May be impaired

Five anesthetic states will be monitored in this study, as follows:

1. Preinduction baseline: time between application of the electrodes and induction.

2. Loss of response: occurs within the induction phase of anesthesia, defined as the period of time starting with the delivery of the induction agents and ending at the beginning of maintenance. During anesthesia induction, patients will be instructed to hold onto a weighted object as long as possible using a supinated hand. The moment that the object is dropped will be considered the *loss of response* time.

3. Anesthesia maintenance: this time starts 10 minutes after completion of induction medication administration, and ends when the anesthetic agent delivery stops.

4. First purposeful response: defined as a definitive response after anesthesia is discontinued and the MOAAS score is >1 and ASA status is *deep sedation* or lighter.

5. Extubation or laryngeal mask airway (LMA) removal: as per meeting clinical criteria for extubation or discontinuation of the LMA.

Delivery of anesthesia will be standardized, and the use of anesthetic agents will be controlled and carefully documented during the study to avoid confounding results. Tapering of inhalation agents in anticipation of the end of a surgical case will not be allowed, as this could skew study results. Allowable agents for this study are outlined in Textbox 1.

Textbox 1. Agents eligible to be used in the study.

- Preinduction (anxiolytics) agents such as Versed (0.04 milligrams/kilogram, maximum 2 milligrams).
- Induction agents such as propofol (2 milligrams/kilogram) delivered as a continuous infusion at the rate of 300 micrograms/kilogram/minute; succinylcholine is optional for endotracheal tube placement only.
- Prior to intubation or LMA placement, use up to 0.5 micrograms/kilogram fentanyl, plus timely delivery of succinylcholine if needed.
- After the administration of fentanyl, face mask ventilation (FMV) will be performed with sevoflurane (1.0-1.5 minimum alveolar concentration adjusted per age) for 3 minutes. Partial pressure of carbon dioxide <50 mmHg and minimum peripheral capillary oxygen saturation of 94% will be maintained. Nitrous oxide is not allowed.
- After 3 minutes of FMV, intubation or LMA placement will be performed.
- Optional agents will be used as per investigator criteria and ondansetron (4 milligrams intravenous) and/or other antiemetic will be administered for postoperative nausea and vomiting prophylaxis. Fentanyl will be used as a narcotic only (not as induction or maintenance agent) for intraoperative analgesia. Analgesia upon PACU arrival will follow institutional standard operational procedures (may use drugs other than fentanyl) or toradol (30 milligrams intravenous) will be used as an alternative.
- The following agents/techniques are not allowed during the study: ketamine, total intravenous anesthesia, and prolonged use of neuromuscular blocking agents beyond dose required for intubation or LMA placement.

Electronic and Clinical Consciousness Level Monitoring

Placement of SNAP II and BIS VISTA electrode arrays will be based on the manufacturers' recommended locations (as instructed on electrode packaging materials) and never on the same side of the forehead. Placement of the electrode arrays (left or right) will be allocated based on the study patient number indicated by the study design: even patient numbers will have the SNAP II electrode placed on the right side and the BIS VISTA electrode on the left, and odd patient numbers will have the SNAP II electrode placed on the left side and the BIS VISTA electrode on the right. SNAP II electrodes will be placed as follows: circle number 1 (or number 3) at the center of the forehead above the nose approximately 1.5 inches (approximately 4 centimeters) above the bridge of the nose; circle number 2 (middle sensor) over the arch of the eyebrow; and circle number 3 (or number 1) at the end of the eyebrow line just above the temple. BIS VISTA electrodes will be placed as follows: circle number 1 at the center of the forehead, approximately 2 inches (approximately 5 centimeters) above the nose; circle number 4 directly above and parallel to the eyebrow; and circle number 3 on the temple area between corner of eye and hairline.

Preoperative baseline indices from SNAP II and BIS VISTA monitors will be collected to assess the baseline indices and sensors' impedance checks. Prior to the baseline indices, an impedance check for both devices will be performed and manually recorded. The SNAP II electrode impedances will be checked with a third-party impedance meter to assess the stability of the indices (<10% variation). These preoperative readings will be obtained in the preoperative holding area or in the operating room ten minutes after placing the electrodes from both devices, and before the administration of midazolam; the SNAP II and BIS VISTA baseline index readings will be collected and manually recorded 4 times in a 15 second interval. Consequently, baseline MOAAS and ASA assessments will be performed.

Upon the patient's arrival in the operating room, electrode impedances from both devices will be checked and recorded

```
http://www.researchprotocols.org/2017/2/e15/
```

again to assess the stability of the indices. Preinduction MOAAS and ASA assessments will be performed, then both electrodes will be connected to their respective monitors before induction time, to assess the indices from both devices 4 times in a 15 second interval.

After the patient shows a loss of response, 4 MOAAS and ASA assessments will be performed at 15 second intervals to confirm the loss of response event. In addition, a manual impedance check of both devices will be performed, and time and value will be recorded to confirm the stability of the indices.

After intubation or LMA placement, MOAAS and ASA assessments will be performed every 2 minutes until sevoflurane administration is discontinued. Furthermore, the time and description of all significant events or maneuvers/procedures performed during maintenance will be recorded.

Prior to sevoflurane discontinuation, additional impedance checks will be performed on both devices, and the corresponding times and values will be recorded. At incision closure, sevoflurane administration will be discontinued (tapering of sevoflurane will not be allowed). Consequently, MOAAS and ASA assessments will be performed every 15 seconds until the first purposeful response is observed. From this moment, these assessments will be performed every 30 seconds until patients meet clinical criteria for extubation or LMA removal. Additionally, impedance checks will be performed and recorded immediately before extubation or LMA removal time. The study procedure is outlined in Figure 1.

Postsurgical pain assessment will be conducted upon PACU arrival by using a numeric pain rating scale, and asking the patient to rate their pain ranging from 0 to 10: 0 indicates no pain and 10 indicates the worst possible pain. PACU discharge will be determined by institutional standard of practice.

There is no patient follow-up in this study beyond pain assessment in the PACU. Any deviations from the protocol will be documented and the appropriate report will be submitted to the participating IRB and sponsor. All postoperative complications/concurrent medical events and follow-up on existing complication/adverse events will be documented and

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

reported accordingly. The investigator will immediately notify the monitor and the sponsor regarding all adverse product-related events until the patient's admission to PACU. The event is to be appropriately documented by the investigator on a serious adverse event form.

Figure 1. Procedural flow chart. BIS: bispectral index; ASA: American Society of Anesthesiologists Continuum of Depth of Sedation; MOAAS: Modified Observer's Assessment of Alertness and Sedation; SEVO: Sevoflurane.



Statistical Methods

In this study, for a given pair of clinical states, our goal is to choose a threshold in SNAP II values that best distinguishes the two states, and to precisely estimate the accuracy associated with this threshold. We define this accuracy as the average of the sensitivity and specificity (if an equal number of values for both states exist, this is simply the proportion of the index values during both states correctly classified). This accuracy calculation will first be done for each patient, and then the patient-level accuracies will be averaged to determine an overall estimate of accuracy. We assume an overdispersed binomial variance, which depends not only on the true accuracy but also on a within-patient correlation of the correct classification indicator variables. We will calculate the standard deviation of the overall estimated accuracy under varying values of number of patients, number of SNAP II index values per patient per state, true mean accuracy, and within-patient correlation. Assuming the true accuracy is 0.95, the number of index values per state is at least 10, and the within-patient correlation is 0.25, a sample of 30 patients will result in a standard deviation of approximately 0.02, which we deem sufficiently small.

There are four pairs of clinical states that we wish to distinguish using the SNAP II index values. For each pair of states, the nonparametric estimate of the area under the receiving operating characteristic (ROC) curve will be computed at the patient-level. An overall AUC will be computed as the average of the patient-level values. Confidence intervals (95%) will be computed as mean (standard error 1.96), where the standard error of the mean is based on patient-level values. An overall ROC curve for each pair of states will be estimated by pooling observations across patients. Ranges of typical index values for each of the 5 clinical states will be identified and reported.

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2017/2/e15/

RenderX

Correlation between MOAAS values and the SNAP II and BIS VISTA index values will be assessed with the nonparametric Spearman's rank-based correlation. Only the index value closest in time to each MOAAS value will be used in estimating this correlation. In addition, box plots of SNAP II and BIS VISTA index values versus MOAAS values will be created. Plots showing SNAP II and BIS VISTA index values over time for each patient, with annotated clinical states, will also be created.

Both BIS VISTA and SNAP II index values will be assigned to a clinical state based on the time of index value collection. Only values of SNAP II and BIS VISTA taken at the same time will be used. SNAP II records a value every second, whereas BIS VISTA records a value every 5 seconds, so every fifth SNAP II value will be used in analyses [10,16]. For baseline, loss of response, maintenance, first purposeful response, and extubation, the 10 values of BIS VISTA immediately following the clinical event (covering approximately 50 seconds of time) and the 10 matching SNAP II values will be assigned to that state. All BIS VISTA values and matching SNAP II values obtained from 10 minutes after loss of consciousness until the inhalation anesthesia is turned off will be assigned to maintenance state.

Results

Enrollment for this study has been completed and statistical data analyses are currently underway.

Discussion

This part of the study will be elaborated when data analyses are completed. The results of this clinical trial will provide information by simultaneously comparing the performance of

SNAP II and BIS VISTA by assessing their efficacy in monitoring different anesthetic states in patients undergoing general anesthesia. Due to the complexity of the study procedures and anesthesia regimen used for this trial, we anticipate a moderate to high incidence of screen failures during enrolment.

Acknowledgments

The authors gratefully acknowledge Akarsh J Parekh, BS, and Nicoleta Stoicea, MD, PhD, for their writing and editing collaboration.

Authors' Contributions

SB participated in literature searches, study design, methodology, data collection, and manuscript writing. AU participated in methodology, data collection, and manuscript writing. EP participated in literature searches, study design, methodology, and manuscript writing. RM, RS, and KC participated in data collection. RK and SD participated in literature searches, study design, and methodology.

Conflicts of Interest

This study was funded by Stryker Corporate.

References

- Springman SR, Andrei A, Willmann K, Rusy DA, Warren ME, Han S, et al. A comparison of SNAP II and bispectral index monitoring in patients undergoing sedation. Anaesthesia 2010 Aug;65(8):815-819 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2044.2010.06408.x] [Medline: 20586747]
- 2. Mahla M. The electroencephalogram in the operating room. Seminars in Anesthesia, Perioperative Medicine and Pain 1997 Mar;16(1):3-13. [doi: 10.1016/S0277-0326(97)80003-7]
- Myles PS, Leslie K, McNeil J, Forbes A, Chan MT. Bispectral index monitoring to prevent awareness during anaesthesia: the B-Aware randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2004 May 29;363(9423):1757-1763. [doi: <u>10.1016/S0140-6736(04)16300-9</u>] [Medline: <u>15172773</u>]
- 4. Mashour GA, Shanks A, Tremper KK, Kheterpal S, Turner CR, Ramachandran SK, et al. Prevention of intraoperative awareness with explicit recall in an unselected surgical population: a randomized comparative effectiveness trial. Anesthesiology 2012 Oct;117(4):717-725 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/ALN.0b013e31826904a6] [Medline: 22990178]
- 5. Sebel PS, Bowdle TA, Ghoneim MM, Rampil IJ, Padilla RE, Gan TJ, et al. The incidence of awareness during anesthesia: a multicenter United States study. Anesth Analg 2004 Sep;99(3):833-9, table of contents. [doi: 10.1213/01.ANE.0000130261.90896.6C] [Medline: 15333419]
- Anderson RE, Jakobsson JG. Cerebral state monitor, a new small handheld EEG monitor for determining depth of anaesthesia: a clinical comparison with the bispectral index during day-surgery. Eur J Anaesthesiol 2006 Mar;23(3):208-212. [doi: 10.1017/S0265021505002206] [Medline: 16430792]
- Jameson LC, Sloan TB. Using EEG to monitor anesthesia drug effects during surgery. J Clin Monit Comput 2006 Dec;20(6):445-472. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10877-006-9044-x</u>] [Medline: <u>17103250</u>]
- Wong CA, Fragen RJ, Fitzgerald PC, McCarthy RJ. The association between propofol-induced loss of consciousness and the SNAP index. Anesth Analg 2005 Jan;100(1):141-148. [doi: <u>10.1213/01.ANE.0000138057.61904.FD</u>] [Medline: <u>15616068</u>]
- 9. Hrelec C, Puente E, Bergese S, Dzwonczyk R. SNAP II versus BIS VISTA monitor comparison during general anesthesia. J Clin Monit Comput 2010 Aug;24(4):283-288. [doi: 10.1007/s10877-010-9246-0] [Medline: 20652380]
- 10. Kelley S. Monitoring consciousness. 2007. Using the Bispectral IndexTM during anesthesia URL: <u>http://www.medtronic.com/</u> <u>content/dam/covidien/library/us/en/legacyimport/patientmonitoringrecovery/patient-monitoring/7/</u> <u>bis-monitoring-consciousness-using-bilateral-index-during-anesthesia-pocket-guide.pdf</u> [accessed 2017-01-17] [WebCite Cache ID 6nb3hjQdX]
- 11. Schneider G, Gelb AW, Schmeller B, Tschakert R, Kochs E. Detection of awareness in surgical patients with EEG-based indices--bispectral index and patient state index. Br J Anaesth 2003 Sep;91(3):329-335 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 12925469]
- Punjasawadwong Y, Phongchiewboon A, Bunchungmongkol N. Bispectral index for improving anaesthetic delivery and postoperative recovery. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2014 Jun 17(6):CD003843. [doi: <u>10.1002/14651858.CD003843.pub3</u>] [Medline: <u>24937564</u>]
- Avidan MS, Jacobsohn E, Glick D, Burnside BA, Zhang L, Villafranca A, BAG-RECALL Research Group. Prevention of intraoperative awareness in a high-risk surgical population. N Engl J Med 2011 Aug 18;365(7):591-600. [doi: <u>10.1056/NEJMoa1100403</u>] [Medline: <u>21848460</u>]
- Gan TJ, Glass PS, Windsor A, Payne F, Rosow C, Sebel P, et al. Bispectral index monitoring allows faster emergence and improved recovery from propofol, alfentanil, and nitrous oxide anesthesia. BIS Utility Study Group. Anesthesiology 1997 Oct;87(4):808-815. [Medline: <u>9357882</u>]

- Fernández-Torre JL, Hernández-Hernández MA. Utility of bilateral Bispectral index (BIS) monitoring in a comatose patient with focal nonconvulsive status epilepticus. Seizure 2012 Jan;21(1):61-64 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.seizure.2011.09.001] [Medline: 21945334]
- Dahaba A, Xue J, Hua Y, Liu Q, Xu G, Liu Y, et al. The utility of using the bispectral index-Vista for detecting cross-clamping decline in cerebral blood flow velocity. Neurosurgery 2010 Sep;67(3 Suppl Operative):ons102-7; discussion ons107. [doi: 10.1227/01.NEU.0000383152.50183.81] [Medline: 20679941]
- 17. Ekman A, Lindholm M, Lennmarken C, Sandin R. Reduction in the incidence of awareness using BIS monitoring. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand 2004 Jan;48(1):20-26. [Medline: <u>14674969</u>]
- Schmidt GN, Standl T, Lankenau G, Hellstern A, Hipp C, Bischoff P. [SNAP-index and bispectral index during induction of anaesthesia with propofol and remiferitanil]. Anasthesiol Intensivmed Notfallmed Schmerzther 2004 May;39(5):286-291. [doi: 10.1055/s-2004-814559] [Medline: 15156420]
- 19. Sheahan C, Mathews D. Monitoring and delivery of sedation. Br J Anaesth 2014 Dec;113 Suppl 2:ii37-ii47 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/bja/aeu378] [Medline: 25498581]

Abbreviations

ASA: American Society of Anesthesiologists AUC: area under the curve BIS: bispectral index EEG: electroencephalogram FMV: face mask ventilation IRB: Institutional Review Board LMA: laryngeal mask airway MOAAS: Modified Observer's Assessment of Alertness and Sedation PACU: Post-Anesthesia Care Unit ROC: receiving operating characteristic

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 05.10.16; peer-reviewed by T Aslanidis, WF Tan; comments to author 23.11.16; revised version received 29.11.16; accepted 30.11.16; published 03.02.17.

Please cite as:

Bergese SD, Uribe AA, Puente EG, Marcus RJL, Krohn RJ, Docsa S, Soto RG, Candiotti KA A Prospective, Multicenter, Single-Blind Study Assessing Indices of SNAP II Versus BIS VISTA on Surgical Patients Undergoing General Anesthesia JMIR Res Protoc 2017;6(2):e15 URL: http://www.researchprotocols.org/2017/2/e15/ doi:10.2196/resprot.6741 PMID:28159731

©Sergio D Bergese, Alberto A Uribe, Erika G Puente, R-Jay L Marcus, Randall J Krohn, Steven Docsa, Roy G Soto, Keith A Candiotti. Originally published in JMIR Research Protocols (http://www.researchprotocols.org), 03.02.2017. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Research Protocols, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.researchprotocols.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Protocol

Irreversible Electroporation for the Ablation of Renal Cell Carcinoma: A Prospective, Human, In Vivo Study Protocol (IDEAL Phase 2b)

Mara Buijs¹, MD; Krijn P van Lienden², MD, PhD; Peter GK Wagstaff¹, MD, PhD; Matthijs JV Scheltema¹, MD; Daniel M de Bruin³, MSc, PhD; Patricia J Zondervan¹, MD; Otto M van Delden², MD, PhD; Ton G van Leeuwen³, MD, PhD; Jean JMCH de la Rosette¹, MD, PhD; M Pilar Laguna¹, MD, PhD

Corresponding Author:

Mara Buijs, MD Academic Medical Center Department of Urology University of Amsterdam Meibergdreef 9 Amsterdam, Netherlands Phone: 31 20 5665793 Fax: 31 20 5669585 Email: <u>m.buijs@amc.uva.nl</u>

Abstract

Background: Irreversible electroporation (IRE) is an emerging technique delivering electrical pulses to ablate tissue, with the theoretical advantage to overcome the main shortcomings of conventional thermal ablation. Recent short-term research showed that IRE for the ablation of renal masses is a safe and feasible treatment option. In an ablate and resect design, histopathological analysis 4 weeks after radical nephrectomy demonstrated that IRE-targeted renal tumors were completely covered by ablation zone. In order to develop a validated long-term IRE follow-up study, it is essential to obtain clinical confirmation of the efficacy of this novel technology. Additionally, follow-up after IRE ablation obliges verification of a suitable imaging modality.

Objective: The objectives of this study are the clinical efficacy and safety of IRE ablation of renal masses and to evaluate the use of cross-sectional imaging modalities in the follow-up after IRE in renal tumors. This study conforms to the recommendations of the IDEAL Collaboration and can be categorized as a phase 2B exploration trial.

Methods: In this prospective clinical trial, IRE will be performed in 20 patients aged 18 years and older presenting with a solid enhancing small renal mass (SRM) (\leq 4 cm) who are candidates for ablation. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and contrast-enhanced ultrasound (CEUS) will be performed at 1 day pre-IRE, and 1 week post-IRE. Computed tomography (CT), CEUS, and MRI will be performed at 3 months, 6 months, and 12 months post-IRE.

Results: Presently, recruitment of patients has started and the first inclusions are completed. Preliminary results and outcomes are expected in 2018.

Conclusions: To establish the position of IRE ablation for treating renal tumors, a structured stepwise assessment in clinical practice is required. This study will offer fundamental knowledge on the clinical efficacy of IRE ablation for SRMs, potentially positioning IRE as ablative modality for renal tumors and accrediting future research with long-term follow-up.

Trial Registration: Clinicaltrials.gov registration number NCT02828709; https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02828709 (archived by WebCite at http://www.webcitation.org/6nmWK7Uu9). Dutch Central Committee on Research Involving Human Subjects NL56935.018.16

(JMIR Res Protoc 2017;6(2):e21) doi:10.2196/resprot.6725



¹Academic Medical Center, Department of Urology, University of Amsterdam, Amsterdam, Netherlands

²Academic Medical Center, Department of Radiology, University of Amsterdam, Amsterdam, Netherlands

³Academic Medical Center, Department of Biomedical Engineering and Physics, University of Amsterdam, Amsterdam, Netherlands

KEYWORDS

irreversible electroporation; IRE; ablation; kidney; renal cell carcinoma; cancer; safety; efficacy

Introduction

Ablative Therapy in Renal Cell Carcinoma

Due to widespread detection of small renal masses (SRMs), a gradual but sustained rise in incidence of renal tumors 4 cm or less (cT1a, according to the TNM [tumor/node/metastasis] staging system) has been observed [1-4]. At present, the reference standard therapy in the management of SRMs is nephron sparing surgery like partial nephrectomy [5]. However, a significant interest is sparked in minimally invasive therapies, including cryoablation and radiofrequency ablation (RFA). Literature shows that thermal ablation compared to partial nephrectomy is characterized by a slightly higher recurrence rate but also accompanied by a lower complication rate [6,7]. Nevertheless, a growing body of research advocates that in selected patients similar oncological results can be obtained compared to those accomplished in surgical resection [8]. Current guidelines recommend primary ablative therapy in patients who are (1) not suitable for surgery, (2) have a genetic predisposition for developing multiple tumors, and (3) are diagnosed with bilateral tumors or have a solitary kidney and are at risk of complete loss of renal function after surgery [9-11].

Ablation of undesirable tissue depends on accurate dosing and adequate targeting of tumor destruction while sparing vital structures such as adjacent organs, collecting system, or major vessels [12,13]. Due to temperature fluctuations that are accompanied with the thermal character of cryoablation and RFA, it is thought that the destruction process of the tumor is unselective [14,15]. Ablation effects and tissue heating may be less effective in proximity to blood vessels as a result of thermal drainage by regional vascular flow impairing the extent of coagulation, in the literature termed as a "heat sink" effect [9,16]. Additionally, collateral damage to underlying vital structures can occur, as the natures of these structures are susceptible to extreme temperatures. Therefore according to guidelines, renal tumors located near the hilum or near the proximal ureter are not suitable for thermal ablation, forming a niche in ablative treatment of renal tumors [10].

Irreversible Electroporation in Renal Cell Carcinoma

An emerging technique among the assortment of ablative modalities is called irreversible electroporation (IRE). It is based on high-voltage electrical pulses transferred between 2 or more needle electrodes. Charging the cell membrane causes holes in the membrane called nanopores, resulting in increased permeability of the cell and subsequent cell death [13,17-20].

Theoretically, the mechanism of action of IRE does not rely on temperature changes. Therefore it has been postulated that it has the potential to overcome the current limitations of thermal ablative modalities like cryoablation and RFA [12]. However, using the current clinical device settings, a rise in temperature is to be expected as shown by Wagstaff et al in an animal model [21].

With regard to IRE ablation in renal tumors, 4 studies have been performed in humans [20,22-24]. All studies concluded that safety of IRE in humans is warranted as long as electrocardiogram (ECG) synchronization is used.

Trimmer et al made a start in clinical efficacy, describing postablation features on cross-sectional imaging. Although these initial results seem promising and appear similar to conventional ablative techniques, a few limitations deserve consideration. The study design is retrospective, and the follow - up was limited. Imaging was available in 15 out of 20 patients (75%) at 6-month follow-up and only in 6 out of 20 patients (30%) at 1-year follow-up [23].

Thomson et al performed IRE in various organs, including 10 renal tumors in 7 patients. One patient (14%) developed an ureteral stricture after IRE ablation in an area of the ureter that previously had been obstructed by RFA. Other centrally located tumors did not show any major complications. A total of 2 patients (29%) experienced minor complications consisting of transient hematuria [24]. Wendler et al were the first to provide histopathological data of IRE in renal tumors of 3 patients, showing complete coverage of the tumor within the ablation zone with preservation of the renal parenchyma [25]. Very small tumor residues of unclear malignant potential were found within the ablation zone. Unfortunately, clinical significance of these residues remained unclear and impossible to follow up since the tumors had been resected.

Rationale

The first human studies have proven the safety of IRE for the ablation of SRMs. Initial results on clinical efficacy of IRE are promising and imply that effective oncological management is achievable. Clinical outcomes should be investigated in a small patient population to provide essential data before embarking on a randomized trial. We therefore plan to perform a study aiming at the clinical efficacy and safety of IRE in SRMs, with a specific focus on postablation follow-up with cross-sectional imaging. Research on IRE in liver tumors has demonstrated that ablation success of IRE decreases with tumor size above 4 cm [24]. According to current guidelines, ablative treatment is only offered to patients with SRMs (≤ 4 cm) [10]. Therefore, we aim to investigate IRE ablation in renal masses up to 4 cm. This prospective, human, in vivo trial is an essential step in order to safely progress to larger randomized trials on IRE of SRMs. This study conforms to the recommendations of the IDEAL (idea, development, exploration, assessment, long-term study) Collaboration and can be categorized as a phase 2B exploration trial [26].

Methods

Study Objectives

• To determine the clinical efficacy of IRE ablation for SRMs (≤4 cm) assessed by the recurrence and residual disease rate at follow - up using cross - sectional imaging

XSL•F() RenderX

- To evaluate the use of computed tomography (CT), magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), and contrast-enhanced ultrasound (CEUS) in the visualization of (non)complete ablation to assess the radiological extent of the ablation zone at 1 week, 3 months, 6 months, 9 months and 1 year after IRE
- To evaluate perioperative outcomes after IRE ablation of SRMs (≤4 cm) such as (1) renal function, measured by creatinine levels and estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR), (2) average length of hospital stay, (3) quality of life, and (4) postoperative pain score after IRE, measured by a visual analog scale (VAS) and analgesics use
- To determine the safety and feasibility of IRE ablation of SRMs (≤4 cm) by evaluating device and procedural adverse events using Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events (CTCAE) version 4.0

Population

A total of 20 patients with solid enhancing SRMs on cross-sectional imaging qualifying for ablative therapy will be enrolled in this study. Eligible patients are 18 years of age and older and will receive a biopsy of the SRM before procedure. All inclusions are reviewed for safety and eligibility by a nephrologist participating in the research project. The inclusion and exclusion criteria for this study are listed in Textbox 1.

Textbox 1. Selection criteria. Severe cardiovascular disease is defined as the diagnosis of myocardial infarction, uncontrolled angina, significant ventricular arrhythmias, stroke or severe cardiac failure (New York Heart Association class III and IV) within 6 months prior to inclusion.

Inclusion criteria:		
•	Age 18 years and older	
•	Solid enhancing SRM on cross-sectional imaging	
•	Candidate for ablation	
•	Signed informed consent	
Exclusion criteria:		
•	Irreversible bleeding disorders	
•	Inability to stop anticoagulation therapy	
•	Implantable cardioverter-defibrillator or pacemaker	
•	Severe cardiovascular disease	

Study Design

This is a prospective, human, in vivo study among 20 patients presenting with solid enhancing SRM on cross-sectional imaging suspect for RCC. Preoperatively, imaging is required through CT, MRI, and CEUS. Furthermore, serum creatinine levels and VAS scores are obtained. A biopsy of the SRM will be performed prior to the ablation. IRE ablation will be performed using CT guidance, and ablation success will be measured directly after the ablation through contrast-enhanced CT. Device-related adverse events will be registered using the CTCAE version 4.0 guideline. At 1 week postablation, only CEUS and MRI will be performed to limit exposure to ionizing radiation. At 3 months, 6 months, and 12 months postablation, CEUS, MRI, and CT will be performed. Additionally at these time points, serum creatinine levels and VAS scores will be obtained, and quality of life will be assessed through Short Form 36 (SF-36) questionnaires. Residual and recurrent disease will be assessed through tissue enhancement on cross-sectional imaging. When imaging appears suspicious for recurrence or residual disease, a percutaneous renal core biopsy will be performed. A study flowchart demonstrating the investigations is outlined in Figure 1.



Figure 1. Study design flowchart.



Study Procedures

XSL•F() RenderX

Renal Core Biopsy (Standard)

According to the ablation protocol of the Academic Medical Center University Hospital, percutaneous renal core biopsies

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2017/2/e21/

will be obtained prior to the IRE procedure if patient desires. At least 2 core biopsies will be acquired for pathological examination.

Irreversible Electroporation Ablation (Study Intervention)

In this study, IRE ablation is performed using the NanoKnife IRE device (AngioDynamics Inc) (Figure 2, A), also registered as the HVP-01 electroporation system. The IRE system contains a low energy direct current generator, a foot switch, and 19G monopolar needle electrodes (15 or 25 cm length). Regulatory authorities have approved both the device and the electrodes through a Conformité Européenne certificate for the use of cell membrane electroporation. Additionally, the US Food and Drug Administration has granted 510(k) clearance with premarket notifications (K060054, K080202, K080376, K080287). Granted 510(k) components are all approved for surgical ablation of soft tissue.

The IRE procedure will be performed at the radiology department CT room with the patient under general anesthesia including deep muscle relaxation to prevent severe muscle contraction [27]. CT imaging will be performed with the patient in the prone or lateral position, dependent on tumor location and position of adjacent organs such as intestines. An interventional radiologist cooperating with a urological surgeon, both experts on percutaneous ablative procedures, will perform the IRE procedure. IRE pulses will be synchronized with ECG under supervision of an anesthesiologist. Prior to ablation, a

(second) set of biopsies will be obtained to confirm histopathology. Guided by CT and accompanied by an external spacer for fixation, needle electrodes will be placed (Figure 2, B). The amount of probes and probe placement will be attuned for specific tumor size and location, granting 15 mm between the electrodes with an active tip length of 15 mm. IRE pulses with pulse intensity of 1500 V/cm will be delivered in 90 consecutive pulses of 90 μ s. Settings are used to disrupt the cell membrane potential in order to achieve irreversible permeability of the cell and subsequent apoptosis. Van den Bos et al demonstrated that with current settings the ablation zone is completely ablated without leaving any skip lesions within the electrode configuration [28].

The primary cycle of IRE will take 5 to 10 minutes with a total operating time (including anesthesia) of approximately 90 minutes. Immediately after IRE has been performed, a contrast-enhanced CT will be made to assess adequate ablation. It is expected that patients will be discharged 24 to 36 hours after the IRE procedure. Before patient's discharge, quality of life and postprocedural pain will be assessed through SF-36 questionnaire and VAS score respectively. At 1 week after the procedure, VAS score and SF-36 questionnaire will be obtained and cross-sectional imaging by CEUS and MRI will be performed.

Figure 2. A. The NanoKnife IRE console. B. The console operates with 19G monopolar needle electrodes, which are bundled together using the external spacers.





Β.

Computed Tomography Imaging (Standard)

As provided per ablation protocol, CT imaging will take place during the diagnostic phase and during the procedure. According to our ablation surveillance protocol, follow-up CT imaging will be performed at 3 months, 6 months, 1 year, 1.5 year, 2 years, 2.5 years, and 3 years after IRE ablation. After this, patients will be followed up yearly up to 10 years. This is the standardized follow - up after ablative therapy at our institution (see Figure 1). Patients with an eGFR below 60 mL/min/1.73 m² will undergo pre- and posthydration in order to prevent contrast-induced nephropathy. Patients with an eGFR below 30 mL/min/1.73 m² are excluded from CT imaging.

CT imaging will be performed in a supine position in a dual source CT system, SOMATOM Force (Siemens Medical Solutions), or in a Sensation 64-slice CT scanner (Siemens Medical Solutions). First, a survey scan from the upper border of the diaphragm to the ischium bone will be made. Next, noncontrast series in the same section will be performed. Subsequently, 120 mL of Ultravist-300 diluted with NaCl 0.9% will be administered intravenously with a speed of 4 mL/s. Following contrast injection, arterial, venous, and delayed series will be obtained after 45 seconds, 115 seconds, and 600 seconds, respectively. Source images will be reconstructed in coronal and sagittal planes using multiplanar reconstruction in the venous and delayed series.

Contrast-Enhanced Ultrasound and Magnetic Resonance Imaging (Study Intervention)

Baseline CEUS will take place 1 day before IRE, and 1 week, 3 months, 6 months, and 12 months after IRE. MRI imaging will take place 1 week, 3 months, 6 months, and 12 months post-IRE (see Figure 1). This frequency was established in order to assess lesion size and characteristics.

CEUS imaging encompasses microbubbles of 3 to 5 μ m as a contrast agent to visualize blood flow. The phospholipid-coated microbubbles demonstrate regional tissue vascularization, including the tissue-specific microvasculature. This study uses a Philips iU22 (Phillips Healthcare) device united with a third-generation intravenous ultrasound contrast agent (SonoVue) for optimal imaging. Sonovue contrast agent is characterized by a distribution half-life of 1 minute and an

elimination half-life of 6 minutes when intravenously administired [29].

MRI will be performed with the patient in the supine position using a 1.5 Tesla AVANTO MRI scanner (Siemens Healthcare) with a 16-channel body matrix array coil. According to our kidney tumor protocol, a minimum of 9 sequences will be performed: T2-trufi with fat suppression, T1-fl2d contrast-enhanced in and out of phase, T2-haste, T1-vibe unenhanced, and dynamic series at 30 seconds, 60 seconds, and 15 minutes . Intravenous contrast agent Gadovist (Bayer Pharma) of 0.1 mmol per kg of body weight will be administered for enhancement.

Sample Size

Our sample size was deliberated on the basis of previous similar study designs that used comparable sample sizes of 6 to 20 patients [20,23-25]. In this phase of research (phase 2B IDEAL Collaboration), a small cohort of N=20 was chosen to acquire first results in order to progress to a large trial. A sample size of 20 patients does not permit reliable comparative statistical analysis. In this study, IRE is intended as a curative therapy. Consequently, there will be no exploration in number of probes and configuration settings. Hence, analysis will be restricted to averages and standard deviations of assessed radiologic features.

Potential Benefits and Risks

Conventional focal ablative therapies, RFA and cryoablation, are indicated in patients presenting with an SRM who are poor surgical candidates or who are genetically predisposed to develop multiple tumors. For this study, IRE ablation will be offered to this group of patients in our institution. Early research into renal IRE has proven that the procedural safety and the periprocedural burden are comparable to conventional ablative therapies. The lack of long-term oncological follow-up poses a potential risk as patients cannot be counseled on the risk of residual or recurrent tumor. Post-IRE follow-up will be equal to postcryoablation and post-RFA follow-up and therefore does not carry additional burden with regard to ionizing radiation. When renal function appears to decrease to eGFR below 30 mL/min/1.73 m², only MRI and CEUS will be performed to prevent contrast-induced nephropathy. Furthermore, potential risks associated with IRE ablation for renal tumors using the NanoKnife system are listed in Table 1.



Table 1. Potential risks associated with irreversible electroporation of renal tumors.

Potential hazards	Potential effects
Excessive energy delivery	Muscle contraction, burn, damage to critical anatomical structure, unintended tissue ablated, bradycardia/hypotension, vagal stimulation/asystole, electrical shock, my-ocardial infarction, stroke, death
Insufficient/no energy delivery	Ineffective ablation, no ablation
Unintended mains or patient circuit voltage exposure to patient or user	Electrical shock
Incorrect timing of pulse delivery	Transient arrhythmia, prolonged arrhythmia, stroke, death
Unintended interference with implanted devices containing electronics or metal parts	Myocardial infarction, stroke, death
Unexpected movement of the device and displacement of the electrodes	Hypotension, damage to critical anatomical structure, pneumothorax, mechanical perforation, hemorrhage, unintended tissue ablated, electrical shock, death
Sterile barrier breach	Infection, sepsis

Data Safety Monitoring Board

The study will be monitored by a data safety monitoring board (DSMB) consisting of an independent urologist and a clinical epidemiologist. This team will monitor patient safety and treatment efficacy data during the study. Monitoring procedures are predetermined and described in the DSMB charter, approved by the institutional review board (IRB) of the Academic Medical Center University Hospital in Amsterdam. Additional DSMB meetings can be called at any time if deemed necessary by the DSMB or the principal investigator.

Analysis

The NanoKnife console produces 2-dimensional images including a prediction of the ablation zone, which is perpendicular to the needle. The AMIRA (FEI) software package system will bundle the 2-dimensional ablation zone cross-sections around the length of the exposed tip. This will estimate the following:

- Ablation zone volume (cm³)
- 3-Dimensional reconstruction
- Ablation zone shape/symmetry

An experienced uroradiologist will evaluate CT and MRI images for the following characteristics :

- Volume of ablation zone (cm³)
- Shape of ablation zone
- Residual tumor on ablation zone border
- Skip lesions or signs of recurrence within ablation zone
- Transition zone between ablated and normal renal tissue
- Damage to adjacent vital structures

For MRI and CT, whole-mount kidney and ablation zone will be calculated. The AMIRA software system will be used to obtain a 3-dimensional kidney and ablation zone. CEUS will be performed by an interventional radiologist and will be used for 2-dimensional imaging only.

Ethical Consideration

The IRB of the Academic Medical Center, Amsterdam, approved this study protocol (2016_055). The protocol has been registered with the Dutch Central Committee on Research Involving Human Subjects (NL56935.018.16) and is entered in the ClinicalTrials.gov database (NCT02828709). The study is conducted in accordance with the ethical principles and standards of Good Clinical Practice which have their origin in the Declaration of Helsinki (Fortaleza, Brazil, October 2013). Potential candidates will receive the study information both verbally and in writing. They will be granted at least 1 week to decide on participation. Written informed consent will be acquired from all participants. If deemed necessary, supplementary information will be provided verbally or in writing.

Availability of Data and Materials

The study initiator, international coordinating researcher, and biostatistician have access to all data. All data is available for audit, and all data will be published in an international peer-reviewed medical journal. The datasets created in the current study are not publicly available due to protecting the privacy of participants but are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

Results

At time of writing the trial is recruiting patients, with 2 inclusions completed. The expected inclusion rate is 1 patient every 6 weeks, resulting in an estimated inclusion period of 2 years. Hence we calculate that we will recruit the full sample size within 2 years. Additionally, early results on outcome of residual tumor disease, quality of life, and safety and feasibility will be acquired within 2 years (see Figure 3). The imaging follow-up in this study is 1 year for each patient (see Figure 1); therefore, we expect to complete the study in 2019.

Figure 3. Planned timeline of recruitment, enrollment, and outcome.



Discussion

Principal Findings

IDEAL phase 1 and 2A research into IRE in renal tumors has shown encouraging short-term outcomes, paving the way for small-scale follow-up studies. In our opinion, it is crucial to investigate the clinical efficacy of IRE in renal tumors to serve as a solid base for a large randomized trial. We aim to determine the clinical effect of IRE by assessing the presence of enhancement on cross-sectional imaging during follow-up as it is advised in thermal ablation [30]. Whereas IRE is a novel ablation technology, posttreatment radiological features in CT scan or MRI are still ill-defined. However, retrospective preliminary research suggests the radiological pattern is similar to the one described after thermal ablation [23].

Limitations

A limitation within our study is the absence of histopathological confirmation post-IRE. In literature, 2 in vivo studies have revealed the IRE ablation effects in a histopathologic analysis. The first study resected the renal tumor immediately after ablation, demonstrating preliminary IRE ablation effect on a cellular level. In this study no definite cell death was observed, implying that IRE effects are not directly established. Wendler et al resected the ablated tumors 4 weeks after the IRE procedure, showing that the ablation zone covered the renal tumors completely. Nonetheless, within the ablation zone very small residues of tumor have been found of uncertain malignancy [22] in 3 cases described. Studies in animal models have demonstrated that the effect of IRE is partially achieved after 3 to 4 weeks [31-33]. Yet resecting ablated RCCs in humans after longer than 4 weeks is not acceptable when ablation is used in curative setting. Hence, the only way to provide insight into the clinical value of these minimal tumor residues is to thoroughly follow patients with intensive imaging studies after IRE ablation. Despite the fact that biopsy during the follow-up targeting the ablation zone may contribute to histopathological confirmation, it would have brought additional burden in a fragile population and would not have been an

RenderX

irrefutable proof of complete ablation. Therefore, as provided by the consensus that ablation success in kidney tumors is assessed by radiological characteristics [30], success in our study will be assessed exclusively based on radiological features.

Conclusions

In our study, IRE parameters (1500 V/cm, active tip length 15 mm, interelectrode spacing 1 to 2 cm, 90 treatment pulses after 10 sufficient test pulses) were chosen because several studies confirmed that on a histopathological level the ablation zone is completely ablated within the electrode configuration without leaving skip lesions [25,28]. Due to the small sample size and the design of the study, we do not intend to explore different IRE configurations and probe settings.

IRE promises consistent ablation results due to its nonthermal character and is therefore theoretically suitable for centrally located tumors. However, recent literature has investigated the temperature rise of IRE ablation in porcine kidneys and livers, demonstrating a significant temperature rise when repetitive high-intensity pulses are applied [21,34]. Al-Sakere et al showed that when a high amount of energy is applied in a small number of pulses, significant rise in temperature occurs (a phenomenon called Joule heating). In current literature, a solution has been suggested in which the same amount of energy is applied in more pulses, which could result in a mild temperature increase [18,35]. Other factors that can influence the temperature in IRE ablation are varying voltage, pulse length, distance between electrodes, active tip length, and electrode configuration [35]. Furthermore, early clinical practice of IRE in renal tumors close to vital structures demonstrated that no major complications occurred, suggesting that thermal damage of IRE is not clinically significant, and centrally located tumors are suitable for IRE [24].

For the follow-up of renal masses, the most frequently used imaging modality is contrast-enhanced CT. Multiple studies have demonstrated that MRI and CEUS are adequate imaging techniques for follow-up after IRE [36-40]. However, the use of contrast-enhanced CT scan in the follow-up after kidney ablation might be precluded because of potential nephrotoxicity

or ionizing radiation exposure in young patients. In the population of patients that receive ablation for their renal mass comorbidity, older age and decrease in renal function are common since their presence entails a clear indication for ablative therapy. Furthermore MRI, applicable to a broader range of the ablated population, may not be easy available and may increase costs. Hence, in this population it is vital to investigate whether other imaging modalities will detect recurrences and residual disease in renal masses with the same accuracy as CT and MRI.

Nononcological outcomes of IRE have been minimally investigated in renal tumors. A total of 2 small studies described serum creatinine levels and demonstrated no significant changes in renal function or transient increase of creatinine which resolved after 1 month [23,24]. Postprocedural pain and length of stay is described by Thomson et al in liver, kidney, and lung (N=36, kidney tumors n=4). While 4 patients were admitted longer than 24 hours, none of these patients had kidney tumors.

Postprocedural pain was registered through analgesics use, demonstrating 2 patients who required intravenous or intramuscular analgesics. No patient required prolonged analgesic use after discharge. Quality of life has not been reported in current IRE literature. Insight in nononcological outcomes, including quality of life, is urgently required since treatment decision making is often influenced by this. Particularly in the ablation population, meaning elderly patients with multiple comorbidities, quality of life after an intervention is of great importance.

Categorized as a level 2b study according to the IDEAL classification, this study will provide prospective information on kidney IRE ablation with an extensive description on the radiological evolution of the ablated lesion along time as well as mid-term oncological outcomes. Lastly, we will provide prospective data on quality of life, kidney function, pain level, and duration of admittance after IRE.

Acknowledgments

This study is supported and funded by the Cure for Cancer foundation (www.cureforcancer.nl). All data will be published in international peer-reviewed medical journals and presented at international conferences. The funding body has posed no publication restrictions.

Authors' Contributions

MB, KPvL, DMdB, JJMCHdlR, and MPLP conceived the trial concept and designed the protocol. PGKW, PJZ, OMvD, MJVS, and TGvL helped develop the trial design and protocol. MPLP is the principle investigator and responsible for trial design, protocol, and trial conduct. All authors aided in drafting the manuscript. All authors have read and approved the final manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

JJMCHdlR is a paid consultant to AngioDynamics Inc.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Peer-review report IRB (Dutch).

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 87KB - resprot_v6i2e21_app1.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 2

Peer-review report IRB (English).

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 33KB - resprot_v6i2e21_app2.pdf]

References

- Chow WH, Devesa SS, Warren JL, Fraumeni JF. Rising incidence of renal cell cancer in the United States. JAMA 1999 May 05;281(17):1628-1631. [Medline: 10235157]
- Hollingsworth JM, Miller DC, Daignault S, Hollenbeck BK. Rising incidence of small renal masses: a need to reassess treatment effect. J Natl Cancer Inst 2006 Sep 20;98(18):1331-1334 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jnci/djj362] [Medline: 16985252]
- Jemal A, Siegel R, Xu J, Ward E. Cancer statistics, 2010. CA Cancer J Clin 2010;60(5):277-300 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3322/caac.20073] [Medline: 20610543]
- 4. Mathew A, Devesa SS, Fraumeni JF, Chow W. Global increases in kidney cancer incidence, 1973-1992. Eur J Cancer Prev 2002 Apr;11(2):171-178. [Medline: <u>11984136</u>]
- 5. Volpe A, Cadeddu JA, Cestari A, Gill IS, Jewett MA, Joniau S, et al. Contemporary management of small renal masses. Eur Urol 2011 Sep;60(3):501-515. [doi: 10.1016/j.eururo.2011.05.044] [Medline: 21664040]

- Wagstaff P, Ingels A, Zondervan P, de la Rosette JJM, Laguna M. Thermal ablation in renal cell carcinoma management: a comprehensive review. Curr Opin Urol 2014 Sep;24(5):474-482. [doi: <u>10.1097/MOU.00000000000084</u>] [Medline: <u>25051022</u>]
- Katsanos K, Mailli L, Krokidis M, McGrath A, Sabharwal T, Adam A. Systematic review and meta-analysis of thermal ablation versus surgical nephrectomy for small renal tumours. Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol 2014 Apr;37(2):427-437. [doi: 10.1007/s00270-014-0846-9] [Medline: 24482030]
- Hafron J, Kaouk JH. Ablative techniques for the management of kidney cancer. Nat Clin Pract Urol 2007 May;4(5):261-269. [doi: <u>10.1038/ncpuro0802</u>] [Medline: <u>17483811</u>]
- 9. Olweny EO, Cadeddu JA. Novel methods for renal tissue ablation. Curr Opin Urol 2012 Sep;22(5):379-384. [doi: 10.1097/MOU.0b013e328355ecf5] [Medline: 22706069]
- 10. Ljungberg B, Bensalah K, Canfield S, Dabestani S, Hofmann F, Hora M, et al. EAU guidelines on renal cell carcinoma: 2014 update. Eur Urol 2015 May;67(5):913-924. [doi: 10.1016/j.eururo.2015.01.005] [Medline: 25616710]
- Van PH, Becker F, Cadeddu JA, Gill IS, Janetschek G, Jewett MA, et al. Treatment of localised renal cell carcinoma. Eur Urol 2011 Oct;60(4):662-672. [doi: 10.1016/j.eururo.2011.06.040] [Medline: 21726933]
- 12. Rubinsky B, Onik G, Mikus P. Irreversible electroporation: a new ablation modality—clinical implications. Technol Cancer Res Treat 2007 Feb;6(1):37-48 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>17241099</u>]
- Davalos RV, Mir IL, Rubinsky B. Tissue ablation with irreversible electroporation. Ann Biomed Eng 2005 Feb;33(2):223-231. [Medline: <u>15771276</u>]
- 14. Lane BR, Moinzadeh A, Kaouk JH. Acute obstructive renal failure after laparoscopic cryoablation of multiple renal tumors in a solitary kidney. Urology 2005 Mar;65(3):593. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.urology.2004.09.044</u>] [Medline: <u>15780398</u>]
- 15. Johnson DB, Solomon SB, Su L, Matsumoto ED, Kavoussi LR, Nakada SY, et al. Defining the complications of cryoablation and radio frequency ablation of small renal tumors: a multi-institutional review. J Urol 2004 Sep;172(3):874-877. [doi: 10.1097/01.ju.0000135833.67906.ec] [Medline: 15310987]
- Ogan K, Jacomides L, Dolmatch BL, Rivera FJ, Dellaria MF, Josephs SC, et al. Percutaneous radiofrequency ablation of renal tumors: technique, limitations, and morbidity. Urology 2002 Dec;60(6):954-958. [Medline: <u>12475648</u>]
- Deipolyi AR, Golberg A, Yarmush ML, Arellano RS, Oklu R. Irreversible electroporation: evolution of a laboratory technique in interventional oncology. Diagn Interv Radiol 2014;20(2):147-154 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5152/dir.2013.13304] [Medline: 24412820]
- 18. Al-Sakere B, André F, Bernat C, Connault E, Opolon P, Davalos RV, et al. Tumor ablation with irreversible electroporation. PLoS One 2007;2(11):e1135 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0001135] [Medline: 17989772]
- Olweny EO, Kapur P, Tan YK, Park SK, Adibi M, Cadeddu JA. Irreversible electroporation: evaluation of nonthermal and thermal ablative capabilities in the porcine kidney. Urology 2013 Mar;81(3):679-684. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.urology.2012.11.026</u>] [Medline: <u>23290141</u>]
- 20. Pech M, Janitzky A, Wendler JJ, Strang C, Blaschke S, Dudeck O, et al. Irreversible electroporation of renal cell carcinoma: a first-in-man phase I clinical study. Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol 2011 Feb;34(1):132-138. [doi: 10.1007/s00270-010-9964-1] [Medline: 20711837]
- 21. Wagstaff PGK, de Bruin DM, van den Bos W, Ingels A, van Gemert MJC, Zondervan PJ, et al. Irreversible electroporation of the porcine kidney: temperature development and distribution. Urol Oncol 2015 Apr;33(4):168.e1-168.e7. [doi: 10.1016/j.urolonc.2014.11.019] [Medline: 25557146]
- Wendler JJ, Porsch M, Nitschke S, Köllermann J, Siedentopf S, Pech M, et al. A prospective Phase 2a pilot study investigating focal percutaneous irreversible electroporation (IRE) ablation by NanoKnife in patients with localised renal cell carcinoma (RCC) with delayed interval tumour resection (IRENE trial). Contemp Clin Trials 2015 Jul;43:10-19. [doi: 10.1016/j.cct.2015.05.002] [Medline: 25962890]
- Trimmer CK, Khosla A, Morgan M, Stephenson SL, Ozayar A, Cadeddu JA. Minimally invasive percutaneous treatment of small renal tumors with irreversible electroporation: a single-center experience. J Vasc Interv Radiol 2015 Oct;26(10):1465-1471. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jvir.2015.06.028</u>] [Medline: <u>26250855</u>]
- Thomson KR, Cheung W, Ellis SJ, Federman D, Kavnoudias H, Loader-Oliver D, et al. Investigation of the safety of irreversible electroporation in humans. J Vasc Interv Radiol 2011 May;22(5):611-621. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jvir.2010.12.014</u>] [Medline: <u>21439847</u>]
- 25. Wendler JJ, Ricke J, Pech M, Fischbach F, Jürgens J, Siedentopf S, et al. First delayed resection findings after irreversible electroporation (IRE) of human localised renal cell carcinoma (RCC) in the IRENE pilot phase 2a trial. Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol 2016 Feb;39(2):239-250. [doi: 10.1007/s00270-015-1200-6] [Medline: 26341653]
- McCulloch P, Altman DG, Campbell WB, Flum DR, Glasziou P, Marshall JC, et al. No surgical innovation without evaluation: the IDEAL recommendations. Lancet 2009 Sep 26;374(9695):1105-1112. [doi: <u>10.1016/S0140-6736(09)61116-8</u>] [Medline: <u>19782876</u>]
- Nielsen K, Scheffer HJ, Vieveen JM, van Tilborg AAJM, Meijer S, van KC, et al. Anaesthetic management during open and percutaneous irreversible electroporation. Br J Anaesth 2014 Dec;113(6):985-992 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/bja/aeu256] [Medline: 25173767]

- 28. van den Bos W, de Bruin DM, Jurhill RR, Savci-Heijink CD, Muller BG, Varkarakis IM, et al. The correlation between the electrode configuration and histopathology of irreversible electroporation ablations in prostate cancer patients. World J Urol 2016 May;34(5):657-664 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00345-015-1661-x] [Medline: 26296371]
- 29. Schneider M. Characteristics of SonoVue. Echocardiography 1999 Oct;16(7, Pt 2):743-746. [Medline: 11175217]
- 30. Zondervan PJ, Wagstaff PGK, Desai MM, de Bruin DM, Fraga AF, Hadaschik BA, et al. Follow-up after focal therapy in renal masses: an international multidisciplinary Delphi consensus project. World J Urol 2016 Dec;34(12):1657-1665 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00345-016-1828-0] [Medline: 27106492]
- Deodhar A, Monette S, Single GW, Hamilton WC, Thornton R, Maybody M, et al. Renal tissue ablation with irreversible electroporation: preliminary results in a porcine model. Urology 2011 Mar;77(3):754-760. [doi: 10.1016/j.urology.2010.08.036] [Medline: 21111458]
- 32. Wendler JJ, Porsch M, Hühne S, Baumunk D, Buhtz P, Fischbach F, et al. Short- and mid-term effects of irreversible electroporation on normal renal tissue: an animal model. Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol 2013 Apr;36(2):512-520. [doi: 10.1007/s00270-012-0452-7] [Medline: 22893419]
- 33. Tracy CR, Kabbani W, Cadeddu JA. Irreversible electroporation (IRE): a novel method for renal tissue ablation. BJU Int 2011 Jun;107(12):1982-1987 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1464-410X.2010.09797.x] [Medline: 21044244]
- 34. Faroja M, Ahmed M, Appelbaum L, Ben-David E, Moussa M, Sosna J, et al. Irreversible electroporation ablation: is all the damage nonthermal? Radiology 2013 Feb;266(2):462-470. [doi: <u>10.1148/radiol.12120609</u>] [Medline: <u>23169795</u>]
- 35. van den Bos W, Scheffer HJ, Vogel JA, Wagstaff PGK, de Bruin DM, de Jong MC, et al. Thermal energy during irreversible electroporation and the influence of different ablation parameters. J Vasc Interv Radiol 2016 Mar;27(3):433-443. [doi: 10.1016/j.jvir.2015.10.020] [Medline: 26703782]
- Mahmood F, Hansen RH, Agerholm-Larsen B, Jensen KS, Iversen HK, Gehl J. Diffusion-weighted MRI for verification of electroporation-based treatments. J Membr Biol 2011 Apr;240(3):131-138 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00232-011-9351-0] [Medline: 21380763]
- Padia SA, Johnson GE, Yeung RS, Park JO, Hippe DS, Kogut MJ. Irreversible electroporation in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma: immediate versus delayed findings at MR Imaging. Radiology 2016 Jan;278(1):285-294. [doi: 10.1148/radiol.2015150031] [Medline: 26523493]
- 38. van den Bos W, de Bruin DM, van Randen A, Engelbrecht MRW, Postema AW, Muller BG, et al. MRI and contrast-enhanced ultrasound imaging for evaluation of focal irreversible electroporation treatment: results from a phase I-II study in patients undergoing IRE followed by radical prostatectomy. Eur Radiol 2016 Jul;26(7):2252-2260 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00330-015-4042-3] [Medline: 26449559]
- Wiggermann P, Zeman F, Niessen C, Agha A, Trabold B, Stroszczynski C, et al. Percutaneous irreversible electroporation (IRE) of hepatic malignant tumours: contrast-enhanced ultrasound (CEUS) findings. Clin Hemorheol Microcirc 2012;52(2-4):417-427. [doi: 10.3233/CH-2012-1615] [Medline: 22986756]
- 40. Niessen C, Jung EM, Beyer L, Pregler B, Dollinger M, Haimerl M, et al. Percutaneous irreversible electroporation (IRE) of prostate cancer: Contrast-enhanced ultrasound (CEUS) findings. Clin Hemorheol Microcirc 2015;61(2):135-141. [doi: 10.3233/CH-151985] [Medline: 26410867]

Abbreviations

CEUS: contrast-enhanced ultrasound **CT:** computed tomography CTCAE: Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events **DSMB:** data safety monitoring board ECG: electrocardiogram eGFR: estimated glomerular filtration rate IDEAL: idea, development, exploration, assessment, long-term study **IRE:** irreversible electroporation **IRB:** institutional review board **MRI:** magnetic resonance Imaging **RFA:** radiofrequency ablation RCC: renal cell carcinoma SF-36: Short Form 36 SRM: small renal mass TNM: tumor/node/metastasis VAS: visual analog scale



PMID: 28209559

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 04.10.16; peer-reviewed by R Martin, J Wendler; comments to author 14.12.16; revised version received 27.12.16; accepted 03.01.17; published 16.02.17. <u>Please cite as:</u> Buijs M, van Lienden KP, Wagstaff PGK, Scheltema MJV, de Bruin DM, Zondervan PJ, van Delden OM, van Leeuwen TG, de la Rosette JJMCH, Laguna MP Irreversible Electroporation for the Ablation of Renal Cell Carcinoma: A Prospective, Human, In Vivo Study Protocol (IDEAL Phase 2b) JMIR Res Protoc 2017;6(2):e21 URL: http://www.researchprotocols.org/2017/2/e21/ doi:10.2196/resprot.6725

©Mara Buijs, Krijn P van Lienden, Peter GK Wagstaff, Matthijs JV Scheltema, Daniel M de Bruin, Patricia J Zondervan, Otto M van Delden, Ton G van Leeuwen, Jean JMCH de la Rosette, M Pilar Laguna. Originally published in JMIR Research Protocols (http://www.researchprotocols.org), 16.02.2017. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Research Protocols, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.researchprotocols.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Viewpoint

For You and Your Baby (4YYB): Adapting the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention's Text4Baby Program for Saudi Arabia

Soha Bahanshal^{1*}, MSc; Steven Coughlin^{2*}, MPH, PhD; Benyuan Liu^{1*}, PhD

¹Department of Computer Science, University of Massachusetts Lowell, Lowell, MA, United States

²Department of Clinical and Digital Health Sciences, College of Allied Health Sciences, Augusta University, Augusta, GA, United States *all authors contributed equally

1

Corresponding Author:

Soha Bahanshal, MSc Department of Computer Science University of Massachusetts Lowell 1 University Ave Lowell, MA, United States Phone: 1 781 654 7200 Fax: 1 978 934 3551 Email: bahasoha@gmail.com

Abstract

Background: Poor birth outcomes in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia (KSA) have been found to be partially due to missed prenatal appointments as well as lack of knowledge of healthy pregnancy behaviors.

Objective: The objectives are to summarize birth outcomes and the antenatal care system in KSA, summarize research related to the US Text4Baby mobile health program, and outline the development of an Arabic version of the Text4baby app, For You and Your Baby (4YYB).

Methods: First, birth outcomes, health care access, and smartphone usage among Saudi Arabian women are reviewed. Next, the current evidence behind Text4Baby is described. Finally, a plan to develop and test 4YYB is proposed. In the plan, studies will need to be conducted to determine the effectiveness of 4YYB in educating pregnant Saudi women on healthy knowledge and behaviors. This will create an evidence base behind 4YYB before it is launched as a full-scale public health effort in KSA.

Results: The KSA offers public medical services but remaining challenges include poor birth outcomes and health care access barriers. An estimated 73% to 84% of Saudi women of child-bearing age use smartphone social media apps. A total of 13 published articles on Text4Baby were identified and reviewed. Due to design limitations, the studies provide only limited evidence about the effectiveness of the program in increasing healthy pregnancy knowledge and behaviors. To be useful for Saudi women, the educational messages in 4YYB will need to be translated from English to Arabic and tailored for cultural norms.

Conclusions: Developing the 4YYB Arabic-language app for use by pregnant Saudi Arabian women based on Text4Baby is a viable approach, but a rigorous study design is needed to determine its effectiveness in improving healthy pregnancy knowledge and behaviors.

(JMIR Res Protoc 2017;6(2):e23) doi:10.2196/resprot.5818

KEYWORDS

Saudi Arabia; telemedicine; text messaging; health knowledge, attitudes, practice; pregnant women

Introduction

Background

RenderX

Although the health care system in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia (KSA) is undergoing a dramatic expansion and there is a government-sponsored health system, not all health outcomes are being impacted optimally. There are remaining challenges

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2017/2/e23/

with poor birth outcomes [1], and Saudi women still experience health care access barriers. Since a majority of Saudi women are users of smartphone social media apps [2], a mobile health platform for delivering messages to increase healthy pregnancy knowledge and behaviors could help address this important public health issue.

Text4Baby is a mobile health text messaging (short message service, SMS) program developed in the United States that has been disseminated nationally [3]. While Text4Baby has received much praise [3], the program has been criticized for lacking a scientific evidence base [4]. The aim of this paper is to discuss how we plan to adapt the Text4Baby program to serve Saudi Arabian women in an Arabic-language mobile app, For You and Your Baby (4YYB). The objectives of this paper are to summarize birth outcomes and the antenatal care system in KSA, summarize research related to the US Text4Baby mobile health program, and outline the development of an Arabic version of Text4Baby, 4YYB. Our hypothesis is that there are poor birth outcomes and obstetrical care in KSA, and a 4YYB program could improve this situation.

Poor Birth Outcomes in Saudi Arabia

KSA is currently challenged with unacceptably high rates of poor birth outcomes and neonatal complications in women. This includes issues with infants born with very low birthweight (VLBW), spontaneous preterm birth (SPTB), obstetric complications, unacceptable neonatal mortality rates, and other medical issues. This section will review the evidence regarding risk factors for poor birth outcomes in KSA.

Infants born at VLBW (defined as less than 1500 g) are at high risk for infant mortality, morbidity, and neurological developmental disabilities [5]. A 1994 case-control study of SPTB in Saudi Arabian women found associations with several risk factors including first or second trimester vaginal bleeding, previous preterm birth, consanguinity, low maternal body mass index, shorter interpregnancy interval, and inadequate prenatal care [6]. The authors concluded that "Awareness of such risk factors is essential in planning public education programs and in considering appropriate perinatal care options for women at potentially higher risk for preterm delivery" [6]. Another 1994 study of 880 pregnant Saudi Arabian women attending appointments at 75 primary health care centers found that 15.8% had experienced previous obstetric complications during their pregnancies and 12% experienced complications during delivery [7].

A 2001 study at King Abdulaziz University Hospital (KAUH) estimated the incidence of VLBW at 0.52% (133 out of 25,753 live births) over a 10-year period [1]. VLBW infants experienced an early neonatal mortality rate of 22.8% (21 out of 92 infants of gestational age 22 to 26 weeks) with 1 additional late neonatal death (gestational age 27 to 31 weeks), resulting in a total neonatal mortality rate of 23.9% (22 out of 92). [1]. In this study, the authors looked at maternal characteristics associated with 2 groups of VLBW infants with a gestational age of less than 32 weeks and found that the number of antenatal visits was only 2 on average [1].

A 2010 study of the prevalence of SPTB in Jazan, KSA, estimated it at 8.24% (34 of 420) [8]. The authors noted that this was "high compared to that in other cities in KSA and other developing countries" [8]. These authors identified 22 significant risk factors for SPTB in multiple regression analysis [8]. They recommended early identification of high-risk women for further management, which could bring about a decrease in both neonatal complications and health care expenditure [8].

```
http://www.researchprotocols.org/2017/2/e23/
```

However, it is important to recognize that Saudi women who do not encounter the health care system are unlikely to be identified as high-risk and receive necessary services.

Other authors have identified overlapping sets of risk factors for poor birth outcomes in KSA [5]. A 2014 study of anemia in 31 women of reproductive age attending an obstetrics and gynecology outpatient center at a university in Saudi Arabia reported that 64.7% of anemic respondents were pregnant, so anemia may be one of the risk factors for poor birth outcomes in KSA [9]. Another study in 2014 of 1182 postpartum women at a university hospital in Riyadh, Saudi Arabia, found that while 80% were aware of the negative effects of environmental smoke on the fetus, their knowledge of the specific effects on the fetus was lacking [10].

Overall, many of these articles point to the lack of prenatal care as a key risk factor [6]. As seen with the 2014 studies, health care interventions focused on eliminating anemia in pregnant women and counseling them on smoking cessation could be completed in the context of prenatal care. However, these are missed opportunities if pregnant women do not present for prenatal care. For example, Almalki studied reasons for missed appointments at maternal health care clinics in primary health care centers in Riyadh, noting that international rates of missed appointments range from 2% to 30% and are higher in maternal health care [11]. Almalki found that the 2 main reasons that women missed their appointments were lack of adequate tools at the medical clinic to do the examination (such as unavailability of a ultrasound machine, 143/200, 71.50%) and the unavailability of transportation (142/200, 71%) [11]. These barriers to completing a successful prenatal appointment may be enough to dissuade a woman from persevering through them.

Missed Appointments as a Risk Factor

As described earlier, 1 study quoted an average of 2 appointments in high-risk women prior to a VLBW infant being born, and 1 of the main reasons was lack of the availability of adequate tools for the examination [11]. This impacts the patient on the day the failed appointment takes place but can have future effects. Women who attend an appointment but cannot be served would likely be deterred from overcoming any barriers to attending future appointments, which would increase the risk of poor neonatal outcomes. While prenatal care is universally available, arranging transportation for women in KSA can be difficult and presents a barrier to attending appointments [11].

However, there may be also a cultural component [12]. Missed appointments are a problem in KSA in general, not just in obstetrics and gynecology (OB/GYN) clinics. Noting the high usage of text messaging in Saudi Arabia, Youssef et al studied the effect of sending SMS messages as appointment reminders in KSA compared to no appointment reminders to improve nonattendance [13]. They aimed to improve appointment attendance in 3 clinical settings: general medicine, neurology, and OB/GYN [13]. Figure 1 shows their results.

As shown in Figure 1, rates of nonattendance in the no reminder groups were higher in both general medicine (100/251, 39.8%) and neurology (87/198, 43.9%) compared to OB/GYN (104/350, 29.7%) [13]. The use of the appointment reminder did not

XSL•FO RenderX

improve appointment attendance among the OB/GYN patients, but that may have been because of the other barriers identified in earlier studies, such as lack of transportation [11].

In summary, use of prenatal services by pregnant women in KSA appears to be low, and this contributes to poor birth

outcomes. Using text messaging could improve appointment compliance, but given the barriers listed to completing appointments, a technological application that actually provides knowledge and guidance to pregnant women might be more helpful than 1 that simply provides appointment reminders.

Figure 1. Results of study of clinical appointment nonattendance and short message service use (adapted from Youssef et al [13]).



Antenatal Care in Saudi Arabia

The Saudi Arabian health care system is divided into a government sector, which offers free care, and a private sector, where fees are paid for care [14]. The private sector provides all levels of care, and the public sector is further divided into Ministry of Health-run facilities, which provide all levels of care, and facilities run by other agencies, which also provide all levels of care [14]. These other agencies include teaching hospitals, military health facilities, and school health units, among others [14]. More recently, Saudi Arabia has been transitioning from a curative medicine model to more public health and prevention, and this is seen by its enhancement and expansion of primary health care [14]. Although the Saudi Arabian health care infrastructure continues to expand and mature, it currently still faces challenges with "health workforce, financing and expenditure, changing patterns of diseases, accessibility to health care services, introducing the cooperative health insurance scheme, privatization of public hospitals, utilization of electronic health (e-health) strategies and the development of a national system for health information" [14].

Because of the availability of free care, there are few economic barriers to health access for pregnant women [14]. Public hospitals and medical complexes such as the Ministry of National Guard Health Affairs (NGHA) in Jeddah allow for women to receive health care at no cost [15]. This hospital serves families of those in the National Guard and has OB/GYN clinics to serve pregnant women.

The NGHA clinic is similar to other public clinics in that when women are found to be pregnant, they are enrolled in a pregnancy health program. In this program, the woman is scheduled for a second appointment during the first trimester

```
http://www.researchprotocols.org/2017/2/e23/
```

RenderX

(at 8 to 10 weeks), an appointment during the second trimester (at 18 to 20 weeks), and appointments in the third trimester at 28, 32, 35, 37, 39, and 41 weeks.

Women are also offered antenatal education classes taught by midwives. Women may decline to participate in these classes. The classes provide videos and pamphlets aimed at increasing pregnancy knowledge. When women are preparing for pregnancy, they are encouraged to take folic acid starting 3 months prior to pregnancy. They are told to continue folic acid until 16 weeks and then switch to iron tablets, calcium, and a multivitamin. Even though clinics like the one at NGHA are very accessible, pregnant women in KSA have reported barriers to accessing health care [11]. As described before, a 2012 study reviewed reasons 250 maternal health patients missed appointments and found that the most frequent reasons were lack of supplies and medical equipment such as ultrasound machines, the unavailability of transportation, and lack of respect from the primary health care center staff [11].

Saudi Women and Mobile Health

A large proportion of Saudi Arabian women of child-bearing age use smartphones and are adept at texting. The Our Mobile Planet online dataset provided by Google shows that 73% of Saudi Arabians regularly use smartphones [2]. Figure 2 shows the 2013 distribution of Saudi Arabian women's smartphone use specifically of social networking apps (as Text4Baby was characterized) stratified by age. Per the figure, the use in this group of social networking apps is between 73% and 84%.

Because of the high adoption of mobile technology in KSA, a messaging application that goes beyond the walls of the clinic could deliver important information these women are missing by missing their appointments. Nutrition information, guidelines

about attending prenatal care visits, and recommendations for adopting certain health behaviors (such as getting a flu shot or quitting smoking) could be provided to these women without the need of a clinic appointment. A similar rationale was behind the development of the Text4Baby program in the United States, which was aimed at underserved pregnant women who may not have had access to health care.





The Text4Baby Program

Text4Baby is a texting health education system developed in an effort led by the US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) to reach low socioeconomic status (SES) pregnant women who are thought to be at high-risk for negative birth outcomes such as VLBW and SPTB [16]. This system was initially developed and piloted in 2011 and 2012 [17-19]. The main themes included in the messages are information about healthy weight, nutrition, and exercise; information about depression and anxiety; encouragement and information for seeking care; breastfeeding information; roles of partners in pregnancy; the celebration of pregnancy; prevention strategies including vaccinations, contraception, and sudden infant death syndrome prevention; and information on avoidance of toxic exposures [20].

Currently, to participate in Text4Baby, pregnant women sign up on the Text4Baby website [21]. Participants enter personal information, such as when the baby is due and their cell phone numbers [21]. Each week, the pregnant woman receives pregnancy health messages appropriate for her week of pregnancy. Text4Baby offers colorful and attractive apps for both iPhone and Android [21].

The Text4Baby site offers true stories from users who endorse the support and health education that Text4Baby has provided [21]. The CDC and state health departments are actively promoting Text4Baby [22]. Text4Baby has been adapted for a Russian population [23] and has been tested extensively in the US military [16]. Therefore, it appears to be an excellent system to adapt for the KSA pregnant population. However, Text4Baby has also been criticized for redundant messages [20] and for lacking an evidence base [4]. The next section will review the current evidence regarding the public health implications of the Text4Baby program.

Methods

Although the program was launched in 2010, evidence regarding the effect of the messages on the knowledge and behavior of pregnant women remains largely elusive. This study will use a traditional or narrative type of literature review, which critiques and summarizes a body of literature and draws conclusions about the topic [24,25]. This type of literature review is important for identifying both gaps and inconsistencies in a body of literature on a scientific topic but requires an extremely focused topic [24,25]. This can be contrasted to the systematic review and meta-analysis approach, which relies on combining findings from many studies of similar study design conducted on the same topic [24,25]. Because Text4Baby was launched relatively recently and because the study designs and research questions in published reports are diverse, these approaches could not be taken at this time with this topic.

Articles were reviewed if they met the following criteria: (1) the main topic of the article was the Text4Baby program and (2) the article was in English. Articles were originally identified by searching for Text4Baby in Google Scholar. An initial search generally returns approximately 670 results; this was conducted first in June 2014 and then periodically over the next 2 years, with the most recent search being conducted on August 5, 2016. Each entry was reviewed for meeting qualifying criteria, and each article that was found to meet qualifying criteria underwent

a source review to identify cited articles that met qualifying criteria.

Results

Overview

The literature review resulted in the identification of 14 articles directly related to Text4Baby. Only 7of these articles [16,18,20,26-30] represented actual studies; the others described the program [3,4,17,31] or described a study that was going to take place [19,23]. Of the 7 that described actual studies, 2 focused on the American military population [16,28], 1 was a pilot study [18], 2 focused on the health literacy of Text4Baby participants [26,27], and 2 focused on the content of the messages [20,29].

Pilot Study

The earliest study published was a pilot study conducted with pregnant women in Fairfax County, Virginia, who presented for care at their Virginia health department. Participants were randomized to receive Text4Baby plus usual care or usual care [18]. Participants were surveyed at baseline and at approximately 28 weeks of the baby's gestational age [18]. There was a 73% retention rate, and results were determined using multivariate analysis [18].

Unfortunately, the questions asked in the survey were not related directly to Text4Baby messages and instead were copied from surveillance questions: "The variables for behavioral outcomes were derived from existing, validated instruments, including the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance Survey and National Health and Nutritional Examination Survey" [18]. Therefore, the questions were not worded to directly measure if any specific messages in Text4Baby were successful at imparting knowledge or changing behaviors. For example, one of the questions was "During the last 3 months, about how many servings of fruit did you have in a day?" However, there was no corresponding message or set of messages in Text4Baby that targeted changing the behavior of how much fruit the pregnant woman should eat.

Because of this mismatch, the results of the pilot study were hard to interpret. First, the groups were not comparable at baseline. For example, at baseline, the proportion who agreed with the statement "Eating 5 or more fruits and vegetables per day is important to the health of my developing baby" was about 71% in the control group versus 56% in the Text4Baby group, suggesting that either there was a randomization problem or the authors did not use an intent-to-treat analysis [18]. Next, the authors performed bivariate statistical tests between both groups but did not find differences [18]. Further, because of a lack of an attention control [32], it was not possible to have the usual care only group, which was the control group, drop out, so rate of dropping out of using the app could not be compared [18].

Studies of Health Literacy

The next study published was on the health literacy of users of Text4Baby in the Atlanta area [26]. The reason this was a focus of study is that Text4Baby was aimed at a low health literacy

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2017/2/e23/

population. Their results suggested that those who successfully self-enrolled in Text4Baby were already more health literate than those who did not, which prompted the authors to recommend the need for additional outreach efforts to enroll low literacy women [26]. The same team later studied factors related to the enrollment process and reception of Text4Baby and found that even though there was a high interest among public health practitioners to use Text4Baby to help underserved populations, there remained challenges to making sure women with significant disadvantages could enroll and receive uninterrupted messages [26]. Currently, it seems that the Text4Baby program is not serving the low literacy populations it was aimed to serve adequately, and public health efforts need to be employed to connect underserved women to the Text4Baby program.

Studies of Health Messages in Text4Baby

Lewkowitz and colleagues produced first a conference abstract and then a paper comparing the content of Text4Baby messages with messages from other pregnancy apps, such as the one sponsored by the American College of Obstetrics and Gynecology and March of Dimes [20,29]. Their analysis suggested that Text4Baby could improve by decreasing the number of messages about obtaining medical care and increasing the number of messages about healthy eating, normal weight gain, exercise, and nutrition without increasing the overall number of messages [20]. The paper later also recommended that Text4Baby replace messages on recruitment with messages about normal pregnancy symptoms, fetal development, and postpartum contraception [29].

Studies of Text4Baby in Specific Populations

Two studies focused on the American military [16,19] and 1 on women in a homeless shelter [30]. The American military studies were headed by the same researcher who did the pilot study in the Virginia health department cohort, and therefore, the results are similarly difficult to interpret. The first military study was designed similarly to the pilot study—using surveillance questions in the data collection and not using an attention control for the control group [19]. Although the number of participants was significantly larger than the pilot study, the same issues plagued this study, the main results are presented with 1 P value, and it is not clear what is being compared in this analysis [19].

Ultimately, due to these design issues with the study and the analysis, it was not possible to determine from the analysis whether Text4Baby increased healthy pregnancy knowledge or was associated with changes in behaviors. The authors did not provide an interpretation of their results in their abstract and said in their discussion that Text4Baby appears to improve "specific targeted beliefs" such as those about the importance of prenatal health care, risks of alcohol use, and importance of prenatal vitamins [28] but did not reference the findings in their analysis to which they were referring.

This military study was followed by another one with the same research team about the dose-response effect of Text4Baby [16]. Again, this study suffered from the same design issues, but authors were able to report that the more messages women

XSL•FO

received through Text4Baby, the lower likelihood they had of self-reported alcohol consumption [16]. There were no other particular findings reported speaking to the effect on knowledge and behavior change due to Text4Baby.

The third study of a particular population focused on enrolling pregnant mothers in a homeless shelter into Text4Baby [30]. This study did not focus on knowledge and behavioral change; rather, it tried to implement the findings from the studies on health literacy by actively facilitating enrollment in Text4Baby by a low literacy, underserved population [30]. Researchers found that the facilitative, on-site support provided to these homeless pregnant women to help them enroll and use Text4Baby was successful at increasing enrollment and retention rates [30].

Analysis of Existing Evidence

Currently, it has been shown that women who enroll in Text4Baby have higher health literacy and enrolling lower literacy women will require facilitative support [26,27,30]. However, studies of the efficacy of Text4Baby in increasing healthy pregnancy knowledge and behaviors has not been clearly demonstrated. Although 1 military study shows that women decreased their alcohol intake [16], this is not a problem in Saudi Arabia, where alcohol intake is illegal. Therefore, it is currently unclear how Text4Baby impacts healthy pregnancy knowledge and behaviors.

This particular aspect of the development of the Text4Baby program has been criticized. Before the launch of Text4Baby, there was a lack of evidence supporting the claim that Text4Baby would be effective in changing knowledge and behavior [4]. Even though Text4Baby has now been widely implemented, this evidence base is still modest. In all, 2 studies reviewed [26,27] found that Text4Baby is not currently reaching the low literacy population it is targeting and 1 study showed that on-site enrollment may improve adoption in this population [30].

However, Text4Baby has not been consistently shown to improve pregnancy health knowledge and increase healthy behaviors in users, mainly due to errors in the design and analysis of the few existing studies [16,18,28]. Per the review of the message content, it is unlikely that Text4Baby messages are ineffective or even harmful [20,29]. A likelier scenario is that Text4Baby messages actually do increase pregnancy health knowledge and healthy behaviors, but due to lack of a rigorous study design and execution, this evidence is not currently available.

Discussion

For You and Your Baby: Text4Baby for Saudi Arabia

The aim of this project is to develop a similar program as Text4Baby aimed at Saudi Arabian pregnant women. The rationale is that this app would be able to deliver information on healthy pregnancy knowledge and behaviors even if these people do not go to a health care facility. Because Saudi Arabian women have widely adopted smartphone apps and social media, it is reasonable to expect that they would accept the dissemination of health information in this medium. A main health behavior that would be targeted for change in the Saudi Arabian app is missing health care appointments. Other behaviors that would be targeted for changes are consistent with those targeted by Text4Baby: smoking cessation, taking pregnancy vitamins regularly, improving nutritional intake, and avoiding toxic exposures such as contraindicated medications.

The results of our review demonstrate that although there are several publications on the Text4Baby program, a strong evidence base does not currently exist demonstrating that Text4Baby is effective at its original intention, which is to increase healthy pregnancy knowledge and behaviors in US women, especially those of low health literacy and SES. This should not dissuade researchers from seeking to adapt and improve this program for other populations, provided that sufficient evidence is gathered prior to launching the program. As described with the Russian effort [23], international partnerships are needed to properly adapt and study different Text4Baby programs before they are implemented. Although there is a lack of evidence of efficacy, the implementation has been highly studied and therefore provides an efficient starting point for 4YYB.

We plan to develop a culturally tailored Arabic-language version of Text4Baby and examine its effectiveness in increasing healthy pregnancy knowledge and behaviors in Saudi Arabian pregnant women. The new program, 4YYB, would be a mobile health app that runs on iPhone and Android platforms and provides culturally appropriate health information to pregnant Saudi women. Like with Text4Baby, women could download the app, enter their due dates, and receive health messages appropriate to their week of pregnancy. The app would also include diagrams of the baby's size at various weeks as well as health information on topics such as exercise during pregnancy (see Figure 3). The goals of the messages in the app would be to encourage women to present for prenatal visits and provide knowledge about healthy pregnancy behaviors that should be provided at prenatal visits, whether or not they attend them. The healthy pregnancy behaviors targeted by the app would be similar to those in the original Text4Baby: healthy nutrition, exercise, prenatal care, celebrating pregnancy, and avoidance of toxic exposures, as described earlier.

Messages would need to be not only translated into Arabic but adapted for the Saudi population. Alcohol is forbidden in Saudi Arabia while on the other hand, hookah smoking is popular. Messages will need to reflect cultural norms and practices and be culturally appropriate.



Bahanshal et al

Figure 3. Screen shots from 4 You and Your Baby. Left panel shows message from pregnancy week 20. Center panel shows diagrams of baby's size at various weeks. Right panel shows dashboard for health information.



Anticipated Use of For You and Your Baby

As described earlier, missed appointments are a problem throughout the Saudi Arabian health care system. This is possibly compounded by the common cultural belief among pregnant women in KSA that they are not sick, so they do not need to attend health care appointments. Further, many pregnant women rely on their families rather than medical professionals when they have symptoms [12]. On the other hand, women in KSA are on average highly educated and tend to actively seek knowledge, especially health knowledge [33]. Also, women of child-bearing age are typically active users of smartphones and social media [2]. As a result, this population will be likely to adopt 4YYB because it delivers health information tailored to their specific week of pregnancy via a smartphone app. Further, a review of Arabic-language apps in Apple's App Store reveals a lack of apps aimed at this population providing this type of information. We expect the 4YYB app will fill the gap for an Arabic-language app devoted to pregnancy.

Development of For You and Your Baby

Text4Baby was designed to provide healthy pregnancy information to low-income US residents who may experience access to care barriers [26,27]. Many aspects of the design were evidence-based, such as having an expert panel develop the messages and modifying the app based on results from preliminary focus groups and interviews [3,31]. However, even with these promising elements, early studies of the efficacy of a prototype Text4Baby program in terms of successfully increasing knowledge and healthy behaviors in pregnant women from use of the app were not conducted [4]. Therefore, the actual impact of Text4Baby on these parameters remains unknown. To avoid this problem in the development of 4YYB, research will first be conducted to determine the efficacy of a prototype 4YYB app in Saudi Arabian populations who may experience health care access barriers and inadequate information about maternal and newborn health. Studies should be conducted of the impact of the messages on users of the public health infrastructure, like those at the OB/GYN clinic at NGHA. As was pointed out by Gazmararian and colleagues, the program is designed to target those with low health literacy [27], and this population would be more likely to use public services.

Proposed Research

Ultimately, an evidence base for the effectiveness of 4YYB should be developed before it is launched in Saudi Arabia or other Arabic-speaking countries. So far, a randomized controlled trial (RCT) has not been published that demonstrates the efficacy of increasing healthy pregnancy knowledge and behavior in users of the Text4Baby program. In order to do that type of study, a control app providing nonhealth pregnancy messages should be developed. Participants in the study will then be randomized to either the control app group or the 4YYB app group and later followed for increases in healthy pregnancy knowledge and behavior. The use of a control app will offer an attention control [32] and a comparable comparison as to the uptake in knowledge and change in behaviors that take place during use of the app that are attributable specifically to the 4YYB messages.

During the RCT, questions used in the research data collection will be structured such that health knowledge and behaviors targeted by the app's messages will be measured at baseline. These questions will be developed around domains of knowledge such as healthy eating and avoiding smoking. Next, the same knowledge and behaviors will be measured after use



of the 4YYB or control app, with the time frame specified to start when the user starts using the app. This will facilitate evaluating whether the 4YYB messages have a differential impact on knowledge and behaviors in different domains.

This app, once developed and tested, can prove useful for dissemination of healthy pregnancy knowledge and behaviors in other Middle Eastern countries where Arabic is the main spoken language. These countries are predominantly Islamic, so messages would already be culturally acceptable. The other countries on the Arabian Peninsula, such as Qatar, Yemen, United Arab Emirates, and Kuwait, would likely easily be able to adopt this app as these countries are more affluent and tend to have higher rates of smartphone use. However, a leaner text-only version could be used in Egypt, which is a low- to middle-income country where cell phone use (but not necessarily smartphone use) is prevalent. Conclusions

As KSA seeks to improve its pregnancy outcomes, it can leverage Saudi women's natural adoption of smartphone apps as a communication channel for delivering pregnancy health information by way of an Arabic-language mobile app adapted from Text4Baby. Although messages will need to be adapted and the app redesigned and enhanced, the development of 4YYB offers the opportunity for developing a rigorous evidence base behind the efficacy of the mobile app. By introducing the use of a control message app and using questions targeting knowledge in the apps domains, studies of 4YYB should provide clear evidence of the differential impact of the app's messages on healthy pregnancy knowledge and behaviors in Saudi Arabian women.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Mansouri H. Perinatal factors and neonatal outcome of very low birth weight and extremely premature babies at KAUH. Bahrain Medical Bulletin 2001;23(2).
- 2. Google. Our Mobile Planet. URL: <u>http://think.withgoogle.com/mobileplanet/en/</u> [accessed 2017-01-09] [WebCite Cache ID 6nObtgLX0]
- 3. Remick AP, Kendrick JS. Breaking new ground: the text4baby program. Am J Health Promot 2013 Jan;27(3 Suppl):S4-S6 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4278/ajhp.27.3.c2] [Medline: 23286662]
- 4. van Velthoven MH, Majeed A, Car J. Text4baby—national scale up of an mHealth programme. Who benefits? J R Soc Med 2012 Nov;105(11):452-453 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1258/jrsm.2012.120176] [Medline: 23257962]
- 5. Munshi A. Prevalence and risk factors of very low birth weight in infants born at the maternity and children hospitals in Jeddah, Saudi Arabia during 2012-2013. BJMMR 2014 Jan 10;4(27):4553-4569. [doi: 10.9734/BJMMR/2014/11151]
- 6. al-Eissa Y, Ba'Aqeel HS. Risk factors for spontaneous preterm birth in a Saudi population. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 1994 Oct;57(1):19-24. [Medline: <u>7821497</u>]
- 7. al-Nasser A, Bamgboye E, Abdullah F. Providing antenatal services in a primary health care system. J Community Health 1994 Apr;19(2):115-123. [Medline: <u>8006208</u>]
- 8. Kamel R. A clinical epidemiology study of spontaneous preterm birth in Jazan, Saudi Arabia. J Reprod Med 2010;55(9-10):395-403. [Medline: 21043365]
- 9. Taha A, Azhar S, Lone T, Murtaza G, Khan S, Mumtaz A. Iron deficiency anaemia in reproductive age women attending obstetrics and gynecology outpatient of University Health Centre in Al-Ahsa, Saudi Arabia. Afr J Tradit Complement Altern Med 2014;11:42.
- Al-Shaikh GK, Alzeidan RA, Mandil AMA, Fayed AA, Marwa B, Wahabi HA. Awareness of an obstetric population about environmental tobacco smoking. J Family Community Med 2014 Jan;21(1):17-22 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.4103/2230-8229.128768</u>] [Medline: <u>24696630</u>]
- 11. Almalki A. Missed appointments at maternal healthcare clinics in primary healthcare centres in Riyadh city: reasons and associated factors. J Hosp Adm 2014 Mar 24;3(4):100. [doi: 10.5430/jha.v3n4p92]
- Al Shammari SA, Alhaidar SA, Alotaibi MA, Alanazi AA, Al Shammari WK, Alanazi AM, et al. Help-seeking behavior among adults in Riyadh, Saudi Arabia—a crosssectional study. Altern Integr Med 2016;05(01). [doi: 10.4172/2327-5162.1000212]
- Youssef A, Alharthi H, Khaldi OA, Alnaimi F, Alsubaie N, Alfariss N. Effectiveness of text message reminders on nonattendance of outpatient clinic appointments in three different specialties: a randomized controlled trial in a Saudi Hospital. J Taibah Univ Med Sci 2014 Mar;9(1):23-29. [doi: 10.1016/j.jtumed.2013.10.001]
- Almalki M, Fitzgerald G, Clark M. Health care system in Saudi Arabia: an overview. East Mediterr Health J 2011 Oct;17(10):784-793. [Medline: 22256414]
- 15. Eisert S, Gabow. Effect of Child Health Insurance Plan enrollment on the utilization of health care services by children using a public safety net system. Pediatrics 2002 Nov;110(5):940-945. [Medline: <u>12415034</u>]

- Evans W, Nielsen PE, Szekely DR, Bihm JW, Murray EA, Snider J, et al. Dose-response effects of the text4baby mobile health program: randomized controlled trial. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2015;3(1):e12 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.3909] [Medline: 25630361]
- 17. Jordan ET, Ray EM, Johnson P, Evans WD. Text4Baby: using text messaging to improve maternal and newborn health. Nurs Womens Health 2011 Jun;15(3):206-212. [doi: 10.1111/j.1751-486X.2011.01635.x] [Medline: 21672170]
- Evans WD, Wallace JL, Snider J. Pilot evaluation of the text4baby mobile health program. BMC Public Health 2012 Nov;12:1031 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-12-1031] [Medline: 23181985]
- 19. Evans WD, Abroms LC, Poropatich R, Nielsen PE, Wallace JL. Mobile health evaluation methods: the Text4baby case study. J Health Commun 2012 May;17 Suppl 1:22-29. [doi: 10.1080/10810730.2011.649157] [Medline: 22548595]
- Lewkowitz A, O'Donnell B, Nakagawa S, Vargas J, Zlatnik MG. Social media messaging in pregnancy: comparing content of Text4baby to content of free smart phone applications of pregnancy. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med 2016 Mar;29(5):745-751. [doi: 10.3109/14767058.2015.1017460] [Medline: 25731656]
- 21. Text4baby. URL: <u>https://text4baby.org/</u> [accessed 2017-01-09] [WebCite Cache ID 6nOdNGka2]
- 22. Text4baby: Local organizations and advocates. URL: <u>https://partners.text4baby.org/index.php/get-involved-pg/partners/</u> local-organizations-and-advocates/54-get-involved/partners [accessed 2017-01-09] [WebCite Cache ID 6nOdiDW9s]
- Parker RM, Dmitrieva E, Frolov S, Gazmararian JA. Text4baby in the United States and Russia: an opportunity for understanding how mHealth affects maternal and child health. J Health Commun 2012 May;17 Suppl 1:30-36. [doi: 10.1080/10810730.2011.649162] [Medline: 22548596]
- 24. Natal G. Literature Review: Lit Review Types. 2015. URL: <u>http://libguides.utoledo.edu/c.php?g=284354&p=1893889</u> [accessed 2016-03-15]
- 25. Aveyard H. Doing a Literature Review in Health and Social Care: A Practical Guide. London: Open University Press; 2012.
- 26. Gazmararian JA, Yang B, Elon L, Graham M, Parker R. Successful enrollment in Text4Baby more likely with higher health literacy. J Health Commun 2012 Oct;17 Suppl 3:303-311. [doi: 10.1080/10810730.2012.712618] [Medline: 23030578]
- 27. Gazmararian JA, Elon L, Yang B, Graham M, Parker R. Text4baby program: an opportunity to reach underserved pregnant and postpartum women? Matern Child Health J 2014 Jan;18(1):223-232. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10995-013-1258-1</u>] [Medline: <u>23494485</u>]
- 28. Evans WD, Wallace BJ, Szekely D, Nielsen P, Murray E, Abroms L, et al. Initial outcomes from a 4-week follow-up study of the Text4baby program in the military women's population: randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2014 May;16(5):e131 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3297] [Medline: 24846909]
- Lewkowitz AK, O'Donnell BE, Nakagawa S, Vargas JE, Zlatnik MG. Social media messaging in pregnancy: comparing content of Text4baby to content of free smart phone applications of pregnancy. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med 2016 Mar;29(5):745-751. [doi: 10.3109/14767058.2015.1017460] [Medline: 25731656]
- 30. Byrnes M. Text4baby mHealth program: implementation and applicability within a homeless population of young mothers. Int J Commun Health 2016;8:45.
- 31. Whittaker R, Matoff-Stepp S, Meehan J, Kendrick J, Jordan E, Stange P, et al. Text4baby: development and implementation of a national text messaging health information service. Am J Public Health 2012 Dec;102(12):2207-2213. [doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2012.300736] [Medline: 23078509]
- 32. Freedland KE. Demanding attention: reconsidering the role of attention control groups in behavioral intervention research. Psychosom Med 2013 Feb;75(2):100-102. [doi: 10.1097/PSY.0b013e3182851b75] [Medline: 23362502]
- Farih M, Freeth D, Khan K, Meads C. Sexual and reproductive health knowledge and information-seeking behavior among middle eastern female university students: a systematic review. Int J Sexual Health 2015 Apr 20;27(4):383-395. [doi: 10.1080/19317611.2015.1023961]

Abbreviations

4YYB: For You and Your Baby CDC: United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention KAUH: King Abdulaziz University Hospital KSA: Kingdom of Saudi Arabia NGHA: Ministry of National Guard Health Affairs (Saudi Arabia) OB/GYN: obstetrics and gynecology RCT: randomized controlled trial SES: socioeconomic status SMS: short message service SPTB: spontaneous preterm birth VLBW: very low birthweight



Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 30.03.16; peer-reviewed by A Pfammatter, W Evans, J Willcox; comments to author 25.07.16; revised version received 21.09.16; accepted 18.12.16; published 28.02.17. <u>Please cite as:</u> Bahanshal S, Coughlin S, Liu B For You and Your Baby (4YYB): Adapting the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention's Text4Baby Program for Saudi Arabia JMIR Res Protoc 2017;6(2):e23 URL: http://www.researchprotocols.org/2017/2/e23/ doi:10.2196/resprot.5818 PMID:28246065

©Soha Bahanshal, Steven Coughlin, Benyuan Liu. Originally published in JMIR Research Protocols (http://www.researchprotocols.org), 28.02.2017. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Research Protocols, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.researchprotocols.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Protocol

Epigenetic Alterations and Exposure to Air Pollutants: Protocol for a Birth Cohort Study to Evaluate the Association Between Adverse Birth Outcomes and Global DNA Methylation

Zhila Maghbooli^{1*}, PhD; Arash Hossein-Nezhad^{1,2*}, MD, PhD; Majid Ramezani³, MD; Syamak Moattari^{1,4}, MD, DrPH

¹Osteoporosis Research Center, Endocrinology and Metabolism Research Institute of Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Islamic Republic Of Iran

²Department of Medicine, Section of Endocrinology, Nutrition, and Diabetes, Vitamin D, Skin and Bone Research Laboratory, Boston University Medical Center, Boston, MA, United States

³Department of Endocrinology, Baghiatallah University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Islamic Republic Of Iran

⁴Health Science Department, Worcester State University, Worcester, MA, United States

*these authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Arash Hossein-Nezhad, MD, PhD Osteoporosis Research Center Endocrinology and Metabolism Research Institute of Tehran University of Medical Sciences 5th floor, Shariati Hospital, North Karegar St. Tehran, Islamic Republic Of Iran Phone: 1 00982188220072 Fax: 1 00982188220072 Email: arash hsi@yahoo.com

Abstract

Background: Prenatal exposure to air pollutants can increase the risk of adverse birth outcomes and susceptibility to a number of complex disorders later in life. Despite this general understanding, the molecular and cellular responses to air pollution exposure during early life are not completely clear.

Objective: The aims of this study are to test the association between air pollution and adverse pregnancy outcomes, and to determine whether the levels of maternal and cord blood and of placental DNA methylation during pregnancy predict adverse birth outcomes in polluted areas.

Methods: This is a birth cohort study. We will enroll pregnant healthy women attending prenatal care clinics in Tehran, Iran, who are resident in selected polluted and unpolluted regions before the 14th week of pregnancy. We will calculate the regional background levels of fine particulate matter (particles with a diameter between 2.5 and 10 μ m) and nitrogen dioxide for all regions of by using data from the Tehran Air Quality Control Company. Then, we will select 2 regions as the polluted and unpolluted areas of interest. Healthy mothers living in the selected polluted and non polluted regions will be enrolled in this study. A maternal health history questionnaire will be completed at each trimester. During the first and second trimester, we will draw mothers' blood for biochemical and DNA methylation analyses. At the time of delivery time, we will collect maternal and cord blood for biochemical, gene expression, and DNA methylation analyses. We will also record birth outcomes (the newborn's sex, birth date, birth weight and length, gestational age, Apgar score, and level of neonatal care required).

Results: The project was funded in March 2016 and enrollment will be completed in August 2017. Data analysis is under way, and the first results are expected to be submitted for publication in November 2017.

Conclusions: We supposed that prenatal exposures to air pollutants can influence fetal reprogramming by epigenetic modifications such as DNA methylation. This could explain the association between air pollution and adverse pregnancy outcomes.

(JMIR Res Protoc 2017;6(2):e29) doi:10.2196/resprot.7114


KEYWORDS

epigenomics; DNA methylation; air pollutants; pregnancy; adverse birth outcomes; placenta

Introduction

Air pollution, the most pervasive environmental concern, is estimated to cause around 800,000 deaths every year worldwide. Among air pollutants, fine particulate matter is known as a possible cause or exacerbator of diseases [1]. Previous studies showed significant associations between fine particulate matter (particles with a diameter between 2.5 [PM2.5] and 10 μ m [PM10]) and mortality from complex disorders such as cardiovascular disease, cardiopulmonary disease, and lung cancer [2].

The highest number of estimated annual premature deaths due to fine particulate matter occurs in the developing countries of Asia [3]. In most Asian cities, sulfur dioxide, nitrogen dioxide, PM2.5 and PM10 levels are above the World Health Organization (WHO) guidelines [3]. Although Tehran, Iran, is rated as one of the world's most polluted cities, there are few reports on this matter [4,5]. Naddafi et al reported an annual average of 71 μ g/m³, which is 4.5 times the values recommended by the WHO [4]. Based on a WHO estimation, the average urban PM10 concentration in Iran is 68 μ g/m³, about 3.4 times higher than the WHO's air quality guidelines, which is estimated to cause about 9100 deaths per year [6].

Evidence shows that the elderly, children, and pregnant women appear to be more susceptible than the general population to the adverse health effects of air pollution, although people of all age groups are affected by air pollution [7-12]. In addition, growing evidence has been reported of the impact of environmental pollution on adverse birth outcomes [13-15]. Birth outcomes are important for public health policy, because health in early life is crucial for health later in life. Based on a life course approach, most epidemiologic research on chronic diseases has demonstrated that intrauterine and early life conditions significantly affect the occurrence of complex disorders that are of interest to public health [16,17].

Low birth weight, intrauterine growth retardation, and impaired growth in the early years of life are known to increase mortality and morbidity in childhood and the susceptibility of an individual to several complex disorders later in life, such as hypertension, coronary heart disease, and diabetes [15,18]. Despite this general understanding, the biological interactions responsible for impaired development and adverse birth outcomes are not completely clear.

The underlying mechanisms by which air pollutants may induce adverse birth outcomes are not clear. The hypothesis of fetal programming could explain some part of this interaction [19]. This hypothesis states that exposure to endogenous or exogenous factors during a sensitive period can lead to responses at a molecular and cellular level. However, environmental influences on metabolism could persist even under normal conditions or in the absence of stimulating factors [19]. Furthermore, long-term or permanent alterations in the function of target cells can lead to an increased risk for adult-onset diseases such as

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2017/2/e29/

type 2 diabetes mellitus, hypertension, cardiovascular disease, and cancer [20-22]. The underlying biological mechanisms of fetal programming can be explained by epigenetic modifications such as DNA methylation [23-25], which is one important regulatory mechanism in cell development and differentiation [26,27]. It seems that maternal exposure to air pollutants is associated with an epigenetic modification such as DNA methylation. DNA methylation of cytosine residues is a heritable epigenetic modification that can maintain specific gene expression patterns in different cell types. Alterations in DNA methylation due to metabolic exposure during gestation or after birth may increase the susceptibility of an individual to complex disorders such as cancer and metabolic disorders later in life [28-30].

We systematically searched PubMed and SCOPUS up to December 1, 2016 for literature addressing adverse pregnancy outcomes (infant mortality, postneonatal mortality, birth weight, intrauterine growth retardation, premature birth, birth outcomes, and fetal development), pollution, and DNA methylation. This systematic search identified a few studies that assessed air pollution's effect on global and gene-specific methylation [31-36]; 2 studies focused on the association of DNA methylation of repetitive elements and global DNA methylation of placental tissue with air pollution in early life [32,36].

An environmental inputs birth cohort study [31] showed that "epigenetic modifications in the mitochondrial genome, especially in the MT-RNR1 region, substantially mediate the association between PM2.5 exposure during gestation and placental mtDNA content, which could reflect signs of mitophagy and mitochondrial death."

Another study [32] showed "a lower degree of placental global DNA methylation in association with exposure to particulate air pollution during early pregnancy". It seems that exposure to particulate matter during fetal development can lead to alterations in genomic DNA methylation and affect gene-specific DNA methylation and gene expression patterns during this crucial time. Consistent with this hypothesis, recent evidence from both human subjects and animal models has indicated that exposure to airborne particulate matter is associated with changes in DNA methylation patterns. Alterations of DNA methylation patterns are postulated to modulate immune responses and regulate inflammatory genes in response to inhalation of particulate matter.

Among intracellular pathways, the glutathione pathway's role in the lung is to defend the airway epithelium from damage in response to oxidants and inflammation [37]. Glutathione is a tripeptide, γ -glutamyl-cysteinyl-glycine (GSH), and is defined as the "body's master antioxidant" [37]. At the molecular level, nucleotide variation in the glutathione gene has been associated with differences in susceptibility to adverse effects of air pollutants on lung function and growth [38]. Emerging evidence has shown that *S*-adenosylmethionine (SAMe) increases cellular glutathione content and has an important role in the methylation

XSL•FO

cycle [39,40]. SAMe is the main cosubstrate involved in methyl group transfers in the methylation cycle.

However, it is important to assess whether there is an association between air pollution and adverse birth outcomes, how it is modulated by alteration of genomic DNA methylation in the fetus and placental tissue, and how the adverse effects of air pollution on birth outcomes can be reduced by intervention strategies.

Study Objective

The primary objective of the study is to compare the incidence of adverse birth outcomes in a polluted urban area with that in an unpolluted urban area.

The secondary objective is to investigate the association between adverse birth outcomes and global changes in fetal and maternal DNA methylation.

In addition, we aim to determine the association between gene expression of GSH and alteration of global DNA methylation.

Methods

Study Design

This is a birth cohort study designed by the Endocrinology and Metabolism Research Institute of Tehran University of Medical Sciences. The research has been supported by the National Institute for Medical Research Development of Iran (grant no. 940173).

Study Population

In our birth cohort study, we will enroll pregnant women attending prenatal care clinics in two regions in Tehran, Iran: the most polluted and the least polluted. The study population is the group of eligible mothers living in these two regions who agree to participate in this study. The inclusion criteria are as follows: (1) resident in the selected polluted and unpolluted regions, (2) stay-at-home mothers (3) presenting to the clinics for prenatal care (4) before the 14th week of pregnancy who are (5) healthy, (6) able to read, write, and understand Persian at a middle school level and (7) willing to participate in follow-up visits. The exclusion criteria are as follows: (1) smoking mothers or living with a smoker, (2) having a history of chronic disorders, including heart disorders, hypertension, diabetes, hyperthyroidism, cancer, or autoimmune disorders such as lupus, (3) taking any kind of corticosteroids, or hyperglycemia or hypertension medications, (4) regularly taking methyl donors such as folate or vitamin B_{12} before pregnancy, or (5) having a multiple pregnancy. If a mother moves out the selected region, is employed, or travels between polluted and unpolluted regions regularly, she will be excluded from the study. The participants in the two regions (polluted and unpolluted) will be matched by age, pregestational body mass index, and parity.

Written informed consent will be obtained from all study participants in accordance with procedures approved by the Ethical Committee of the National Institute for Medical Research Development (IR.NIMAD.REC.1394.018) of Iran. Consent is attained by a research midwife or a doctor who is not directly involved in the routine perinatal care of the women. A participant may subsequently decide to withdraw from the study at any time without prejudice to their future care. In this study, 40 participants would be required in each group to have 90% power to detect a difference of 4% at global DNA methylation levels between the 2 groups. We anticipate recruiting 80 participants to investigate the role of indoor and outdoor air pollution on global DNA methylation levels of maternal and cord blood and placental tissue. We estimate that the dropout rate during the study will be 10%, so a total of 90 pregnant women will be needed for the duration of the study with a minimum of 45 participants in each subgroup (Figure 1).



Maghbooli et al

Figure 1. Study design. Flow diagram of selection of pregnant women living in polluted and unpolluted regions of Tehran. PM2.5: particulate matter with particle diameter 2.5 µm; PM10: particulate matter with particle diameter 10 µm.



Exposure Measurement

We will calculate the regional background levels of PM10, PM2.5, and nitrogen dioxide for each mother's home address. The values of air pollutants will be obtained from the Tehran Air Quality Control Company in 4×4 km grids.

To explore the potential effect of exposures during pregnancy, we will calculate regional PM10 and PM2.5 concentrations (micrograms per cubic meter) during various times: the mean levels at 1 week before delivery, during the last month of pregnancy, and for each of the 3 trimesters of pregnancy. We will also calculate the exposure during the whole pregnancy.

To reduce bias due to exposure misclassification, we plan to measure the PM2.5 and PM10, as individual levels, manually by using Dylos DC1100 air quality monitors (Dylos Corporation, Riverside, CA, USA) in each participant's address (indoor). Also, we will collect drinking water to measure contaminants including hardness, nitrite, and nitrate.

Data Collection in Each Area

First and Second Visits

At the first visit (12-14 weeks of pregnancy), we will complete study questionnaires with the participants to provide detailed information on place of residence, socioeconomic status, sleep habits, smoking status, health status, medical history, and

```
http://www.researchprotocols.org/2017/2/e29/
```

previous pregnancy history. At the second visit (28-32 weeks of pregnancy), a maternal health history questionnaire will be completed to record what medicines, herbs, or vitamins the mother is taking and any adverse events and health problems experienced. We will take the mothers' peripheral venous blood after an overnight fast of 10-14 hours for biochemical, DNA methylation, and gene expression analyses at the first and second visits.

Third Visit (Delivery Time)

We will follow-up participants monthly until delivery. A food frequency questionnaire will be completed to calculate nutrient elements taken in. At the delivery time, we will collect maternal and cord blood for biochemical, gene expression, and DNA methylation analyses. We will also obtain samples of placental tissue for gene expression and DNA methylation analyses.

Perinatal Outcomes

After delivery, we will record neonatal birth parameters such as the newborn's sex, birth date, birth weight and length, gestational age, Apgar score, and level of neonatal care required (normal newborn nursery, level 2 or level 3 intensive care). All neonates will be assessed for congenital anomalies immediately after birth. We will condense birth dates into a seasonal scale, classified as cold periods (October to March) and warm periods (April to September).

Biochemical and Genetic Analyses

Blood Sampling

At each visit, we will collect blood samples for epigenetic and genetic analyses and for biochemical analysis. The serum will be divided into 2 aliquots: for routine prenatal tests (fetal blood sampling, cholesterol, low-density lipoprotein, high-density lipoprotein, triglyceride, and insulin), and for measuring 25-hydroxyvitamin D_3 and bone markers (procollagen I aminoterminal propeptide, osteocalcin, and C-terminal cross-linked telopeptide of type I collagen). The separated sera will be kept at -80° C until analysis.

Tissue Biopsy

The tissue biopsy will be taken from the fetal side, 1-1.5 cm below the chorioamniotic membrane at a fixed location in relation to the umbilical cord.

Global DNA Methylation Analysis

Genomic DNA will be isolated from placental tissue and the mother's peripheral venous blood using the standard method.

Briefly, DNA is extracted by the phenol method from whole blood and homogenized placental tissues. We will determine global DNA methylation as previously published [41,42]. Global DNA methylation will be expressed as the percentage of 5-methyldeoxycytidine (5-mdC) versus the sum of 5-mdC and deoxycytidine (dC): [5-mdC/(5-mdC + dC)]%.

Gene Expression Analysis

We will extract RNA from peripheral venous blood using a Qiagen kit (QIAGEN NV, Venlo, the Netherlands). Gene expression will be analyzed by using real time polymerase chain reaction after complementary DNA synthesis. Candidate genes include GSH, DNA (cytosine-5)-methyltransferase-1-alpha, SAMe, brain-derived neurotrophic factor, synapsin I, AKT serine/threonine kinase 2, SOS Ras/Rac guanine nucleotide exchange factor 1, SOS Ras/Rac guanine nucleotide exchange factor 2, and phospholipase C gamma 2) in maternal and placental tissues.

Statistical Analysis

We will present categorical data as frequencies (%) and numbers, and continuous data as mean and standard deviation. We will use chi-square test to compare the prevalence of adverse birth outcomes in the two regions. Student *t* test will compare the differences in global DNA methylation levels in pregnant women in the two regions (polluted and unpolluted) at each trimester.

We will use Spearman correlation coefficients and linear regression to assess the association of global DNA methylation from blood and placental tissue with nitrogen dioxide, PM10, and PM2.5 (data will be obtained from the Air Quality Control Company).

We will construct a stepwise logistic regression model to determine the independent effect sizes of nitrogen dioxide, PM10, and PM2.5 exposures during pregnancy on global methylation. An appropriate cutoff point will be determined for DNA methylation levels, and then the levels will be defined as

a dichotomous variable. We will consider covariates for entry into the model, including the newborn's sex, maternal age (years), gestational age (weeks), parity (1, 2, or 3), sleep duration, dietary intakes of vitamin B_{12} and folate, regional temperature, and season at conception.

The $2^{(\Delta\Delta Ct)}$ formula will be used to calculate relative transcript abundance. Student *t* test will be used to compare gene expression differences of all included genes in blood and placental tissue between the two groups, that is, pregnant women who live in polluted and unpolluted regions. For multiple testing corrections, we will use the false discovery rate [43,44]. We will consider 2-tailed *P* values <.05 as statistically significant. The same analyses will be performed in 2 subgroups from each polluted region: participants with and without classroom education.

Results

The project was funded in March 2016 and enrollment will be completed in August 2017. Data analysis is under way, and the first results are expected to be submitted for publication in November 2017.

Discussion

To our knowledge, this is the first birth cohort study in Tehran, which is rated as one of the world's most polluted cities, to measure global DNA methylation in pregnant women who live in polluted and unpolluted regions and to investigate the interaction between adverse pregnancy outcomes and air pollution as an environmental factor. In addition, we plan to improve women's knowledge about how to reduce prenatal exposure to air pollution and prevent adverse pregnancy outcomes attributable to air pollutants.

Developmental adaptations due to epigenetic modification may permanently "program" the fetus and may lead to adverse pregnancy outcomes that form the origin of diseases that may arise in adult life.

Based on the evidence, we supposed that prenatal exposures to air pollutants can influence fetal reprogramming by epigenetic modifications such as DNA methylation. This could explain the association between air pollution and adverse pregnancy outcomes.

Of note, there are some potential problems and limitations in our study. Primarily, some confounding factors could have a possible effect on blood and tissue DNA methylation, such as some lifestyle-related factors, environmental tobacco smoke, the season, and environmental temperature. To minimize the impact of lifestyle and regional differences in methylation patterns, we will adjust for the mother's socioeconomic status, maternal diet, and maternal sleep habits in our analysis. Also, we will consider exposures to other air pollutants such as second-hand smoke and indoor air pollution. We will exclude mothers who smoke or live with a smoker. We will obtain the temperature of each region from Air Quality Control Company data. In addition, the differences in effect estimates of air pollutants on DNA methylation could be further related to

differences in maternal nutritional status. To control for the impact of nutritional status, a food frequency questionnaire will be filled out for all participants to measure special nutrients associated with DNA methylation, such as folate and vitamin B_{12} . However, we can't control for some unknown factors that are associated with blood and tissue DNA methylation, as well as levels of air pollutants.

Acknowledgments

This work is supported by the National Institute for Medical Research Development of Iran through grant number IR.NIMAD.REC.1394.018.

Authors' Contributions

ZM, AH, MR, and SM conceived the study design; ZM and AH contributed to design data collection tools and wrote the statistical analysis plan. ZM and AH will monitor data collection for the whole trial and analysis of the data. ZM and AH drafted the manuscript, and all authors reviewed the draft of the manuscript and revised it. All authors approved the final manuscript to be published.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Bell ML, Davis DL, Fletcher T. A retrospective assessment of mortality from the London smog episode of 1952: the role of influenza and pollution. Environ Health Perspect 2004 Jan;112(1):6-8 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 14698923]
- 2. Pope CA, Dockery DW. Health effects of fine particulate air pollution: lines that connect. J Air Waste Manag Assoc 2006 Jun;56(6):709-742. [Medline: <u>16805397</u>]
- 3. Romieu IM. Air pollution and health in developing countries: a review of epidemiological evidence. In: McGranahan G, Murray F, editors. Air Pollution and Health in Rapidly Developing Countries. Second edition. London, UK: Earthscan Publications Ltd; 2012:49-67.
- Naddafi K, Hassanvand MS, Yunesian M, Momeniha F, Nabizadeh R, Faridi S, et al. Health impact assessment of air pollution in megacity of Tehran, Iran. Iranian J Environ Health Sci Eng 2012 Dec 17;9(1):28 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1735-2746-9-28] [Medline: 23369114]
- 5. Brajer V, Hall J, Rahmatian M. Air pollution, its mortality risk, and economic impacts in tehran, iran. Iran J Public Health 2012;41(5):31-38 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 23113175]
- 6. Public Health and the Environment. Country profile of environmental burden of disease: Iran, Islamic Republic of. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2009. URL: <u>http://www.who.int/quantifying_ehimpacts/national/countryprofile/iran.pdf?ua=1</u> [accessed 2017-02-15] [WebCite Cache ID 6oIqhWV1K]
- Ballester F, Estarlich M, Iñiguez C, Llop S, Ramón R, Esplugues A, et al. Air pollution exposure during pregnancy and reduced birth size: a prospective birth cohort study in Valencia, Spain. Environ Health 2010 Jan 29;9:6 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1476-069X-9-6] [Medline: 20113501]
- Dadvand P, Parker J, Bell ML, Bonzini M, Brauer M, Darrow LA, et al. Maternal exposure to particulate air pollution and term birth weight: a multi-country evaluation of effect and heterogeneity. Environ Health Perspect 2013 Mar;121(3):267-373 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1289/ehp.1205575] [Medline: 23384584]
- Scheers H, Mwalili SM, Faes C, Fierens F, Nemery B, Nawrot TS. Does air pollution trigger infant mortality in Western Europe? A case-crossover study. Environ Health Perspect 2011 Jul;119(7):1017-1022 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1289/ehp.1002913] [Medline: 21269926]
- Ritz B, Wilhelm M, Zhao Y. Air pollution and infant death in southern California, 1989-2000. Pediatrics 2006 Aug;118(2):493-502 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1542/peds.2006-0027] [Medline: 16882800]
- 11. Wang L, Pinkerton KE. Air pollutant effects on fetal and early postnatal development. Birth Defects Res C Embryo Today 2007 Sep;81(3):144-154. [doi: 10.1002/bdrc.20097] [Medline: 17963272]
- 12. Woodruff TJ, Darrow LA, Parker JD. Air pollution and postneonatal infant mortality in the United States, 1999-2002. Environ Health Perspect 2008 Jan;116(1):110-115 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1289/ehp.10370] [Medline: 18197308]
- Schwartz J, Dockery DW, Neas LM, Wypij D, Ware JH, Spengler JD, et al. Acute effects of summer air pollution on respiratory symptom reporting in children. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1994 Nov;150(5 Pt 1):1234-1242. [doi: <u>10.1164/ajrccm.150.5.7952546</u>] [Medline: <u>7952546</u>]
- 14. Glinianaia SV, Rankin J, Bell R, Pless-Mulloli T, Howel D. Particulate air pollution and fetal health: a systematic review of the epidemiologic evidence. Epidemiology 2004 Jan;15(1):36-45. [doi: <u>10.1097/01.ede.0000101023.41844.ac</u>] [Medline: <u>14712145</u>]

RenderX

- 15. Maisonet M, Correa A, Misra D, Jaakkola JJ. A review of the literature on the effects of ambient air pollution on fetal growth. Environ Res 2004 May;95(1):106-115. [doi: 10.1016/j.envres.2004.01.001] [Medline: 15068936]
- 16. Ben-Shlomo Y, Kuh D. A life course approach to chronic disease epidemiology: conceptual models, empirical challenges and interdisciplinary perspectives. Int J Epidemiol 2002 Apr;31(2):285-293 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>11980781</u>]
- 17. Harding JE. The nutritional basis of the fetal origins of adult disease. Int J Epidemiol 2001 Feb;30(1):15-23 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 11171842]
- Osmond C, Barker DJ. Fetal, infant, and childhood growth are predictors of coronary heart disease, diabetes, and hypertension in adult men and women. Environ Health Perspect 2000 Jun;108 Suppl 3:545-553 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 10852853]
- 19. Lucas A. Programming by early nutrition in man. Ciba Found Symp 1991;156:38-50; discussion 50. [Medline: 1855415]
- Hales CN, Barker DJ. Type 2 (non-insulin-dependent) diabetes mellitus: the thrifty phenotype hypothesis. 1992. Int J Epidemiol 2013 Oct;42(5):1215-1222 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/ije/dyt133] [Medline: 24159065]
- 21. Barker DJ. The fetal origins of coronary heart disease. Acta Paediatr Suppl 1997 Jul;422:78-82. [Medline: 9298799]
- 22. Barker DJ, Hales CN, Fall CH, Osmond C, Phipps K, Clark PM. Type 2 (non-insulin-dependent) diabetes mellitus, hypertension and hyperlipidaemia (syndrome X): relation to reduced fetal growth. Diabetologia 1993 Jan;36(1):62-67. [Medline: <u>8436255</u>]
- 23. Canovas S, Ross PJ. Epigenetics in preimplantation mammalian development. Theriogenology 2016 Jul 01;86(1):69-79. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.theriogenology.2016.04.020</u>] [Medline: <u>27165992</u>]
- 24. Liang P, Song F, Ghosh S, Morien E, Qin M, Mahmood S, et al. Genome-wide survey reveals dynamic widespread tissue-specific changes in DNA methylation during development. BMC Genomics 2011 May 11;12(1):231 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2164-12-231] [Medline: 21569359]
- 25. Chmurzynska A. Fetal programming: link between early nutrition, DNA methylation, and complex diseases. Nutr Rev 2010 Feb;68(2):87-98. [doi: 10.1111/j.1753-4887.2009.00265.x] [Medline: 20137054]
- 26. Bird A. DNA methylation patterns and epigenetic memory. Genes Dev 2002 Jan 01;16(1):6-21 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1101/gad.947102] [Medline: 11782440]
- 27. Okano M, Bell DW, Haber DA, Li E. DNA methyltransferases Dnmt3a and Dnmt3b are essential for de novo methylation and mammalian development. Cell 1999 Oct 29;99(3):247-257 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 10555141]
- Meissner A, Mikkelsen TS, Gu H, Wernig M, Hanna J, Sivachenko A, et al. Genome-scale DNA methylation maps of pluripotent and differentiated cells. Nature 2008 Aug 07;454(7205):766-770 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/nature07107] [Medline: 18600261]
- 29. Lehnen H, Zechner U, Haaf T. Epigenetics of gestational diabetes mellitus and offspring health: the time for action is in early stages of life. Mol Hum Reprod 2013 Jul;19(7):415-422 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/molehr/gat020] [Medline: 23515667]
- Dyer JS, Rosenfeld CR. Metabolic imprinting by prenatal, perinatal, and postnatal overnutrition: a review. Semin Reprod Med 2011 May;29(3):266-276. [doi: <u>10.1055/s-0031-1275521</u>] [Medline: <u>21769766</u>]
- 31. Janssen BG, Byun H, Gyselaers W, Lefebvre W, Baccarelli AA, Nawrot TS. Placental mitochondrial methylation and exposure to airborne particulate matter in the early life environment: An ENVIRONAGE birth cohort study. Epigenetics 2015;10(6):536-544 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/15592294.2015.1048412] [Medline: 25996590]
- Janssen BG, Godderis L, Pieters N, Poels K, Kiciński M, Cuypers A, et al. Placental DNA hypomethylation in association with particulate air pollution in early life. Part Fibre Toxicol 2013 Jun 07;10:22 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1743-8977-10-22] [Medline: 23742113]
- 33. Wilhelm-Benartzi CS, Houseman EA, Maccani MA, Poage GM, Koestler DC, Langevin SM, et al. In utero exposures, infant growth, and DNA methylation of repetitive elements and developmentally related genes in human placenta. Environ Health Perspect 2012 Feb;120(2):296-302 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1289/ehp.1103927] [Medline: 22005006]
- Rossnerova A, Tulupova E, Tabashidze N, Schmuczerova J, Dostal M, Rossner P, et al. Factors affecting the 27K DNA methylation pattern in asthmatic and healthy children from locations with various environments. Mutat Res 2013;741-742:18-26. [doi: 10.1016/j.mrfmmm.2013.02.003] [Medline: 23458556]
- 35. Saenen ND, Vrijens K, Janssen BG, Roels HA, Neven KY, Vanden BW, et al. Lower placental leptin promoter methylation in association with fine particulate matter air pollution during pregnancy and placental nitrosative stress at birth in the ENVIRONAGE cohort. Environ Health Perspect 2016 Sep 13 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1289/EHP38] [Medline: 27623604]
- Kingsley SL, Eliot MN, Whitsel EA, Huang Y, Kelsey KT, Marsit CJ, et al. Maternal residential proximity to major roadways, birth weight, and placental DNA methylation. Environ Int 2016;92-93:43-49. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.envint.2016.03.020</u>] [Medline: <u>27058926</u>]
- 37. Biswas SK, Rahman I. Environmental toxicity, redox signaling and lung inflammation: the role of glutathione. Mol Aspects Med 2009;30(1-2):60-76 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.mam.2008.07.001] [Medline: 18760298]
- Rahman I. Regulation of glutathione in inflammation and chronic lung diseases. Mutat Res 2005 Nov 11;579(1-2):58-80. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.mrfmmm.2005.02.025</u>] [Medline: <u>16054171</u>]
- Lieber CS. S-adenosyl-L-methionine: its role in the treatment of liver disorders. Am J Clin Nutr 2002 Nov;76(5):1183S-1187S [FREE Full text] [Medline: 12418503]



- 40. Vendemiale G, Altomare E, Trizio T, Le Grazie C, Di Padova C, Salerno MT, et al. Effects of oral S-adenosyl-L-methionine on hepatic glutathione in patients with liver disease. Scand J Gastroenterol 1989 May;24(4):407-415. [Medline: 2781235]
- 41. Maghbooli Z, Hossein-Nezhad A, Larijani B, Pasalar P, Keshtkar AA. Association between alterations in global DNA methylation and predisposing factors in diabetes: a high pressure liquid chromatography based study. Minerva Med 2015 Aug;106(4):221-231. [Medline: 25078329]
- 42. Maghbooli Z, Hossein-nezhad A, Larijani B, Amini M, Keshtkar A. Global DNA methylation as a possible biomarker for diabetic retinopathy. Diabetes Metab Res Rev 2015 Feb;31(2):183-189. [doi: <u>10.1002/dmrr.2584</u>] [Medline: <u>25069700</u>]
- 43. Reiner A, Yekutieli D, Benjamini Y. Identifying differentially expressed genes using false discovery rate controlling procedures. Bioinformatics 2003 Feb 12;19(3):368-375 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>12584122</u>]
- 44. Maghbooli Z, Hossein-Nezhad A. Transcriptome and molecular endocrinology aspects of epicardial adipose tissue in cardiovascular diseases: a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. Biomed Res Int 2015;2015:926567 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2015/926567] [Medline: 26636103]

Abbreviations

GSH: γ-glutamyl-cysteinyl-glycine **PM2.5:** particulate matter with particle diameter 2.5 μm **PM10:** particulate matter with particle diameter 10 μm **SAMe:** S-adenosylmethionine **WHO:** World Health Organization

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 07.12.16; peer-reviewed by L Guo, H Liu; comments to author 11.01.17; revised version received 22.01.17; accepted 23.01.17; published 23.02.17.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Maghbooli Z, Hossein-Nezhad A, Ramezani M, Moattari S Epigenetic Alterations and Exposure to Air Pollutants: Protocol for a Birth Cohort Study to Evaluate the Association Between Adverse Birth Outcomes and Global DNA Methylation JMIR Res Protoc 2017;6(2):e29 URL: <u>http://www.researchprotocols.org/2017/2/e29/</u> doi:10.2196/resprot.7114 PMID:28232302

©Zhila Maghbooli, Arash Hossein-Nezhad, Majid Ramezani, Syamak Moattari. Originally published in JMIR Research Protocols (http://www.researchprotocols.org), 23.02.2017. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Research Protocols, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.researchprotocols.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Protocol

Delirium After Mechanical Ventilation in Intensive Care Units: The Cognitive and Psychosocial Assessment (CAPA) Study Protocol

Daniella Bulic^{1*}, BSc, BSW, MS; Michael Bennett^{1,2*}, MBBS, DA, MM, MD; Helen Rodgers³, RN, BA; Mary Nourse³, RN, BA; Patrick Rubie², MBBS, BSc; Jeffrey CL Looi^{4,5*}, MBBS, MD; Frank Van Haren^{3,6*}, MD, PhD

¹University of New South Wales, Faculty of Medicine, University of New South Wales, Randwick, Australia

⁶Medical School, College of Medicine, Biology & Environment, Australian National University, Canberra, Australia

^{*}these authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Daniella Bulic, BSc, BSW, MS University of New South Wales Faculty of Medicine University of New South Wales Dickinson Building, Level 1 High Street Randwick, 2031 Australia Phone: 61 404577073 Fax: 61 29382 3882 Email: daniella.bulic@hotmail.com

Abstract

Background: In the intensive care unit (ICU), critical illness delirium occurs in the context of multiple comorbidities, multi-organ failure, and invasive management techniques, such as mechanical ventilation, sedation, and lack of sleep. Delirium is characterized by an acute confusional state defined by fluctuating mental status, inattention, and either disorganized thinking or an altered level of consciousness. The long-term cognitive and psychosocial function of patients that experience delirium in the ICU is of crucial interest because preliminary data suggest a strong association between ICU-related delirium and long-term cognitive impairment.

Objective: The aim of this study is to explore the relationship between delirium in the ICU and adverse outcomes by following mechanically ventilated patients for one year following their discharge from the ICU and collecting data on their long-term cognition and psychosocial function.

Methods: This study will be conducted by enrolling patients in two tertiary ICUs in Australia. We aim to recruit 200 patients who have been mechanically ventilated for more than 24 hours. Data will be collected at the following three time points: (1) at discharge where they will be administered the Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE); (2) at 6 months after discharge from the ICU discharge where the Impact of Events Scale Revised (IES-R) and the Telephone Inventory for Cognitive Status (TICS) tests will be administered; and (3) at 12 months after discharge from the ICU where the patients will be administered the TICS and IES-R tests, as well as the Informant Questionnaire for Cognitive Decline in the Elderly (IQCODE). The IQCODE will be administered to their "person responsible" or the significant other of the patient.

Results: Long-term cognition and psychosocial function will be the primary outcome of this study. Mortality will also be investigated as a secondary outcome. Active enrollment will take place until the end of September 2016 and data collection will conclude at the end of September 2017. The analysis and results are expected to be available by March 2018.

Conclusion: Delirium during mechanical ventilation has been linked to longer ICU and hospital stays, higher financial burdens, increased risks of long-term cognitive impairment (ie, dementia), poor functional outcomes and quality of life, and decreased

RenderX

²Prince of Wales Hospital, Anaesthetic Department, Prince of Wales Hospital, Randwick, Australia

³Canberra Hospital, Intensive Care Research Department, Canberra Hospital, Garran, Australia

⁴Academic Unit of Psychiatry and Addiction Medicine, Medical School, Australian National University, Canberra, Australia

⁵Faculty of Medicine, Melbourne Neuropsychiatry Centre, Department of Psychiatry, Faculty of Medicine, Dentistry and Health Sciences, University of Melbourne, Melbourne, Australia

survival. However, delirium during mechanical ventilation in the ICU is not well understood. This study will advance our knowledge of the comprehensive, long-term effects of delirium on cognitive and psychosocial function.

Trial Registration: Australian New Zealand Clinical Trials Registry (ANZCTR): ACTRN12616001116415; https://www.anzctr.org.au/Trial/Registration/TrialReview.aspx?id=371216 (Archived by WebCite at http://www.webcitation.org/ 6nfDkGTcW)

(JMIR Res Protoc 2017;6(2):e31) doi:10.2196/resprot.6660

KEYWORDS

intensive care; delirium; mechanical ventilation; cognition; psychosocial outcomes

Introduction

Delirium is a disturbance of consciousness, developed over a short period of time, where inattention is accompanied by a change in cognition and/or perceptual disturbance [1]. Delirium occurs in a variety of health care settings [2] and affects between 15% to 20% of general hospital patients [3,4], including as many as 80% of critically ill, intensive care unit (ICU) patients receiving mechanical ventilation [5].

In the ICU, delirium is associated with critical illness itself, particularly with multiple comorbidities and multi-organ failure, as well as management-related factors such as mechanical ventilation, sedation, and lack of sleep [2,6,7]. Delirium is also associated with adverse outcomes including death and long-term cognitive impairments [7-9], and potentially traumatic stress symptomatology. Several studies suggest delirium-related risks are cumulative and may foster the development of cognitive dysfunction, poorer functional status, and impair quality of life [7-23]. Despite literature reports of a reduced quality of life for survivors of critical illness and delirium in the ICU, the long-term follow-up of cognitive and psychosocial function still remains relatively unexplored. This study will address this by following up with patients for one year after discharge from the ICU. We will employ a set of tests that complement each other [24] in order to create a comprehensive view of a patient's cognition and psychosocial well-being at 12 months after leaving the ICU. These tests assess cognition and evidence of post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) [25], while also using each patients "person responsible" to assess their relative's and/or friend's psychosocial function at 12 months after their discharge from the ICU in comparison to their pre-ICU psychosocial abilities. This study is expected to provide novel insight into the cognitive and psychosocial impact of ICU mechanical ventilation-related delirium and to assist in improving the care of critically ill intensive care patients by highlighting the importance of the need to monitor for the development of delirium.

Methods

We are conducting a prospective case-control study in two ICUs in Australia: the Canberra Hospital in the Australian Capital Territory and the Prince of Wales Hospital in Sydney, New South Wales. The study was approved by the ACT Health Human Research Ethics Committee (ETH.6.12.130) and the Southern Health Human Research Committee (12/242 (HREC/I2/POWH/460). Since eligible participants are not able to give informed consent on enrolment due to their health status (ICU treatment), their substitute decision maker or "person responsible" will be identified. This person is approached to provisionally consent to participation on behalf of the patient. The "person responsible" is given a full explanation of the study and is provided with the Cognitive and Psychosocial Assessment (CAPA) study information sheet. They are then asked to consent to participate in the study on behalf of themselves and the patient. If the patient is not sedated or delirious, the study is explained to them; however, the "person responsible" is still required to complete and sign the consent form on behalf of themselves and the patient whilst the patient is ventilated. Further, consent from the "person responsible" authorizes their later involved in the assessment of patients' overall function at the 12-month follow-up.

Despite being recruited to the study through their "person responsible," the patients receive no other intervention other than standard protocol care during their ICU stay. The standard care in both recruiting sites involves administering the following during mechanical ventilation: (1) the Richmond Agitation and Sedation Score (RASS) [26,27], and (2) the Confusion Assessment Method for the ICU (CAM-ICU) [28].

After being recruited to the study, the patients have their sedation level assessed by the RASS [26,27] every 4 hours. The RASS is a scale that indicates the patient's level of sedation and ranges from +4 to -5. A RASS score of 0 represents a patient who is alert and calm, while positive scores indicate different levels of agitation from restless (+1) to combative (+4). Negative scores indicate different levels of drowsiness from drowsy (-1) to unarousable (-5).

Patients with a RASS score between -2 and +3 will be administered the CAM-ICU [28]. The CAM-ICU is an adaptation of the Confusion Assessment Method and is widely used for diagnosing delirium with yes and no questions for use with non-speaking, mechanically ventilated patients in the ICU. The study participants are not exposed to any additional testing during their time in the ICU.

Patients assessed as suffering delirium via the CAM-ICU at any time are allocated into the delirium positive study group, while delirium-negative patients are re-tested on a daily basis during the time they remain mechanically ventilated. Those patients who never test positive for delirium are allocated to the delirium-negative group (Figure 1).



Figure 1. a. CALD Culturally and Linguistically Diverse Background; b. APACHE II Acute Physiology and Chronic Health Enquiry II; c. RASS Richmond Agitation Sedation Scale; d. CAM-ICU Confusion Assessment Method for the Intensive Care Unit; e. MMSE Mini Mental State Examination.



Participants

XSL•FO RenderX

Patients participating in this study are critically ill, mechanically ventilated, and may require immediate administration of sedative

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2017/2/e31/

medications by infusion. As a consequence of the immediacy of the situation and the urgent need for sedation, we obtain provisional consent from the patient's "person responsible" prior to enrolling patients in the study. Adult patients greater

than 18 years of age are approached for recruitment after being mechanically ventilated for more than 24 hours. The exclusion criteria are (1) suspected acute primary brain lesion; (2) end stage liver failure or acute hepatic failure; (3) culturally and linguistically diverse (CALD) background—literature suggests that in times of crisis people automatically revert to their own language and our psychosocial questionnaires are not specifically designed for CALD [29,30]; (4) death is deemed imminent and inevitable; (5) patient is a nursing home resident and/or physical/cognitive decline is evident [31,32]; and (6) the Acute Physiology and Chronic Evaluation (APACHE II) [33] classification indicates underlying terminal illness.

Procedure and Enrolment

Patients are asked to sign formal consent to participate upon discharge from the ICU. If they confirm their enrolment, they are administered the MMSE [34], the first cognitive assessment (Multimedia Appendix 1). At 6 months, the patients are contacted and administered the telephone-modified version of the MMSE called the Telephone Interview for Cognitive Status (TICS) [35,36] (Multimedia Appendix 2). They also receive the Impact of Events-Revised (IES-R) questionnaire [37,38] (Multimedia Appendix 3) by mail to assess for early symptoms of PTSD [25]. At 12 months after discharge, the patients are contacted, the TICS is administered, and they are mailed the IES-R. The Informant Questionnaire on Cognitive Decline (IQCODE) [37] (Multimedia Appendix 4) is also mailed to their "person responsible" who was identified at the time study recruitment. The hospital outcome assessments are recorded up to one year after discharge from the ICU (Figure 2).

For a pilot study that we conducted in 2011, we followed 8 patients (4 delirium-positive and 4 delirium-negative) for 3 months after their discharge from the ICU. During this time, the design and choice of measurement tools for this investigation were informed.

The questionnaires we employ in this study are well-established and validated in measuring cognition and psychosocial well-being. The MMSE, the most commonly used measure of cognitive function in hospitalized patients [34], is scored from 0 to 30, with lower scores indicating poorer performance. We administer the MMSE for the first time after patients formally consent and at the time of their discharge from the ICU. The TICS is a modified and validated version of MMSE and is administered to the patient over the phone at the 6- and 12-month follow-ups.

The IES-R is a non-diagnostic, self-report measure designed to assess subjective distress for any specific life event. The IES-R consists of the three subscales: hyper arousal, intrusion, and avoidance. These subscales parallel the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders IV (DSM-IV) criteria for PTSD. This questionnaire is administered to the patient at the 6- and 12-month follow-ups.

The IQCODE is a tool used to assess cognitive impairment in older people. It is widely used in conjunction with other cognitive tests and with no age limitations (personal communication DB and JL, August 2011). The IQCODE was found to correlate highly with conventional cognitive screening tests [25], such as the MMSE, and moderately with a range of neuropsychological tests, such as the Wechsler Adult Memory Scale (WAMS) and the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale (WAIS). Since the IQCODE provides information complementary to other brief cognitive tests, such as the MMSE [38], we supplemented the MMSE with the IQCODE to improve the study's cognition screening accuracy, as well as gain a retrospective assessment of the patient's cognitive function.

We have obtained permission to use the above tools through direct contact with authors (Multimedia Appendix 5), and email correspondence (DB with DSW and AFJ, August 2011). All of the questionnaires have been validated, are found to be reliable and specific to psychosocial assessment [34-39], and are less time-consuming than other conventional cognitive and neuropsychological tests.

Figure 2. Assessments after hospital discharge. TICS: Telephone Interview for Cognitive Decline; IES-R: Impact of Events Scale Revised; IQCODE: Informant Questionnaire on Cognitive Decline in the Elderly.



Measures

This study aims to test the hypothesis that delirium during mechanical ventilation in the ICU promotes long-term cognitive

and psychosocial decline and impacts one's health-related quality of life when compared with non-delirium patients [8-23]. The data recorded at study enrolment, during their stay in the ICU, and at discharge are shown in Textbox 1.



Textbox 1. Data recorded at the time of patient enrolment in the study, during their stay in the intensive care unit, and at discharge

Collected data

- At enrolment
 - Demographic data
 - Name
 - Mailing address
 - Contact number
 - Date of birth
 - Age
 - Indigenous status
 - Sex
 - Date and time of admission to the intensive care unit (ICU)
 - ICU admission diagnosis—Acute Physiology and Chronic Evaluation (APACHE II)
 - Date and time of first intubation
- Daily
 - Richmond Assessment Sedation Scale (RASS)
 - Confusion Assessment Method for the ICU (CAM-ICU)
- At discharge from the ICU
 - Delirium positive or negative
 - Date and time of discharge from the ICU
 - Survival status at discharge from the ICU
 - Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE)
- After discharge from the ICU (episode outcome at 6 and 12 months)
 - Survival status
 - Dependency status
 - Cognitive status

Sample Size

The primary outcome of this study is the relative decrement in MMSE at 6 months after discharge from the ICU. We used the most relevant clinical trial employing MMSE to quantify both delirium-positive cognitive function of and delirium-negative patients to estimate the expected outcomes for our patients at 6 months after discharge from the ICU in order to make a sample size calculation. We estimated the clinically important reductions expected in MMSE and calculated that, at a type 1 error rate of 5% (alpha .05), we can find the clinically significant difference of 2 points on the MMSE between groups with 80% power if we include a minimum of 81 patients in each group (delirious and not delirious). To allow for potential dropouts following recruitment, we plan to enroll 200 patients.

Safety Monitoring

Both internal and external monitoring is utilized through this study. The principal investigator has on-site assessment through

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2017/2/e31/

monthly meetings with the supervisors at both hospitals. An external person is also appointed at each research site to independently monitor the research process.

Statistical Analysis

All statistical analysis will be done using Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) Research Engine, Version 22.0 IBM SPSS Statistics (2015). We plan to employ the Student ttest to compare mean outcomes in each group when assuming a normal underlying distribution can be justified and the Mann-Whitney U test to compare medians when this assumption fails. We will compare differences in proportionate outcomes using a Chi-square analysis. When calculating multiple time points for the purpose of comparing groups over time, we will apply appropriate correction for multiple testing using the Bonferroni correction. For all of these methods, we will determine if there is a statistically significant difference between the groups (P values less than .05). Results will be presented as differences between groups with 95% confidence intervals. We will also consider both analysis of covariance (parametric)

XSL•FO

or Kruskal-Wallis (non-parametric) testing as appropriate and will investigate the influence of potential confounders and correlations by logistic or multiple regression techniques. Further, we will randomly select two groups of patients (30 delirium-positive and 30 delirium-negative) to cross validate our results and assess whether they are stable for both samples.

Results

The primary outcome of this study is the assessment of long-term cognition and psychosocial function. Patient mortality will be the study's secondary outcome. Active enrollment will take place until the end of September 2016 and data collection will conclude at the end of September 2017. The analysis and results are expected to be available by March 2018.

Discussion

The use of sedation and multiple psychoactive medications in the ICU, combined with patients' metabolic disturbances, underlying infections, and multi-organ failure, may promote delirium and create new or exacerbate existing cognitive impairments [10-23]. Burgeoning evidence has emerged in support of the association between the ICU experience of delirium and adverse patient outcomes, including longer hospital stays and poor functional recovery [40-43]. We hope this study, with its design and comprehensive data collection, will deliver novel insights into the impact of intensive care delirium on patients' long-term cognitive and psychosocial outcomes, further informing the care of critically ill ICU patients.

Acknowledgments

This study is funded by the Canberra Hospital Private Practice Fund.

Authors' Contributions

DB conceived the study and drafted the manuscript. MB provided important mentoring in designing the study in relation to clinical processes, safety monitoring, statistical analysis plan, and ethics submissions to both research sites. JCLL helped select research instruments. FVH assisted in acquiring funding and was vital in getting the study operational at Canberra Hospital. HR assisted in acquiring funding, and together with MN, was instrumental in enrolling the patients at Canberra Hospital. PR assisted in recruiting patients in the Prince of Wales Hospital. All authors critically revised the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Mini-Mental State Examination.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 184KB - resprot_v6i2e31_app1.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 2

Telephone Interview for Cognitive Status (TICS).

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 1MB - resprot_v6i2e31_app2.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 3

Impact of Events Scale-Revised (IES-R).

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 94KB - resprot_v6i2e31_app3.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 4

Informant Questionnaire on Cognitive Decline in the Elderly (IQCODE).

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 21KB - resprot_v6i2e31_app4.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 5

MMSE:TICS permission.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 1MB - resprot_v6i2e31_app5.pdf]

References

RenderX

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2017/2/e31/

- 1. American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fifth Edition (DSM-5). Arlington, VA: American Psychiatric Association Publishing; 2013:2013.
- Bhat RS, Rockwood K. The role of diagnosis in delirium. Int Psychogeriatr 2016 Oct;28(10):1579-1586. [doi: 10.1017/S1041610216001095] [Medline: 27585833]
- 3. Girard TD, Pandharipande PP, Ely EW. Delirium in the intensive care unit. Crit Care 2008;12 Suppl 3:S3 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/cc6149] [Medline: 18495054]
- 4. Peritogiannis V, Bolosi M, Lixouriotis C, Rizos DV. Recent insights on prevalence and corelations of hypoactive delirium. Behav Neurol 2015;2015:416792 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2015/416792] [Medline: 26347584]
- 5. Salluh JI, Wang H, Schneider EB, Nagaraja N, Yenokyan G, Damluji A, et al. Outcome of delirium in critically ill patients: systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ 2015 Jun 03;350:h2538 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>26041151</u>]
- 6. Pandharipande P, Ely EW. Sedative and analgesic medications: risk factors for delirium and sleep disturbances in the critically ill. Crit Care Clin 2006 Apr;22(2):313-27, vii. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ccc.2006.02.010</u>] [Medline: <u>16678002</u>]
- Brummel NE, Jackson JC, Pandharipande PP, Thompson JL, Shintani AK, Dittus RS, et al. Delirium in the ICU and subsequent long-term disability among survivors of mechanical ventilation. Crit Care Med 2014 Feb;42(2):369-377 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/CCM.0b013e3182a645bd] [Medline: 24158172]
- Ely EW, Shintani A, Truman B, Speroff T, Gordon SM, Harrell FE, et al. Delirium as a predictor of mortality in mechanically ventilated patients in the intensive care unit. JAMA 2004 Apr 14;291(14):1753-1762. [doi: <u>10.1001/jama.291.14.1753</u>] [Medline: <u>15082703</u>]
- 9. Jeon K, Jeong B, Ko MG, Nam J, Yoo H, Chung CR, et al. Impact of delirium on weaning from mechanical ventilation in medical patients. Respirology 2016 Feb;21(2):313-320 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/resp.12673] [Medline: 26534738]
- Jackson JC, Mitchell N, Hopkins RO. Cognitive functioning, mental health, and quality of life in ICU survivors: an overview. Psychiatr Clin North Am 2015 Mar;38(1):91-104. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.psc.2014.11.002</u>] [Medline: <u>25725571</u>]
- Girard TD, Jackson JC, Pandharipande PP, Pun BT, Thompson JL, Shintani AK, et al. Delirium as a predictor of long-term cognitive impairment in survivors of critical illness. Crit Care Med 2010 Jul;38(7):1513-1520 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/CCM.0b013e3181e47be1] [Medline: 20473145]
- 12. Marcantonio ER, Simon SE, Bergmann MA, Jones RN, Murphy KM, Morris JN. Delirium symptoms in post-acute care: prevalent, persistent, and associated with poor functional recovery. J Am Geriatr Soc 2003 Jan;51(1):4-9. [Medline: 12534838]
- Brummel NE, Balas MC, Morandi A, Ferrante LE, Gill TM, Ely EW. Understanding and reducing disability in older adults following critical illness. Crit Care Med 2015 Jun;43(6):1265-1275 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/CCM.00000000000924] [Medline: 25756418]
- 14. Hopkins RO, Jackson JC. Short- and long-term cognitive outcomes in intensive care unit survivors. Clin Chest Med 2009 Mar;30(1):143-53, ix. [doi: 10.1016/j.ccm.2008.11.001] [Medline: 19186286]
- 15. MacLullich AM, Beaglehole A, Hall RJ, Meagher DJ. Delirium and long-term cognitive impairment. Int Rev Psychiatry 2009 Feb;21(1):30-42. [doi: 10.1080/09540260802675031] [Medline: 19219711]
- 16. Ely EW, Siegel MD, Inouye SK. Delirium in the intensive care unit: an under-recognized syndrome of organ dysfunction. Semin Respir Crit Care Med 2001;22(2):115-126. [doi: <u>10.1055/s-2001-13826</u>] [Medline: <u>16088667</u>]
- 17. Cuthbertson BH, Scott J, Strachan M, Kilonzo M, Vale L. Quality of life before and after intensive care. Anaesthesia 2005 Apr;60(4):332-339 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2044.2004.04109.x] [Medline: 15766335]
- Hopkins RO, Jackson JC. Short- and long-term cognitive outcomes in intensive care unit survivors. Clin Chest Med 2009 Mar;30(1):143-53, ix. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ccm.2008.11.001</u>] [Medline: <u>19186286</u>]
- 19. Jackson JC, Gordon SM, Hart RP, Hopkins RO, Ely EW. The association between delirium and cognitive decline: a review of the empirical literature. Neuropsychol Rev 2004 Jun;14(2):87-98. [Medline: <u>15264710</u>]
- 20. McCusker J, Cole M, Abrahamowicz M, Primeau F, Belzile E. Delirium predicts 12-month mortality. Arch Intern Med 2002 Feb 25;162(4):457-463. [Medline: <u>11863480</u>]
- 21. Misra S, Ganzini L. Delirium, depression, and anxiety. Crit Care Clin 2003 Oct;19(4):771-87, viii. [Medline: 14601719]
- 22. Stevens RD, Nyquist PA. Coma, delirium, and cognitive dysfunction in critical illness. Crit Care Clin 2006 Oct;22(4):787-804; abstract x. [doi: 10.1016/j.ccc.2006.11.006] [Medline: 17239755]
- 23. Ouimet S, Kavanagh BP, Gottfried SB, Skrobik Y. Incidence, risk factors and consequences of ICU delirium. Intensive Care Med 2007 Jan;33(1):66-73. [doi: 10.1007/s00134-006-0399-8] [Medline: 17102966]
- 24. Jorm AF. The Informant Questionnaire on Cognitive Decline in the Elderly (IQCODE): a review. Int Psychogeriatr 2004 Sep;16(3):275-293. [Medline: <u>15559753</u>]
- 25. Svenningsen H, Egerod I, Christensen D, Tønnesen EK, Frydenberg M, Videbech P. Symptoms of posttraumatic stress after intensive care delirium. Biomed Res Int 2015;2015:876947 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2015/876947] [Medline: 26557708]
- 26. Sessler CN, Gosnell MS, Grap MJ, Brophy GM, O'Neal PV, Keane KA, et al. The Richmond Agitation-Sedation Scale: validity and reliability in adult intensive care unit patients. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2002 Nov 15;166(10):1338-1344. [doi: 10.1164/rccm.2107138] [Medline: 12421743]

RenderX

- Ely EW, Truman B, Shintani A, Thomason JW, Wheeler AP, Gordon S, et al. Monitoring sedation status over time in ICU patients: reliability and validity of the Richmond Agitation-Sedation Scale (RASS). JAMA 2003 Jun 11;289(22):2983-2991. [doi: 10.1001/jama.289.22.2983] [Medline: 12799407]
- 28. Ely EW, Inouye SK, Bernard GR, Gordon S, Francis J, May L, et al. Delirium in mechanically ventilated patients: validity and reliability of the confusion assessment method for the intensive care unit (CAM-ICU). JAMA 2001 Dec 05;286(21):2703-2710. [Medline: <u>11730446</u>]
- 29. Gibbons LE, van Belle G, Yang M, Gill C, Brayne C, Huppert FA, et al. Cross-cultural comparison of the Mini-Mental State examination in United Kingdom and United States participants with Alzheimer's disease. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry 2002 Aug;17(8):723-728. [doi: 10.1002/gps.683] [Medline: 12211121]
- 30. Manly JJ, Espino DV. Cultural influences on dementia recognition and management. Clin Geriatr Med 2004 Feb;20(1):93-119. [doi: 10.1016/j.cger.2003.10.004] [Medline: 15062490]
- 31. Shah A, Dalvi M, Thompson T. Behavioural and psychological signs and symptoms of dementia across cultures: current status and the future. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry 2005 Dec;20(12):1187-1195. [doi: 10.1002/gps.1417] [Medline: 16315147]
- 32. Teng EL. Cultural and educational factors in the diagnosis of dementia. Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord 2002;16 Suppl 2:S77-S79. [Medline: 12351918]
- Knaus WA, Draper EA, Wagner DP, Zimmerman JE. APACHE II: a severity of disease classification system. Crit Care Med 1985 Oct;13(10):818-829. [Medline: <u>3928249</u>]
- 34. Folstein MF, Folstein SE, McHugh PR. "Mini-mental state". A practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. J Psychiatr Res 1975 Nov;12(3):189-198. [Medline: <u>1202204</u>]
- 35. Brandt J, Spencer M, Folstein M. The telephone interview for cognitive status. Neuropsychiatry Neuropsychol Behav Neurol 1988;1:111-117.
- 36. Roccaforte WH, Burke WJ, Bayer BL, Wengel SP. Validation of a telephone version of the mini-mental state examination. J Am Geriatr Soc 1992 Jul;40(7):697-702. [Medline: <u>1607586</u>]
- Beck JG, Grant DM, Read JP, Clapp JD, Coffey SF, Miller LM, et al. The impact of event scale-revised: psychometric properties in a sample of motor vehicle accident survivors. J Anxiety Disord 2008;22(2):187-198 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.janxdis.2007.02.007] [Medline: 17369016]
- 38. Weiss D, Marmar C. In: Wilson JP, Keane TM, editors. The Impact of Event Scale Revised (IES-R). New York: Guilford Press; 1997.
- Isella V, Villa L, Russo A, Regazzoni R, Ferrarese C, Appollonio IM. Discriminative and predictive power of an informant report in mild cognitive impairment. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 2006 Feb;77(2):166-171 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/jnnp.2005.069765] [Medline: 16421116]
- 40. Jorm AF, Jacomb PA. The Informant Questionnaire on Cognitive Decline in the Elderly (IQCODE): socio-demographic correlates, reliability, validity and some norms. Psychol Med 1989 Nov;19(4):1015-1022. [Medline: 2594878]
- Thomason JW, Shintani A, Peterson JF, Pun BT, Jackson JC, Ely EW. Intensive care unit delirium is an independent predictor of longer hospital stay: a prospective analysis of 261 non-ventilated patients. Crit Care 2005 Aug;9(4):R375-R381 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/cc3729] [Medline: 16137350]
- 42. Cropsey C, Kennedy J, Han J, Pandharipande P. Cognitive dysfunction, delirium, and stroke in cardiac surgery patients. Semin Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth 2015 Dec;19(4):309-317. [doi: <u>10.1177/1089253215570062</u>] [Medline: <u>26660055</u>]
- Wolters AE, Peelen LM, Welling MC, Kok L, de Lange DW, Cremer OL, et al. Long-term mental health problems after delirium in the ICU. Crit Care Med 2016 Oct;44(10):1808-1813. [doi: <u>10.1097/CCM.00000000001861</u>] [Medline: <u>27513540</u>]

Abbreviations

APACHE II: Acute Physiology and Chronic Evaluation
CALD: culturally and linguistically diverse background
CAM-ICU: Confusion Assessment Method for ICU
ICU: intensive care unit
IES-R: Impact of Events Scale Revised
IQCODE: Informant Questionnaire on Cognitive Decline in the Elderly
MMSE: Mini-Mental State Examination
PTSD: post-traumatic stress disorder
TICS: Telephone Interview for Cognitive Status



Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 17.09.16; peer-reviewed by J Hasebrook, J Choi, W Ely; comments to author 05.12.16; revised version received 03.01.17; accepted 05.01.17; published 28.02.17.

Please cite as:

Bulic D, Bennett M, Rodgers H, Nourse M, Rubie P, Looi JCL, Van Haren F Delirium After Mechanical Ventilation in Intensive Care Units: The Cognitive and Psychosocial Assessment (CAPA) Study Protocol JMIR Res Protoc 2017;6(2):e31 URL: http://www.researchprotocols.org/2017/2/e31/ doi:10.2196/resprot.6660 PMID:28246074

©Daniella Bulic, Michael Bennett, Helen Rodgers, Mary Nourse, Patrick Rubie, Jeffrey CL Looi, Frank Van Haren. Originally published in JMIR Research Protocols (http://www.researchprotocols.org), 28.02.2017. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Research Protocols, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.researchprotocols.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Feasibility of Ecological Momentary Assessment of Daily Sexting and Substance Use Among Young Adult African American Gay and Bisexual Men: A Pilot Study

Sabrina L Smiley¹, PhD, MPH, MCHES; Hoda Elmasry¹, MPH; Monica Webb Hooper², PhD; Raymond S Niaura^{1,3,4}, PhD; Alison B Hamilton^{5,6}, PhD, MPH; Norweeta G Milburn⁵, PhD

³Department of Health, Behavior, and Society, Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD, United States

⁵Department of Psychiatry and Biobehavioral Sciences, Semel Institute for Neuroscience and Human Behavior, University of California, Los Angeles, Los Angeles, CA, United States

⁶Veterans Administration Greater Los Angeles Healthcare System, Veterans Administration Center for the Study of Healthcare Innovation, Implementation, and Policy, Los Angeles, CA, United States

Corresponding Author:

Sabrina L Smiley, PhD, MPH, MCHES Schroeder Institute for Tobacco Research and Policy Studies at Truth Initiative 900 G Street, NW, Fourth Floor Washington, DC, United States Phone: 1 202 454 5928 Fax: 1 202 454 5599 Email: <u>ssmiley@truthinitiative.org</u>

Abstract

Background: Recent evidence suggests that sexualized text communication ("sexting") is associated with substance use and sexual risk behaviors among young adults, yet little is known about this relationship among young adult African American gay and bisexual men, a population disproportionately impacted by HIV in the United States. Rapid advances in mobile phone technology indicate a clear need for research using mobile health (mHealth) methods such as ecological momentary assessment (EMA) to serve as a viable counterpart to retrospective evaluation methods by using real-time data collection to assess sexting and substance use among this population.

Objective: The objective of this pilot study was to (1) describe the EMA study design and protocol, (2) characterize the study population, and (3) assess the feasibility of a random prompt text message-based thrice-daily EMA over 14 days, as a means of prospectively studying sexting, marijuana, and alcohol use among a sample of young adult African American gay and bisexual men ages 21 to 25.

Methods: Participants were recruited through flyers and snowball sampling during spring and summer 2015 at a community-based HIV/AIDS prevention, care, and support organization in Washington, DC. Eligible participants were enrolled in a one-time in-person study visit that consisted of informed written consent to participate in the study, a self-administered survey, a semi-structured interview, and enrollment and training in EMA data collection. Commencing the day after the study visit, a random prompt survey was texted to participants on their personal mobile phones 3 times a day over a 14-day data collection period assessing mood, texts sent, texts received, sexts sent, sexts received, marijuana want, marijuana use, and alcohol use.

Results: EMA feasibility was tested with 25 self-identified African American gay (n=16) and bisexual (n=9) men (mean age of 23.48 years, SD 1.5). Each random prompt survey had 8 questions with responses including yes/no and Likert scale options. There were 104 total days of EMA observation, and the retention rate was 72% (18 out of 25 participants). Participants responded to the random prompt surveys with a 57.3% compliance rate providing a total of 544 completed surveys out of 949 surveys. The overall mean response time to complete a survey was 6.1 minutes. There were significant positive associations between EMA texts sent and received questions (ρ 0.84, *P*<.001) as well as sexts sent and received queries (ρ 0.72, *P*<.001).

RenderX

¹Schroeder Institute for Tobacco Research and Policy Studies at Truth Initiative, Washington, DC, United States

²Case Comprehensive Cancer Center, School of Medicine, Case Western Reserve University, Cleveland, OH, United States

⁴Georgetown University Medical Center, Lombardi Comprehensive Cancer Center, Georgetown University, Washington, DC, United States

Conclusions: The use of an EMA protocol has the potential to be a very useful research tool for understanding episodic behaviors such as sexting and substance use in this relatively understudied and underserved population, and has implications for practice. Additional research is needed on how to maximize survey compliance.

(JMIR Res Protoc 2017;6(2):e9) doi:10.2196/resprot.6520

KEYWORDS

ecological momentary assessment; mobile phone; text messaging; sexting; marijuana; alcohol; young adult; gay and bisexual; African American men

Introduction

Despite an overall reduction in new HIV infections in the United States, young African American gay and bisexual men continue to experience a disproportionate burden of HIV [1]. In 2014, among all African American gay and bisexual men diagnosed with HIV in the United States, an estimated 39% (4321) were aged 13-24 [1]. Young adulthood is a critical period of vulnerability for HIV-related risk behaviors including uptake in consumption of mood-altering substances before and during sexual encounters [2,3]. Among young adult African American gay and bisexual men, the most commonly used substances are alcohol and marijuana [4].

In recent years, researchers have begun to investigate an emerging mobile phone technology trend—sexualized text communication known as "sexting" [5-7]. Sexting describes sending and receiving sexually suggestive photos or text messages via mobile phone [5-7]. Benotsch et al found that sexting among young adults was associated with substance use (eg, alcohol, marijuana, ecstasy, cocaine), multiple sexual partners, unprotected sexual encounters, and sexually transmitted infections [5]. Bauermeister et al found that sexting was more prevalent among young adult gay and bisexual men compared to their heterosexual peers [7]. Although valuable contributions to the literature, both studies [5,7] were limited either by a predominately white, heterosexual or non-heterosexual sample, making it difficult to generalize to young adult African American gay and bisexual men.

Retrospective self-reports are the dominant method of data collection for assessing sexting and substance use among young adults [5-7]. However, collecting data through self-reporting methods can threaten the reliability and validity of measurement, particularly if individuals under- or overreport their behavior [8-10]. Ecological momentary assessment (EMA), a mobile health (mHealth) method that involves repeated sampling of an individual's behavior in real-time, is an innovative counterpart to traditional research methods that have heavily relied on retrospective self-reported measures [9,10]. EMA can increase the accuracy of self-disclosed, episodic behaviors such as sexting and substance use, and offers an observational longitudinal approach for collecting multiple, real-time assessments of these behaviors over time, and in an individual's environment [9,10]. The use of EMA also offers unique advantages, as it is designed to minimize recall bias, capture time-stamped data, and increase validity in daily life settings [9,10]. Additionally, EMA employs mobile technology data collection tools, including PDAs, Palm Pilots, and mobile phones [9,10]. Rapid advances in mobile phone technology and text messaging have vastly impacted

communication and offer a promising approach to developing EMA methods for understanding how mobile phone technology trends, such as sexting, are associated with HIV-related risk behaviors.

Building on existing literature that has used EMA methods with young adult African American gay and bisexual men, the objective of this pilot study was to (1) describe the EMA study design and protocol, (2) characterize the study population, and (3) assess the feasibility of a text message–based thrice-daily EMA over 14 days, as a means of prospectively studying sexting, marijuana, and alcohol use among a sample of young adult African American gay and bisexual men aged 21 to 25. Feasibility was assessed in terms of random prompt text message survey response compliance, question response compliance, and response times. Retention was also assessed, and recommendations for future EMA research and implications for practice are presented.

Methods

Study Participants

Participants were recruited through flyers and snowball sampling during spring and summer 2015 at a community-based HIV/AIDS prevention, care, and support organization in Washington, DC. Prospective participants were screened by phone by a trained study coordinator to determine whether they met the study's eligibility criteria, which included self-identifying as black/African American, self-identifying as gay or bisexual, being between the ages of 21 and 25, residing in the Washington, DC, metro area, being English-speaking, having a personal mobile phone and using it daily, having a mobile phone plan with unlimited text messages, and being able to travel to the designated study site.

Study Procedures

All eligible participants were screened and enrolled until the target sample size of 25 was met, which is characteristic of EMA pilot studies [11-13]. Participants completed a one-time study visit that consisted of informed written consent, a self-administered survey, a semi-structured interview, and training in EMA data collection. The self-administered survey assessed sociodemographic characteristics (eg, age, education, annual income, and current employment status), social networking application behavior (eg, self-reported use of the social networking applications Facebook and Jack'd), text messaging behavior (eg, self-reported daily texting frequency, sending and receiving sexts), sexual history (eg, self-reported number of male partners in the past 12 months), substance use (alcohol, combustible and noncombustible tobacco products,

and marijuana), and psychological state (eg, self-reported anxiety and depression symptoms using the Patient Health Questionnaire for Depression and Anxiety [PHQ-4]) [14].

Ecological Momentary Assessment Data Collection

After participants completed the self-administered survey, the primary author registered their phones to receive the random prompt surveys, and participants were trained on how to respond to them via dummy surveys triggered to their phones. The EMA data collection system at the primary author's institution initiated random prompt surveys 3 times a day for 14 days. On weekdays, surveys were delivered between 6:00 AM and 23:59 PM. On weekends, surveys were delivered between 9:00 AM and 23:59 PM. The EMA data collection system recorded the date and time it took the participant to respond to and complete a random prompt survey, and the date and time a survey expired. The survey expired after 15 minutes of inactivity. The EMA data collection system returned an error message to prevent skipping items or entering out-of-range values. Text messages reminding participants to complete the random prompt surveys were delivered to participants' phones each day at 8:00 PM, and the primary author was available by office phone, work cell, and email to respond to participants' inquiries and concerns.

The random prompt survey consisted of 8 questions with responses including yes/no and Likert scale options. Questions were adapted from similar EMA questionnaires combined with current literature on sexting and substance use [7,15-17]. Figure 1 presents a screenshot of 3 of the 8 questions of the EMA random prompt text message survey. Questions included "How is your mood right now?" (1=very pleasant, 5=very unpleasant), "Since the last time we texted you, how many text messages have you sent today using your cell phone?" (1=0, 6=more than 120), "Since the last time we texted you, how many text messages have you received today to your cell phone?" (1=0, 6=more than 120), "Since the last time we texted you, did you send a sexually explicit message or photo of yourself using your cell phone today?" (1=yes, 2=no), "Since the last time we texted you, did you receive a sexually explicit message or photo of someone by way of cell phone today?" (1=yes, 2=no), "Right now, how much do you want to use marijuana?" (1=not at all, 4=to a great extent), "Since the last time we texted you, have you used marijuana?" (1=yes, 2=no), and "Since the last time we texted you, did you use alcohol, including sips of someone's drink or your own drink?" (1=yes, 2=no).

Figure 1. Screenshot of 3 of the 8 ecological momentary assessment (EMA) random prompt text message survey questions.



Participants received a US \$25 Visa gift card at the one-time study visit. Following 14 days of EMA data collection, participants who completed less than 50% (0-20) of the random prompt surveys received a US \$25 Visa gift card for their time and cell phone usage. To maximize response compliance, participants who completed 50% or more (21-42) of the random prompt surveys received a US \$50 Visa gift card. Additionally, during data collection, the primary author contacted participants

via phone call, text message, or email and informed them of their progress toward earning the US \$50 Visa gift card. The Chesapeake Institutional Review Board approved all study procedures (Pro00012060) and a Certificate of Confidentiality was obtained through the National Institute on Drug Abuse.

RenderX

Ecological Momentary Assessment Compliance Measures

Retention was defined as the percentage of participants who completed surveys on at least 10 of the possible 14 days of EMA data collection. Survey compliance reflects the proportion of complete surveys out of all surveys texted to the participant's phone. To count as a complete survey, all 8 survey questions were required to be answered by the participant. Partial survey compliance includes abandoned surveys, where at least 1 survey question was answered but not all 8 survey questions. Question compliance is the proportion of questions answered out of all questions sent. Time to complete a survey reflects the time between the first survey prompt and when participants completed their responses. Participants were prompted 3 times at 5 minute intervals; as such, time to complete a survey reflects not only the actual time to answer all 8 survey questions but also the number of prompts sent before a response was received.

Data Analysis

Descriptive statistics were used to characterize the study population in terms of sociodemographic characteristics, childhood experiences (parental smoking status, perceived introduction to adult responsibilities), self-reported health, personal financial status, use of social networks, sexualized text communication, sexual history, substance use, and compliance measures. Differences in survey compliance on baseline characteristics were examined using linear regression. Comparisons between week 1 and week 2 compliance measures were evaluated using paired t tests. Pairwise correlations were assessed for all 8 daily measures (mood, text sent, text received, sext sent, sext received, marijuana want, marijuana use, and alcohol use) using Pearson correlation. Cronbach alpha was also produced for the following related measures: (1) text sent, text received, sext sent, sext received and (2) marijuana want, marijuana use, alcohol use. All statistical analyses were

completed in SAS version 9.4 (SAS Institute Inc) and Stata version 13 (StataCorp LP) with figures created in both SAS and JMP version 10.0.02 (SAS Institute Inc).

Results

Baseline Characteristics of Participants

Participants (n=25) were self-identified black/African American gay (n=16) and bisexual (n=9) men who ranged in age from 21 to 25 (mean 23.48, SD 1.5) years. More than half (15/25, 60%) reported annual incomes below US \$35,000. The majority of the sample reported full or part-time employment (21/25, 84%)and at least some college education (21/25, 84%). When asked to describe their overall personal financial situation, 48% (12/25) of the sample reported just meeting basic expenses or not meeting expenses. In regard to childhood experiences, 64% (16/25) of the sample reported that one of their parents or guardians smoked cigarettes during their childhood. In terms of taking on adult responsibilities, 76% (19/25) of the sample reported growing up faster than other people their age. Most of the sample (19/25, 76%) reported using their phone multiple times per day to access social networking sites such as Facebook, Twitter, and Instagram. Nearly all (24/25, 96%) reported that they have received a sexually explicit photo of someone to their phone, and most of them (21/25, 84%) reported that they have sent a sexually explicit photo to someone using their phone. Over two-thirds (17/25, 68%) of the sample reported using marijuana every day or some days, and 56% (14/25) reported using little cigars/cigarillos/bidis at least 1 time in the past month. Additionally, 48% (12/25) reported drinking alcohol at least 2 to 3 times per week in the past month, and 36% (9/25) reported no condom use the last time they had anal sex with a man. According to the PHQ-4 [14], 52% (13/25) reported mild, moderate or severe psychological distress. Table 1 summarizes participants' characteristics.



Table 1. Participant characteristics.

		Survey comp		
		β	P value ^a	
Sociodemographics				
Race, n (%)				
African American	21 (84)	5.72	.65	
More than 1 race (ref ^b)	4 (16)	—	—	
Age, mean (SD)	23.5 (1.5)	1.28	.68	
Education, n (%)				
High school or less (ref)	4 (16)	_	_	
Some college or more	21 (84)	8.33	.51	
Employment, n (%)				
Working, paid or unpaid	21 (84)	4.11	.75	
Not working (ref)	4 (16)	_	_	
Childhood				
Parent/guardian smoked cigarettes, n (%)				
Yes	16 (64)	-14.53	.12	
No (ref)	9 (36)	_	_	
Grew up compared to peers, n (%)				
Faster	19 (76)	-18.2	.08	
Slower/same rate (ref)	6 (24)	—	—	
Self-reported health				
Health, n (%)				
Excellent or very good	17 (68)	11.66	.24	
Good or fair (ref)	8 (32)	—	—	
Psychological distress, n (%)				
None (ref)	12 (48)	_	_	
Mild, moderate, or severe	13 (52)	-0.84	.93	
Personal financial status				
Income, n (%)				
<us \$35,000<="" td=""><td>15 (60)</td><td>—</td><td>—</td><td></td></us>	15 (60)	—	—	
US \$35,000+	8 (32)	—	—	
Unsure	2 (8)	—	—	
Financial status, n (%)				
Live comfortably or meet needs with a little left	13 (52)	-8.11	.38	
Just meet basic needs or don't meet basic needs (ref)	12 (48)	—	—	
Financial satisfaction, n (%)				
Pretty well satisfied or more or less satisfied	16 (64)	-12.46	.19	
Not satisfied at all (ref)	9 (36)	—	—	
Social networking technologies				
Social networking on cell phone, n (%)				
Multiple times per day	19 (76)	-1.01	.93	
Daily, weekly, or never (ref)	6 (24)	—	—	

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2017/2/e9/

XSL•FO RenderX JMIR Res Protoc 2017 | vol. 6 | iss. 2 |e9 | p.129 (page number not for citation purposes)

Smiley et al

		Survey compliance				
		β	P value ^a			
Use Jack'd application, n (%)	-		-			
Multiple times per day or daily (ref)	6 (25)	—	_			
Weekly or monthly	12 (50)	4.78	.67			
Never	6 (25)	0.81	.95			
Sexting						
Received sexually explicit text, n (%)						
Yes	24 (96)	—	—			
No (ref)	1 (4)	—	_			
Received sexually explicit photo through text, n (%)						
Yes	24 (96)	_	_			
No (ref)	1 (4)	_	_			
Sent sexually explicit text, n (%)						
Yes	23 (92)	_	_			
No (ref)	2 (8)	_	_			
Sent sexually explicit photo through text, n (%)						
Yes	21 (84)	-8.90	.48			
No (ref)	4 (16)	_	_			
Sexual history						
Used condom in most recent sexual encounter, n (%)						
Yes	15 (62.5)	22.71	.02			
No (ref)	9 (37.5)	_	_			
Substance use						
Alcohol use past 30 days, n (%)						
2-4 times per month (ref)	13 (52)	_	_			
2-3 times per week	12 (48)	0.06	>.99			
Marijuana use, n (%)						
Every day or some days	17 (68)	-6.30	.53			
Not at all (ref)	8 (32)	_	_			
Little cigar/cigarillo use, n (%)						
Yes	14 (56)	-6.95	.46			
No (ref)	11 (44)	_	_			

^a*P* value for linear regression; regression analyses were not performed for variables with small cell sizes (n≤2). ^bref: referent.

Feasibility Assessment

The EMA data collection period was programmed to last 14 days. There were 25 participants who provided 104 days of observation (April 17, 2015, through July 30, 2015). Average number of days of observation was 10.64 (SD 3.2, range 0-14). Due to a system scheduling error, 5 participants responded to the EMA random prompt text message surveys less than 14

days. Additionally, 1 participant's phone was lost during the data collection period resulting in missing data. Another participant did not complete any surveys during the 14-day EMA data collection period but was included in the final sample since surveys were still sent to his phone. The total retention rate was 72% (n=18). Table 2 summarizes EMA compliance data.

XSL•FO RenderX

Smiley et al

Table 2. Ecological momentary assessment compliance data.

	Totals	Ranges
Number of participants, n (%)	25 (100)	
Total days of observation ^a , n	104	
Average days of observation per person, mean (SD)	10.64 (3.2)	Range: 0-14, interquartile range: 10-12
Retention ^b , n (%)	18 (72.0)	

^aFirst entry 4/17/15, last entry 8/6/15 (when cut off at 2 weeks last day was 7/30/15, so 104 days).

^bOne participant lost phone and was unable to complete the study; retention defined as percentage of participants who completed surveys on at least 10 of 14 days.

Table 3 summarizes EMA compliance data overall and by week. A total of 949 random prompt surveys were texted to the sample's phones and a total of 544 surveys were completed, resulting in an overall compliance rate of 57.3%. Due to the aforementioned system error, fewer surveys were sent out in week 2 compared to week 1. A total of 277/484 (57.2%) surveys were completed over week 1, and 267/465 (57.4%) surveys were completed over week 2. There were 41 surveys that were partially completed resulting in an overall partial survey compliance rate of 4.3%. Over week 1, 22/484 (4.5%) surveys were partial, and over week 2, 19/465 (3.9%) surveys were partial. Overall, 364 (36%) surveys expired due to nonresponse. A total of 4496 survey questions were completed resulting in an overall question compliance rate of 59.22%. Over week 1, 2290 (59.14%) questions were completed, and over week 2, 2206 (59.30%) were completed. Completion time was evaluated as the number of minutes elapsed from initiation of each survey to synchronization with the server. The overall mean response

time was 6.06 (SD 4.99) minutes. The mean response time over the first week was 6.1 (SD 5.2) minutes, and over the second week it was 6.0 (SD 4.8) minutes.

Figure 2 shows the time, in minutes, participants took to complete the survey for each individual response on weekdays versus weekends across study days. Response time did not vary significantly between weekdays and weekends ($M_{weekday}$: 6.1 [SD 5.0] minutes; $M_{weekend}$: 6.0 [SD 5.0] minutes). Most points on weekdays and weekends lie beneath the 10-minute mark which indicates it took 2 or fewer system prompts to solicit a complete response from participants.

There were significant positive associations between EMA text sent and received questions (ρ : 0.84, *P*<.001) as well sexting sent and received queries (ρ : 0.72, *P*<.001). For text-focused EMA questions (text sent, text received, sext sent, sext received), the resulting Cronbach alpha was 0.68, suggesting acceptable internal consistency.

Table 3. Ecological momentary assessment compliance data overall and by week (data restricted to weeks 1 and 2 only).

	Overall	Week 1	Week 2	
Response/compliance rate, n (%)				
By survey ^a	544 (57.3)	277 (57.2)	267 (57.4)	
Partial surveys	41 (4.3)	22 (4.5)	19 (4.1)	
By question ^b	4496 (59.2)	2290 (59.1)	2206 (59.3)	
Status, n (%)				
Complete	544 (57.3)	277 (57.2)	267 (57.4)	
Expired	364 (38.4)	185 (38.2)	179 (38.5)	
Abandoned	41 (4.3)	22 (4.5)	19 (4.1)	
Time to complete EMA ^c random survey ^d , mean (SD)	6.1 (5.0)	6.1 (5.2)	6.0 (4.8)	

^aTotal number of random prompts completed/total number of random prompts possible (14 days \times 25 participants \times 3 surveys per day); excludes status code "initiating" from denominator.

^bTotal number of questions completed/total number of questions possible.

^cEMA: ecological momentary assessment.

^dNumber of minutes elapsed from initiation of each random survey to synchronization with server; restricted to only complete responses and winsorized anyone who took over 20 minutes at 20 minutes.

RenderX

Figure 2. Time-to-complete survey from first prompt by system to last response by participant on weekdays versus weekends across study days.

											Т	'ime to	Com	plete (m	nin) v	s. Stu	dyDa	/										
							Mina							Neekend	Ivs We	ekday						18/44	hand					
1							wee	skoay														wee	kend					
													Me	in: 6.0800	17													Mean: 5.99
20-																												
- 1											ं																	
18-												22																
- 1			22									ं		1.20														
16-							•																					
10-				1																								
										12		22	:															
																	•											
14-		:											•				25											
										•			•															
										•									•									
			•																									
12-				-						:																		
			•																									
									12	1														12				
																									•			
10-				•																								
		•							:				:						•									
1	•																							:	53			
							:											•							:			
8-						:	•				•																	1.2
- 1										:																		
6-	•			:				•		12			•	:														
		:				:				•																		
-		:	:	23								1																
	:	:		÷.,						•	:								:									
4-	:	:			- 2				1	•			÷	•			;	•				•						
	1.2	;	•	2	- 8	:					'		i	1		÷.									2.5	1		
-	:	:		:		:	÷	:		1	:	1				:	:	:					:					
		:		1	1	÷	:	:	1		:	:	;	:		:		:	:	0		:	1					
2-	;	:	:	:	1	1	:		1	:	:		i			:												
		1			1				:	:		2	:				•				:			•	10			. :
1																	1											
0		 _																										
0		2		4		6		8		10		12		14	ò		2		4		6		8		10		12	14

Discussion

Principal Findings

To our knowledge, this is one of the first pilot studies to examine the feasibility of mobile phone-based text message EMA to prospectively capture sexting and marijuana and alcohol use among a sample of young adult African American gay and bisexual men. Study findings suggest that completing random prompt text message surveys 3 times per day across 14 days is a feasible approach. This study also underscores the importance of partnering with community-based HIV/AIDS prevention, care, and support organizations, as findings demonstrate the feasibility of recruiting, enrolling, and retaining young adult African American gay and bisexual men in an intensive, longitudinal pilot study.

This study found an overall survey compliance rate of 57.3% (544/949), with a rate of 57.2% (277/484) across the first week and a rate of 57.4% (267/465) across the second week. Previous EMA studies have reported compliance rates from 50% to 90% [12,18,19]. Compared to these studies, an overall survey compliance rate of 57.3% is promising, given that compliance was impacted by 8 days of observation due to the participant whose phone was lost during the data collection period. Additionally, data for the participant who did not complete any surveys—suggesting that he dropped out the day after his study visit—was included since random prompt surveys were still texted to his phone across the 14-day course of the study. Future studies will involve repeated testing of the system software and EMA protocol and procedures, to ensure quality assurance.

RenderX

Particular attention should be given to a lower-burden EMA protocol and procedures that better meet the needs of young adult African American gay and bisexual men. For example, each random prompt survey contained 8 questions. Since most participants (21/25) reported working either full-time or part-time, it is possible that they were less likely to complete a survey when they were engaged in the active duties of their employment. Future research will explore prompting participants to answer fewer than 8 questions in a survey.

There were also similar response rates in question compliance in the first week (2290/4496, 59.14%) compared to the second week (2206/4496, 59.30%). Future research will include conducting individual interviews or focus groups with members of the study population. These methods of formative research may provide an opportunity to explore why a participant may or may not complete a random prompt survey, thereby informing acceptability and strategies to maximize compliance.

Similar to other studies [15,20], participants were provided up to 15 minutes to complete a random prompt survey, and the mean time to complete across the 14-day assessment was 6.1 minutes. Findings demonstrate that participants completed surveys in a very timely manner. Additionally, mean response time on weekdays (6.1 minutes) and weekends (6.0 minutes) were all under 10 minutes, indicating that it took 2 or fewer system prompts to solicit a complete response (eg, answered all 8 questions in a survey) from participants. This suggests a high level of comfort with text messaging among participants. Mean time to complete a survey was slightly but not significantly faster on weekends, suggesting that participants

may not have been as engaged in the active duties of their employment compared to weekdays.

Implications for Practice and Future Research

In this study, nearly all participants reported having received a sexually explicit photo of someone to their phone (24/25, 96%) and having sent a sexually explicit photo to someone using their phone (21/25, 84%). Additionally, 68% (17/25) reported using marijuana every day or some days, 48% (12/25) reported drinking alcohol at least 2 to 3 times a week in the past month, and 36% (9/25) reported no condom use the last time they had anal sex with a man. The sexting, substance use, and sexual risk behavior among this sample of young adult African American gay and bisexual men suggests that EMA data collection tools, including mobile phones and text messaging, have the potential to address mobile phone technology trends such as sexting and reinforce substance use treatment and HIV prevention, care, and support services available through community-based HIV/AIDS organizations serving this population. Future research involves (1) repeated testing of the EMA protocol and data collection system, (2) limiting the number of questions asked in a random prompt text message survey, (3) soliciting buy-in to the study during orientation, (4) increasing study visits, (5) retraining participants during study visits, (6) providing feedback on response compliance, (7) providing a higher bar for incentives, (8) including both random prompts and self-reports to capture events and assess level of substance use, and (9) evaluating protocol acceptability by participants.

Limitations

There are limitations to consider when interpreting study findings. While the sample size (n=25) was appropriate for pilot study research [21], the study is limited in generalizability, in that it uses a convenience sample of young adult African American gay and bisexual men who reported full or part-time employment, some college education, access to mobile phones with unlimited data plans, and residence in the Washington, DC, metro area. Although 15/25 participants (60%) reported annual incomes below US \$35,000 and 9/25 participants (36%) reported that they just meet basic expenses, this study is unlikely to capture the diversity of viewpoints of all young adult African American gay and bisexual men. Additionally, in an effort to not overburden participants, EMA data collection was limited to 2 weeks. Future research should extend data collection to 3 or 4 weeks to provide more "in the moment" data.

Conclusions

Compared to their white and Latino peers, young adult African American gay and bisexual men are arguably at an increased risk for HIV infection [1,22,23]. Mobile phone technology and text messaging present opportunities for novel, innovative research and HIV prevention strategies. This feasibility study highlighted the utility of an EMA approach for advancing knowledge about episodic behaviors, such as sexting and marijuana and alcohol use, to inform research and prevention strategies for this relatively understudied and underserved population. Additional research is needed to customize a fully effective EMA platform.

Acknowledgments

At the time of the study, Sabrina L Smiley was a Scholar with the HIV/AIDS, Substance Abuse, and Trauma Training Program at the University of California Los Angeles supported through an award from the National Institute on Drug Abuse (R25DA035692). The research reported in this publication was supported by the National Institute on Drug Abuse under grant number 5R25DA035692. The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institutes of Health.

The authors are especially grateful for the men who participated in this study and Travis Wise for his dedication to the outreach, recruitment, and enrollment phase of this study.

Authors' Contributions

SLS conceived the study design and manuscript topic, led and conducted data collection and data analysis, and wrote the first draft of the paper. HE conducted data analysis and contributed to manuscript writing. MWH, RSN, ABH, and NGM contributed to interpretation of results and manuscript writing.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. HIV Among African American Gay and Bisexual Men. 2016. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/hiv/group/msm/bmsm.html</u> [accessed 2017-01-25] [WebCite Cache ID 6nuXDqFMq]
- Halkitis PN, Siconolfi DE, Stults CB, Barton S, Bub K, Kapadia F. Modeling substance use in emerging adult gay, bisexual, and other YMSM across time: the P18 cohort study. Drug Alcohol Depend 2014 Dec 1;145:209-216 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2014.10.016] [Medline: 25456332]
- 3. Bruce D, Harper GW, Fernandez MI, The Adolescent Medicine Trials Network for HIV AIDS Interventions (ATN). Heavy marijuana use among gay and bisexual male emerging adults living with HIV/AIDS. J HIV AIDS Soc Serv 2013 Jan;12(1):26-48 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/15381501.2012.735171] [Medline: 23805056]

- Morgan E, Skaathun B, Michaels S, Young L, Khanna A, Friedman SR, et al. Marijuana use as a sex-drug is associated with HIV risk among black MSM and their network. AIDS Behav 2016 Mar;20(3):600-607 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10461-015-1195-7] [Medline: 26400079]
- 5. Benotsch EG, Snipes DJ, Martin AM, Bull SS. Sexting, substance use, and sexual risk behavior in young adults. J Adolesc Health 2013 Mar;52(3):307-313 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2012.06.011] [Medline: 23299017]
- 6. Gordon-Messer D, Bauermeister JA, Grodzinski A, Zimmerman M. Sexting among young adults. J Adolesc Health 2013 Mar;52(3):301-306 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2012.05.013] [Medline: 23299018]
- Bauermeister JA, Yeagley E, Meanley S, Pingel ES. Sexting among young men who have sex with men: results from a national survey. J Adolesc Health 2014 May;54(5):606-611 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2013.10.013] [Medline: 24361235]
- 8. Starosta AJ, Earleywine M. Assessing base rates of sexual behavior using the unmatched count technique. Health Psychol Behav Med 2014 Jan 1;2(1):198-210 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/21642850.2014.886957] [Medline: 25750777]
- 9. Shiffman S, Stone AA, Hufford MR. Ecological momentary assessment. Annu Rev Clin Psychol 2008;4:1-32. [Medline: 18509902]
- Shiffman S. Ecological momentary assessment (EMA) in studies of substance use. Psychol Assess 2009 Dec;21(4):486-497
 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/a0017074] [Medline: 19947783]
- Cook PF, McElwain CJ, Bradley-Springer LA. Brief report on ecological momentary assessment: everyday states predict HIV prevention behaviors. BMC Res Notes 2016 Jan 04;9:9 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13104-015-1814-4] [Medline: 26728848]
- Garcia C, Hardeman RR, Kwon G, Lando-King E, Zhang L, Genis T, et al. Teenagers and texting: use of a youth ecological momentary assessment system in trajectory health research with Latina adolescents. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2014;2(1):e3 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.2576] [Medline: 25098355]
- 13. Henry JA, Galvez G, Turbin MB, Thielman EJ, McMillan GP, Istvan JA. Pilot study to evaluate ecological momentary assessment of tinnitus. Ear Hear 2012;33(2):179-290 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/AUD.0b013e31822f6740] [Medline: 21960147]
- 14. Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JB, Löwe B. An ultra-brief screening scale for anxiety and depression: the PHQ-4. Psychosomatics 2009;50(6):613-621. [doi: 10.1176/appi.psy.50.6.613] [Medline: 19996233]
- Pearson JL, Smiley SL, Rubin LF, Anesetti-Rothermel A, Elmasry H, Davis M, et al. The Moment Study: protocol for a mixed method observational cohort study of the Alternative Nicotine Delivery Systems (ANDS) initiation process among adult cigarette smokers. BMJ Open 2016;6(4):e011717 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2016-011717] [Medline: 27105716]
- Rice E, Gibbs J, Winetrobe H, Rhoades H, Plant A, Montoya J, et al. Sexting and sexual behavior among middle school students. Pediatrics 2014 Jul;134(1):e21-e28 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1542/peds.2013-2991] [Medline: 24982103]
- 17. Phillips MM, Phillips KT, Lalonde TL, Dykema KR. Feasibility of text messaging for ecological momentary assessment of marijuana use in college students. Psychol Assess 2014 Sep;26(3):947-957. [doi: 10.1037/a0036612] [Medline: 24749751]
- Wray TB, Kahler CW, Monti PM. Using ecological momentary assessment (EMA) to study sex events among very high-risk men who have sex with men (MSM). AIDS Behav 2016 Jan 8:2231-2242. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10461-015-1272-y</u>] [Medline: <u>26746212</u>]
- Yang C, Linas B, Kirk G, Bollinger R, Chang L, Chander G, et al. Feasibility and acceptability of smartphone-based ecological momentary assessment of alcohol use among African American men who have sex With men in Baltimore. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2015;3(2):e67 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.4344] [Medline: 26085078]
- Shrier LA, Walls CE, Kendall AD, Blood EA. The context of desire to use marijuana: momentary assessment of young people who frequently use marijuana. Psychol Addict Behav 2012 Dec;26(4):821-829. [doi: <u>10.1037/a0029197</u>] [Medline: <u>22823544</u>]
- 21. Julious SA. Sample size of 12 per group rule of thumb for a pilot study. Pharm Stat 2005 Oct;4(4):287-291. [doi: 10.1002/pst.185]
- Cornelius JB, Dmochowski J, Boyer C, St Lawrence J, Lightfoot M, Moore M. Text-messaging-enhanced HIV intervention for African American adolescents: a feasibility study. J Assoc Nurses AIDS Care 2013;24(3):256-267 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jana.2012.06.005] [Medline: 23122907]
- 23. Muessig KE, Pike EC, Fowler B, LeGrand S, Parsons JT, Bull SS, et al. Putting prevention in their pockets: developing mobile phone-based HIV interventions for black men who have sex with men. AIDS Patient Care STDS 2013 Apr;27(4):211-222 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/apc.2012.0404] [Medline: 23565925]

Abbreviations

EMA: ecologic momentary assessment **PHQ-4:** Patient Health Questionnaire for Depression and Anxiety



Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 19.08.16; peer-reviewed by B Linas, T Wray, P Cook; comments to author 04.10.16; revised version received 30.11.16; accepted 13.12.16; published 02.02.17. <u>Please cite as:</u> Smiley SL, Elmasry H, Webb Hooper M, Niaura RS, Hamilton AB, Milburn NG Feasibility of Ecological Momentary Assessment of Daily Sexting and Substance Use Among Young Adult African American Gay and Bisexual Men: A Pilot Study JMIR Res Protoc 2017;6(2):e9 URL: http://www.researchprotocols.org/2017/2/e9/ doi:10.2196/resprot.6520 PMID:28153816

©Sabrina L Smiley, Hoda Elmasry, Monica Webb Hooper, Raymond S Niaura, Alison B Hamilton, Norweeta G Milburn. Originally published in JMIR Research Protocols (http://www.researchprotocols.org), 02.02.2017. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Research Protocols, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.researchprotocols.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Protocol

Co-creating and Evaluating a Web-app Mapping Real-World Health Care Services for Students: The servi-Share Protocol

Ilaria Montagni¹, PhD; Emmanuel Langlois², MSc, PhD; Jérôme Wittwer³, MSc, PhD; Christophe Tzourio¹, MD, PhD

¹Univ. Bordeaux, Inserm, Bordeaux Population Health Research Center, team HEALTHY, UMR 1219, F-33000 Bordeaux, France

²Univ. Bordeaux, Centre Emile Durkheim, Science politique et sociologie comparative, UMR 5116, F-33000 Bordeaux, France

³Univ. Bordeaux, Inserm, Bordeaux Population Health Research Center, team EMOS, UMR 1219, F-33000 Bordeaux, France

Corresponding Author: Ilaria Montagni, PhD Univ. Bordeaux, Inserm Bordeaux Population Health Research Center, team HEALTHY, UMR 1219 146 rue Léo Saignat F-33000 Bordeaux, France Phone: 33 0642193363 Fax: 33 0547 30 42 09 Email: <u>ilaria.montagni@u-bordeaux.fr</u>

Abstract

Background: University students aged 18-30 years are a population group reporting low access to health care services, with high rates of avoidance and delay of medical care. This group also reports not having appropriate information about available health care services. However, university students are at risk for several health problems, and regular medical consultations are recommended in this period of life. New digital devices are popular among the young, and Web-apps can be used to facilitate easy access to information regarding health care services. A small number of electronic health (eHealth) tools have been developed with the purpose of displaying real-world health care services, and little is known about how such eHealth tools can improve access to care.

Objective: This paper describes the processes of co-creating and evaluating the beta version of a Web-app aimed at mapping and describing free or low-cost real-world health care services available in the Bordeaux area of France, which is specifically targeted to university students.

Methods: The co-creation process involves: (1) exploring the needs of students to know and access real-world health care services; (2) identifying the real-world health care services of interest for students; and (3) deciding on a user interface, and developing the beta version of the Web-app. Finally, the evaluation process involves: (1) testing the beta version of the Web-app with the target audience (university students aged 18-30 years); (2) collecting their feedback via a satisfaction survey; and (3) planning a long-term evaluation.

Results: The co-creation process of the beta version of the Web-app was completed in August 2016 and is described in this paper. The evaluation process started on September 7, 2016. The project was completed in December 2016 and implementation of the Web-app is ongoing.

Conclusions: Web-apps are an innovative way to increase the health literacy of young people in terms of delivery of and access to health care. The creation of Web-apps benefits from the involvement of stakeholders (eg, students and health care providers) to correctly identify the real-world health care services to be displayed.

(JMIR Res Protoc 2017;6(2):e24) doi:10.2196/resprot.6801

KEYWORDS

RenderX

mapping of services; real-world health care services; Web-app; access to care; university students

Introduction

Overview

The years spent in university are a time of increasing independence and growth for young people. During this period, students actively make decisions about their health care and the healthy (or unhealthy) behaviors that they wish to adopt [1]. To prevent the risk of several diseases, young people aged 18-30 years are encouraged to regularly consult a general practitioner (and a gynecologist for females) in addition to consultants for particular health conditions (eg, dentists or ophthalmologists) [2]. Notwithstanding national recommendations and health promotion programs, French university students underuse health care services, with 20% not consulting a health professional (general practitioner or specialist) during their university years [3]. A small number of international studies have examined why young people avoid and delay medical care [4], providing a conceptual categorization of three main barriers: low perceived need to seek medical care; traditional barriers to medical care such as high cost, absence of health insurance, and time constraints; and lack of knowledge concerning the organization of the health care system and its services [5]. A study conducted on 41,000 French university students reported that: 23% of the participants did not feel the need to seek medical care, 13% did not have time for medical consultations, and 12% had economic difficulties to access and pay for health care services [3]. Another study examining 2000 French young adults (not all students) aged 15-30 years reported that lack of knowledge concerning the organization of the health care system and its services is a significant factor hindering utilization of health care services for 30% of young participants [6]. Our study took these three barriers into account with a specific focus on lack of knowledge as one component of students' health literacy, namely the lack of acquired and assimilated information on how to access health care [7]. Usually supported and guided by their parents in the management of their health consultations, young people moving away from home to start their university studies face, for the first time, the need to find a health care service, contact it, and access it on their own.

In parallel, university students are a technologically capable generation, having been born and raised in the age of home computers and portable electronic devices [8]. Using new technologies for obtaining information on the availability of health care services could represent an appealing solution for increasing students' health literacy.

However, notwithstanding their high use of new technological devices [9], young people have expressed their concerns about the quality and utility of existing electronic health (eHealth) tools [10]. Similarly, professionals coming from real-world health care services sometimes perceive eHealth solutions as complicating the health care provider-patient relationship [11], and being an unreliable source for medical advice [12].

A small number of eHealth devices have been evaluated to date [13]. Most of these devices have been produced by Web-developers that have little experience of health care, and have not taken stakeholders' opinions into consideration. More specifically, eHealth devices proposed as a bridge between

```
http://www.researchprotocols.org/2017/2/e24/
```

eHealth and real-world health care are still scarce. Very little is known about the possible association between the use of eHealth tools and the use of real-world health care services, especially among young people [14].

We embarked on co-creating and evaluating a Web-app available on laptops, personal computers, smartphones, and tablets to show university students of the Bordeaux area of France low-cost or free health care services at their disposal, and where these services are exactly located. This is the local Bordeaux example of Web-app that could be extended at the national level in other French universities. The iterative processes of co-creating and evaluating the Web-app called the *services for the Internet-Based Students Health Research Enterprise (i-Share) students' cohort* (servi-Share) are described in this paper.

The servi-Share Project

The servi-Share project is nested in the larger i-Share cohort study, which is a nationwide online survey on the health and well-being of French-speaking university students. The i-Share cohort study started in 2013 from the collaboration of the University of Bordeaux and the University of Versailles Saint-Quentin (France), and is still ongoing across France. To be eligible to participate, students must be officially registered at a university or higher education institute, be at least 18 years of age, be able to read and understand French, and provide online consent for participation. The i-Share study was approved by the Commission Nationale de l'Informatique et des Libertés (CNIL; National Commission of Informatics and Liberties; DR-2013-019).

Preliminary analyses were conducted in the third year of the cohort study, on a total of 8770 students, 6578 of whom were females (75.01%). Results showed relatively high percentages of avoidance and delay of medical care: 3251 students (37.07%) declared having gone without recommended care. notwithstanding the need to see a doctor (general physician, consultant, eye-specialist); 1316 students (15.01%) declared having not seen a dentist, notwithstanding the need for a consultation; and 1325 students (15.11%) reported having gone without complementary health exams (ie, blood sample, radiography) prescribed by a doctor. Given these high rates, we explored the opportunity to put into practice a Web-based intervention aimed at facilitating students' access to real-world health care services. The servi-Share project was then implemented. First, a beta version of the servi-Share Web-app was developed and tested by students. Second, considering the results of the beta version tests, the Web-app will be corrected and implemented to be openly and largely diffused to university students within the Bordeaux area.

The two main hypotheses underlying the servi-Share project are that: (1) co-creating and evaluating a health Web-app with stakeholders may contribute to the production of an effective quality eHealth device, and (2) a better-quality eHealth device mapping real-world health care services should increase young people's health literacy in terms of knowledge of and access to health care.

Montagni et al

Methods

The production of the Web-app consisted of two main processes: (1) co-creation, and (2) evaluation. Each process consisted of further operational stages involving academic staff and industry Web-developers, together with two target stakeholder groups (university students and real-world health care service providers). The two processes used both qualitative and quantitative methods. We opted for the co-creation process to involve stakeholders from the very beginning of the project, and not as mere testers of the finished Web-app [15]. The goal of this approach was to produce a Web-app that met the real needs of students, and corresponded to the precise choices of real-world health care service providers.

Process 1: The Co-creation

Exploring the Need of Students to Know and Access Real-World Health Care Services

A mixed-method field survey was conducted on the campuses of the University of Bordeaux. Participants were selected randomly following a quota sampling for the quantitative phase (paper questionnaire), and a snow-balling approach for the qualitative phase (semistructured face-to-face interviews). Our sampling strategy and rationale for the number of participants were based on previous project experience with university students, who declared that they were often unavailable, given their workload. At least 100 respondents to the questionnaire and 15 participants in the qualitative phase were considered sufficient to obtain a saturated sample. Finally, 126 students (72 females, 57.1%; mean age 22.1 years) answered the paper questionnaire and 16 students (11 females, 69%; mean age 22.3 years) underwent the semistructured face-to-face interview. The survey was coordinated by a junior full-time researcher and conducted by a group of four public health students (1 male and 3 females; mean age 23.7 years), constituting the stakeholder group of university students for the project. The results of this survey showed that students had the feeling that accessing real-world health care services is an expensive practice (59/126, 46.8%) which takes time (49/126, 38.9%). The qualitative phase allowed for the identification of a third overarching reason for students not to access to care: lack of knowledge of the health insurance system and the services offered. Two thirds of the students from both phases of the survey reported a strong interest in receiving a list of free or low-cost health care services available near their home and campus. The French health insurance system reimburses a large portion of medical consultations [16], but students expressed the need to be informed of the presence of totally free health care services adapted to their young age. Furthermore, receiving this list from a trusted source, such as a university research team, was felt to be reassuring. Complete results of the mixed-method field survey are available elsewhere (personal communication by Montagni et al, 2016).

Identifying the Real-World Health Care Services of Interest for Students

Based on the results of the survey described above, we established the following inclusion criteria for the real-world

health care services to be displayed in the Web-app: being located in the Bordeaux metropolitan area (surface area 579,27 km²; 28 municipalities in the Aquitaine-Limousin-Poitou-Charentes region, France); being free or low-cost (ie, costing a maximum of €15 per consultation); being addressed, either exclusively or among other population groups, to young people aged 18-30 years; and being outpatient. All health domains were taken into consideration without any exception (from general health to sexual health, gynecology, and dentistry). Emergency services were excluded, because the focus of the Web-app related to recommended general consultations.

At this stage, both target stakeholder groups selected by the servi-Share project were involved. For university students, the four public health students of the first stage performed a qualitative search consisting of a preliminary revision of existing documents (fliers, informative booklets), and the consultation of official Websites of the University of Bordeaux and local health services. These students produced an initial list of services in a prestructured Excel table and contacted each one by email and/or phone service. This phase served to produce a final list of 95 services distinguished according to their field of expertise (eg, addictions, contraception), their offer (eg, consultations, delivery of information, medical activities), and the type of professionals (eg, medical doctors, nurses, social carers). For each service, contact information and addresses were provided.

The target stakeholder group of real-world health care service providers was composed of seven health care professionals based in Bordeaux (1 health center director, 1 health center codirector, 1 psychiatrist, 1 general practitioner, 1 social worker, 1 administrative secretary, and 1 nurse). The stakeholder group of real-world health care service providers verified the list and counter-checked the details with respect to the inclusion criteria. After face-to-face meetings between the two target stakeholder groups, a final list of 88 health care services was established. Assuming that the Web-app will be maintained on the long term, we plan to contact the panel of seven health care professionals based in Bordeaux once per year to review and keep the list of health care services up-to-date. These professionals are also meant to inform our research group anytime new health care services are created or old health care services are closed.

Deciding on User Interface, and Developing the Beta Version of the Web-App

Academic staff and industry Web-developers involved in the project engaged the stakeholder group of four university students in the development of the Web-app. The four students participated in three 2-hour meetings with the industry Web-developers. Sessions were documented and students were encouraged to write on material provided, comment on the color templates, and suggest design decorations. Subsequent exchanges were facilitated by emails and phone calls.

For the stakeholder group of real-world health care service providers, their intervention at this stage was limited to the verification of information to be displayed in the Web-app. The stakeholder group of real-world health care service providers checked the information for clarity and comprehension, and

```
XSL•FO
```

corrected the descriptions of the real-world health care services. The correct contents were sent by email to the Web-developers. Figure 1 shows how description of the services is provided in the beta version of the servi-Share Web-app.

We finally opted for a youth-friendly approach [17], balancing trusted informative content and a fresh design. Feedback at this stage was specifically sought regarding the colors, size,

readability, and comprehension of the text and design elements (eg, logo, symbols). Students primarily had suggestions regarding specific design constructs, recommending graphic design to be gender neutral, with positive images and a simple interface. The beta version of the servi-Share Web-app was then produced. A detailed view of the beta design is shown in Figure 2.

Figure 1. Example of description of a service displayed in the servi-Share Web-app.



RenderX

Figure 2. Detail of the map layout in the servi-Share Web-app.



Process 2: The Evaluation

Testing the Beta Version of the Web-App with Target Audience

An initial one-week test was performed by research staff from the i-Share study: 7 people tested the Web-app to report technical problems (eg, slow page loading), misspellings, and display issues. The second test of the beta version of the Web-app took two months and consisted of emailing the Web-app link to a sample of students belonging to the i-Share cohort study, in which the servi-Share project is nested. Students participating in the i-Share cohort study had voluntarily given their email addresses, and consented to be contacted following the regulations of the national board CNIL (DR-2013-019). We chose a convenience sample of 1300 students based on the following criteria: being a student in one of the universities or post-secondary schools of the Bordeaux area, being aged 18-30 years, and having completed both the i-Share baseline questionnaire and first follow-up questionnaire. Students responding to the follow-up questionnaire were thought to be actively involved in research, thus increasing the possibility of having their rapid feedback. According to the general response rate of i-Share participants to other substudy surveys (approximately 20%), we expected at least 300 students to use the Web-app and answer a 7-item questionnaire on the access to real-world health care services (see Multimedia Appendix 1). This sample did not include students from the co-creation

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2017/2/e24/

RenderX

process, to avoid bias in the answers and have new feedback on the Web-app.

The beta test was intended to develop a better understanding of how the Web-app was being used, and what issues arose during implementation. Student testers were asked to independently interact with the interface and search for real-world health care services on the Web-app. For ethical reasons, participants' usage of the Web-app could not be registered and health care services that were searched could not be tracked. The beta version of the Web-app is secured and password protected for students having received the link in the invitation email. Of the 1300 invited students, a final sample of 319 students tested the Web-app (24.54%).

Collecting Testers' Feedback Via a Satisfaction Survey

At the end of the test of the beta version (early November 2016), a satisfaction survey was sent by email to all 319 student testers. The survey was carried out using a Google form and included 10 items on six thematic issues: feasibility (item 1, "Have you encountered any difficulties in using this Web-app?"); appreciation of the Web-app (item 2, "Do you like the Web-app design?", and item 10, "How would you rate this Web-app?"); increased knowledge and perceived benefits (item 3, "Have you discovered through this Web-app some health care services you had never heard about before?", and item 4, "Have you found in the Web-app some new health care services you will have access to for the future?"); general interest (item 5, "Will you use this Web-app in the future instead of other geolocalization

search engines if you need to contact a health care service?", and item 8, "Will you recommend this Web-app to your friends?"); diffusion channels (item 6, "Where would you like to see this Web-app being promoted and diffused?", and item 7, "Through which channels do you think that students should be informed of the existence of this Web-app?"), and suggestions for improvement (item 9, "What would you like to add to this Web-app?").

The satisfaction survey represented the first step of the evaluation of the servi-Share Web-app. Using a participatory research methodology consisting of an iterative approach, we involved stakeholders in the short-term evaluation of the Web-app. In total, 73 of 319 students (22.9%, no missing values) answered the satisfaction questionnaire. Results are shown in Table 1.

Table 1. Results of the satisfaction questionnaire (n=126).

Thematic issue	Items	Yes	No
1. Feasibility	Item 1 - Have you encountered any difficulties in using this Web-app?	6 (8%)	67 (92%)
2. Appreciation	Item 2 - Do you like the Web-app design?	55 (75%)	18 (25%)
3. Increased knowledge and perceived benefits			
	Item 3 - Have you discovered through this Web-app some health care services you had never heard about before?	62 (85%)	11 (15%)
	Item 4 - Have you found in the Web-app some new health care services you will have access to for the future?	61 (84%)	12 (16%)
4. General interest			
	Item 5 - Will you use this Web-app in the future instead of other geolocalization search engines if you need to contact a health care service?	50 (68%)	23 (32%)
	Item 8 - Will you recommend this Web-app to your friends?	51 (70%)	22 (30%)

Concerning the diffusion channels (items 6 and 7), 54 of 73 students (74%) answered that they would like the Web-app to be displayed on the official website and social network pages of their university, 40 students (40/73, 55%) would not mind finding the Web-app on GooglePlay and/or AppStore, and 70 students (70/73, 96%) underlined the importance of diffusing the Web-app via the support of official institutions (eg, university and town hall).

Concerning suggestions for improvement (item 9), 65 of 73 students (89%) said the Web-app should display supplementary health care services, such as general practitioners and pharmacies, and 55 students (55/73, 75%) also reported that they would like to make an appointment online using the Web-app. Finally, when asked to rate the Web-app (item 10) on a scale from 0 to 10 points, 61 students (61/73, 84%) attributed a score of >7 points.

Results confirmed the interest of developing and diffusing a Web-based support informing students on the availability of free or low-cost health care services. Particularly positive results on items 3 and 4 confirmed students' acquired knowledge (health literacy) of the real-world health care services in the Bordeaux area, providing a proximal outcome of the utilization of our Web-app.

Planning a Long-Term Evaluation

For the second step of the evaluation, the real impact of the Web-app on users' health behaviors and practices in the long-term will be measured via the analysis of the i-Share cohort data. Each year, participants in the i-Share cohort must respond to a new yearly follow-up questionnaire. We plan to insert ad hoc items on at least two upcoming questionnaires to verify whether students have ever used the servi-Share Web-app and

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2017/2/e24/

what impact it has had on their consultations and hospitalizations. Statistics on the number of participants accessing the Web-app will also be available and will give an approximative indication of the popularity of the Web-app. To corroborate our results, in the two years following the launch of the Web-app, the providers of the real-world health care services displayed in the Web-app will be asked (by means of a questionnaire) whether young people accessing their services have used our interactive map before consultations. All measures coming directly from stakeholders should provide a complete evaluation of the utility and quality of the servi-Share Web-app.

Results

The co-creation process took a total of 8 months (January-August 2016). The first step of the evaluation process has taken 4 months (September-December 2016). The second step of the evaluation (ie, long-term impact) is planned to take two years. Results are expected to contribute to the evidence-based development of a strategy of cooperation and collaboration among researchers, stakeholders (students and health care providers), and industry to produce eHealth tools of good and certified quality. The project was financed from January-December 2016 by the National Alliance for Life and Health Sciences (Alliance Nationale pour les Sciences de la Vie et de la Santé, AVIESAN) through two research financing Thematic Multi-Organisms Institutes (Instituts thématiques multi-organismes, ITMO) for Public Health (ITMO Santé Publique) and Health Technologies (ITMO Technologies pour la Santé).

Discussion

Here we have outlined the co-creation and evaluation processes used during the development of a Web-app mapping real-world health care services. The methodologies of the singular stages of these two processes have also been described, and we have underlined the utility of including stakeholders in both processes. The philosophy underpinning the servi-Share project is one of collaboration, empowerment, and participation, moving towards research *with* rather than *on* stakeholders.

For co-creation, the participatory approach with stakeholders was effective for informing design and development processes to help ensure our project is relevant, connects with young people, is grounded in the real-world, and can respond to the new social realities in which students live [18].

For evaluation, the two steps of this process permit us to assess: (1) in the short-term, if the Web-app is of interest to students and increases their health literacy in terms of knowledge of real-world health care services (proximal outcomes); and (2) in the long-term, if the Web-app will imply behavioral changes that make students more frequently contact and access real-world health care services (distal outcomes). The second step of the evaluation process will allow us to test whether the servi-Share Web-app represents a valid bridge between eHealth and real-world services, and whether other functions (eg, making appointments online) should be added to the Web-app.

Existing literature on health literacy strongly suggests that young people's health empowerment is induced by knowledge improvement [19,20]. However, the transition from knowledge to action is a debatable question. The longitudinal results issued from the i-Share cohort will help us understand whether the use of the geolocalizing Web-app servi-Share is positively related to the access to real-world health care services (ie, an increased number of accesses to real-world health care services). Using our Web-app, we hypothesize that students will better understand the organizational structure and offerings of

real-world health care services, thus identifying the health care services to promptly contact and attend. Avoidance and delay of medical care could then be reduced.

Strengths and Limitations

The servi-Share Web-app is different from other Web-mapping tools (eg, Google Map, Waze Map, Bing Map) that display any type of service without specific quality criteria, as it maps and describes preselected real-world health care services. This preselection should facilitate the choice by users, who can feel reassured by the fact that the health care services that are displayed are specifically addressed to them, are free or low-cost, and are advised by an expert scientific team.

However, a limitation of this study is that one may argue that a Web-app showing real-world health care services could increase the workload of these services, and overwhelm them with contacts that do not correspond to legitimate health needs. The aim of the servi-Share Web-app is not to increase undue consultations, but to guide students to a well-conceived selection of the services to access. Conversely, the servi-Share Web-app has not been conceived as a substitute for real-world health care services. The young population we are addressing is at risk for medical care avoidance. Most students do not know who to contact when they fall ill, and consequently do not seek care and tend to self-medicate, thus worsening their health conditions [21].

Conclusions

We have described a novel approach using a Web-app linking real-world health care services and eHealth. Our preliminary findings concerning the co-creation process suggest that this participatory approach was both feasible and welcomed by both groups of stakeholders (university students and real-world health care service providers). Findings from the evaluation process will assess the long-term impact of the Web-app on real-world health care access by university students. Our Web-app is expected to be beneficial to young people, health care providers, policymakers, and health system managers.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Thomas Vias and Mathieu Zimmer from the society deux degrés who produced the servi-Share app. We also thank all students involved in the co-creation process (mainly Béatrice Famin, Mélodie Garcès, Jason Koman, and Margaux Petropoulos), and the entire i-Share team for their operational support.

Authors' Contributions

IM drafted the manuscript. EL, JW, and CT revised the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

The web-application 7 item questionnaire on the access to real-world healthcare services .

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 589KB - resprot_v6i2e24_app1.pdf]

References

XSL•FO RenderX

- Schweitzer A, Ross J, Klein C, Lei K, Mackey E. An electronic wellness program to improve diet and exercise in college students: a pilot study. JMIR Res Protoc 2016 Feb 29;5(1):e29 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/resprot.4855] [Medline: 26929118]
- 2. Ministère des Affaires sociales et de la Santé. Présentation du Plan Santé des jeunes. 2008 Feb 27. URL: <u>http://social-sante.gouv.fr/IMG/pdf/Presentation_du_Plan_version_final.pdf</u> [accessed 2017-02-01] [WebCite Cache ID 6nxBK9Tyw]
- 3. Observatoire national de la Vie Etudiante. Enquête nationale Conditions de vie des étudiants 2013. Paris; 2014. URL: <u>http://www.ove-national.education.fr/</u> [accessed 2017-02-01] [WebCite Cache ID 6nxBOOUaY]
- 4. Tylee A, Haller DM, Graham T, Churchill R, Sanci LA. Youth-friendly primary-care services: how are we doing and what more needs to be done? Lancet 2007 May 05;369(9572):1565-1573. [doi: <u>10.1016/S0140-6736(07)60371-7</u>] [Medline: <u>17482988</u>]
- 5. Taber JM, Leyva B, Persoskie A. Why do people avoid medical care? A qualitative study using national data. J Gen Intern Med 2015 Mar;30(3):290-297 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11606-014-3089-1] [Medline: 25387439]
- 6. Beck F, Richard JB. Les Comportements de Santé Des Jeunes. In: Analyses Du Baromètre Santé 2010. Saint-Denis, Inpes. Paris: Inpes; 2013.
- Sørensen K, Van den Broucke S, Fullam J, Doyle G, Pelikan J, Slonska Z, (HLS-EU) Consortium Health Literacy Project European. Health literacy and public health: a systematic review and integration of definitions and models. BMC Public Health 2012 Jan 25;12:80 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-12-80] [Medline: 22276600]
- Andreassen H, Bujnowska-Fedak M, Chronaki C, Dumitru R, Pudule I, Santana S, et al. European citizens' use of E-health services: a study of seven countries. BMC Public Health 2007 Apr 10;7(1):a. [doi: <u>10.1186/1471-2458-7-53</u>] [Medline: <u>17425798</u>]
- 9. Pelletier SG. AAMC Reporter. 2012. Explosive growth in health care apps raises oversight questions URL: <u>https://news.aamc.org/</u> [accessed 2017-02-01] [WebCite Cache ID 6nxCGsVA0]
- Boulos MN, Brewer AC, Karimkhani C, Buller DB, Dellavalle RP. Mobile medical and health apps: state of the art, concerns, regulatory control and certification. Online J Public Health Inform 2014;5(3):229 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5210/ojphi.v5i3.4814] [Medline: 24683442]
- 11. Wickramasinghe N, Fadlalla AM, Geisler E, Schaffer J. A framework for assessing e-health preparedness. Int J Electron Healthc 2005;1(3):316-334. [doi: 10.1504/IJEH.2005.006478] [Medline: 18048213]
- 12. Boonstra A, Broekhuis M. Barriers to the acceptance of electronic medical records by physicians from systematic review to taxonomy and interventions. BMC Health Serv Res 2010 Aug 06;10:231 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6963-10-231] [Medline: 20691097]
- 13. Stoyanov S, Hides L, Kavanagh D, Zelenko O, Tjondronegoro D, Mani M. Mobile app rating scale: a new tool for assessing the quality of health mobile apps. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2015 Mar 11;3(1):e27 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.3422] [Medline: 25760773]
- 14. Wattanasoontorn V, Hernández R, Sbert M. Simulations, Serious Games and Their Applications. In: Cay Y, Goei SL, editors. Serious Games for e-Health Care. Singapore: Springer; 2014.
- 15. Witell L, Kristensson P, Gustafsson A, Löfgren M. Idea generation: customer co creation versus traditional market research techniques. J Serv Manage 2011 Apr 26;22(2):140-159. [doi: 10.1108/09564231111124190]
- 16. Le portail du service public de la Sécurité Sociale. Missions, organisation et prestations de la branche maladie. 2017. URL: http://www.securite-sociale.fr/ [accessed 2017-02-01] [WebCite Cache ID 6nxD8DoE8]
- 17. Department of Health. You're welcome quality criteria: making health services young people friendly. London: Department of Health London; 2005. URL: <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/216350/</u> <u>dh_127632.pdf</u> [accessed 2017-02-08] [WebCite Cache ID 608b5Bv9R]
- Whitehouse SR, Lam P, Balka E, McLellan S, Deevska M, Penn D, et al. Co-creation with TickiT: designing and evaluating a clinical eHealth platform for youth. JMIR Res Protoc 2013 Oct 18;2(2):e42 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/resprot.2865] [Medline: 24140595]
- 19. Kickbusch I. Health literacy: engaging in a political debate. Int J Public Health 2009;54(3):131-132. [doi: 10.1007/s00038-009-7073-1] [Medline: 19370309]
- 20. Parker R, Ratzan S, Lurie N. Health literacy: a policy challenge for advancing high-quality health care. Health Aff (Millwood) 2003;22(4):147-153 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 12889762]
- 21. Rickwood D, Bradford S. The role of self-help in the treatment of mild anxiety disorders in young people: an evidence-based review. Psychol Res Behav Manag 2012;5:25-36 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/PRBM.S23357] [Medline: 22427736]

Abbreviations

RenderX

CNIL: National Commission of Informatics and Liberties
eHealth: electronic health
i-Share: Internet-Based Students Health Research Enterprise
ITMO: Thematic Multi-Organisms Institute
servi-Share: services for the Internet-Based Students Health Research Enterprise students' cohort

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2017/2/e24/

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 19.10.16; peer-reviewed by S Whitehouse, M Nahum, J Apolinário-Hagen; comments to author 04.01.17; revised version received 09.01.17; accepted 11.01.17; published 16.02.17. <u>Please cite as:</u> Montagni I, Langlois E, Wittwer J, Tzourio C Co-creating and Evaluating a Web-app Mapping Real-World Health Care Services for Students: The servi-Share Protocol JMIR Res Protoc 2017;6(2):e24 URL: <u>http://www.researchprotocols.org/2017/2/e24/</u> doi:10.2196/resprot.6801 PMID:28209561

©Ilaria Montagni, Emmanuel Langlois, Jérôme Wittwer, Christophe Tzourio. Originally published in JMIR Research Protocols (http://www.researchprotocols.org), 16.02.2017. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Research Protocols, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.researchprotocols.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.
Dance for Adults With Fibromyalgia—What Do We Know About It? Protocol for a Scoping Review

Julia Bidonde^{1,2*}, PhD; Catherine Boden^{3*}, PhD; Angela J Busch^{1*}, PhD; Suelen M Goes^{1*}, PhD; Soo Kim^{1*}, PhD; Emily Knight^{4*}, PhD

¹School of Physical Therapy, University of Saskatchewan, Saskatoon, SK, Canada

²Norwegian Institute of Public Health, Oslo, Norway

³Leslie and Irene Dube Health Sciences Library, University of Saskatchewan, Saskatoon, SK, Canada

⁴School of Health Sciences, University of Western Ontario, London, ON, Canada

Corresponding Author:

Julia Bidonde, PhD School of Physical Therapy University of Saskatchewan Health Sciences Building, E-Wing Suite 3400, 3rd Floor, 104 Clinic Place Saskatoon, SK, Canada Phone: 1 306 966 6579 Fax: 1 306 966 6575 Email: julia.bidonde@usask.ca

Abstract

Background: Fibromyalgia is a chronic disorder characterized by widespread muscular tenderness, pain, fatigue, and cognitive difficulties. Nonpharmacological treatment options, such as physical activity, are important for people with fibromyalgia. There are strong recommendations to support engagement in physical activity for symptom management among adults with fibromyalgia. Dance is a mode of physical activity that may allow individuals with fibromyalgia to improve their physical function, health, and well-being. Dance has the potential to promote improved pain processing while simultaneously providing the health and social benefits of engaging in physical activity that contributes to symptom management. However, we are unaware of current evidence on dance as a nonpharmacological/physical activity intervention for adults with fibromyalgia.

Objective: The aims of the study are to provide an overview of the extant evidence to understand how dance is used for individuals with fibromyalgia; to examine the extent, range, and nature of research activity in the area; and to determine the value of undertaking a full systematic review.

Methods: Scoping reviews are useful to comprehensively and systematically map the literature and identify key evidence, or research gaps. The search strategy will involve electronic databases including Medline, Embase, Cochrane Library, PsycInfo, Cumulative Index of Nursing and Allied Health Literature (CINAHL), Literature in the Health Sciences in Latin America and the Caribbean (LILACS), Allied and Complementary Medicine (AMED), International Bibliography of Theatre and Dance, Physiotherapy Evidence Database (PEDro), Trip, Proquest Theses/Dissertations, Web of Science, World Health Organization International Clinical Trials Registry Platform, and ClinicalTrials.gov. The study will be mapped in seven stages: (1) identifying the research questions, (2) identifying relevant studies, (3) selecting the studies, (4) charting the data, (5) collating, summarizing and reporting the results, (6) consulting, and (7) disseminating the knowledge.

Results: The search, title, and abstract are now completed; full text screening was carried out and authors are awaiting interlibrary loans and translations. Data extraction will start shortly after full text 'screening' is completed. Completion is expected in Fall 2017.

Conclusions: To our knowledge this will be the first attempt to systematically identify knowledge of dance as a potential intervention for adults with fibromyalgia. This scoping review offers a feasible means for describing the evidence specific to dance and fibromyalgia; results will provide unique insights concerning the breadth and depth of literature in the area. An analysis

^{*}all authors contributed equally

of this body of literature as a whole may reveal new research directions or unknown ways this intervention could strengthen current management approaches of the disease.

(JMIR Res Protoc 2017;6(2):e25) doi:10.2196/resprot.6873

KEYWORDS

fibromyalgia; dance; scoping review; physical activity; adults; protocol

Introduction

Description of the Condition

Fibromyalgia is a chronic disorder characterized by widespread muscular tenderness, pain, fatigue, and cognitive difficulties [1,2]. Individuals with fibromyalgia may experience sleep disturbances, anxiety, depression [3,4], and difficulty with attention and concentration, as well as a range of gastrointestinal (eg, irritable bowel syndrome) and somatosensory (eg, hyperalgesia, allodynia, paresthesia) symptoms. These symptoms can affect an individual's quality of life, often negatively impacting family dynamics, capacity and productivity at work, and independence [2]. The diagnosis is often complex requiring a history of typical symptoms over time and the exclusion of somatic diseases by medical examination [1].

Fibromyalgia is common worldwide with the prevalence reported to be 2% to 4% of the general population, with diagnosis in females outnumbering diagnosis in males [1,5]. Insights gained from research in the past several decades implicate numerous factors in its pathophysiology including changes in brain and neural structure and function, muscular physiology, hormonal factors, inflammatory markers, and genetic influences [6]. Mounting evidence shows that individuals with fibromyalgia experience pain differently from the general population because of dysfunctional pain processing in the central nervous system [7].

Description of the Intervention and How It Might Work

There is vast evidence supporting exercise interventions for individuals with fibromyalgia; in the most recent European League Against Rheumatism guidelines, Macfarlane et al [8] concluded there is a strong recommendation to support both aerobic and resistance training in symptom management for individuals with fibromyalgia. This is in part due to the pain management achieved through physical activity and the low cost and ease of access to physical activity opportunities. Physical activity is defined as any bodily movement produced by skeletal muscles resulting in energy expenditure [9]. Dance, a genre of physical activity, can be a social experience, an artistic expression, or a leisure activity as well as rigorous physical activity. Building on perspectives shared by Beardsley [10], we operationalize dance as a purposeful, deliberate, and expressive motion of the body caused by contraction of the skeletal muscles. Dance may or may not include music; although dance movements could be called "functional" (eg, bending, walking, reaching), the goal of dance movement is the deliberate and purposeful expression of the body itself through movement [11].

There is evidence describing benefits of dance for chronic disease conditions. Dance among individuals with heart failure has demonstrated increased functional and cardiovascular benefits as well as increased motivation for participation [12], quality of life [13], and a reduction in cardiovascular mortality [14] when compared to traditional exercise training. Research shows exercise capacity and quality of life improved with dance in individuals with Parkinson disease [15]. Emotional benefits were seen after dance-based exercise participation in older individuals with or without chronic depression or depressive symptoms [16]. Also, dance enhanced the locomotor ability (ie, movement from one place to another) of individuals with severe rheumatoid arthritis [17]. Other dance genres such as jazz dance [18], Argentine tango [19,20], Turkish folklore [21], Korean traditional dance [22], social dance [23], ballroom dance [24], modern dance [25], waltz [26], and specific designed-exercise dance programs [27] have shown benefits for individuals with a myriad of clinical conditions.

One specific dance-based therapeutic approach common in the literature of individuals with chronic conditions is dance movement therapy (DMT). The American Dance Therapy Association defines DMT as a psychotherapeutic use of movement that furthers the emotional, social, cognitive, and physical integration of the individual. This form of dance has a systematic treatment approach, is goal-oriented, and may include a variety of dance movement methods [28]. Chronic conditions DMT has been used for include cancer [28], schizophrenia [29,30], depression [31], dementia [32,33], and Parkinson disease [15]. We are aware of 3 publications including adults with fibromyalgia [34-36].

Dance contributes to the physical training of balance, coordination, strength, flexibility, aerobic capacity, bone health, and proprioception (ie, knowing where the body is in space). Additionally, dance promotes increased motivation to exercise [37], increased attention and cognitive capacity through increased neural connections and blood flow [38], increased vitality [39], and positive effects on mood [22], everyday competencies, and social life [40]. Dance can also offer auditory, visual and sensory stimulation; motor learning; emotional perception; expression; and interaction. All these features make dance an "enriched environment" which stimulates the brain's plasticity [40]. Characteristics of dance suggest that it is worth evaluating as a means of relieving fibromyalgia symptoms.

Pain Processing

Widespread pain and fatigue are hallmark symptoms of fibromyalgia and are known factors limiting an individual's participation in treatment [41]. During physical activity, the muscular and physiological stress on the body stimulates the release of endorphins, which contributes to the sensation of an



activity high and, potentially, a "social high" [42]. Evidence supports that both physical pain (the unpleasant experience that is associated with actual or potential damage to tissue) and social pain (the unpleasant experience that is associated with actual or potential damage to one's sense of social connection or value) are processed with shared neural circuitry [43]. This supports the hypothesis that experiences in social and physical pain may be similar for the individual, such that individuals experiencing chronic physical pain are more likely to avoid activities for fear of inducing both social and physical pain [43,44]. Therefore, a social activity intervention may lead to improved treatment outcomes for adults with fibromyalgia by improving pain processing.

Social Bonding and Pain

Dance is an engaging and enjoyable form of physical activity. Group or social dance facilitates social bonds through working in synchrony (performing the same movements at the same time) [42,45]. Synchronization and physical exertion, such as through dance, independently elevate the pain threshold [42]. Moreover, dance can increase self-control, which impacts psychological health and therefore the experience of chronic pain [34]. Dance has the potential to promote improved pain processing while simultaneously providing the health and social benefits of engaging in physical activity that contribute to symptom management for adults with fibromyalgia.

Why It Is Important to Do This Scoping Review

The authors of this scoping review have worked extensively on synthesizing the evidence of exercise training for adults with fibromyalgia [46-48]. To date, we do not know what evidence exists examining dance for adults with fibromyalgia. As there is a continuous need to offer appropriate nonpharmacological options to people with fibromyalgia, and after contemplating various systematic approaches available for reviewing the literature, we chose to undertake a scoping review as the best method to understand the evidence around dance for adults with fibromyalgia. We wish to examine the extent, range, and nature of research activity in the area and determine the value of undertaking a full systematic review.

Methods

Overview

Scoping review methodology is particularly useful for examining the breadth of the research in a specific topic area. Also, scoping reviews are useful to comprehensively and systematically map the literature and identify key evidence or research gaps. Unlike most synthesis reviews, scoping reviews do not narrow the review to specific research designs. Nonetheless, this type of review is rigorous and methodical in its approach to examining the extent, range, and nature of research activity in a particular field [49-52] while encompassing both empirical and conceptual research with openly framed questions.

In designing the protocol for this scoping review, we drew primarily upon Arksey and O'Malley's seminal work [49] on a 6-stage scoping review framework. Adaptations (including the addition of a seventh step) were driven by an intention to develop a feasible approach for reviewing the body of literature.

Stage 1. Identifying the Research Questions

Following Arksey and O'Malley's suggestion, we followed an iterative process for developing the research questions. We continued doing this as we became increasingly familiar with the literature. We realized the need for an iterative process and first ran a trial search.

Our intention to comprehensively examine and map the evidence on dance in adults (ie, 18 years or older) with fibromyalgia prompted us to develop the following initial questions:

What is known from the literature about dance for adults with fibromyalgia (eg, definition of dance, participant characteristics)?

What type of dance is commonly used (eg, traditional mainstream, adapted, dance to music) and what are the characteristics of dances reported (frequency, time, length, etc)? Who is in charge of the instruction, and what is the setting in which dance occurs?

What type of publications are reporting dance, what is the quality of the publications, and what are the main outcomes measured and reported?

Do studies report the acceptability, feasibility, and applicability of dance for clinical practice?

Have studies reported any challenges or limitations upon implementation of a dance class/intervention?

Stage 2: Identifying Relevant Studies

The aim of this scoping review will be to comprehensively address 'the above' broad research questions; however, parameters are required to guide the search strategy.

Eligibility Criteria

The following inclusion criteria will be used to guide the search and review the articles:

- Published in any language (for publications that are not in a language mastered by the review team [English, Norwegian, Swedish, Icelandic, Spanish, German, Portuguese, French] individuals proficient in the language or translation software will be used)
- Human subjects
- Adults aged 18 years and older with fibromyalgia
- Publications that target adults with fibromyalgia of any gender or ethnicity in any setting (private practice, clubs, community association) and type of dance
- Publications including research projects, pilot experience, and protocols
- Scope limited to include published literature (ie, peer-reviewed journals, books or book chapters, dissertations, guidelines) and grey literature
- Concepts of dance/therapy/movement and fibromyalgia evident either in title or abstract during screening phase

Explicit exclusion criteria identified:

• Publications with a population that is not exclusively adults with fibromyalgia or we cannot isolate the results for adults with fibromyalgia

• Publications in which individuals are nonactive participants (ie, they are observers only)

The nature of a scoping review is to include multiple forms of evidence and not exclusively randomized controlled trials. Our inclusion criteria were established to identify and include research reports of participation in dance and exclude research reports of observation of dance. Therefore, self-report data, such as published case studies or reports in the grey literature, of participants engaging in dance as related to fibromyalgia symptoms would meet inclusion criteria.

Databases

An experienced information specialist will establish and test the search strategy. Based on her expertise and the outline of this project, she will select keywords and controlled vocabulary terms to maximize sensitivity and specificity within the search. She will be instrumental in choosing and applying search terms to comply with databases in the health and social sciences. The complete and final search strategy will be provided in a follow-up publication. Upon completion, the results from each database will be documented, and the references will be imported into a bibliographic management software to eliminate duplicates. References will be imported to a review software for screening.

Databases used:

- Medline in-process and other nonindexed citations (Ovid)—1946 to present
- Embase and Embase Classic (Ovid)—1947 to present
- Cochrane Library (Wiley)
- PsycINFO (Ovid)—1806 to present
- Cumulative Index of Nursing and Allied Health Literature (CINAHL) (EBSCO)—1937 to present
- Literature in the Health Sciences in Latin America and the Caribbean (Literatura Latino Americana em Ciências da Saúde, LILACS)
- Allied and Complementary Medicine (AMED) (Ovid)—1985 to present
- International Bibliography of Theatre and Dance (EBSCO)—1984 to present
- Physiotherapy Evidence Database (PEDro)
- Trip
- ProQuest Theses and Dissertations—1997 to present
- Web of Science Core Collection (Thomson Reuters)—1900 to present

- World Health Organization International Trial Registry Portal
- ClinicalTrials.gov

Searching other resources:

- We will search the bibliographies of relevant studies and reviews.
- Corresponding authors of previously found dance randomized controlled trials will be contacted regarding their knowledge of ongoing studies or groups involved in the area.
- An a priori set of fibromyalgia associations will be selected and their associations' webpages will be screened for annual reports or findings that these associations produce based on their own research, which will be retrieved.

Stage 3. Selecting the Studies

We will use a 2-stage selection process. In the first instance, 2 reviewers will independently screen citations and abstracts for inclusion. At this stage, uncertainties from the reviewers will not automatically eliminate the record. We will determine final inclusion at the second level (full text screening). A third reviewer will arbitrate in cases where there is disagreement at the final stage. All authors will be trained in software use, and a predetermined and piloted criteria will be followed at both stages.

The full text of all papers identified as having potential for inclusion will be requested. Non- English articles will be translated. Data will be extracted from papers included by independent review authors. A Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) flow diagram [53] will be used to report final numbers upon completion of the scoping review.

Stage 4. Charting the Data

We will collect and sort information from the selected full text articles (see Table 1). We will use standardized data extraction forms created and piloted by the team for this purpose. Team members will train in data extraction to standardize the process and ensure consistency of the data extraction process. We will examine the charting consistency with the questions and purpose. Additional categories may emerge during the data collection process, in which case, in consultation with the team, we will adapt and restructure the forms.



Table 1. Data to be extracted

Bidonde et al

Data	Details to be extracted (if available)
Publication summary	Author, year, title, publication type, inclusion/exclusion, country, language of publication
Population	Total sample size, age, gender, diagnosis, years since diagnosis, baseline characteristics, comorbidities, medication, diagnostic criteria
Intervention	Objective/type (ie, leisure, training, complementary)
	Descriptor such as: frequency, intensity, length, mode, setting, instructor qualifications, follow-up, use of music, dance alone, in-group, with partner
Setting	Community, hospital, club, university, etc.
	Cost and equipment
Outcomes	Any outcomes: symptoms (eg, pain, fatigue, sleep), psychosocial (eg, depression, self-awareness, mood, self-esteem), physical function (eg, physical health, range of motion, cardiovascular, strength, flexibility), health-related quality of life, relationships, and communication (isolation, verbalization, family support), withdrawals. Adverse events, harms, or related terms: challenges, limitations, barriers, injuries, exacerbations
Other	Effectiveness
	Adherence to intervention such as acceptability, feasibility, applicability for clinical practice

Given the authors' backgrounds in systematic review of interventions for adults with fibromyalgia, the appraisal of included studies will be restricted (if found) to those scientific publications explicitly addressing intervention effectiveness. This may provide direction for future research.

Stage 5. Collating, Summarizing, and Reporting the Results

The unique purpose of a scoping review is to aggregate the findings and present an overview.

We plan to do the following:

- Map results (main sources, quantity, and quality of evidence available) from the literature.
- Provide a descriptive summary: extracted data from all included publications will be summarized to describe the use of dance in adults with fibromyalgia. Because this is a scoping review, there is no principal summary measure. However, if possible, the following analyses will be completed:
 - Descriptive statistics will be used to summarize the data. Frequencies and percentages will be used to describe nominal data.
 - Conceptual definitions will be subject to a comparative analysis where verbatim 'extracts' will be coded by review authors. The purpose will be to identify the dimensions and properties of each definition as well as their relationships with other components. This analysis will involve identification of dimensions of the concept of dance, recurrent themes, variations, contradictions, and connections.
 - If possible, we will use computer-assisted clustering techniques to present the information in graphical form (eg, bubble plot, word cloud) [54,55].
- A glossary of terms will be created to clarify definitions found in the literature.

We will follow and adapt PRISMA reporting guidelines for systematic reviews [53], PRISMA equity [56], and a PRISMA

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2017/2/e25/

harms checklist [57] to accurately report the results and analysis summary.

Step 6: Consulting

With the aim to ensure applicability and usability of results, the findings of this scoping review will be shared throughout the protocol writing, collating, and summarizing phases with the consumers associated with the team. They will provide their comments and thoughts throughout the scoping review's duration. We will also engage research experts in dance, fibromyalgia, and synthesis methods to review the project protocol and provide objective feedback in findings and final reporting. The fibromyalgia and physical activity team (led by AJB) will be asked to validate our findings and provide feedback and guidance on the completion of the final manuscript. All responses and opinions will be integrated into the study.

Step 7: Disseminating the Knowledge

Although not part of Arksey's framework, we believe it is important to make the content of this scoping review available to clinicians and consumers with the goal of increasing awareness of the literature and helping to make evidence-informed choices for clinical management of fibromyalgia. Some of the steps we plan to take include writing a scientific publication, presenting the results at a conference, distributing a plain language summary report to self-help groups and organizations working with individuals with fibromyalgia, posting a summary of the results to the fibromyalgia and exercise team website, and exploring the dance4healing app as a venue to distribute our results. Additionally, we plan to develop teaching material from this scoping review (eg, case study) to be used in chronic disease management courses in health and rehabilitation programs involving undergraduate and graduate students.

Results

The search, title, and abstract are now completed; full text screening was carried out and authors are awaiting interlibrary loans and translations. Data extraction will start shortly after

full text 'screening' is completed Completion is expected in Fall 2017.

Discussion

A large body of evidence from the past decades supports the use of physical activity as one of the main nonpharmacological interventions for adults with fibromyalgia. Exercise training (eg, aquatic, resistance, aerobic) is often part of the overall management of fibromyalgia, decreasing peoples's symptoms and improving their quality of life. However, our understanding of dance use in this population is limited. To our knowledge this will be the first attempt to systematically identify knowledge of dance as a potential intervention for adults with fibromyalgia.

This scoping review offers a feasible means for synthesizing the evidence specific to dance and fibromyalgia; results will provide unique insights concerning the breadth and depth of literature in the area. We anticipate we will be able to identify research trends and potential gaps specific to our research questions as well as novel ideas for primary research concerning this intervention. An analysis of this body of literature as a whole may reveal new research directions or unknown ways this intervention could strengthen current management approaches of the disease.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank the members of the fibromyalgia and physical activity Cochrane team. In addition, we thank Janet Gunderson and Anne Lyddiat (team consumers) and Drs Hilde Holte and Kari Ann Leiknes from the Norwegian Institute of Public Health (content/scientific consultants) for their assistance reviewing this manuscript.

Authors' Contributions

JB and CB conceptualized the initial review protocol. The entire team (JB, CB, AB, SMG, SK, and EK) collaboratively drafted the manuscript, with numerous iterations and substantial input and appraisal from all authors. All authors have approved the final version of this manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- Häuser W, Ablin J, Fitzcharles M, Littlejohn G, Luciano J, Usui C, et al. Fibromyalgia. Nat Rev Dis Primers 2015 Dec 13;1:15022. [doi: 10.1038/nrdp.2015.22] [Medline: 27189527]
- Wolfe F, Clauw DJ, Fitzcharles MA, Goldenberg DL, Katz RS, Mease P, et al. The American College of Rheumatology preliminary diagnostic criteria for fibromyalgia and measurement of symptom severity. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken) 2010 May;62(5):600-610 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/acr.20140] [Medline: 20461783]
- 3. Burckhardt C. Multidisciplinary approaches for management of fibromyalgia. Curr Pharm Des 2006;12(1):59-66. [Medline: 16454725]
- 4. Mease P. Fibromyalgia syndrome: review of clinical presentation, pathogenesis, outcome measures, and treatment. J Rheumatol Suppl 2005 Aug;75:6-21. [Medline: <u>16078356</u>]
- 5. Queiroz L. Worldwide epidemiology of fibromyalgia. Curr Pain Headache Rep 2013 Aug;17(8):356. [doi: 10.1007/s11916-013-0356-5] [Medline: 23801009]
- 6. Marcus D, Deodhar A. Fibromyalgia Practical Clinical Guide. Berlin: Springer; 2011.
- Abeles AM, Pillinger MH, Solitar BM, Abeles M. Narrative review: the pathophysiology of fibromyalgia. Ann Intern Med 2007 May 15;146(10):726-734. [Medline: <u>17502633</u>]
- Macfarlane GJ, Kronisch C, Dean LE, Atzeni F, Häuser W, Fluß E, et al. EULAR revised recommendations for the management of fibromyalgia. Ann Rheum Dis 2017 Feb;76(2):318-328. [doi: <u>10.1136/annrheumdis-2016-209724</u>] [Medline: <u>27377815</u>]
- 9. Caspersen CJ, Powell KE, Christenson GM. Physical activity, exercise, and physical fitness: Definitions and distinctions for health-related research. Public Health Rep 1985;100(2):126-131.
- 10. Beardsley MC. What Is Going on in a Dance? Dance Research Journal 1982;15(1):31. [doi: 10.2307/1477692]
- 11. Stevens C, McKechnie S. Thinking in action: thought made visible in contemporary dance. Cogn Process 2005 Dec;6(4):243-252. [doi: 10.1007/s10339-005-0014-x] [Medline: 18239953]
- 12. Kaltsatou ACH, Kouidi EI, Anifanti MA, Douka SI, Deligiannis AP. Functional and psychosocial effects of either a traditional dancing or a formal exercising training program in patients with chronic heart failure: a comparative randomized controlled study. Clin Rehabil 2014 Feb;28(2):128-138. [doi: 10.1177/0269215513492988] [Medline: 23864515]
- 13. Gomes NM, Menezes MA, Oliveira CV. Dance therapy in patients with chronic heart failure: a systematic review and a meta-analysis. Clin Rehabil 2014 Dec;28(12):1172-1179. [doi: 10.1177/0269215514534089] [Medline: 24849796]

- 14. Merom D, Ding D, Stamatakis E. Dancing participation and cardiovascular disease mortality: a pooled analysis of 11 population-based British cohorts. Am J Prev Med 2016 Jun;50(6):756-760. [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2016.01.004] [Medline: 26944521]
- 15. Sharp K, Hewitt J. Dance as an intervention for people with Parkinson's disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 2014 Nov;47:445-456. [doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2014.09.009] [Medline: 25268548]
- 16. Marks R. Narrative review of dance-based exercise and its specific impact on depressive symptoms in older adults. AIMS Medical Science 2016;3(1):61-76. [doi: 10.3934/medsci.2016.1.61]
- Moffet H, Noreau L, Parent E, Drolet M. Feasibility of an eight-week dance-based exercise program and its effects on locomotor ability of persons with functional class III rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Care Res 2000 Apr;13(2):100-111. [Medline: <u>14635283</u>]
- Alpert PT, Miller SK, Wallmann H, Havey R, Cross C, Chevalia T, et al. The effect of modified jazz dance on balance, cognition, and mood in older adults. J Am Acad Nurse Pract 2009 Feb;21(2):108-115. [doi: 10.1111/j.1745-7599.2008.00392.x] [Medline: 19228249]
- 19. Binks FA. Geriatric pain. Physiotherapy 1974 May;60(5):132-133. [Medline: 4445309]
- Pinniger R, Brown R, Thorsteinsson EB, McKinley P. Argentine tango dance compared to mindfulness meditation and a waiting-list control: a randomised trial for treating depression. Complement Ther Med 2012 Dec;20(6):377-384. [doi: 10.1016/j.ctim.2012.07.003] [Medline: 23131367]
- Eyigor S, Karapolat H, Durmaz B, Ibisoglu U, Cakir S. A randomized controlled trial of Turkish folklore dance on the physical performance, balance, depression and quality of life in older women. Arch Gerontol Geriatr 2009;48(1):84-88. [doi: 10.1016/j.archger.2007.10.008] [Medline: 18068829]
- 22. Lee JY, Kim HL, Lim J. The effect of Korean dance program on climacteric symptoms and blood lipid in rural middle-aged women. Int J Biosci Biotechnol 2013 Dec 31;5(6):81-90. [doi: 10.14257/ijbsbt.2013.5.6.09]
- 23. Lewis C, Annett LE, Davenport S, Hall AA, Lovatt P. Mood changes following social dance sessions in people with Parkinson's disease. J Health Psychol 2016 Apr;21(4):483-492. [doi: 10.1177/1359105314529681] [Medline: 24752558]
- 24. Haboush A, Floyd MJ, Caron J, LaSota M, Alvarez K. Ballroom dance lessons for geriatric depression: An exploratory study. Arts Psychother 2006 Jan;33(2):89-97. [doi: 10.1016/j.aip.2005.10.001]
- 25. Lane A, Hewston R, Redding E, Whyte G. Mood changes following modern-dance classes. Soc Behav Personality 2003;31(5):453-460.
- Belardinelli R, Lacalaprice F, Ventrella C, Volpe L, Faccenda E. Waltz dancing in patients with chronic heart failure: new form of exercise training. Circ Heart Fail 2008 Jul;1(2):107-114 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1161/CIRCHEARTFAILURE.108.765727] [Medline: 19808280]
- Vankova H, Holmerova I, Machacova K, Volicer L, Veleta P, Celko A. The effect of dance on depressive symptoms in nursing home residents. J Am Med Dir Assoc 2014 Aug;15(8):582-587. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jamda.2014.04.013</u>] [Medline: <u>24913212</u>]
- Bradt J, Goodill SW, Dileo C. Dance/movement therapy for improving psychological and physical outcomes in cancer patients. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2011 Oct 05;CD007103(10). [doi: <u>10.1002/14651858.CD007103.pub2</u>] [Medline: <u>21975762</u>]
- 29. Ren J, Xia J. Dance therapy for schizophrenia. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2013 Oct 04;CD006868(10). [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD006868.pub3] [Medline: 24092546]
- 30. Xia J, Grant TJ. Dance therapy for schizophrenia. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2009 Jan 21;CD006868(1). [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD006868.pub2] [Medline: 19160306]
- 31. Meekums B, Karkou V, Nelson EA. Dance movement therapy for depression. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2015 Feb 19;CD009895(2). [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD009895.pub2] [Medline: 25695871]
- Hokkanen L, Rantala L, Remes AM, Härkönen B, Viramo P, Winblad I. Dance and movement therapeutic methods in management of dementia: a randomized, controlled study. J Am Geriatr Soc 2008 Apr;56(4):771-772. [doi: 10.1111/j.1532-5415.2008.01611.x] [Medline: 18380687]
- Lapum JL, Bar RJ. Dance for individuals With dementia. J Psychosoc Nurs Ment Health Serv 2016 Mar;54(3):31-34. [doi: 10.3928/02793695-20160219-05] [Medline: 26935188]
- 34. Bojner-Horwitz E, Theorell T, Maria Anderberg U. Dance/movement therapy and changes in stress-related hormones: a study of fibromyalgia patients with video-interpretation. Arts Psychother 2003 Jan;30(5):255-264. [doi: 10.1016/j.aip.2003.07.001]
- 35. López-Rodríguez MM, Castro-Sánchez AM, Fernández-Martínez M, Matarán-Peñarrocha GA, Rodríguez-Ferrer ME. [Comparison between aquatic-biodanza and stretching for improving quality of life and pain in patients with fibromyalgia]. Aten Primaria 2012 Nov;44(11):641-649 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.aprim.2012.03.002] [Medline: 22591551]
- 36. López-Rodríguez MM, Fernández-Martínez M, Matarán-Peñarrocha GA, Rodríguez-Ferrer ME, Granados GG, Aguilar FE. [Effectiveness of aquatic biodance on sleep quality, anxiety and other symptoms in patients with fibromyalgia]. Med Clin (Barc) 2013 Dec 07;141(11):471-478. [doi: 10.1016/j.medcli.2012.09.036] [Medline: 23246170]
- 37. Houston S, McGill A. A mixed methods study into ballet for people living with Parkinson's. Arts Health 2013;5(2). [doi: 10.1080/17533015.2012.745580]

- Alpert PT. The Health Benefits of Dance. Home Health Care Management Prac 2010 Dec 02;23(2):155-157. [doi: 10.1177/1084822310384689]
- 39. Koch S, Morlinghaus K, Fuchs T. The joy dance: specific effects of a single dance intervention on psychiatric patients with depression. Arts Psychother 2007 Jan;34(4):340-349. [doi: 10.1016/j.aip.2007.07.001]
- 40. Kattenstroth J, Kalisch T, Holt S, Tegenthoff M, Dinse H. Six months of dance intervention enhances postural, sensorimotor, and cognitive performance in elderly without affecting cardio-respiratory functions. Front Aging Neurosci 2013;5:5 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2013.00005] [Medline: 23447455]
- Ubago Linares MC, Ruiz-Pérez I, Bermejo Pérez MJ, Olry de Labry-Lima A, Hernández-Torres E, Plazaola-Castaño J. Analysis of the impact of fibromyalgia on quality of life: associated factors. Clin Rheumatol 2008 May;27(5):613-619. [doi: 10.1007/s10067-007-0756-1] [Medline: 17909739]
- 42. Tarr B, Launay J, Cohen E, Dunbar R. Synchrony and exertion during dance independently raise pain threshold and encourage social bonding. Biol Lett 2015 Oct;11(10) [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1098/rsbl.2015.0767] [Medline: 26510676]
- 43. Eisenberger N. The pain of social disconnection: examining the shared neural underpinnings of physical and social pain. Nat Rev Neurosci 2012 May 03;13(6):421-434. [doi: 10.1038/nrn3231] [Medline: 22551663]
- Asmundson G, Norton G, Jacobson S. Social, blood/injury, and agoraphobic fears in patients with physically unexplained chronic pain: are they clinically significant? Anxiety 1996;2(1):28-33. [doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1522-7154(1996)2:1<28::AID-ANXI4>3.0.CO;2-9] [Medline: 9160596]
- 45. Reddish P, Fischer R, Bulbulia J. Let's dance together: synchrony, shared intentionality and cooperation. PLoS One 2013;8(8):e71182 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0071182] [Medline: 23951106]
- 46. Bidonde J, Busch AJ, Bath B, Milosavljevic S. Exercise for adults with fibromyalgia: an umbrella systematic review with synthesis of best evidence. Curr Rheumatol Rev 2014;10(1):45-79. [Medline: 25229499]
- 47. Bidonde J, Busch AJ, Webber SC, Schachter CL, Danyliw A, Overend TJ, et al. Aquatic exercise training for fibromyalgia. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2014 Oct 28;CD011336(10). [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD011336] [Medline: 25350761]
- Busch AJ, Webber SC, Richards RS, Bidonde J, Schachter CL, Schafer LA, et al. Resistance exercise training for fibromyalgia. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2013 Dec 20;CD010884(12). [doi: <u>10.1002/14651858.CD010884</u>] [Medline: <u>24362925</u>]
- Arksey H, O'Malley L. Scoping studies: towards a methodological framework. Int J Soc Res Methodol 2005 Feb;8(1):19-32. [doi: <u>10.1080/1364557032000119616</u>]
- 50. Armstrong R, Hall BJ, Doyle J, Waters E. Cochrane update. "Scoping the scope" of a Cochrane review. J Public Health (Oxf) 2011 Mar;33(1):147-150. [doi: 10.1093/pubmed/fdr015] [Medline: 21345890]
- 51. Bates S, Clapton J, Coren E. Systematic maps to support the evidence base in social care. Evidence Policy: J Res Debate Prac 2007 Nov 19;3(4):539-551. [doi: 10.1332/174426407782516484]
- 52. Levac D, Colquhoun H, O'Brien KK. Scoping studies: advancing the methodology. Implement Sci 2010 Sep 20;5:69 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1748-5908-5-69] [Medline: 20854677]
- 53. Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. Int J Surg 2010;8(5):336-341 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijsu.2010.02.007] [Medline: 20171303]
- 54. Grimmer J, King G. General purpose computer-assisted clustering and conceptualization. Proc Nat Acad Sci 2011:2643-2650. [doi: <u>10.1073/pnas.1018067108</u>]
- 55. Kates R. What kind of a science is sustainability science? Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2011 Dec 06;108(49):19449-19450 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1073/pnas.1116097108] [Medline: 22114189]
- 56. Welch V, Petticrew M, Petkovic J, Moher D, Waters E, White H. Extending the PRISMA statement to equity-focused systematic reviews (PRISMA-E 2012): explanation and elaboration. J Clin Epidemiol 2016 Feb;70:68-89 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2015.09.001] [Medline: 26348799]
- 57. Zorzela L, Loke YK, Ioannidis JP, Golder S, Santaguida P, Altman DG, PRISMA Harms Group. PRISMA harms checklist: improving harms reporting in systematic reviews. BMJ 2016 Feb 01;352:i157 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>26830668</u>]

Abbreviations

AMED: Allied and Complementary Medicine **CINAHL:** Cumulative Index of Nursing and Allied Health Literature

DMT: dance movement therapy

LILACS: Literature in the Health Sciences in Latin America and the Caribbean

PEDro: Physiotherapy Evidence Database

PRISMA: Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses

PMID:28228371

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 23.10.16; peer-reviewed by S Iyer, C Marton, V Dedov; comments to author 15.01.17; revised version received 23.01.17; accepted 24.01.17; published 22.02.17. <u>Please cite as:</u> Bidonde J, Boden C, Busch AJ, Goes SM, Kim S, Knight E Dance for Adults With Fibromyalgia—What Do We Know About It? Protocol for a Scoping Review JMIR Res Protoc 2017;6(2):e25 URL: http://www.researchprotocols.org/2017/2/e25/ doi:10.2196/resprot.6873

©Julia Bidonde, Catherine Boden, Angela J Busch, Suelen M Goes, Soo Kim, Emily Knight. Originally published in JMIR Research Protocols (http://www.researchprotocols.org), 22.02.2017. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Research Protocols, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.researchprotocols.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Short Paper

Online Dissemination Strategies of a Canada Research Chair: Overview and Lessons Learned

Jessica Hébert¹; Hubert Robitaille¹, PhD; Stéphane Turcotte¹, MSc; France Légaré^{2,3}, MD, PhD, CCFP, FCFP

³Centre Hospitalier de l'Université de Québec Research Centre, Population Health and Practice-Changing Research Group, Quebec city, QC, Canada

Corresponding Author:

France Légaré, MD, PhD, CCFP, FCFP Centre Hospitalier de l'Université de Québec Research Centre Department of Family Medicine and Emergency Medicine Université Laval Hôpital Saint-François d'Assise 10 rue Espinay Quebec city, QC, G1L 3L5 Canada Phone: 1 418 525 4437 Fax: 1 418 525 4194 Email: France.Legare@mfa.ulaval.ca

Abstract

Background: Little is known about the use of online dissemination strategies, such as websites and social media, to increase the visibility and uptake of research.

Objective: To describe two online dissemination strategies of the Canada Research Chair in Implementation of Shared Decision Making in Primary Care over an eight-year period.

Methods: Our two sources of online dissemination data were the website of the Canada Research Chair in Implementation of Shared Decision Making in Primary Care and the Chair's Twitter account. We conducted a content analysis of the news section of the website. We extracted website usage statistics using Google Analytics and analyzed indicators such as total number of visits, new and returning visitors, page views per visit, time spent onsite per visit, visitors' country of origin, and most popular pages. From the Chair's Twitter account, we collected the number of tweets, followers, and follows. We consulted Google Scholar to chart the trend in citations of the Chair's articles over the same period.

Results: From the website's inception in January 2008 to December 2015, we recorded an average of 7906 visits per year (3809 in 2008; 8874 in 2015), 65.85% of which involved new visitors (5206/7906). The average number of pages viewed per visit was 3.2 and average bounce rate was 57.87% (4575/7906). Visitors spent an average of two minutes and 12 seconds per visit. We computed visits from 162 countries, with the majority from Canada (5910/7906, 74.75%). In order of frequency, the seven most visited pages were: (1) home page with news of publications and grants (24,787 visits), (2) profile of Chairholder (8041 visits), (3) profiles of research team members (6272 visits), (4) list of research team members (4593 visits), (5) inventory of shared decision making (SDM) programs (1856 visits), (6) interprofessional approaches to SDM (1689 visits), and (7) description of Chair activities (1350 visits). From the inception of the Twitter account in April 2011 to November 30, 2016 we recorded 5831 tweets in French and English, 1679 followers, and 1112 follows. The total number of visits and visitors to the website increased during the first three years, stabilized, and then dropped slightly, while the number of returning visitors rose slightly. In comparison, citations of the Chair's articles increased steadily over the same period, rising more sharply as visits to the website declined.

Conclusions: Over an eight-year period, visitors to the website increased in the first three years before levelling off. Meanwhile, the Chair's citations rose continuously. There was no observable association between website visits or Twitter activity and rising citations. Our results suggest that online dissemination may not yet be a major determinant of research uptake or visibility in the scientific community.

(JMIR Res Protoc 2017;6(2):e27) doi:10.2196/resprot.6413

¹Centre Hospitalier de l'Université de Québec Research Centre, Population Health and Practice-Changing Research Group, Quebec City, QC, Canada ²Centre Hospitalier de l'Université de Québec Research Centre, Department of Family Medicine and Emergency Medicine, Université Laval, Quebec city, QC, Canada

KEYWORDS

social media; knowledge translation; shared decision making; online dissemination; knowledge dissemination

Introduction

Knowledge dissemination strategies are essential for moving health services research into practice [1-4]. Traditional strategies include peer reviewed publications and conferences. Newer online methods [5,6] include passive platforms (eg, websites) as well as more active social media platforms (eg, Twitter) that allow the creation and exchange of user-generated content [7]. While research teams are increasing their use of online dissemination strategies, little is known about their influence on the visibility and uptake of research results [8-12].

The Canada Research Chair in Implementation of Shared Decision Making in Primary Care, based in Quebec City, was created in June 2006 (evolving into the Canada Research Chair in Shared Decision Making and Knowledge Translation in 2016) [13]. The mission of the Chair is to provide health professionals and their patients with the necessary skills to engage in shared decision making (SDM) throughout the healthcare continuum, and it aspires to be a world-class training and support center for the implementation of SDM in Canada and abroad. In March 2008, the Chair began to invest in online dissemination in both French and English, and has been doing so ever since. We sought to describe the use of two of the Chair's online dissemination strategies over an eight-year period.

Methods

Sources of Data

Our three sources of retrospective data were: (1) the website of the Chair [14] and site statistics obtained from Google Analytics; (2) the Chair's Twitter account (SDM_ULAVAL); and, for comparison purposes, (3) Google Scholar citations data on the Chair's articles [15]. The website was created in March 2008 at Laval University and is managed by a French speaking webmaster who spends approximately four hours per week populating, translating, and updating it. English pages are reviewed by an English editor. The Twitter account was created in 2011 by the Chairholder, who is solely responsible for its content.

Data Collection

From the website's inception in March 2008 to December 31, 2015, we collected data on the news section and classified it into five categories: (1) publications; (2) honors, awards, and scholarships; (3) grants; (4) congress and conference announcements; and (5) others. We extracted usage statistics from Google Analytics from January 1, 2008 to December 31, 2015, including: (1) number of visits, (2) number of visitors,

(3) new visitors, (4) returning visitors, (5) page views per visit, (6) bounce rate, (7) time spent on the site per visit, (8) country of origin of visitors, and (9) most popular pages. The bounce rate represents the percentage of visitors who enter the site and then leave, rather than continuing to view other pages. We collected data from the Chair's Twitter account on November 30, 2016 on number of tweets, number of followers, and follows since its inception in April 2011. We collected the average number of tweets per month over 21 months using TweetStats [16]. We also collected data from Google Scholar on citations of the Chair's research articles from March 2008 to December 2015.

Data Analysis

We performed content analysis of the website based on the five categories of the news section. Descriptive statistics such as frequency distributions, means, and standard deviations were calculated to summarize indicators of the website usage from Google Analytics. We charted citations of the Chair's articles over the same period.

Results

Website

As of December 31, 2015, we recorded 184 news items: 79 regarding publications; 35 regarding honors, awards, and scholarships; 22 regarding grants; 45 regarding conference announcements, and 3 regarding various other topics. We recorded an average of 7906 visits and 5382 users per year (See Table 1 and Figure 1), and 65.85% (5206/7906) of visits were from new visitors. The average number of pages viewed per visit was 3.2, and the average bounce rate was 57.87% (4575/7906). Visitors spent an average of 2 minutes and 12 seconds per visit. The number of visits and visitors increased during the first three years (from 3809 visits and 2311 visitors in 2008 to 9301 visits and 6224 visitors in 2011), remained stable from 2011 to 2014, and then dropped slightly to 8874 visits and 5789 visitors in 2015. We computed visits from 162 countries over the eight years, with the majority from Canada (5910/7906, 74.75%). The seven most visited pages were: (1) home page with news of new publications, awards, and grants, as well as the Chair's Twitter feed (24,787 visits); (2) profile of the Chairholder (8041 visits); (3) profiles of team members (6272 visits); (4) list of team members (4593 visits); (5) inventory of SDM programs for healthcare professionals (1856 visits); (6) interprofessional approaches to SDM (1689 visits); and (7) description of Chair activities (1350 visits). All other pages were consulted fewer than 1000 times.



Table 1.	Indicators	of the	website	usage from	Google	Analytics an	nd citation of	of Chair's	published	articles

Year	Total num- ber of visits (n)	Number of users (n)	New visitors (%)	Returning visi- tors (%)	Page views per visit (n)	Bounce rate (%)	Time spent on site per visit (minutes)	Visits from outside Canada (%)	Citations of Chair's pub- lished articles
2008	3809	2311	60.6	39.4	4.70	40.12	3:19	13.60	238
2009	6289	4634	71.8	28.2	3.42	56.32	2:18	21.18	372
2010	7215	5014	67.4	32.6	3.14	58.28	2:01	22.27	495
2011	9301	6224	64.9	35.1	3.07	61.35	2:04	28.09	773
2012	8992	6203	66.1	33.9	2.90	63.21	1:43	25.78	1147
2013	8891	6178	67.2	32.8	2.69	60.72	1:55	28.96	1486
2014	9877	6702	65.9	34.1	3.09	61.88	2:45	30.45	1685
2015	8874	5789	62.9	37.1	2.85	61.07	2:15	29.70	2164
Average over 8 years	7906	5382	65.9	34.2	3.23	57.87	2:12	25.00	1045

We observed an increase in the total number of visits and visitors to the website in the first three years, then a stabilization until 2015 when the numbers dropped slightly. In the final year, the percentage of returning visitors increased slightly, but this finding was not statistically significant. There was a slight downward trend for visits to the home page, with an increasing bounce rate.

Figure 1. Graphic representation of indicators of the website usage from Google Analytics and citation of Chair's published articles over eight years.



Citations

Citations of the Chairholder's articles increased from 238 to 2164 (800%) over the eight years.

Twitter

We recorded an average of 100 tweets per month on SDM_ULAVAL, the Chair's Twitter account, from April 2014 (as far back as the tool permitted) to December 2015. As of November 30, 2016, the account had 5831 tweets, 1679 followers, and 1112 follows.

Discussion

RenderX

This study retrospectively describes the implementation of two online dissemination strategies of a Canada Research Chair, namely a website and a Twitter account. We observed that over

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2017/2/e27/

an eight-year period visitors to the website increased most in the first three years, levelled off, and then dropped slightly in the final year. The percentage of visitors from outside Canada dropped less in the final year, and the percentage of returning visitors rose slightly. Meanwhile, citations of the Chair's research articles rose steadily.

The early rise in visits to the Chair's website followed by stabilization may reflect the fact that online strategies are ephemeral tools that may have immediate, rather than lasting, impact [14]. The high bounce rate and recent downward trend in visits to the website may reflect the increasingly stiff competition in research visibility. It appears that for these knowledge translation tools to be effective, they require an increasingly aggressive and time-consuming online presence. Conversely, webmetrics cannot compute time spent on bounced pages, and as the home page contains regularly updated news

about publications and a live feed of the Chair's Twitter account, visitors may have felt that they needed to look no further. The slight rise in percentage of returning visitors and the high number of Twitter followers suggest that the Chair's online dissemination strategies may have attracted a faithful following.

Our results showed no direct correlation between the Chair's citations and usage of the website and Twitter account. While some authors have shown significant correlation between social media mentions and download and citation counts [14,15], they also note the difficulty of collecting appropriate data, and warn that citation levels of manuscripts are just as likely to reflect their scientific quality or popular appeal. Many scientists consider the value of Twitter to be, first, "a constant live literature alert service crowdsourced from peers," and second, its social impact, which complement (rather than increase) citations [15]. Our results show that our website may perform a similar complementary function: visitors' second main interest after the home page showing news of the Chair (24,787 visits) was in lists and profiles of team members (18,906 visits). This

finding suggests that an online presence may be as important for scientific networking as it is for direct uptake of results.

Limitations

The Chair website was not launched until March 2008, meaning that data for the complete year was missing and total traffic was therefore underrepresented. In addition, we did not chart the evolution of Twitter data for the entire study period.

Conclusions

We could not determine a direct link between our online dissemination strategies with increased research uptake or visibility over time. This finding suggests that online dissemination may not yet be a major determinant of research uptake or visibility in the scientific community. However, appropriate metrics (including measures of social impact) and high-quality data are needed to understand the full impact of these tools and discover the most effective ways to use the various platforms.

Acknowledgments

As of June 1, 2016, FL is Tier 1 Canada Research Chair in Shared Decision Making and Knowledge Translation. We thank Louisa Blair for editing the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

FL was the Chairholder of the Canada Research Chair in Implementation of Shared Decision Making in Primary Care.

References

- Mitton C, Adair CE, McKenzie E, Patten SB, Waye PB. Knowledge transfer and exchange: review and synthesis of the literature. Milbank Q 2007 Dec;85(4):729-768 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1468-0009.2007.00506.x</u>] [Medline: <u>18070335</u>]
- 2. Dobbins M, DeCorby K, Twiddy T. A knowledge transfer strategy for public health decision makers. Worldviews Evid Based Nurs 2004;1(2):120-128. [doi: 10.1111/j.1741-6787.2004.t01-1-04009.x] [Medline: 17129325]
- Lavis JN, Robertson D, Woodside JM, MacLeod C, Abelson J, Knowledge Transfer Study Group. How can research organizations more effectively transfer research knowledge to decision makers? Milbank Q 2003;81(2):221-248. [doi: 10.1111/1468-0009.t01-1-00052] [Medline: 12841049]
- 4. National Collaborating Centre for Methods and Tools. 2010. Developing an Effective Dissemination Plan URL: <u>http://www.nccmt.ca/resources/search/49</u> [accessed 2017-02-15] [WebCite Cache ID 6oIm1M3IG]
- Grande D, Gollust SE, Pany M, Seymour J, Goss A, Kilaru A, et al. Translating research for health policy: researchers' perceptions and use of social media. Health Aff (Millwood) 2014;33(7):1278-1285. [doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.2014.0300] [Medline: 24907363]
- Community Alliance for Research and Engagement. Beyond Scientific Publication: Strategies for Disseminating Research Findings. New Haven, CT: Yale Centre for Clinical Investigation; 2013. URL: <u>https://depts.washington.edu/ccph/pdf_files/</u> <u>CARE_Dissemination_Strategies_FINAL_eversion.pdf</u> [accessed 2017-02-15] [WebCite Cache ID 60Imk4imY]
- 7. Wikipedia. 2017. Social media URL: <u>https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Social_media</u> [accessed 2016-12-12] [<u>WebCite Cache</u> <u>ID 6oIn6EZoi</u>]
- Finfgeld-Connett D. Twitter and health science research. West J Nurs Res 2015 Oct;37(10):1269-1283. [doi: 10.1177/0193945914565056] [Medline: 25542190]
- Choo E, Ranney M, Chan T, Trueger NS, Walsh AE, Tegtmeyer K, et al. Twitter as a tool for communication and knowledge exchange in academic medicine: a guide for skeptics and novices. Med Teach 2015 May;37(5). [doi: 10.3109/0142159X.2014.993371] [Medline: 25523012]
- Fitzgerald RT, Radmanesh A. Social media and research visibility. Am J Neuroradiol 2014 Jul;36(4):637 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3174/ajnr.A4054] [Medline: 25034775]
- 11. Kaplan AM, Haenlein M. Users of the world, unite! The challenges and opportunities of social media. Bus Horiz 2010 Jan;53(1):59-68. [doi: 10.1016/j.bushor.2009.09.003]

- 12. Young PJ, Nickson CP, Gantner DC. Can social media bridge the gap between research and practice? Crit Care Resusc 2013 Dec;15(4):257-259. [Medline: 24289505]
- 13. Canada Research Chair in Shared Decision and Knowledge Translation. Quebec, QC: Université Laval; 2017. URL: <u>http://www.decision.chaire.fmed.ulaval.ca/en/home-page/</u> [accessed 2017-02-15] [WebCite Cache ID 6oIoX3cXt]
- 14. Shuai X, Pepe A, Bollen J. How the scientific community reacts to newly submitted preprints: article downloads, Twitter mentions, and citations. PLoS One 2012 Nov;7(11):e47523 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0047523] [Medline: 23133597]
- 15. Eysenbach G. Can tweets predict citations? Metrics of social impact based on Twitter and correlation with traditional metrics of scientific impact. J Med Internet Res 2011 Dec 19;13(4):e123 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2012] [Medline: 22173204]
- 16. Cortesi D. TweetStats. 2017. URL: <u>http://www.tweetstats.com/</u> [accessed 2017-02-18] [WebCite Cache ID 60NII6vto]

Abbreviations

SDM: shared decision making

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 26.07.16; peer-reviewed by C Tziraki, M Tsiknakis; comments to author 25.08.16; revised version received 02.12.16; accepted 07.02.17; published 24.02.17. <u>Please cite as:</u> Hébert J, Robitaille H, Turcotte S, Légaré F Online Dissemination Strategies of a Canada Research Chair: Overview and Lessons Learned JMIR Res Protoc 2017;6(2):e27 URL: http://www.researchprotocols.org/2017/2/e27/ doi:10.2196/resprot.6413 PMID:28235751

©Jessica Hébert, Hubert Robitaille, Stéphane Turcotte, France Légaré. Originally published in JMIR Research Protocols (http://www.researchprotocols.org), 24.02.2017. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Research Protocols, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.researchprotocols.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Involving Children With Cancer in Health Promotive Research: A Case Study Describing Why, What, and How

Jens M Nygren¹, PhD; Susanne Lindberg², MSc; Pontus Wärnestål², PhD; Petra Svedberg¹, PhD

¹School of Health and Welfare, Halmstad University, Halmstad, Sweden
²School of Information Technology, Halmstad University, Halmstad, Sweden

Corresponding Author: Jens M Nygren, PhD School of Health and Welfare Halmstad University Box 823 Halmstad, Sweden Phone: 46 35 16 78 63 Fax: 46 35 18 61 92 Email: jens.nygren@hh.se

Abstract

Background: Participatory research approaches have been introduced to meet end-users' needs in the development of health promotion interventions among children. However, whereas children are increasingly involved as passive informants in particular parts of research, they are rarely involved as partners, equal to adult researchers, throughout the research process. This is especially prominent in the context of child health where the child is commonly considered to be vulnerable or when the research concerns sensitive situations. In these cases, researchers and gatekeepers to children's involvement base their resistance to active involvement of children on potential adverse effects on the accuracy or quality of the research or on ethical or moral principles that participation might harm the child. Thus most research aimed at developing health promotion interventions for children in health care is primarily based on the involvement of parents, caregivers, and other stakeholders.

Objective: The objective of this paper is to discuss reasons for involving children in health promotive research and to explore models for children's participation in research as a basis for describing how researchers can use design methodology and participatory approaches to support the participation and contribution of children in a vulnerable context.

Methods: We developed and applied a model for children's participation in research to the development of a digital peer support service for children cancer survivors. This guided the selection of appropriate research and design methodologies (such as interviews, focus groups, design sessions, and usability evaluation) for involving the children cancer survivors (8-12 years) in the design of a digital peer support service.

Results: We present a model for what children's participation in research means and describe how we practically implemented this model in a research project on children with cancer. This paper can inform researchers in their planning of strategies for children's participation and ensure future development of health promotion interventions for children is based on their perspectives.

Conclusions: Challenges in reaching a suitable degree of participation during a research project involve both creating opportunities for children to have genuine influence on the research process and organizing this involvement so that they feel they understand what they are involved in and why. To achieve this, it is essential to enable children to be involved in research over time to gain confidence in the researchers and to develop children's abilities to make decisions throughout the research processes.

(JMIR Res Protoc 2017;6(2):e19) doi:<u>10.2196/resprot.7094</u>

KEYWORDS

RenderX

children; participation; involvement; research

Introduction

Overview

In Sweden, approximately 300 children are diagnosed with cancer each year [1], but advances in diagnosis, risk stratification, and treatment protocols have resulted in most children surviving the disease. Increased survival rates have created new needs for treatment and support associated with physical and psychological late effects of the treatment-effects that may not manifest themselves until years later [2]. Managing these late effects as well as social challenges that are associated with the experiences and consequences of the disease can be facilitated by social support from peers who share similar experiences [3]. This notion is supported by observations that those who experience more social support within this target group report fewer symptoms of depression and anxiety [4]. The availability of peer support is, however, limited, and resources are often offered sporadically and at a limited number of geographically confined locations [5]. Digital peer support built on accessible and asynchronous technologies could potentially solve the feasibility limitations of face-to-face peer support. Designing such digital services is dependent on knowing the preferences and requirements of the target group [6]. Based on this, we set out to involve children cancer survivors in the design of a digital peer support service for children between the ages of 8 and 12 years who have been cured from cancer. Involving this user group in the design and evaluation of a digital peer support service is particularly challenging due to the built-in complexity of the context, coupled with vulnerability, gatekeeping, and availability. Children are often viewed as vulnerable due to their dependence on adults. It is therefore essential to protect children from harm associated with involvement in research and carefully handle consent to participation, confidentiality, research context, and activities [7]. The vulnerability of children is even more pronounced when it comes to children with illnesses, and it is common that their participation is restricted by various gatekeepers such as ethical boards, health care professionals, or parents [8]. The characteristics of the intended user group (eg, age span, medical history, geographic spread, and clinical restrictions) make it difficult to recruit, meet, and engage the children on a regular basis. Research processes and methods that take all these considerations into account could be powerful ways to involve children in the context of health promotive research such as that outlined above.

In recent years, there has been a growing body of academic articles describing involvement of children in research projects [8-11]. A few of these address methodological issues especially from the perspective of children with cancer. Different participatory research approaches have been introduced in order to meet children's needs in the development of health promotive research. Even though all approaches have an end-user focus in common, they differ in regard to whether the children are passive partners in separate parts of the research project or if the children are active partners throughout the research process with real influence over the project. Thus, children are often involved as subjects in research but do not commonly participate as research partners in the development of interventions [9].

```
http://www.researchprotocols.org/2017/2/e19/
```

The competence and ability of children to participate in research is generally undervalued [10] and their involvement in research is therefore mainly passive [9,11]. This is even more apparent when research concerns children in sensitive contexts such as children survivors of cancer. Involvement of children in research in sensitive contexts is, however, important to ensure that developed resources meet needs based on the cognitive and emotional developmental stages of the children and their requirements on usability and experiential quality [12-14]. Children's involvement in research is nonetheless disputed and treated with reluctance by some, especially when researchers base their resistance on the notion that involving children might adversely affect the accuracy or quality of the research or on ethical principles that participation might harm the child [8,14-16]. Most research with the purpose of developing health promotion interventions for children in health care is consequently primarily based on the involvement of parents, caregivers, and other stakeholders. However, adults' views and experiences cannot replace the qualities that come with genuine involvement and partnership with children regarding their perspectives on health promotion and development of resources based on their own perspectives [9,11,17]. Thus, we still have some way to go before children's participation in research is seen as a precondition for and a hallmark of quality and validity of research.

The objectives in this paper are twofold. First, we discuss the reasons for involving children in health promotive research and explore models for children's participation in research. Second, we present how we involved children in the development of a digital peer support service and describe how different methodologies tackled challenges with involving children in a vulnerable context and how the methodologies corresponded to different levels of participation.

Why Is It Essential to Involve Vulnerable Children in Health Promotive Research?

Increasing focus on the significance of involving children in research concerning themselves has contributed to less research being performed on children or from the parents' or caregivers' perspectives. Instead, studies with a child focus are increasingly being performed with and for children, with the children seen as social actors who are treated as experts on their own lives [17]. How children are viewed is essential to the discussion about children's involvement in research. Children as social actors was emphasized by the Convention on the Rights of Children [18] in 1989 in what it described as the right of children to participate in and influence all matters that relate to them. This right includes both research and development that directly or indirectly affect children. Central principles state that all children have equal dignity and rights (Article 2), that children's best interests shall be a primary consideration in all actions concerning them (Article 3), and that children have the right to shape and express their opinions and have them taken into account in all matters affecting them (Article 12). These principles are relevant for how researchers relate to children's participation and serve as a standard for how integration and assessment of children's participation in research should be planned and estimated.

XSL•FO RenderX

Children's participation in research is increasingly seen as essential for providing new knowledge and developing health promotion interventions that are credible from a child perspective [10]. This has led to the development of new methodological approaches that involve children throughout the research process instead of limiting their involvement to distinct parts of the research and to single methodological approaches such as observations, interviews, and questionnaires [19]. For example, an emerging field of participatory design methodology with children has been used to bring researchers and children together in a systematic process of collaboration for the design of health promoting interventions [12,13,20]. The participation of children in research can be achieved through involvement in different stages of the research process and for different purposes such as defining the need for research in a particular area, formulating research questions, planning and designing methodology, assembling and analyzing data, designing the proposed interventions, and giving recommendations for dissemination of findings [15]. However, the degree of children's participation in stages of the research process depends on adults' perceptions of their capabilities to participate and the importance of their participation for the quality and credibility of the research [8,15,16]. It is also affected by the trust between the researcher and the child [21] and the capability of the researcher to minimize the social differences between them. The researcher needs to reflect on research values, purpose, and methodological traditions [9] and be aware that children are representatives of a younger generation that in many aspects have other experiences, values, and goals than that of the adult researcher [17]. The researcher also needs to reflect that children's involvement appears to evolve and progress over time [22]. It is essential that the level of children's participation in research depends on the attitudes of adults around them [15] but also on the conditions and experiences associated with each child and her/his parents [8,23]. The notion of risk and the trust in the researcher and the institutions represented are vital for parents to give their permission for their children's involvement in health research [21]. Perceptions among researchers that child participation can have a negative influence on the quality and credibility of the research are associated with participation that is limited to involvement without any real influence or relevance. Many researchers are dedicated to participative methods giving children opportunities to express views and share experiences.

It is less common, however, that children are given the opportunity to have a significant role in the research design, data gathering, analysis, interpretation, and implementation of the outcomes of the research [9]. This article suggests that children need to be involved in research in its true sense in order for the researcher to be able to understand the context of the research area.

Children's Participation in Research: What Is It About?

Overview

Models that describe levels of participation are valuable as benchmarks in the planning of research and as guidance for evaluation of participation. There are a number of models available, some of which have been disseminated and are widely practiced (Table 1). Based on similarities and overlaps between these models, we have categorized different levels of children's involvement into nonparticipation, consultative participation, and collaborative participation. These 3 categories represent condensations that we have made based on the different levels of participation that are described in these models. Nonparticipation can be described as situations where adults avoid involving children or involve them in ways that have no real impact on the research and even in ways that give a false semblance of partnership and real influence over the implementation of the research and the findings resulting from the research. Consultative participation means that adults seek children's views in order to build knowledge and understanding of their lives and experiences. This is primarily done by inviting children to express their views and to provide data to the researcher. The children's opinions are treated seriously, and the researcher gains knowledge and an understanding about their lives through this process. However, at this level of participation, children are not equal to the adult researchers and have no impact or control over the focus of the research and the outcomes and interpretations. At the collaborative level there is a greater degree of partnership between adults and children, where children have the opportunity to be actively involved and influence all stages of the research process. The partnership between the child and the researcher includes consultation, mutual trust, and shared decisions. Not only are children's views taken into account at this level, the children are also involved in making decisions.



Table 1. Descriptions of levels of participation in various models of child participation in research.

Models	Nonparticipation	Consultative particip	ation	Collaborative participation		
				Adult-initiated	Child-initiated	Jointly initiated
Hart [24]	Manipulation, deco- ration and tokenism	Assigned but in- formed	Consulted and in- formed	Shared decision with children	Directed by children (adults facilitate); shared decision with adults	
Treseder [25]		Assigned but in- formed	Consulted and in- formed	Shared decision with children	Directed by children (adults available); shared decision with adults	
Shier [26]		Listened to and en- couraged to share views	Children's views are taken into account	Involved in decision making; given pow- er and responsibility		
Chawla [27]		Prescribed participa- tion; assigned partic- ipation	Invited participation	Negotiated participa- tion	Self-initiated negoti- ated participation; graduated participa- tion	Collaborative partic- ipation
Reddy and Ratna [28]	Active resistance, hindrance, manipula- tion, decoration and tokenism, tolerance, indulgence	Assigned but in- formed	Consulted and in- formed	Shared decision with children	Shared decision with adults; directed by children (adults invit- ed)	Jointly directed
Lansdown [29]			Children consulted and invited	Children collaborate with adults	Led or managed by children (adults support)	

The collaborative level includes different approaches regarding who initiates and directs the research process-adult-initiated, child-initiated, or jointly initiated. Even though the children have a decisive role in the collaborative participation, their participation is dependent on adults who support and facilitate their involvement. The goal of the collaborative participation level is to empower children to influence both the process and outcomes for any given research activity. According to the definitions outlined in the Convention on the Rights of Children [18], the minimum level for children's participation in research dealing with themselves is collaborative participation [26]. This means that researchers should always strive toward integrating collaborative levels of participation in their research process where appropriate. For example, approaches that are normally used for consultative participation, such as interviews and questionnaires, can achieve the collaborative level of participation by giving children the opportunity to influence the content of the questions asked and the conditions under which the data collection is done. This influence gives them control over what the research is going to be about and how the research is going to be carried out.

The most widely referred model for child participation in research is that described by Hart [24], who uses a ladder to present different levels of participation. Hart's model, as well as all the other models we have included, comprises 2 levels where children are informed at a consultative level and a third level where the child and adult collaborate through an adult-initiated process. Few models [24,25,27-29] include child-initiated collaboration, and only 2 models [27,28] describe jointly initiated collaboration in which adults and children work together to reach common goals. In the partnership of jointly

initiated collaboration, both children and adults are empowered to play different roles and both share ownership of the process.

Some of the models are linear (starting with nonparticipation and continuing hierarchically with levels of gradually increased involvement) and imply that there is a goal to reach the highest level of participation [24]. Other models are circular (nonhierarchical) [25,27,29] indicating that each level has the potential to be the most appropriate for a given circumstance and therefore do not include a progressive hierarchy between the levels. The model by Chawla [27] urges that it is important to understand which degree of participation already occurs in formal and informal settings as well as taking the children's existing life experiences into account. The model by Lansdown [29] emphasizes that the child's participation should be introduced as early as possible in the process and with as much control as possible. The models by Chawla [27] and Treseder [25] also highlight that children can go from 1 level of participation to another when they progress in competence and ability to participate. All models describe assessment of when and how to involve children in the process, but 2 models [26,29] have a stronger focus on practical planning and evaluation of situations where adults work with children. All the models are based on the identification of the appropriateness of different levels of participation based on the conditions and experiences of the children involved and that forms and levels of participation should be adapted to the various activities taking place in the research process. The models should thus not be used as tools to focus participation toward the highest level of involvement but as supports for researchers on involving children in each phase of the research process at a level that is possible and appropriate for the best interest of the child.

However, it is important to be aware of how the power relationship between the researcher and the participating child could be balanced so that children have a genuine possibility of influencing the research process. If not, there is a risk of tokenism where the children are given a voice and opinion but have little if any real influence on discussions and decision making. The authors of the models state that the outcome of children's participation in research is active citizenship and democracy.

As outlined above, these models for children's participation in research describe different levels of participation from nonparticipation to consultative and finally collaborative participation. But none of the models alone describes the content in all these levels, and there are ambiguities as to how the different levels relate to the requirements on participation that are declared in the Convention on the Rights of Children and on what grounds a certain level of participation is desirable in a certain situation. This shortcoming complicates the application of the principles of child participation in planning, implementation, and dissemination of research and knowledge that relate to children and that are based on their participation. We therefore propose another more practically concrete model that is inspired by the work of the International Association for Public Participation and includes both the consultative (inform and consult) and collaborative (involve, collaborate, and empower) levels of participation. Below we describe the 5 levels of participation in this model and why these can be used to reach certain goals for the research, what promises that are made to the children involved, and how the children are practically included in the research process (Table 2). An important point with this model is that although the highest levels of participation are found among the collaborative types of participation, it also shows how and why to optimize children's participation to the most appropriate and feasible level of participation. This can help researchers in increasing children's participation in areas of research where they have primarily been involved as informants and consultants.

Table 2. Levels of participation in the research process.

	1	I · · · · · ·				
	Consultative participation		Collaborative participation			
	Inform	Consult	Involve	Collaborate	Empower	
The goal with child participa- tion	Respecting children while keeping them in- formed	Preparing and performing research based on chil- dren's views	Involving children throughout the research process	Making decisions with children throughout the research process	Enabling children to be involved in making final decisions throughout the research process	
The promise to the child	You have access to all information and have been informed equally as much as anybody else in the project.	You will be important for information-seeking and feedback throughout the research process.	You will work together with us to help and con- tribute with your perspec- tive on the research.	You will be an equal partner in finding and developing solutions in line with the purpose and aims of the research.	Your efforts and contribu- tions will be visible and implemented in the out- comes of research.	
Activities to in- volve the child	Explain to the child what is to be done, how and why, as well as the conse- quences of participation.	Study the child's experi- ences through interviews, observations, and ques- tionnaires.	Work with the child in workshops and other ac- tivities in which they are allowed to contribute with their perspectives.	Involve the child in workshops and other ac- tivities in which they are allowed to ideate, create, contribute, test, and eval- uate	Present to the child which contributions they have made to allow them to elaborate and confirm.	

Consultative Participation: Inform

Children have fundamental rights to be informed of everything that involves them—including research [18]. In participatory research, the goal should be to provide the children with information on a level commensurable with their age and cognitive skills and having in mind their potential vulnerability as children and end-users [12,13]. This means that efforts have to be made to adapt information both regarding the format of the information and the appropriateness of its content. It is equally important to make it clear for the child that he or she has access to all information and has received as much information as everybody else who is involved in the research: other children, their parents, stakeholders, or others [29]. The children also have the right to know what their involvement will be and the consequences of participation.

Consultative Participation: Consult

An important aspect and value with child participation is their contribution to the identification of the purpose and aims of research and in obtaining feedback on plans, data collection,

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2017/2/e19/

and interpretations [30]. There are sometimes concerns that the increased involvement of children in research can compromise the quality and credibility of the data. However, our stance is that the involvement of the target group in the formulation of purpose and research questions is essential for the validity of the research approach. It not only provides justification that the research is relevant and important but also contributes important input to formulating the purpose of the research, which methodological choices should be made, which participants are most appropriate to recruit, and when and how they should be involved. The consultation of children from the start of the research process thus sends a signal that children have an important role in defining what the research should be about and how it should be performed. This is valuable for the researcher-child relationship, the continued communication with stakeholders during the research process and when disseminating the results to the participating children, and the intended target group and stakeholders who are involved in the research process or are the beneficiaries of the research outcomes.

Using tangible ways to ensure that children's goals, concerns, attitudes, and preferences are understood and reflected in the outcomes of a project also promotes the participating children's development of skills and confidence in how to contribute toward the purpose and aims of research. The aims of such activities are for the children to work together with the researchers to help and contribute with their perspectives on the research. This could be done by using a playful and creative approach during interviews and workshops, for example, through storytelling, photography, and drawing activities. In order to ensure that the children's involvement will be valuable and significant for the outcomes and progression of research, it is important that the planning of when, where, and how children are involved is carefully considered in relation to their age and abilities, not least to ensure that their participation is not of a decorative or manipulative nature and to avoid their rights or integrity being violated through their participation [24,29].

Collaborative Participation: Collaborate

To ensure that child involvement does not finish with being consultative and limited to informing or merely supporting researchers in the research process, the researchers need to find ways to involve children in decision making throughout the research process. At this level, the adult researchers share ownership of the research with the children and ensure that the children have real opportunities to influence the research process and outcome [31]. This requires a different mind-set from the adult researcher and requires that the children be invited to play a significant role in the codesign of research [9]. Having children involved in actual decision making indicates that they are viewed as important and equal partners in finding and developing solutions in line with the purpose and aims of the research [24,26].

Collaborative Participation: Empower

Empowering children through participation means allowing children to take an active role and have influence when making final decisions in both process and outcomes in any given research activity [26]. In order to achieve this, adults interacting with the children have to be credible and trustworthy so that the children's efforts and contributions become visible and implemented in the outcomes of the research. At this level, an increase of self-directed actions and final decision making lies predominantly in the hands of the children. The overall goal with empowered children is that they can become active advocates for the realization of their own rights and can play a useful citizenship role in their community. Final decision making does not necessarily mean that children make decisions that adults commit to follow. Taking part in final decision making can also mean helping adults to make decisions by participating in analysis and interpretation or to be given the opportunity to provide feedback on or confirm decision made by adults.

Methods

Case Description and How We Involved Children Cancer Survivors in Research

We applied our model for children's participation in research to our development of a digital peer support service for children cancer survivors. The model helped us in guiding selection of the most appropriate methodologies for each step of the design and research process to ensure both feasibility of the process and involvement of the target group. The design and research process resulted in a digital peer support service adapted to the needs and preferences of the target group. The service was in the form of a mobile app called Give Me a Break. The app provides an interactive platform for play and social interaction that is a safe meeting place where cancer survivors (8-12 years) can interact with peers, find new friends, and build long-lasting friendships. The platform is composed of a virtual playground that connects users and provides creative playful activities facilitated by an online youth worker with the objective of stimulating interaction and integration of social media applications and thereby encouraging continued interaction using other social media channels or other venues. The service is introduced at discharge from intensive care or during clinical check-ups at the hospital following completion of treatment. In this section, we describe how we worked to involve the children in this process and how their involvement made it possible for us to focus on the children's perspectives in the design of a digital service that relates to their goals, attitudes, problems, and frustrations and that meets their worldview, their cognitive and emotional developmental stage, age, and gender. More detailed descriptions of the methodology used and evaluation of the validity of the methodology for supporting different levels of children's participation in the research have been presented elsewhere [5,20,32-35].

Results

Inform: Respecting Children While Keeping Them Informed

Before we could inform and ask the children about their willingness to participate in our research, we asked the adults around the children. A key factor for having children participate and interact with adult researchers is that gatekeepers give them the possibility and permission to do so. Most important for this is that parents give permission for their children's involvement, and this is strongly dependent on trust they have in the researcher and the associated institutions [21]. Research that addresses child health and how this can be promoted can be legally, ethically, and morally complex and therefore requires a dialogue with stakeholders and gatekeepers in order to establish a suitable level of involvement of the children. In our case, we first had discussions with representatives from the pediatric health care services, and they confirmed the need for the proposed research and the planned approach. These health care professionals surveyed parents and children concerning whether they wanted to participate. The parents' positive attitude to allow their children to participate in our study was based on

trust in our roles as scientists and trust in health care professionals in terms of their approval of our research.

We made efforts to provide information in formats that were appreciated by the children. During project initiation, this meant that information was available to the participating child in age-appropriate fact sheets, illustrations, and websites. An important aspect of the information during project initiation was that the information letter and consent form were designed and formulated in a way that made it clear to the child the aims and activities they agreed to participate in. The children and parents were first given an invitation to participate through their nurse and then through age-appropriate written information and consent forms. This increased the likelihood that the information was appreciated and that the message was understood. It also showed the children that we were interested and committed to reaching the child in a way that was appropriate for them. The children were also given the opportunity to sign the consent form even if it was not needed in a legal sense. This was important to convey our ambition that the children were to be active participants in the research and that they had the right to decide on their participation. This way of recruiting participants to the study resulted in that several eligible participants opted out of participating in the study either indirectly as the result of judgments made by representatives from the pediatric health care services or directly based on considerations or decisions made by the parents or by the children themselves.

The researcher responsible for collecting data in the form of questionnaires, interviews, or workshops carefully planned

child-friendly way and which type of data was to be collected and why and how. For example, we have seen the importance of using schedules that can be placed on the table in front of the children or posted on the wall of the premises in which the activities take place so the children can keep track of what they are doing and where they are in the time plan. The children appreciated these schedules because it made clear what should be done during the meeting and invited the child to resume with previous questions or ask new questions as work progressed. Another example relates to data collection; it can be important

(through review of the literature and several workshops with

the research group) how to provide information in a

for the child to feel in control of what information is documented and how. This affects, for example, how scientists can document with field notes without the child feeling studied and manipulated by the adult. It also affects how to suitably use the recording of sound and images and explain how this type of data is stored and who has access to the recorded material. These are important details for children, who are increasingly aware of the risks in relation to how information about them is documented and shared among others. To ensure that the children in our study felt that they had control over the documentation, we started the data collection with an explanation about underlying principles of their participation and how we planned to document the process and that only members of the research team had access to the data. All our methods used at this level of participation are summarized in Table 3.

Table 3.	Consultative participation: inform.

	Invitation			Data collection		
The methods used at this level	We gave informa- tion to and collected permission from parents and represen- tatives from pedi- atric health care.	Children and their parents were given verbal invitation to participate by their nurse.	We designed and formulated information let- ter and consent form in a child- friendly way.	We gave verbal expla- nation of what data will be collected, why, and how.	We gave verbal explana- tion about underlying principles of their partic- ipation and how we planned to document the process.	Schedules of ac- tivities were used so that the child could keep track of what is to be done.

Consult: Preparing and Performing Research Based on Children's Views

From a participatory design approach, the users should also have impact on the purpose and design of the project [13]. Our research project was prepared and initiated based on needs of peer support formulated from national cohort data of young adult cancer survivors [33], as well as a blog observation made on the Swedish Childhood Cancer Foundation website. Based on the observed blog post, we documented how an adolescent girl described that she really wanted a cancer friend and a peer to talk to. We then used pilot studies with individual interviews with young adult cancer survivors, parents, and clinicians in order to gain insight into the problem and get an understanding of which research question should be used to provide more information and create an understanding of the phenomenon. By presenting these research-driven objectives and ambitions in a very preliminary form to the potential user group, we were able to redefine our initial plans based on key input from the potential users. This ensured that we from the beginning framed

RenderX

the research in line with the needs and preferences of the target group.

For data collection there is a need to establish a strategy for how children's perspectives are to be taken into account. This can be done together with representatives of the target group or be influenced by other children from the same age group. The main thing is that researchers choose a data collection strategy that gives children the best opportunities to participate with their opinions and share information while safeguarding their interests and rights. The difference in the power relationship that exists between children and adults cannot be overestimated [36]. Since the experience of this power imbalance differs between individuals, research should be designed to safeguard that children are treated with respect and to prevent them from feeling subordinated or exploited. Such feelings, even if they are caused unintentionally, hamper the children's ability and motivation to participate in the research. In planning our research interviews, we have been careful to choose premises familiar to the children in order to give them a safe environment to work in. We have also been careful with how we dress, the

language we use, and how we behave in order to avoid using or strengthening markers of power that the children recognize from school, health care, or society. We planned the timeframe for data collection and for working together in workshops adapted to the children's life world, such as school hours and holidays and hours of the day that best suited the children. This meant that the planning was done based on when the children had the opportunity to participate and when they had optimal capability to mobilize the most energy and commitment for their participation. All these considerations were important to ensure that the children could participate in the research as equal partners and also felt that they were seen as equal partners by the adult researchers. At the beginning of each interview and workshop sessions a range of icebreaking activities, such as exercises to get to know each other by talking about things we like to do or movies or music we like, were used in order to build trust and a relationship between adults and children. We were also careful to find a balance between how many adults and children were involved simultaneously and made sure the adults involved did not vary over time so it was possible for children and researchers to establish a rapport and relationship.

As outlined above, the information given to the child during consultation is crucial for the child's ability to be involved. Similarly, the methodological setup for how the consultation is carried out should be adapted to the needs and existing life experiences of the participating children. When we organized focus groups and design workshops we evaluated our design through piloting to assess the feasibility and relevance of the outlined activities and content related to the preferences and experiences of the target group.

In order to gain an understanding of children's views of the defined phenomenon, we started with focus groups and interviews divided into 2 separate sessions with children between the ages of 8 and 12 years with experiences of cancer treatment. The interviews focused on the children's own experiences of friendship and peer support in the context of everyday life following cancer treatment. The focus groups had a semistructured approach and were divided into 3 phases: (1) an icebreaking phase with "get to know" exercises, (2) a discussion phase centered on friendship, and (3) a closure phase where the session was summarized and where both the children and researchers had the opportunity to reflect on their participation. At the end of the first session, the children had the opportunity to suggest discussion themes for the upcoming session. Data analysis was done by the researcher and was based on children's views during the interviews. The methods used at this level of participation are summarized in Table 4.

Table 4. Consultative participation: consult.

	1 1				
	Establishing the idea, purpose, and c	Data collection			
The methods used at this level	We based our purpose on needs formulated from national cohort da- ta of young adult cancer survivors and from empirical data collected from blog observations of users.	Individual pilot inter- views were done with young adult cancer survivors, parents, and clinicians.	We designed ap- proaches to avoid power imbalance and to support motivation to participate.	Pilot interviews were done with children to validate the interview techniques.	Semistructured focus group interviews were done with the purpose of getting children's views on the phe- nomenon.

Involve: Involving Children Throughout the Research Process

In our project, we have seen that a combination of involvement of different parties may be the best solution to achieve as high a degree of participation as possible. There can, for instance, be occasions when children are not expected to understand the problem or context as a whole, such as a complicated treatment process, but where the researcher still wants to take measure of their perspectives, perceptions, and experiences. In such contexts, we designed plans and methods for how to involve the children as much as possible, for example, by interviewing children along with their parents to supplement the children's experiences with their parents' experiences in those respects which the children are not able or willing to participate. Another solution that we used was to strategically select areas of research in which children legally, ethically, or morally are not considered to be mature enough or able to participate and in these cases use stakeholders as proxy informants to complement these areas in which children cannot participate. An example of this could be to use stakeholders as informants about possible causes of ill health in the target group and to use children from the target group as informants around what can promote their health. For both of these strategies, the interpretation of the knowledge obtained must be carefully balanced so that the

results reflect a reasonably accurate picture of the children's reality. Thus, the researcher has to ensure that the stakeholders' contributions are not excessive or contribute things that are not supported or appreciated by the children, identify any misinterpretations or errors, and improve or add details that have been missed.

A further aspect of what promotes a consultative participation of children in research is how we as adults create conditions for meeting the children on a level that is appropriate based on their daily lives and their abilities and interests. The importance of choosing a playful and creative approach during interviews and workshops cannot be overstated [37]. For example, we used photography and drawing as a complement to common interview questions for data collection in order to encourage the children to express their views and experiences. We also used design-oriented iterative workshops to include children from the target group in the analysis and processing of quantitative or qualitative information obtained. These workshops helped to include the children's perspectives when interpreting the data and base further development on contributions from the children themselves. In order for this to work, we used methods to support children's participation (eg, brainstorming and sketching) where children came with ideas and suggestions for solutions that the researchers together with designers elaborated

on and embodied in sketches or low-fidelity prototypes that were then iteratively refined together with the children. In the first workshop each child-adult pair created a character that was presented to the rest of the group. This work visualized basic demographic information, personal values, and motivational aspects of the user group. After the workshop, the characters were compiled into proxy personas by the researchers and these were used for creating storyboards. Each storyboard illustrated a redemption scenario based on the characters the children created during the first workshop and that was used as working material in the subsequent workshops to obtain the children's perspectives on solutions to challenges and problems of the proxy personas highlighted in the scenario descriptions. This approach made the children's contribution to the research and design process concrete and tangible and helped us in making the children's participation visible in the final material. This iterative (4 workshops) collaboration with the target group also made it possible for us to continually get feedback on the focus

of the research and the results and ensure that the design process was appropriate. Children could, through their role as both informants and consultants, help us with deciding to continue on a path or if alternative directions or strategies needed to be taken.

To evaluate the prototype we developed based on the compiled empirical data, we involved children in usability tests, a user diary study, and a follow-up focus group interview. During the usability test sessions, children were individually given tasks to perform to evaluate functionality. A facilitator guided them throughout the tasks. The second part of the evaluations consisted of a 2-week use study where the children who tested the prototype were given diaries with questionnaires to fill out each day. After the use study was complete, children were invited to participate in a focus group interview around their experiences of the use of the prototype. All the methods we used at this level of participation are summarized in Table 5.

Table 5. Collaborative participation: involve.

	Optimizing children's participation	Evaluation of the prototype			
The methods	We combined participation of	We created playful and creative	We used usability tests.	We used a 2-week	We used a follow-
used at this	children and proxy informants	material and approach during		use study with diary	up focus group in-
level	during the research process.	data collection.		documentation.	terview.

Collaborate: Making Decisions With Children Throughout the Research Process

We have used a collaborative approach for data collection to involve children not only as informants but also as important and equal partners in decision making and design. Through the use of iterative design workshops, we were able to collaborate with children, starting with very general contribution to defining the user group, continuing with defining goals, problems, and frustrations of this group and, finally, identifying and designing solutions for how to support or help the user group in the best way. By making this into an iterative process, we as researchers were able to summarize and prepare outputs from each workshop until the next session. Cooperation with the children from the target group in several iterative steps allowed for the children to initially take a fairly simple role that did not entail a high degree of independence but rather a dependence on the support from a collaboration with other participants, both adults and children. As the children became experienced and confident in the role as co-creators and increasingly familiar with the complexity of the challenges of the research topic, they developed an increasingly independent role and were able to take more responsibility to contribute to the process going forward toward the purpose of the research. During this development of the child's ability and independence as co-creator, it is important that the support from and collaboration with adults is adapted and changed as the work moves forward. One should not underestimate the importance of support from adults to initially help the child with understanding the meaning of the activities and with assisting the child in the informative or creative activities. The support from adults must thus initially be quite extensive and thereafter gradually reduced as the child develops confidence and experience [20]. One should, for example, not be afraid of initially pairing each child with an

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2017/2/e19/

XSL•FO

adult, as they might not be able to participate without such support. Such a high degree of adult involvement and support can thereafter be reduced to finally be at a minimum level. In order to support this, we used a co-creation process where the first session dealt with defining and describing the target group and the aim of the research and where outcomes were the result of the work from pairs of a child and an adult. The outcomes of several such pairs were then summarized and formed the basis for the next session where the children could take a more independent role.

In projects where the children have a high degree of participation during data collection, it is common that this participation is interrupted when the data analysis phase begins. In our project we have, during analysis and implementation, used summaries and abstractions of qualitative data, compilations of statistical data, or sketches and prototypes and invited the children who participated in the data collection to comment and provide feedback on these outputs. This interaction has been designed in the form of joint workshops, individual follow-up interviews, or written or digital demonstration of summations, models, sketches, or prototypes. Activities have been arranged either as single events or as repeated short interactions with children. The main purpose of this iteration is to offer children the opportunity to provide feedback on the conclusions and implications that have been made based on the data they participated in gathering, contribute with essential information for the continuation of the research and design process, and finally assess the research and design outputs through prototype usability evaluation. The opportunity to provide feedback and to continually evaluate the outcomes in the research process ensures that the results of the research are credible and based on the objectives that the children have with their participation. All the methods we used at this level of participation are summarized in Table 6.

Table 6. Collaborative participation: collaborate.

	Iterative design workshops			Follow-up and feedback workshops with children
The methods used at this level	We performed workshops to build familiarity and cre- ate proxy personas.	We used workshops to co-create redemp- tion scenarios.	We used work- shops for feedback and prototyping.	We used workshops to verify and further develop ideas. The children worked in teams and moved between stations with low-fidelity prototypes on which they gave verbal and drawn feedback.

Empower: Enabling Children to Make Final Decisions Throughout the Research Process

In order to connect the empirical findings from the previous steps into a coherent model that could effectively and efficiently drive the design of a health promoting service for the children in the target group, we used summaries of key traits of the user group to construct personas to capture the human-centered values in the project. The persona is a model of a user archetype that is based on empirical data and focuses on behaviors and goals of the users in the target group [38]. The activity of generating personas is both analytical and creative. The children were involved in this work by the shaping of characters describing demographic information, values, and motivational aspects that were used as a foundation for proxy-personas used in redemption scenarios [20]. The final personas were created based on the documentation of children's reflections and discussions of the scenarios. Supported by our personas and accompanying context and key path scenarios describing the use of the digital service that we wanted to develop, we were able to keep the interests of the user group in focus during prototyping by aligning all design ideas with the goals, preferences, attitudes, and frustrations described for our personas. In doing so we sought to ensure that the interests of the user group were integrated into the scenarios that were used during the prototyping and implementation phases of the project. The use of personas, co-created with the children, indirectly involved the children in decision making during the design

process and prevented ideas, conclusions, or initiatives that were based on the empirical data and appreciated by the researchers and designers but were not in line with the developed personas.

Nygren et al

At the end of both the design and prototyping phases of the project, outcomes such as descriptions, visualizations, sketches, mock-ups, and prototypes were presented to be verified by the involved children for feedback and confirmation or identification of further design directions. For example, following the focus group sessions and design workshops, all summarized data, the completed personas, and the first design directions of the prototype were presented to the participants and their parents at a workshop. The feedback and responses at this session were documented and used for continuing the research and design process. Similarly, at the end of the prototype development, a printed outline of the purpose and functionality of the service was presented to the participants, and the aesthetics of the design were presented on a website with illustrations, screenshots, and movie clips. All participants were given the opportunity to evaluate the prototype design and relevance in accordance with the purpose of the project and their individual experiences and preferences. These final iterations were important not only to ascertain quality and relevance of outcomes but also to consolidate the participant's role as partners in the research and design and to show the importance of their contribution for the outcomes of the project. All our methods used in this phase are summarized in Table 7.

Table 7. Collaborative participation: empower.

	Personas	Validation workshop with children and parents	
The methods used at this level	We co-created per- sonas that through- out the process kept the interests of the children in the focus of the re- searchers.	We performed a workshop to verify that the outcomes of the research were in line with the goals and concerns of the target group. Chil- dren and their parents gave verbal feedback on confirmation or identification of further design directions for the ideas and prototypes present- ed at each station.	The participants involved in the initial focus groups evaluated the outcomes of the research in the form of a printed outline of the purpose and functionality of the service; a website presenting the aesthetics of the design with illustrations, screenshots, and movie clips; and a form evaluating the prototype design and rel- evance to the purpose of the project and individual experiences and preferences.

Discussion

Lessons Learned

The benefit of our research was the combination of a variety of methods to reach the most appropriate level of participation for the children in relation to the purpose of each part of the project. We believe that the combined approach in our study demonstrated that children's participation in research is an important quality indicator for the research process and for the outcome of the research. Our intention with this paper was not to evaluate the validity of our model as such but rather to practically show how we implemented the model and our experiences of how this supported us in incorporating the children's perspectives to our research process. The methodologies described in this paper have been evaluated in several studies describing the different phases of the research project. These studies have evaluated the feasibility of involving the children in the research process as well as the importance of their involvement for the research outcomes [5,20,32-34]. Evaluation of implementation of this model in projects with other objectives in other contexts is needed to keep it up to date and to further prove its validity. Some experiences from our work on the project are worth mentioning.

One practical challenge when including children in research is that gatekeepers have a role in limiting researcher access to participants [8]. In our case, we believed it was crucial for

children's participation that we convincingly could describe the forms of participation to parents and stakeholders in the health care system and support them and the children themselves to participate. We achieved this primarily by being clear in the information we shared with parents, stakeholders, and children by adapting this information to each target audience. We also put effort into involving health care professionals, who had responsibility for the children's care process, early in the planning of the research in order to establish trust with the health care professionals and the children's parents.

Children's right to refuse participation is another area of significant challenge. There could be riskiness to health care professionals or parents using their influence to convince the child to participate in a project if they support the idea of the project [9]. There could also be a risk that the children choose to participate only because they want to please their parents. To counteract this, we made efforts to give every child age-appropriate written and verbal information and give them the opportunity to sign the formal informed consent in order to display that they themselves have the right to decide if they wanted to participate or not. In some cases, the children wanted to participate but not the parents, and in some cases, the parents wanted to participate but not the children. In both these cases, it ended up that these children were not included in the study. The children who chose to participate expressed that their motivation to participate was that it could be fun and they wanted to contribute to the improvement for other children who share their experiences.

One major challenge when working together with children in research is the power imbalance that exists between the adult researchers and the children. In our case, we made up a strategy for ensuring that we treated the children as equal partners in the different stages in the project. To work toward achieving this, we had several discussions in the research group at the beginning and throughout the project in order to be aware of our own assumptions and behaviors. We made efforts, in the way we were dressed, the language we used, and the way we behaved in the group of adults and children, to minimize any experience of power imbalance between us. We also put efforts into allowing all parts of the project to take the time that was needed for the children to feel they had the opportunity to contribute and that there would be enough room for the children to iteratively verify the outcomes of the decisions taken together with them. This meant that the project went on for a longer time period than first anticipated (3 years instead of 2) and involved more interactions than if the children's participation would have been only consultative. The extensive time spent on interaction between the children and the researchers and designers posed a challenge to the project in several ways. For example, we as researchers had to adapt our traditional research process to a work process that took into account that all parts of the project would be iterated with the children and timed with their life world. Research funders and stakeholders had to be continuously informed of the progress of our work and the value of using substantial time for interaction with the children in the research. Finally, the children's interest in participating depended on their

feeling that it had a significant impact on the outcomes. A further difficulty with running a project over a long period of time (3 years) was that the oldest children eventually aged out of the intended target group for the project and their interest in working with the younger children changed as they reached adolescence.

Implications

The model described in this paper and the experiences from our case can inform researchers in their planning of strategies for children's participation in research. Increasing the level of children's participation is a valuable asset in the development of digital health promotion interventions for children since it brings in user perspectives that are essential for the design of relevant and functioning services that meet user needs and are adapted to user preferences. Furthermore, being able to implement a model-based structure for the why, what, and how of children's participation facilitates connecting with stakeholders and gatekeepers for child participation in the initiation of a project.

In our project we have involved children in all phases of the research process in order to understand their motivations, behaviors, and preferences and to ensure the outcome of the research is in line with the goals and needs of the children. There are some significant challenges in involving children in the research process that are valuable to pay attention to [10,24]. The challenges include how to achieve an appropriate level of participation during a research project and how to create opportunities for children to feel that they understand and have genuine possibilities to influence the research process [8,14]. One important issue for children's participation in research is to assure that they understand what they are involved in. It is important to not only provide information to their parents but to also inform the children in an age-appropriate format and in a way that makes it clear to the child what purposes and activities they agreed to participate in. Similarly, even if formal informed consent from the children is not needed in a legal sense for them to be involved in research, this requirement signals an intention from the researchers that the children are active participants in the research and that they have the right to decide on their participation. Another issue that needs consideration is that the goal with involving children in research is not necessarily to reach the highest but rather the most appropriate level of participation. The linear composition of many of the models described in Table 1 does not capture the complexity of children's abilities and prerequisites for participation. The opportunities for children to achieve the empowerment level (described in Table 2) during the research process is a matter of time and trust. Through a process of iterative meetings with the researchers during a prolonged time period where the children can see in what ways their contribution has meaning for the outcomes, they gradually progress in capacity to contribute toward the objectives of the research. This means children need possibilities for participation in research over time to build trust in the researchers and to develop abilities to make decisions along the research process.

Acknowledgments

This study was supported by grants from the Swedish Childhood Cancer Foundation, the Swedish Research Council, the Knowledge Foundation, and the Swedish Research Council Formas.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- Gustafsson G, Kogner P, Heyman M. The Swedish Childhood Cancer Registry. Stockholm: The Swedish Childhood Cancer Society; 2014. Childhood cancer incidence and survival in Sweden 1984-2010 URL: <u>https://www.barncancerfonden.se/</u><u>globalassets/global/forskning/pagaende-satsningar/childhoodcancerincidenceandsurvivalinsweden1984_2010.pdf</u> [accessed 2017-02-02] [WebCite Cache ID 6nyS5zXKz]
- Eiser C. Beyond survival: quality of life and follow-up after childhood cancer. J Pediatr Psychol 2007 Oct;32(9):1140-1150. [doi: <u>10.1093/jpepsy/jsm052</u>] [Medline: <u>17644535</u>]
- 3. Solomon P. Peer support/peer provided services underlying processes, benefits, and critical ingredients. Psychiatr Rehabil J 2004;27(4):392-401. [Medline: <u>15222150</u>]
- 4. Enskär K, Berterö C. Young adult survivors of childhood cancer: experiences affecting self-image, relationships, and present life. Cancer Nurs 2010;33(1):E18-E24. [doi: 10.1097/NCC.0b013e3181b6365a] [Medline: 19926973]
- 5. Wärnestål P, Nygren J. Building an experience framework for a digital peer support service for children surviving from cancer. New York, New York, USA: ACM; 2013 Presented at: Proceedings of the 12th International Conference on Interaction Design and Children; 2013; New York p. 269-272.
- Stinson JN, White M, Breakey V, Chong AL, Mak I, Low KK, et al. Perspectives on quality and content of information on the Internet for adolescents with cancer. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2011 Jul 15;57(1):97-104. [doi: <u>10.1002/pbc.23068</u>] [Medline: <u>21328524</u>]
- 7. Fargas-Malet M, McSherry D, Larkin E, Robinson C. Research with children: methodological issues and innovative techniques. J Early Childhood Res 2010 Jun;8(2):175-192. [doi: 10.1177/1476718X09345412]
- Coyne I. Accessing children as research participants: examining the role of gatekeepers. Child Care Health Dev 2010 Jul;36(4):452-454. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1365-2214.2009.01012.x</u>] [Medline: <u>20642564</u>]
- 9. Daly W. "Adding their flavour to the mix": involving children and young people in care in research design. Australian Social Work 2009 Dec;62(4):460-475. [doi: <u>10.1080/03124070903265732</u>]
- 10. Clarke S. A "Child's Rights Perspective": the "Right" of children and young people to participate in health care research. Issues Compr Pediatr Nurs 2015;38(3):161-180. [doi: 10.3109/01460862.2015.1042171] [Medline: 26331448]
- 11. Hill M. Children's voices on ways of having a voice: children's and young people's perspectives on methods used in research and consultation. Childhood 2006 Feb 01;13(1):69-89. [doi: 10.1177/0907568206059972]
- 12. Druin A. The role of children in the design of new technology. Behaviour & Information Technology 2002 Jan;21(1):1-25. [doi: 10.1080/01449290110108659]
- Ruland CM, Starren J, Vatne TM. Participatory design with children in the development of a support system for patient-centered care in pediatric oncology. J Biomed Inform 2008 Aug;41(4):624-635 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2007.10.004] [Medline: 18082468]
- 14. Powell M, Smith A. Children's participation rights in research. Childhood 2009 Feb 01;16(1):124-142. [doi: 10.1177/0907568208101694]
- 15. Moules T, O'Brien N. Participation in perspective: reflections from research projects. Nurse Res 2012;19(2):17-22. [doi: 10.7748/nr2012.01.19.2.17.c8904] [Medline: 22338804]
- 16. Campbell A. For their own good: recruiting children for research. Childhood 2008 Feb 01;15(1):30-49. [doi: 10.1177/0907568207086834]
- 17. Randall D. Revisiting Mandell's "least adult" role and engaging with children's voices in research. Nurse Res 2012;19(3):39-43. [doi: 10.7748/nr2012.04.19.3.39.c9058] [Medline: 22662377]
- 18. Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights. The Convention on the Rights of Children. 1989. URL: <u>http://www.ohchr.org/Documents/ProfessionalInterest/crc.pdf</u> [accessed 2017-01-31] [WebCite Cache ID 6nw4UJQhP]
- Punch S. Research with children: the same or different from research with adults? Childhood 2002 Aug 01;9(3):321-341.
 [doi: 10.1177/0907568202009003005]
- Wärnestål P, Svedberg P, Nygren J. Co-constructing child personas for health-promoting services with vulnerable children. 2014 Presented at: Proceedings of the 32nd Annual ACM Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems; 2014; Toronto p. 3767-3776.
- 21. Woodgate R, Edwards M. Children in health research: a matter of trust. J Med Ethics 2010 Apr;36(4):211-216. [doi: 10.1136/jme.2009.031609] [Medline: 20338931]
- 22. Coad J. Involving young people as co-researchers in a photography project. Nurse Res 2012;19(2):11-16. [doi: 10.7748/nr2012.01.19.2.11.c8903] [Medline: 22338803]

- 23. Twycross A. Research with children and young people: practical considerations. Nurse Res 2012;19(2):4-5. [Medline: 22338801]
- 24. Hart R. Children's participation: from tokenism to citizenship.: UNICEF; 1992. URL: <u>https://www.unicef-irc.org/publications/</u> pdf/childrens_participation.pdf [accessed 2017-01-31] [WebCite Cache ID 6nw5AgCa3]
- 25. Treseder P. Empowering Children and Young People—Training Manual: Promoting Involvement in Decision-Making. London: Save the Children; 1997.
- 26. Shier H. Pathways to participation: openings, opportunities and obligations. Child Soc 2001 Apr;15(2):107-117. [doi: 10.1002/chi.617]
- 27. Chawla L. Evaluating children's participation: seeking areas of consensus. 2001. URL: <u>http://pubs.iied.org/pdfs/G01959.</u> pdf [accessed 2017-01-31] [WebCite Cache ID 6nw5eLeJf]
- 28. Reddy N, Ratna K. Journey in children's participation. 2002. URL: <u>http://www.pronats.de/assets/Uploads/</u> reddy-ratna-a-journey-in-childrens-participation.pdf [accessed 2017-01-31] [WebCite Cache ID 6nw65SIiA]
- 29. Lansdown G. A framework for monitoring and evaluating children's participation: A preparatory draft for piloting. London: Save the Children URL: <u>https://resourcecentre.savethechildren.net/sites/default/files/documents/4733.pdf</u> [accessed 2017-01-31] [WebCite Cache ID 6nw6DGnWO]
- 30. Thomas N, O'Kane C. The ethics of participatory research with children. Children & Society 1998 Nov;12(5):336-348. [doi: 10.1111/j.1099-0860.1998.tb00090.x]
- 31. McLaughlin H. Involving young service users as co-researchers: possibilities, benefits and costs. Brit J Social Work 2005 Nov 18;36(8):1395-1410. [doi: 10.1093/bjsw/bch420]
- Einberg E, Svedberg P, Enskär K, Nygren J. Friendship relations from the perspective of children with experience of cancer treatment: a focus group study with a salutogenic approach. J Pediatr Oncol Nurs 2015;32(3):153-164. [doi: 10.1177/1043454214554009] [Medline: 25366576]
- Svedberg P, Einberg E, Wärnestål P, Stigmar J, Castor A, Enskär K, et al. Support from healthcare services during transition to adulthood—Experiences of young adult survivors of pediatric cancer. Eur J Oncol Nurs 2016 Apr;21:105-112. [doi: 10.1016/j.ejon.2016.02.008] [Medline: 26952685]
- 34. Lindberg S, Svedberg P, Bergquist M, Nygren J. Evaluating digital peer support for children cured from cancer. Int J Hum Comput Int 2017 (forthcoming).
- 35. Garell C, Svedberg P, Nygren JM. A legal framework to support development and assessment of digital health services. JMIR Med Inform 2016 May 25;4(2):e17 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/medinform.5401] [Medline: 27226391]
- 36. Karnieli-Miller O, Strier R, Pessach L. Power relations in qualitative research. Qual Health Res 2009 Feb;19(2):279-289. [doi: 10.1177/1049732308329306] [Medline: 19150890]
- 37. O'Reilly M, Dogra N. Interviewing Children and Young People for Research. Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications; 2016.
- 38. Cooper A. About Face: The Essentials of Interaction Design, Fourth Edition. Indianapolis, IN: John Wiley and Sons; 2014.

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 02.12.16; peer-reviewed by N Fayed, M Spriggs; comments to author 03.01.17; revised version received 26.01.17; accepted 28.01.17; published 07.02.17.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Nygren JM, Lindberg S, Wärnestål P, Svedberg P Involving Children With Cancer in Health Promotive Research: A Case Study Describing Why, What, and How JMIR Res Protoc 2017;6(2):e19 URL: <u>http://www.researchprotocols.org/2017/2/e19/</u> doi:<u>10.2196/resprot.7094</u> PMID:<u>28174150</u>

©Jens M Nygren, Susanne Lindberg, Pontus Wärnestål, Petra Svedberg. Originally published in JMIR Research Protocols (http://www.researchprotocols.org), 07.02.2017. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Research Protocols, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.researchprotocols.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Publisher: JMIR Publications 130 Queens Quay East. Toronto, ON, M5A 3Y5 Phone: (+1) 416-583-2040 Email: <u>support@jmir.org</u>

https://www.jmirpublications.com/

